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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10 contains forward looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995 relating to the development of the Company's products and services and future operation results, including statements regarding the
Company that are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. The words
"believe," "expect," "anticipate," "intend," variations of such words, and similar expressions, identify forward looking statements, but their
absence does not mean that the statement is not forward looking. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to
certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Factors that could affect the Company's actual results include the
progress and costs of the development of products and services and the timing of the market acceptance. Forward looking statements may
appear throughout this report, including without limitation, the following sections: Item 1 “Business,” and Item 7 “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any
revision to these forward-looking statements, except as required by law. Given these risk and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.
As used herein, “NetSol,” “we”, “our,” and similar terms include NetSol Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates
otherwise.
PART 1
ITEM 1 - BUSINESS
GENERAL
NetSol Technologies, Inc. (NasdaqCM: NTWK) (NasdaqDubai: NTWK) is a worldwide provider of IT and enterprise application solutions,
NetSol Technologies, Inc. executes its mission of focusing technology on the operational needs of its clients. NetSol’s services and solutions
enable businesses to streamline their operations and compete more effectively.
The Company is organized into two main revenue areas, consisting of enterprise solutions – NetSol Financial Suite (NFS™) – for the global
financing, leasing and lending industry and a portfolio of managed services, including customized application development, systems
integration, and business process engineering. In addition, NetSol’ s solutions portfolio includes the smartOCI™ e-Procurement search
engine for SAP SRM users.
NetSol’s clients include Dow-Jones 30 Industrials and Fortune 500 manufacturers and financial institutions, global vehicle manufacturers, and
enterprise technology providers, all of which are serviced by NetSol delivery locations across the globe.
Founded in 1997, NetSol is headquartered in Calabasas, California. While the Company follows a global strategy for sales and delivery of its
portfolio of solutions and services, it continues to maintain regional offices in the San Francisco Bay Area and the corporate headquarters in
Calabasas, for North America; the London Metropolitan area for Europe; and Bangkok, Thailand and Lahore, Pakistan for Asia Pacific. The
Company continues to maintain services, product and/or sales specific offices in Australia, China, Thailand, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and
Pakistan and, in any other country, on an as needed basis.
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OUR BUSINESS
Corporate Highlights
A few of NetSol’s major successes achieved in 2010-2011 were:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Execution of a successful joint venture agreement with Atheeb Group
Furthering expansion in the China and Thailand markets by adding new customers
Certification of our smartOCI™ by SAP for integration into SAP applications
Favorable renewal of the frame agreement with Daimler Financial Services AG
Strategic understanding with SANY Auto Finance Company Limited for enhanced financial solutions and IT services
Entry into partnerships with CIBER Netherlands and Excelerated Sourcing Limited, UK
Relocation of NetSol Beijing offices to accommodate expanded operations
Successful implementation of ISO 20000 at NetSol PK
Signed memorandum of understanding with Brasilinvest Group to launch a joint venture in Brazil
Selection by a Fortune 500 IT Company of NetSol's smartOCI™ Search Engine as their e-procurement solution
NetSol PK winning the Teradata National IT Excellence Award
NetSol PK’s Executive Vice President being awarded CIO of the year by Teradata.
Successful reassessment as CMMi Level 5 by SEI of Carnegie Mellon University
Restructuring global operational units by streamlining the regional delivery capabilities and sales organization
Consolidating from three global regions to two regions with Region 1, the Americas and Europe and Region 2, Asia Pacific and the
Middle East.

Company Business Model
In today’s highly competitive marketplace, business executives with labor or services-centric budgetary responsibilities are not just encouraged
but, in fact, obliged to engage in “Make or Buy” decision process when contemplating how to support and staff new development, testing,
services support and delivery activities. The Company business offerings are aligned as a BestShoring® solutions strategy. Simply defined,
BestShoring® is NetSol Technologies’ ability to draw upon its global resource base and construct the best possible solution and price for each
and every customer. Unlike traditional outsourcing offshore vendors, NetSol draws upon an international workforce and delivery capability to
ensure a “BestShoring® delivers BestSolution™” approach.
NetSol combines domain expertise, not only with lowest cost blended rates from its design centers and campuses located around the world,
but also with the guarantee of localized program and project management while minimizing any implementation risk associated with a single
service center. Our BestShoring® approach, which we consider a unique and cost effective global development model, is leading the way,
providing value added solutions for Global Business Services™ through a win-win partnership, rather than the traditional outsourced vendor
framework. Our focus on “Solutions” serves to ensure the most favorable pricing while delivering in-depth domain experience. NetSol
currently has locations in Bangkok, Beijing, Lahore, the London metropolitan area, the San Francisco Bay Area, and Adelaide to best serve its
clients and partners worldwide. This provides NetSol customers with the optimum balance of subject matter expertise, in-depth domain
experience, and cost effective labor, all merged into a scalable solution. In this way, “BestShoring® delivers BestSolution™”.
Information technology services are valuable only if they fulfill the business strategy and project objectives set forth by the customer. NetSol’s
expert consultants have the technical knowledge and business experience to ensure the optimization of the development process in alignment
with basic business principles. The Company offers a broad array of professional services to clients in the global commercial markets and
specializes in the application of advanced and complex IT enterprise solutions to achieve its customers' strategic objectives. Its service
offerings include IT Consulting & Services; NetSol Defense Division; Business Intelligence, Information Security, Independent System
Review, Outsourcing Services and Software Process Improvement Consulting; maintenance and support of existing systems; and, project
management.
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In addition to services, our product offerings are fashioned to provide a Best Product for Best Solution model. Our offerings include our
flagship global solution, NetSol Financial Suite (NFS™). NFS™, a robust suite of five software applications, is an end-to-end solution for
the lease and finance industry covering the complete leasing and finance cycle starting from quotation origination through end of contract. The
five software applications under NFS™ have been designed and developed for a highly flexible setting and are capable of dealing with
multinational, multi-company, multi-asset, multi-lingual, multi-distributor and multi-manufacturer environments. Each application is a
complete system in itself and can be used independently to address specific sub-domains of the leasing/financing cycle. NFS™ is a result of
more than eight years of effort resulting in over 60 modules grouped in five comprehensive applications. These five applications are complete
systems in themselves and can be used independently to exhaustively address specific sub-domains of the leasing/financing cycle. When used
together, they fully automate the entire leasing / financing cycle.
The NetSol Financial Suite™ also includes LeasePak. LeasePak provides the leasing technology industry with the development of Webenabled and Web-based tools to deliver superior customer service, reduce operating costs, streamline the lease management lifecycle, and
support collaboration with origination channel and asset partners. LeasePak can be configured to run on HP-UX, SUN/Solaris or Linux, as
well as for Oracle and Sybase users. In terms of scalability, NetSol Technologies North America offers the basic product as well as a
collection of highly specialized add on modules for systems, portfolios and accrual methods for virtually all sizes and complexities of
operations. These solutions provide the equipment and vehicle leasing infrastructure at leading Fortune 500 banks and manufacturers, as well
as for some of the industry’s leading independent lessors.
Our product offerings and services also include: LeaseSoft Portals and Modules through our European operations; LeasePak 6.0b of our
NFS™ product suite; enterprise wide information systems, such as or LRMIS, MTMIS, business intelligence and information security
services.
To further bolster NetSol’s Solutions capabilities, in October 2008, NetSol acquired Ciena Solutions, a preferred SAP and Business Objects
systems integration firm. The Ciena Solutions practice will be integrated into the newly formed wholly owned subsidiary, Vroozi, Inc. This
acquisition expanded NetSol’s domain and subject matter expertise to include integration and consulting services for the SAP ERP platform as
well as intellectual property targeted for the B2B supply chain market.
Vroozi develops innovative e-commerce solutions for all business sizes and industry verticals which help companies search, source, negotiate,
and order goods and services from suppliers electronically optimizing organization’s procurement and supply chain operations. Vroozi’s
Business to Business search engine, collaborative commerce, and electronic marketplace applications are deployed On Demand and can
integrate seamlessly with major ERP vendor systems such as SAP or deployed independently on the Internet.
Vroozi’s first product to market is smartOCI™. smartOCI™ is a new search engine technology and buy-side content marketplace which
provides corporate buyers and shoppers a simple and intuitive user interface to search multiple supplier catalogs simultaneously within the
SAP procurement application. smartOCI™ was officially released to the market in 2011 at the SAP SAPPHIRE Conference in Orlando,
Florida, targeting approximately 15,000+ SAP customers and has strengthened NetSol’s presence in the global SAP Services market.
While the Company follows a global strategy for sales and delivery of its portfolio of solutions and services, it continues to focus operational
responsibility along two regions, the Americas and Europe Region and the Asia Pacific Region covering, specifically, the markets of
Australia, China, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia and Thailand. The Company continues to maintain services or products and specific sales offices in
its current locations and will add offices on an as-needed basis.
3

Our Services
Global Business Services
NetSol has the technical knowledge and business experience to ensure the optimization of the development process in alignment with basic
business principles. The Company’s global business services offer a broad array of professional services to clients in the global commercial
markets and specializes in the application of advanced and complex IT enterprise solutions to achieve its customers' strategic objectives. Global
business services include IT Consulting & Services; NetSol Defense Division; Business Intelligence, Independent System Review (ISR);
Information Security, Outsourcing Services and Software Process Improvement Consulting; maintenance and support of existing systems;
and project management.
As part of the Company’s GBS strategy, each subsidiary adheres to the BestShoring® provides BestSolutions™ model. Each subsidiary
expounds on that model by providing IT Consulting services unique to their client base. The development of solutions for clients has resulted
in the development of vertical offerings catering to various industries and accordingly, diversifying NetSol’s offerings.
Business Intelligence (BI) solution providers must have both the capability to service BI customers using its own resources but also service
the customers’ international affiliates. Typical BI projects run into several years of phased implementation and rely on expensive international
resources with a very restricted and limited accessibility. As such, management believes, NetSol’s competitors compromise on quality by
turning BI projects into IT projects, which is a recipe for failure. Our strategy is simple; we identify the business needs of our potential
customer and involve our industry domain experts directly with business managers at the client side. This results in ownership of the project
with the business group rather than the IT group which is involved in the overall initiative only from a support and facilitation standpoint.
Independent System Review (ISR) delivers high quality independent review of software systems running, or under deployment, at client sites.
NetSol leverages its rich quality assurance experience in customization and implementation, as well as application development in finance and
other domains. It employs a range of automated quality assurance tools in providing independent assurance to customers regarding the
reliability and performance of their new software systems. The actual testing may be performed both onsite and offsite for the clients.
An ever growing awareness of highly publicized IT Security problems, coupled with greater demands by international business partners, has
led the movement of companies world-wide towards compliance with internationally recognized Information Security Systems
standards. Information Systems Security or Information Assurance applies to all systems in all departments of an organization whether on a
computer disk, paper or in the heads of employees. Information Security services is provided by NetSol’s Infosec Unit. This unit provides
services to secure all corporate information and its supporting processes, systems and networks. NetSol’s Information Security Services is a
group of vendor-neutral, dedicated security consultants with real-life field experience. The Infosec group utilizes industry standard security
best practices coupled with best-of-breed products to deliver proven and robust Information Security Management Systems
(ISMS). INFOSEC services include: managed security services; BS-7799/ISO 27001 Consultancy, Information Security Assessment,
Penetration Testing and Vulnerability Assessment; Disaster Recovery Planning; and, Secure Network Design.
Software Process Improvement Consulting provides quality engineering and related consulting services to technology companies. The
services include: consultancy, facilitation services and implementation support for CMMI appraisal, all of these activities are broadly
developed under the guidelines of SEI based CMMI processes as well as the information security consulting practices.
Additional services and products are provided to meet local needs within the operating regions.
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Our Products
NetSol Financial Suite™
The Company develops advanced software systems for the lease and finance industries. Like our services, our product offerings are fashioned
to provide a Best Product for Best Solution™ model. Our offerings include our flagship global solution, NetSol Financial Suite (“NFS”)™, a
robust suite of five software applications, is an end-to-end solution for the lease and finance industry covering the complete leasing and
finance cycle starting from quotation origination through end of contract. The Company’s over eight years of effort has resulted in over 60
modules grouped in five comprehensive applications. The five software applications under NFS™ have been designed and developed for a
highly flexible setting and are capable of dealing with multinational, multi-company, multi-asset, multi-lingual, multi-distributor and multimanufacturer environments. Each application is a complete system in itself and can be used independently to address specific sub-domains of
the leasing/financing cycle. When used together, they fully automate the entire leasing / financing cycle.
The constituent software applications are:
·
Point of Sale (POS). POS is a front office processing system for companies in the financial sector. It provides a quotation
system which also incorporates a simulation for all kinds of financial products using a built-in loan calculator. POS includes a proposal
module which gathers all the required information from the customer in order to create finance or leasing contracts. POS boasts a document
management module which manages all the documents required in making the contract, such as bank statements and identity
information. POS incorporates a workflow engine that ensures smooth transition of tasks and streamlines the processes. It can work as an
independent web-based system for all types of financial institutions including, but not limited to banks and finance companies.
·
Credit Application Processing System (CAP). CAP provides companies in the financial sector an environment to handle the
incoming credit applications from dealers, agents, brokers and the direct sales force. LeaseSoft.CAP automatically gathers information from
different interfaces like credit rating agencies, evaluation guides, and contract management systems and scores the applications against defined
scorecards. This automated workflow permits the credit team members to make their decisions more quickly and accurately. Implementation of
CAP dramatically reduces application-processing time in turn resulting in greater revenue through higher number of applications finalized in a
given time. CAP reduces the probability of a wrong decision thus, again, providing a concrete business value through minimizing the bad debt
portfolio. CAP is a database independent online system developed in Microsoft's .Net framework. Toyota Leasing Thailand and BMW
Financial Services China are the first two clients of CAP. It can be run from any PC with normal specifications, which is a key benefit for
clients.
·
Contract Management System (CMS). CMS provides comprehensive business functionality that enables its users to
effectively and smoothly manage and maintain a contract with the most comprehensive details throughout its life cycle. It provides interfaces
with company banks and accounting systems. CMS effectively maintains details of all business partners that do business with the company
including, but not limited to, customers, dealers, debtors, guarantors, insurance companies and banks. Developed with the input of a number
of leasing consultants, this product represents a complete lease and finance product. NetSol’s CMS provides business functionality for all
areas that are required to run an effective, efficient and customer oriented lease and finance business.

·
Wholesale Finance System (WFS). WFS automates and manages the floor plan/bailment activities of dealerships through a
finance company. The design of the system is based on the concept of one asset/one loan to facilitate asset tracking and costing. The system
covers credit limit, payment of loan, billing and settlement, stock auditing, online dealer and auditor access, and ultimately the pay-off
functions. A separate online add-on module, Dealer & Auditor Access System (DAS), allows dealers to view their outstanding limits and
current asset-wise balances through an interface with the finance company. WFS consists of the following four modules: Credit Request
Management Module (CRM); Loan Management Module (LMS); Stock Auditing Module (SAS); and Billing & Settlement Module (B&S).

·
Fleet Management System (FMS). FMS is designed to efficiently handle all fleet management needs. FMS is easily
integrated with CMS and WFS as well as with any third party contract management system to ensure a single comprehensive system. FMS’
key features include: a detailed tracking information on every driver and vehicle; customizable reports; periodic reporting on fleet related
aspects; internet based access to information; integration with third party software; and, linkage to GPS for real time tracking.
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Implementation Process
The implementation process normally spans three to six months. NetSol derives its income both from selling the license to use the products,
as well as from related software services. The related services include requirement study/gap analysis, customization, if required on the basis
of gaps development, testing, configuration, installation at the client site, data migration, training, user acceptance testing, supporting initial live
operations and, finally, the long term maintenance of the system. Any changes or enhancement done is also charged to the customer. In the
requirements study/gaps analysis, the NetSol team goes to the client site to study the client’s business and functional requirements and maps
them against the existing functionality available in NFS™. With the maturing of our products, free requirement studies tend to yield few, if
any gaps. The highly parameterized NFS™ solutions are configured to meet the clients’ requirements. This is followed by thorough testing,
which takes place at our development facility, although some of these steps may also be carried out at the clients’ locations. Based on
successful testing, the system is installed at the client’s site. When required, this involves migration of data from an older system to the
NFS™ database. Successful installation is followed by user and administration training. Both functional and business users are
involved. After training, user acceptance testing is conducted, where client’s nominated staff, along with NetSol consultants, tests the system
against business requirements. Upon acceptance, the system is then considered ready for normal business use. NFS™ provides mission
critical software solutions, and the entire business operations of our clients hinge on successful performance of the system. Hence in the early
days after going live, NetSol consultants remain at the client site to assist the company in smooth operations. After this phase, the regular
maintenance and support services phase for the implemented software begins. In addition to the daily rate paid by the customer for each
consultant, the customer also pays for all the transportation related expenses, boarding of the consultants, and a living allowance. NetSol’s
involvement in all of the above steps is priced to bring value to our customers and increase our profitability from our interactions.
Pricing and Revenue Streams
The company’s NFS™ revenue streams occur through the following three main areas: product licensing, implementation related services, and
maintenance and support related services. License fees can vary generally between $100,000 for SaaS minimal modules to over $1,000,000
for more robust multiple module implementations. There are various attributes which determine the level of complexity, a few of which are:
number of contracts; size of the portfolio; business strategy of the customer; number of business users; and branch network of the customer.
The Company recognizes revenue from license contracts without major customization when a non-cancelable, non-contingent license
agreement has been signed, delivery of the software has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable. However,
revenue from sale of licenses with major customization, modification, and development is recognized on a percent of completion
basis. Implementation related services, including gap analysis, configuration, data migration, user acceptance testing (UAT) and training are
recognized in accordance with the percentage of completion method. Maintenance and support related services are then provided on a
continued basis. Revenue from software services includes fixed price contracts and is recognized in accordance with the percentage of
completion method using the output measure of “Unit of Work Completed.” The annual maintenance fee, which usually is an agreed upon
percentage of overall monetary value of the implementation, then becomes an ongoing revenue stream realized on yearly basis.
Growth Prospects for NFS™
Growth prospects for NFS™ are linked to the maturing of the product portfolio and its growing customer base across different geographic
and product markets. With a next generation product ready for testing at customer sites, NetSol is eyeing key international markets for growth
in sales. Its sales strategy now carefully balances expansion into new geographic markets, including North and South Americas, and further
consolidation of its already leading position in Asia Pacific.
Growth in North America is expected to come from the huge potential market for replacement of legacy systems. The next generation version
of NFS™ is aimed at providing a highly flexible solution based on latest technology and advanced architecture for the North American
customers looking to replace their legacy systems.
On the other hand, growth in NetSol’s traditionally strong base in Asia Pacific is expected through diversification across market segments, to
include new customers in related banking and commercial lending areas. At the same time, the existing customer base will be tapped for
increased service and maintenance revenues by offering enhanced features and new solutions to emerging customer needs.
NetSol’s growth strategy through joint ventures and partnerships will provide an important thrust to this growth strategy. Already, it is
aggressively exploring NFS™ business in the Middle East through its Atheeb NetSol joint venture in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Another
joint venture in Brazil is expected to provide access to an exciting new customer base in South America.
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Besides the growth in revenues expected through its next generation solution, NetSol expects to continue selling its current version to
businesses looking for a mature and globally tested solution. Future growth will therefore involve increased revenues from both the current
version and the next generation of NFS™.
NFS™ has already been winning awards and appreciation in regional markets. The most exciting of these is the Asia Pacific ICT Alliance
Award that it won in 2007. This prestigious award is testimony to the quality and maturity of NFS™.
LeasePak
While the new generation of NFS™ is designed to be a truly global solution ready for customization in any market, the Company has
historically provided products tailored to the various markets. In North America, NetSol Technologies North America, Inc. (“NTNA”) has
and continues to develop the LeasePak Productivity modules as an additional companion set of products to operate in conjunction with the
LeasePak base system licensed software. LeasePak handles every aspect of the lease or loan lifecycle, including credit application origination,
credit adjudication, pricing, documentation, booking, payments, customer service, collections, midterm adjustments, and end-of-term options
and asset disposition.
LeasePak’s tracking modules manage critical stages of the lifecycle, allowing users to process work using fully customizable task queues.
LeasePak also includes an extensive collection of reports including origination and portfolio management, accounting, and asset financial
management reports.
Additionally, NTNA offers LeasePak users a comprehensive toolkit of application interfaces to streamline portfolio management system with
best-of-breed, third-party tools and enterprise applications. Designed to work with web services as well as with the client-server architecture,
Link IT streamlines application integration and reduces version-maintenance overhead. The integrated document generation for LeasePak, Doc
IT, auto-generates the letters and documents required to book and finalize a deal. Using private-label customer templates, Doc IT generates
letters and documents, delivers them, and archives them for instant access throughout the life of the contract, asset, and customer relationship.
This complete and integrated toolset enables the LeasePak user to leverage the power of the system to streamline originations, integrate the
dealer/vendor network, automate documentation, enhance customer service, manage risk, and control infrastructure overhead.
During 2010, the NTNA Development team released two LeasePak version upgrades, LeasePak 6.2A and LeasePak 6.3A. These two sets of
technical and functional enhancements were successfully released for general availability and have gone into daily use by the company’s
clients. With the release of versions 6.2A and LeasePak 6.3A, LeasePak users have new options for navigation, reporting, asset remarketing,
accounting, and integration with complementary applications, both within the organizational infrastructure and via the Internet. The breadth of
the functional enhancements contained in these two releases was truly impressive and has won accolades from NTNA customers.
Highlights among these improvements in LeasePak usability include:
· LeasePak LaunchPad – Allows for user-level configurability of the LeasePak opening screen, allowing the system to be tailored to
the individual user’ s role in the organization and scope of tasks. Enables the user to have immediate access to the specific functional
areas of LeasePak used the most frequently.
· Customizable Lease/Lessee Summary Screen – This tool is particularly valuable for those whose tasks include customer service
and collections, enabling the LeasePak user to have instantaneous access to the salient data for any finance contract or for any
institution customer (the "Lessee"), including summary information for all active payment schedules.
· Password Security Enhancements – enables LeasePak to work with password requirements and acceptance protocols shared by
other enterprise applications and fully compliant with contemporary security requirements, including those of regulated financial
institutions.
· Increased payment application and accounting flexibility — While LeasePak has long been an industry leader in its flexibility and
ability to adapt to an organization’s specific business processes, enhancements delivered in 2010 extended this competitive
advantage even further. Users now have a wide range of new options for applying cash payments, adjusting asset costs,
accommodating new tax accounting requirements, tracking property insurance, and automating the adjustment or reversal of within
the active term of a contract.
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· Credit Bureau Interface – Enables LeasePak users to streamline the process of credit adjudication and contract acceptance and
pricing. For organizations operating in the highly-competitive sectors of micro-and small-ticket finance, this enhanced functionality
results in competitively-critical improvements in decision times.
· File Attachment URL - Enhances the ability of LeasePak to perform document updates and extensions through a web service.
· Improved Collections Tracking Tools – These extend the LeasePak summary screens to give collections and customer service
personnel instantaneous access to a wider range of data to view payment histories.
· LeasePak Module Enhancements- With its modular architecture, LeasePak has been designed to enable users to extend its
functionality significantly through the use of LeasePak modules. 2010 saw the release and/or improvement of LeasePak modules in
key operational areas. Some highlights are:
· LeasePak Asset Focus Module – Gives LeasePak users the option to use either of two fundamentally different accounting practices:
unique in the industry, LeasePak is capable of accounting at the contract level or by what is known as asset-based accounting. This
flexibility gives LeasePak the ability to accommodate the accounting and customer service requirements of bank leasing teams,
captive finance organizations within a manufacturing entity, and independent finance organizations.
· VIN Validation enhancement to LeasePak Vehicle Finance module –Automates the validation of a vehicle VIN number,
streamlining the completion and assuring the accuracy of vehicle finance contracts and associated documentation.

NFS™ - WFS
NFS™ - WFS enables finance companies and dealers to manage Floor plan Financing. This software has been doing very well in the Asia
Pacific region and is the market leader in the Floor plan financing space in The People’s Republic of China. In 2009-2010, NetSol
successfully launched NFS-WFS software in North America. Its first implementation went live at Nissan Renault Finance Mexico in
November 2009. As part of the project, and after being put in production, NetSol also enhanced the software in many areas to address North
American requirements. With the first NFS-WFS site up and successfully running, NetSol will be eagerly marketing and selling this new
offering in North and South America.
NFS™ - DAS
NetSol’s Dealer & Auditor Management System. DAS is a web-based solution that can be used in conjunction with WFS or any third-party
wholesale finance system. The system addresses the needs of these user categories:
Dealer Access: The dealer access category allows dealers to perform a number of tasks including, viewing their Wholesale summary,
Invoices, Stock List, Credit Status, Curtailments, Receipts, Settlement status, Asset Transfer Status and New Stock Status.
Distributor Access: The distributor access category facilitates distributors to view each dealers, Wholesale stock situation, Outstanding
invoices, Credit limit status, Account receivable and Units on a dealer’s Floor plan.
Auditor Access: The auditor access category facilitates auditors to: schedule, conduct and view audits, audit results can be entered in the
system and accessed for viewing, cross- checking and editing purposes.
LeaseSoft
In addition to offering all NetSol products, NetSol Technologies Europe, Ltd. (“NTE”) products include: LeaseSoft Portal- introduced to
support online access to proposals and for the foundation of web-based origination systems; LeaseSoft Document Manager- introduced to
facilitate the automation production and distribution of proposal documentation, including indexation and branding of all outbound and
inbound documents; LeaseSoft Auto-Decision Engine- developed to provide automation of credit checking and underwriting for standards
based financial products; LeaseSoft EDI Manager- introduced to facilitate process automation between business introducers and funders; and,
Evolve- launched to provide an entry level software package for own book brokerages and small to medium size funders.
An NTE existing client, a major European bank, has commissioned the development of a Business Partner portal to support their high-volume
vendor finance business. This project incorporates an auto-decisioning module, which takes in credit data from a Europe-wide credit agency.
In anticipation of increased business volumes, the bank has purchased additional volume capacity from NTE to ensure full take-up of the new
business flow.
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In an area of the UK finance new to NTE, a customized LeaseSoft solution was delivered to a major UK short-term consumer lending
business. The solution supports a wide range of consumer loan products with a focus on the sub-prime sector. This implementation has
provided further proof of the powerful, high volume transactional processing engine that is the core of the LeaseSoft application. Being
focused on sub-prime, the application is highly effective in the areas of customer service and delinquency management.
LeaseSoft remains core to the NTE business. Going into 2011/12, the division has made a number of significant enhancements, which will
further cement LeaseSoft as a premier application for existing customers and new prospects alike. In anticipation of improving market
conditions, NTE has invested in research and development of a Business Intelligence toolset. This toolset – and the customizable nature of the
framework application – means that business intelligence will provide a high value-add opportunity to offer to existing clients as well as help
win new ones.
Organic Growth, Alliances and Joint Ventures
Outsourcing Services-NetSol-Innovation
In November 2004, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with the Innovation Group (formerly referred to as TiG) NetSolInnovation (Pvt) Ltd., (“NetSol-Innovation”), a Pakistani company, provides support services enabling the Innovation Group to scale solution
delivery operations in key growth markets. NetSol-Innovation operations are centered in NetSol’s IT Village, Lahore, Pakistan. NetSol owns
a majority of the venture. The entities share in the profits of the joint venture on the basis of their shareholding. The outsourcing model
between the Innovation Group and NetSol involves services pertaining to business analyses, configuration, testing, software quality assurance
(SQA), technical communication as well as project management for development software for the Innovation Group. Today, NetSol has
developed extensive expertise across the insurance domain and has become a center of excellence.
Initiated with a 10 person outsourcing team in Lahore in February 2005, this arrangement has extended to 110 persons with the additional
resources catering to the increased influx of outsourcing of configuration and testing assignments from the Innovation Group. Prominent
Innovation Group’s customers being serviced from Lahore include JM Family Enterprises USA, Avis Budget Car Rental Group USA,
Norwich Union UK, Hertz UK, Aviva Canada, Erinaceous UK and many others. Backed up by a dedicated 4Mbps fiber optic link and an
additional 2Mbps wireless backup link for communication and teleconferencing, this arrangement allows NetSol's human resources to
efficiently and effectively respond to additional outsourcing and offshore configuration work.
Atheeb NetSol Saudi Company Limited
NetSol has forged a joint venture with the Atheeb Group, a very established and diversified business conglomerate based in Riyadh, Saudi
Arabia whereby NetSol owns 50.1% and Atheeb own 49.9% of the joint venture. Atheeb Group was established in 1985 in Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia and is operating in several business sectors in the Middle East. The Atheeb NetSol Limited joint venture focuses on market
development opportunities around penetrating the software engineering arena in key business sectors such as telecommunications, defense,
and finance, among others. Atheeb NetSol Limited will leverage the strength of Atheeb’s local presence in key geographies where Atheeb is
operating as well as supporting private, public and governmental customer business activities. NetSol will provide best practices project
management and the comprehensive delivery capabilities of its CMMI Level 5 certified Center of Excellence for software engineering,
research and development, as well as customer support and training.
NetSol-Brasilinvest Group
Netsol Technologies Inc. is establishing a joint venture company in Brazil with Brasilinvest Group one of the iconic corporations to facilitate
economic growth in Brazil.
The Brasilinvest Group was founded in 1975 by Brazilian business leader Mario Garnero. It is Brazil's first private development agency.
From its inception, Brasilinvest has played the role of a classic "banque d'affaires", a modern-day merchant bank. Along with 80 partners in
16 different countries, the Group has already coordinated, in Brazil and abroad, projects that exceed US$ 4 billion.
9

Nowadays, Brasilinvest takes a leading role in structuring, developing, implementing and commercializing projects and business in the sectors
of real estate, high technology, environment, agribusiness, energy, health, infrastructure and telecommunication, working in fundraising and
investment orientation along with international investors.
The joint venture will target whole of South America with a special emphasis on Brazil to sell and deliver NetSol Financial Suite (NFS) and
other IT related Services. The collaboration with Brasilinvest provides the NetSol operations in Brazil with management consisting of not
only NetSol product experts but Brasilinvest market experts. We anticipate a modest investment of $500,000 in year one to establish the
NetSol operations in Brazil.
Growth through Establishing Partner Networks
NetSol is well aware that market reach is essential to effectively market IT products and services around the globe. For this purpose, the
Company is looking forward to establishing a network of partners worldwide. These companies will represent NetSol in their respective
countries and will develop business for NetSol. Keeping these strategic objectives in view, NetSol has entered into a mutually non-exclusive
agreement with Singapore Computer Systems (“SCS”) that allows SCS to market LeaseSoft in the entire Asia Pacific region.
NetSol is a member of the world’s largest equipment leasing association, the Equipment Leasing and Finance Association of North America,
or ELFA. Boasting more than 1,000 members, the ELFA is a strong presence in the $500 billion North American market.
In Japan, NetSol has partnered with a leading systems integrator in the Japanese asset finance and leasing industry to grow its business in
Japan’s lending market. The partnership will facilitate NetSol’s product offerings and consulting services to clients operating in Japan, while
also enabling Japanese lending companies to expand their business operations to other, high growth Asia Pacific markets. The relationship
will enable NetSol and its partner to mutually leverage their respective strengths in the asset finance and leasing space with NetSol’s multicountry experience and the partner’s rich Japanese market expertise.
The Company remains willing to explore mergers and acquisition opportunities with a focus on strategic acquisitions that provide immediate,
strong, bottom line benefits. Management believes that an ideal target will fulfill one or many of these criteria: geographic synergy/providing
a foot print in a market; unique and/or complimentary product lines; provide additional, and cost effective development hubs, or complimentary
or target customers in a previously untapped market. While there is no guaranty that an acquisition which appears to be sound will ultimately
benefit the Company, management continues to analyze the price, value and market of any potential target. The model of targeting well
established, profitable product companies, within NetSol’s domain, management believes, has proven successful with our recent
acquisitions. Management believes this model can be replicated over the next three years.
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Strategic Alliances
With its leadership position in technology and software development in Pakistan, NetSol has been actively involved in a number of
partnerships with multiple international entities and corporations. These include joint ventures, systems integration, local services, as well as
consulting for large enterprises. Some of NetSol’s partners are:
· Oracle Microsoft Gold Partner
· IBM Business Partner
· Sun Microsystems
· HP DSPP Partner
· Daimler Financial Services
· Innovation Group PLC UK
· GE
· Software Engineering Institute
· Kaspersky Lab
· SAP
· Business Objects
· IBM-Internet Security System
· REAL Consulting
· Intel Solutions Blueprint
· Neptune Software, plc;
· Field Solutions
· Group 88 and,
· Lease Dimensions
Daimler Financial Services (“DFS”) Asia Pacific has established an “Application Support Center (ASC)” in Singapore to facilitate the regional
companies in NFS related matters. This support center is powered by highly qualified technical and business personnel. ASC NFS in
conjunction with our Asia Pacific Region are supporting DFS companies in seven different countries in Asia and this list can increase as other
DFS companies from other countries may also opt for NFS. In July 2008, the Company entered into a new Frame Agreement with Daimler
Financial Services AG (“DFS”) for the Asia Pacific and Africa region. This agreement was renewed in October 2010 for an additional 3 year
term. The agreement, which serves as a base line agreement for use of the NFS products by DFS companies and affiliated companies,
represents an endorsement of the NFS product line and the capabilities of NetSol to worldwide DFS entities. This continued endorsement has
had a tremendous impact on our perspective customers, it has helped our sales and Business Development personnel to market and sell our
NFS solution to blue chip customers around the world. This relationship has resulted in new agreements with DFS and has served as a
marketing source which has resulted in agreements with companies such as Toyota and BMW.
NTE's strategic relationship with Neptune Software plc has provided the Company with the opportunity to further develop its business in
Africa. Neptune has a number of Banking clients in Africa whose interest in Leasing and Asset Finance is demonstrably increasing, this being
drive by a number of fiscal factors and the desire in the region to mechanise agricultural production in particular.
Technical Affiliations
The Company currently has technical affiliations such as: a Microsoft Certified GOLD Partner; a member of the Intel Solution blueprint
Program; IBM Business Partner and, an Oracle Certified Partner.
Marketing and Selling
NetSol management continues its optimism that the Company will experience ever increasing opportunities for its product and services
offerings in 2012 and beyond. The Company is aggressively growing the marketing and sales organizations in its regions. The objective of
the Company's marketing program is to create and sustain preference and loyalty for NetSol as a leading provider of enterprise solutions, eservices consulting, software solutions and business process outsourcing. Marketing is performed at the corporate and business unit levels.
The corporate marketing department has overall responsibility for communications, advertising, public relations and the website and, also
engineers and oversees central marketing and communications programs for use by each of the business units.
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Our dedicated marketing personnel, within the regions, undertake a variety of marketing activities, including sponsoring focused client events
to demonstrate our skills and products, sponsoring and participating in targeted conferences and holding private briefings with individual
companies. We believe that the industry focus of our sales professionals and our business unit marketing personnel enhances their knowledge
and expertise in these industries and will generate additional client engagements.
The Markets
NetSol provides its services primarily to clients in global commercial industries. In the global commercial area, the Company's service
offerings are marketed to clients in a wide array of industries including, automotive, chemical, textiles, Internet marketing, software, medical,
banks, higher education and telecommunication associations, and, financial services.
Geographically, NetSol has operations on the West Coast of the United States, Central Asia, Europe, and the Asia Pacific region. NetSol took
the initiative as the first US NASDAQ listed company to dual list on the NASDAQ Dubai exchange in Dubai. Although UAE markets
suffered the impact of recession, this move was primarily to introduce NetSol to the potential of the most capitalized Middle Eastern countries.
By design, NetSol has increased its brand recognition in one of the most vibrant and dynamically growing regions.
NetSol researched and identified Brazil as one of the fastest emerging economies in BRIC nations. The growth rate in excess of 6% annually
and a growing middle class offers tremendous new markets for NetSol business offerings in the auto manufacturing, financial services, banks,
energy and oil sectors. Most of the major global auto manufacturers, such as VW, Fiat, Nissan, Mercedez-Benz and Toyota hold a majority of
the market share. In terms of the energy and oil sectors, Petrobras is the biggest oil giant in Brazil and has one of the world’s most ambitious
business plans for growth. NetSol intends to focus on these sectors for NFS and customized IT solutions and services. Management believes
that the newly formed joint venture with the well reputed and established Brasilinvest Group will provide introduction to these companies to
promote NetSol offerings.
The Asian continent including, Australia and New Zealand, from the perspective of marketing, are targeted by the Asia Pacific Region from its
Bangkok, Beijing and Lahore facilities. The marketing for our products and services in the Americas and Europe is carried out from our San
Francisco Bay Area and London Metropolitan area offices.
People and Culture
The Company believes it has developed a strong corporate culture that is critical to its success. Its key values are delivering world-class quality
software, client-focused timely delivery, leadership, long-term relationships, creativity, openness and transparency and professional growth.
The services provided by NetSol require proficiency in many fields, such as software engineering, project management, business analysis,
technical writing, sales and marketing, communication and presentation skills.
To encourage all employees to build on our core values, we reward teamwork and promote individuals who demonstrate these values. NetSol
offers all of its employees the opportunity to participate in its stock option program. Also, the Company has an intensive orientation program
for new employees to introduce our core values and a number of internal communications and training initiatives defining and promoting these
core values. We believe that our growth and success are attributable in large part to the high caliber of our employees and our commitment to
maintain the values on which our success has been based. NetSol worldwide is an equal opportunity employer.
NetSol believes it should give back to the community and employees as much as possible. Certain of our subsidiaries are located in regions
where basic services are not readily available. Where possible, NetSol acts to not only improve the quality of life of its employees but the
standard of living in these regions. An example of such programs are:
· Humanitarian Relief: We are all aware of the devastation that can be wrought by natural disasters. NetSol has historically supported
earthquake and flood relief where the need is the greatest. As recently as last year, the company established a fund raising effort on a
worldwide basis to encourage outside and employee contributions to relief efforts.
· Literacy Program-- launched to educate low paid illiterate employees of the organization. The main objective of this program is to
enable these resources to acquire basic reading, writing and arithmetic skills. The first phase of the plan was completed with
astounding accomplishments; the people who could not even write a single word are now able to write complete letters within a span
of 6 months. This initiative has been extremely successful and NetSol intends to further support this program.
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· Noble Cause Fund--A noble cause fund has been established to meet medical and education expenses of the children of the low paid
employees. NetSol employees voluntarily contribute a fixed amount every month to the fund and the Company matches the employee
subscriptions with an equivalent amount contribution. A portion of this fund is utilized to support social needs of certain institutions
and individuals, outside NetSol.
· Day Care Facility--NetSol’s human resources are its key assets and thus the company takes numerous steps to ensure the provision of
basic comforts to its employees. In Pakistan, the provision of outside pre-school child care is a rarity. Recently, a Child Day Care
facility has been created in close proximity to the work premises equipped with the necessary essential staff and equipment. Married
female employees are offered the opportunity to entrust complete care of their young ones to a trained and experienced staff. Child day
care allows female employees to pay unhindered focused attention to work requirements while their child remains safe and
comfortable. The premises and environment are neat and clean with all basic needs fulfilled to ensure complete care of the children.
· Preventative Health Care Program--In addition to the comprehensive out-patient and in-patient medical benefits, preventive health care
has also been introduced. This phased program focuses on vaccination of our employees against Hepatitis – A/B, Tetanus, Typhoid
and Flu, etc. This is a regular annual immunization program to keep employees healthy.
· NetSol Corporate University-- NetSol Corporate University (“NCU”) was established for developing human resources at NetSol. A
need was felt to further develop and retain the talent at hand through strategic learning interventions to respond to growing competition
and challenges.
Overall, NetSol as a global IT company has over 20% female employees with the biggest concentration in our development facility in Lahore
and in the U.S. headquarters. The Company is an equal opportunity employer. Being a successful company with a well respected name in the
business community, NetSol encourages its employees to actively participate and contribute to charitable contributions for catastrophic
tragedies anywhere in the globe.
There is significant competition for employees with the skills required to perform the services we offer. The company runs an elaborate
training program for different cadre of employees ranging from technical knowledge, business domains as well as communication,
management and leadership skills. The Company believes that it has been successful in its efforts to attract and retain the highest level of talent
available, in part because of the emphasis on core values, training and professional growth. We intend to continue to recruit, hire and promote
employees who share this vision.
As of June 30, 2011, we had 872 full-time employees and 7 part-time employees; comprised of 691 IT project and technical personnel; and
188 non-IT personnel. The non-IT personnel include 29 employees in management, 47 employees in sales and marketing, 23 employees in
accounting, 17 in customer support, and 72 in general and administration. None of our employees are subject to a collective bargaining
agreement.
Competition
Neither a single company, nor a small number of companies, dominates the IT market in the space in which the Company competes. A
substantial number of companies offer services that overlap and are competitive with those offered by NetSol. Some of these are large
industrial firms, including computer manufacturers and computer consulting firms that have greater financial resources than NetSol and, in
some cases, may have greater capacity to perform services similar to those provided by NetSol.
In the NFS™ business space, the barriers to entry are getting higher. The products are getting more cutting edge while richness in
functionality is paramount. Older companies have prolonged the life of their legacy products by creating web-based front ends, while the core
of the systems has not been re-engineered. In the case of NFS™, we compete chiefly against leading suppliers of IT solutions to the financial
industry, including names such as Fimasys, International Decision Systems (IDS), Data Scan, CHP Consulting, 3i Infotech, Finnone and
Nucleus Software.
In the IT based business services areas, we compete with both smaller local firms and many global IT services providers, including names
such as Wipro, InfoSys, Satyam Infoway, HCL and TCS (Tata Consulting).
Our competition is based primarily in high cost locations in the US, UK and Europe as opposed to NetSol with its facility in Bangkok and
Lahore. NetSol is now the only company in the leasing and finance solution space that provides regional solutions in North America, Europe
and Asia Pacific. In addition, it is the only company in this space that is publicly listed and provides an offshore development infrastructure
with CMMI level 5 accreditation.
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Some of the competitors of the Company are International Decisions Systems, EDW, Data Scan, AIPAC, CHP, KPMG, LMK Resources,
Systems Innovation (Si3), Bearing Point, Kalsoft, Systems Limited, Oratech Pakistan, TechAccess Pakistan a few others. These companies
are scattered worldwide geographically. In terms of offshore development, we are in competition with some of the Indian companies such as
Wipro, HCL, TCS, InfoSys, Satyam Infoway and others. Many of the competitors of NetSol have longer operating history, larger client
bases, and longer relationships with clients, greater brand or name recognition and significantly greater financial, technical, and public relations
resources than NetSol. Existing or future competitors may develop or offer services that are comparable or superior to ours at a lower price,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Customers
Some of the customers of NetSol include: Mercedes Benz Financial Services (Australia, Japan, New Zealand, Singapore, South Korea,
Thailand, China, India and Taiwan), Investec Asset Finance; BNP Paribas Lease Group; Aldermore Bank; Singers Healthcare Finance; Scania
Finance; Capital One Bank, Yamaha Motors Finance Australia, Toyota Motors Finance China, Toyota Leasing Thailand, Finlease Commercial
Bank Mauritius, CNH Capital Australia, Fiat Automotive Finance China, Dongfeng Nissan Auto Finance China, BMW Financial Services
China, BMW Japan, Al Amthal Leasing Saudi Arabia, GMAC China, SANY Corporation China, GAC Sofinco, China, Nissan Australia,
BYD China, Kiatnakin Bank Thailand and Minsheng Financial Leasing China. Volkswagen Credit U.S. & Canada; Hyundai Motor Finance;
Keycorp Leasing; Chase Equipment Finance; National City Commercial Credit; City National Bank; and, Terex Corporation, Nissan
Mexico. In addition, NetSol provides offshore development and testing services to The Innovation Group Plc UK and their blue chip global
insurance giants like Allstate, Cendent, etc. NetSol-Innovation contributes to about 7.84% of NetSol’s revenues. NetSol is also a strategic
business partner for Daimler (which consists of a group of many companies in different countries), which accounts for approximately 20.58%
of our revenue. Toyota Motors (which consists of a group of many companies in different countries) accounts for approximately 5.40% of our
revenues. Nissan Auto Finance (which consists of a group of many companies in different countries) accounts for approximately 4.10% of
our revenues. However no single client represents more than 10% of the revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011.
Global Operations and Geographic Data
Effective July 1, 2011, the Company has divided the operations into two regions Asia Pacific and Americas-Europe. The regions consist of
individual subsidiaries which, while continuing to operate as autonomous companies, shall now be managed on a regional basis.
The Americas and Europe
Our operations throughout the Americas and Europe are headed by Mr. Naeem Ghauri, formerly head of Global Sales and director of the
Company. Individual subsidiaries within the region are operated by operation managers.
At NetSol Technologies North America, Inc. (“NTNA”) the operations are led by Imran Haider as COO. Mr. Haider has been with NetSol
for over 9 years with an internationally proven track record in sales, marketing, and project and client relations management. Mr. Haider is a
domain expert in NetSol core business offerings.
Jeffrey Andrews, as Chief Operating Officer, NetSol Technologies Europe, Ltd (“NTE”) joined NetSol over 3 years ago. Recently returning
from China where he headed up NetSol’s sales operations, Mr Andrews has over 20 years of international sales, marketing and operational
experience in high value IT solutions and Business Process Consultancy. NTE provides NetSol with access to a broad European customer
base using IT solutions complementary to NetSol’s LeaseSoft product. NetSol has leveraged NTE’s knowledge base and strong presence in
the Asset Finance market to launch LeaseSoft in the UK and continental Europe.
Our new e-commerce division, Vroozi, Inc. is headed by Mr. Shaz Khan and located in our Calabasas, California office. Mr. Khan joined
NetSol in 2008 as part of our acquisition of Ciena Solutions, LLC. He has been developing innovative B2C and B2B e-commerce solutions
and technology for start-ups to established software companies for over twelve years with a key focus on search engine and collaboration
techniques between buyer and seller. Shaz directs the company's strategic direction, business development and marketing and is the visionary
behind smartOCI™, a Business to Business (B2B) price comparison shopping engine for goods and services. Shaz brings a wealth of
experience in managing large ERP supply chain projects for a number of Fortune 1000 organizations.
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Shaz received his B.A. in Computer Science and a B.A. in Economics from the University of California at Berkeley.
Asia Pacific Region
Our Asia Pacific Region is headed by Salim Ghauri, Director, former President of NetSol and current Chief Executive Officer of NetSol
Technologies Limited (“NetSol PK”) (the Company’s Pakistan subsidiary). NetSol PK is headed by Umar Zafar as Chief Operating Officer
(“COO”). The Asia Pacific region including Australia/New Zealand, the Middle East, from the perspective of NFS™ marketing, are targeted
by NetSol Technologies from the Asia Pacific region offices in Beijing China, Bangkok, Thailand and Lahore, Pakistan. While Lahore
continues to be a mainstay of the Company’s delivery and, research and development; the Company has undertaken an expansion of the
delivery and research and development of its Bangkok facility not only to serve its proximally located customers but to act as a back up to the
Lahore facility. With the continued growth of the Chinese market, Beijing continues to expand as a sales and support facility. Finally, the
Asia Pacific region maintains and will establish offices through the region as is necessary to support its customers and to explore potential
markets. These offices currently include Adelaide, Australia and Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Our Asia Pacific Region accounted for approximately 68.85% of our revenues in 2011 and our Americas-Europe Region accounted for
approximately 31.15% of our revenues in 2011. Information regarding financial data by geographic areas is set forth in Item 7 and Item 8 of
this Annual Report on form 10-K. See note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8.
Web Presence
The Company is committed to regaining and extending the advantages of its direct model approach by moving even greater volumes of
product sales, service and support to the Internet. The Internet provides greater convenience and efficiency to customers and, in turn, to the
Company. The company maintains its corporate website at www.netsoltech.com. NetSol’s software development and SQA team as well as its
clients use its web based customer relationship management solution (HelpDesk) for timely and direct communication, as part of providing
ongoing support and maintenance services. More details can be found on http://www.netsolhelp.com.
Through the company’s web sites, its customers, both existing and potential, and investors can access a wide range of information about its
product offerings, and support and technical matters.
Intellectual Property
The Company relies upon a combination of nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements, as well as common law trade secret, copyright
and trademark laws to protect its proprietary rights. The Company enters into confidentiality agreements with its employees, generally requires
its consultants and clients to enter into these agreements, and limits access to and distribution of its proprietary information. The NetSol logo
and name, as well as the NFS logo and product name have been copyrighted and trademark registered in Pakistan. The NetSol logo and
BestShoring® name has been registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. The Company intends to trademark and copyright its
intellectual property as necessary and in the appropriate jurisdictions. The Company has filed for registration of the smartOCI™ logo and
name with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. In addition, the Company has also filed for a patent on the smartOCI™ technology
with the United States Patent and Trademark Office.
Governmental Approval and Regulation
Current Company operations do not require specific governmental approvals. Like all companies, including those with multinational
subsidiaries, we are subject to the laws of the countries in which the Company maintains subsidiaries and conducts operations. Pakistani law
allows a tax exemption on income from exports of IT services and products up to 2016. While foreign based companies may invest in
Pakistan, repatriation of their investment, in the form of dividends or other methods, requires approval of the State Bank of Pakistan. The
present Pakistani government has effectively reformed the policies and regulations effecting foreign investors and multinational companies
thus, making Pakistan an attractive and friendly country in which to do business.
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Available Information
Our website is located at www.netsoltech.com, and our investor relations website is located at http://www.netsoltech.com/IR/. The following
filings are available through our investor relations website after we file with the SEC: Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, and our Proxy Statements for our annual meetings of stockholders. These filings are also available for download free of charge
on our investor relations website. We also provide a link to the section of the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov that has all of our public filings,
including Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, all amendments to those reports,
our Proxy Statements and other ownership related filings. Further, a copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is located at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained
by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.
We webcast our earnings calls and certain events we participate in or host with members of the investment community on our investor
relations website. Additionally, we provide notifications of news or announcements regarding our financial performance, including SEC
filings, investor events, press and earnings releases, and blogs as part of our investor relations website. Investors and others can receive
notifications of new information posted on our investor relations website by signing up for e-mail alerts. Further corporate governance
information, including our committee charters and code of conduct, is also available on our investor relations website at
http://www.netsoltech.com/company/corporate-governance.php. The content of our websites are not intended to be incorporated by reference
into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are
intended to be inactive textual references only.
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ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES
Company Facilities
The Company’s corporate headquarters have been located at 23901 Calabasas Road, Suite 2072, Calabasas, CA 91302 since 2003. It is
located in approximately 1,919 rentable square feet, with a monthly rent of $4,317.75. The lease is a two-year lease expiring in December
2011.
Other leased properties as of the date of this report are as follows:

Location/Approximate

Square Feet

Purpose/Use

Monthly
Rental
Expense

Alameda, CA

4,298

Computer & General Office

$ 7,148

Beijing, China

3,012

General Office

$10,082

Horsham, UK (NetSol Europe)

6,570

Computer and General Office

$12,528

NetSol Connect (Karachi Office)

2,310

General Office

$ 1,118

NetSol PK (Pindi Office)

1,912

General Office & Guest House

$

Bangkok, Thailand

1,980

Computer and General Office

$ 4,141

639

The Beijing lease is a three year lease that expires in January 2014. The monthly rent is approximately $10,082 (RMB 64,526) per
month. The Bangkok lease is a three year lease expiring November 2013 with monthly rent of $4,141 (THB 127,912). The NetSol Europe
facilities, located in Horsham, United Kingdom, are leased until June 23, 2021 for an annual rent of £75,000 (approximately $123,750). The
Alameda lease, where NTNA offices are located, is a three year lease with monthly rent of $7,148 expiring November 2012. The NetSol
Connect Karachi office lease is a one year lease expiring December 2011 and is rented at the rate of $1,118. The NetSol Pindi office lease is a
one year lease that expires in July 2012 and currently is rented at the rate of approximately $639 per month.
Upon expiration of its leases, the Company does not anticipate any difficulty in obtaining renewals or alternative space.
Lahore Technology Campus
The Technology Campus was inaugurated in Lahore, Pakistan in May 2004. This facility consists of 50,000 square feet of computer and
general office space. This facility is state of the art, purpose-built and fully dedicated for IT and software development; the first of its kind in
Pakistan. Title to this facility is held by NetSol Technologies Ltd. and is not subject to any mortgages. The Company also signed a strategic
alliance agreement with the IT ministry of Pakistan to convert the technology campus into a technology park. By this agreement, the IT
ministry has invested nearly 10 million Rupees (approximately $150,000) to install fiber optic lines and improve the bandwidth for the
facility. In order to cater for future business expansion and taking advantage of depressing real estate market, the company purchased two
cottages adjacent to its main building. Total covered area of these cottages is 4,900 sq feet and it cost was approximately $250,000. The
management has moved its accounts, finance, internal audit, company secretariat, costing and budgeting, graphics, technical communication &
procurement departments into these cottages.
ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
To the best knowledge of Company’s management and counsel, there is no material litigation pending or threatened against the Company.
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PART II
ITEM 5 - MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITY
(a) MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
MARKET INFORMATION - Common stock of NetSol Technologies, Inc. is listed and traded on NASDAQ Capital Market under the ticker
symbol "NTWK".
The table shows the high and low intra-day prices of the Company's common stock as reported on the composite tape of the NASDAQ for
each quarter during the last two fiscal years.
2010-2011
Fiscal
Quarter
1st (ended September
30)
2nd (ended December
31)
3rd (ended March 31)
4th (ended June 30)

2009-2010

High

Low

High

Low

1.69

0.71

1.17

.56

2.11

1.30

1.23

.75

2.39
1.94

1.56
1.28

1.09
.95

.80
.70

Common stock of NetSol Technologies, Inc. is also listed and traded on the NasdaqDubai Market under the ticker symbol “NTWK” since
June 16, 2008.
RECORD HOLDERS - As of September 13, 2011, the number of holders of record of the Company's common stock was 211. As of
September 13, 2011, there were 56,076,355 shares of common stock issued and outstanding and no shares of preferred stock issued and
outstanding.
DIVIDENDS - The Company has not paid dividends on its Common Stock in the past two fiscal years.
SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
The table shows information related to our equity compensation plans as of June 30, 2011:

Equity Compensation
Plans approved by
Security holders
Equity Compensation
Plans not approved by
Security holders
Total

Number of
securities to
be issued
upon
exercise of
outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding
options, warrants
and rights

7,097,547(1)

$2.15(2)

Number of securities
remaining
available for
future issuance
under equity
compensation
plans
(excluding
securities
reflected in
column (a)
5,571,013(3)

None

None

None

7,097,547

$2.15

5,571,013

(1) Consists of 7,400 under the 2001 Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan; 780,000 under the 2002 Incentive and
Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan; 340,000 under the 2003 Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan; 2,920,275 under the 2004
Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan; and 2,871,642 under the 2005 Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan.
(2) The weighted average of the options is $2.19.
(3) Represents 51,259 available for issuance under the 2003 Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan; 61,754 available for
issuance under the 2004 Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan; 375,000 available for issuance under the 2005 Incentive
and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, 83,000 available for issuance under the 2008 Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan
and 5,000,000 available for issuance under the 2011 Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan.
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(b) RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

In April 2011, the Company’s employees exercised options to acquire 537,500 shares of common stock in exchange for a total exercise price
of $559,375. The shares were all part of the Company’s Stock Option plans which have been previously registered under Regulation S-8 of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
In April 2011, the Company issued 1,097,142 shares rule 144 common stock as part of a Stock Purchase in exchange for $1.5 million
dollars. The Shares were issued in reliance on exemption from registration available under Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.

ITEM 6 – SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The Company, as a Smaller Reporting Company, is not required to provide the information required by this section.
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ITEM 7- MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND PLAN OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion is intended to assist in an understanding of NetSol’s financial position and results of operations for the year ended
June 30, 2011. It should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included under Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
A few of NetSol’s major successes achieved in 2010-2011 were:
•Executing a successful joint venture agreement with Atheeb Group
•Further expansion in the China market by adding new customers
•Certification of our smartOCI™ by SAP for integration into SAP applications
•Favorable renewal of the frame agreement with Daimler Financial Services AG
•Strategic understanding with SANY Auto Finance Company Limited for enhanced financial solutions and IT services
•Entry into partnerships with CIBER Netherlands and Excelerated Sourcing Limited, UK
•Relocation of NetSol Beijing offices to accommodate expanded operations
•Successfully implemented ISO 20000 at NetSol PK
•Signed memorandum of understanding with Brasilinvest Group to launch a joint venture in Brazil
•Fortune 500 IT Company selected NetSol's smartOCI™ Search Engine as their e-procurement solution •NetSol PK won Teradata
National IT Excellence Award
•NetSol PK’s Executive Vice President awarded CIO of the year from Teradata
•Successfully reassessed as CMMi Level 5 by SEI of Carnegie Mellon University
•Restructured global operational units by streamlining the regional delivery capabilities and sales organization Consolidated from three
global regions to two regions with Region 1 the Americas and Europe and Region 2 Asia Pacific and the Middle East
The success of the Company, in the near term, will depend, in large part, on the Company's ability to: (a) continue to grow revenues and
improve profits, (b) raise funds for continued operations and growth; (c) make a major entry in the US market and, (d) continue to streamline
sales and marketing efforts in the Asia Pacific region, Europe, China and the Middle East, Japan and Australia. However, management's
outlook for the continuing operations, which has been consolidated and has been streamlined, remains optimistic.
Marketing and Business Development Activities
Management has developed, and the board of directors has ratified, an aggressive 3-5 year growth strategy aimed at increasing
competitiveness and financial strength.
This plan is designed to:
●
●
●
●

Achieve 15-25% annual revenue growth for next 5 years
Result in enhanced organic growth
Foster strategic and synergestic M&A and alliances
Enhance delivery capabilities in USA and Thailand locations

The plan contemplates the following enhanced activities and initiatives will accomplish these goals:

o The remarkable success and demand of NFS™ in China has led to long term planning to expand in the Chinese market. The overall
steady economic growth in China and historic transformation of the auto sector (China outsold cars against the United States in
number of units in 2009) combined with growing consumer spending, warrants hiring additional local Chinese staff and
infrastructure improvement. Management is poised to create a ‘proximity development center’ or PDC and clients support team to
better serve our growing customers base. The Chinese market offers huge opportunities in the auto sectors in comparison with the
US market, thus offers a very strong growth opportunities for NFS.
o NetSol’s Beijing office more than doubled its office space on March 1, 2011; new local Chinese staff has been added and additional
hiring continues. The process of forming a new wholly owned subsidiary by the Company, as a Wholly Owned Foreign Enterprise
under Chinese laws, is in progress and is expected to be completed in the current calendar year. NetSol is positioning China to
become a dominant market for lending enterprise solutions for captive multinationals and local Chinese companies, including
equipment
finance, big ticket leasing markets and the banking industry. In the lease and finance domain NetSol can claim the de facto
leadership position in the rapidly growing Chinese market.
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o Thailand has emerged as a new market for banking and auto finance. NetSol has formalized its presence in Bangkok by establishing
a wholly owned subsidiary, NetSol Thai. The office space in Bangkok has been enhanced with new hires of local and international
staff to address and support a very rapidly growing market. The pipeline of new customers is growing from the markets in Japan,
South Korea, Australia, India and other regional markets. These markets will be serviced and supported from the Thailand office
with strong sales and client support team. The Bangkok facility is intended to become the prime location for delivery and
implementation for global customers and partners particularly in Asia Pacific.
o To date, few US-based fortune 500 captive auto finance companies have shown serious interest in NFS™. We expect, however,
to achieve stronger results through strengthening NetSol’s North American operation by augmenting the service levels of the local
technical team with effective integration of the NetSol PK center of excellence, resulting in a seamless integration of core project
delivery and global support teams. The consolidation period of 2009-2010 is over and we expect this mature and giant industry to
add new capital investment. NetSol is experiencing a growing interest in our next generation NFS solution which is poised to go
to market by late 2012 to expand our revenue base.
o The new and fast growing manifestations of Ecommerce, such as Cloud computing, are being utilized by some of our offerings and
will be further explored by us for other offerings. Our new IP, AKA, smartOCI™ has been demonstrated and presented to major
fortune 500 companies in the US as an on-demand, catalogue content management system. The demand of e-procurement search
engine seems robust and attractive. Several new license sales activities are in the pipeline and we are analyzing the possibilities of
spinning them out as a stand-alone Ecommerce new vertical for NetSol.
o Europe recently experienced a severe recession. Despite this, NetSol Europe’s operations have been steady. Further, the business
outlook is positive and, if this continues, NTE is expected to expand its product line and hire stronger management personnel. Our
relationship with existing clientele is very strong and we are cautiously expanding the sales and marketing efforts in the region.
o The market of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia is robust, rich and well capitalized, offering vast opportunities for NetSol through our
joint venture. Recently, there have been a few new local IT contracts awarded but our vision is based on long term and high value
projects in the defense, public, infrastructure and multinational auto captive markets. In order to be equal partners with a major
conglomerate, Atheeb Group, a $2 billion group in revenue, we need to have the serious financial wherewithal and resources to bid
on major projects exceeding $100 million each in value. Currently, the joint venture has 10 employees based in Riyadh with direct
delivery and implementation support from NetSol PK. The long term plan is to expand staffing levels and provide financial
capability to bid in major projects with Atheeb.
o Our NFS™ suite of products is currently undergoing a major initiative towards developing the next generation of solutions. The
Company believes that this would change the landscape for NetSol and increase both demand and the market. We are in the middle
of developing a comprehensive sales and marketing plan requiring new personnel, markets and investment.
o In order to maximize the market and product potential of our SAP and Ecommerce line, highlighted by our smartOCI™ product, we
are spinning this line off into its own operational entity. We believe this will better enhance product and market development by
providing a dedicated management and fulfillment staff.

●

Growth – New Alliances, Mergers & Acquisition
o Pursue new opportunities in emerging markets of Latin America - such as Brazil and Argentina - through local
partners. These focused and niche markets for leasing and finance verticals represent new opportunities to introduce NFS™ and
related service offerings.
o The markets in the US and UK offer a host of complementary companies with impressive client bases to expand
the distribution channels for NFS™ and its new generation product line. There are established small sized Companies, with relatively
low valuations, which can become part of NetSol on an affordable basis. It is important to seek out these companies in order to grow
our customer base, revenue and net margins by leveraging our delivery and implementation model.
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Funding and Investor Relations:
The fundamental challenge constantly facing the management is to achieve sustainable growth with a healthy balance sheet, without too much
dilution. In light of global opportunities for organic growth and through alliances and M&A, there are certain opportunity costs for an inability
to tap into these markets and areas. Therefore, management has the responsibility to broaden its horizon by prudently exploring all available
vehicles to adequately capitalize the Company. Smart new capital may be needed to make NetSol a much healthier company with an impressive
balance sheet and sufficient size to participate in and win major projects in key markets. To summarize, the following areas would need
injections of new capital either from internal operations or external injections, dependent, in part, on market conditions.
· Expansion in China, Thailand and other emerging markets, including Latin America.
· Expanding the North American operation to roll out NetSol new generation solutions and enter Cloud Computing Solutions.
· Diversify in Ecommerce space such as smartOCI™ search engine.
· Support of bigger IT related public and defense sectors projects in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia with our joint venture partner.
· Capital Expenditures for our next generation products, technology and infrastructure.
· Improve credit ratings for our new big customers and win the confidence of new and existing investors.
· Hiring and training of programmers, engineers, sales and marketing.
Capital may be injected through: continued exercises of options by the officers in cash; new debt and stock offerings with “friends and
family” investors who typically hold for long term investment and can be raised without the necessity of placement agent fees; and, such other
capital raising methods that are both reasonable in terms and beneficial to the Company.
Investor Relations efforts will include:
· Working to grow our institutional investor base.
· Sharing the NetSol story with sell side analysts, funds, portfolio managers and the financial media.
· Aggressively positioning NetSol in front of major investors’ conferences and road shows to be organized by RedChip and other
major institutions.
· Utilizing US mainstream media to highlight NetSol’s image and ‘niche’ business offering.
· Founding management’s anticipated continued investment in the Company displaying management’s belief in NetSol’s potential to
new investors.
· Dedicating and focusing efforts to improve shareholder value.
Improving the Bottom Line:
Management believes that these measures will improve the bottom line on an ongoing basis:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Improve pricing, sales volume and fee structures.
Continue consolidation and reevaluating operating margins as ongoing activities.
Streamline further cost of goods sold to improve gross margins to historical levels over 70%, as sales ramp up.
Generate higher revenues per employee, enhance productivity and lower cost per employee.
Optimize the utilization of NetSol PK resources, infrastructure, processes and disciplines to maximize the bottom-line and fully
leverage the cost arbitrage.
Grow process automation and leverage the best practices of CMMI level 5. Global delivery concept and integration will further
improve both gross and net margins.
Cost efficient management of every operation and continue further consolidation to improve bottom line.
Implement SAAS model in mature markets to improve visibility and cash flow.
Retire Debt to reduce the interest cost significantly and to make every effort to avoid any one time charges.

Management continues to be focused on building its delivery capability and has achieved key milestones in that respect. Key projects are
being delivered on time and on budget, quality initiatives are succeeding, especially in maturing internal processes. CMMI level companies are
reassessed every three years by independent consultants
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under the standards of the Carnegie Mellon University to maintain its CMMI Level 5 quality certification. As required, NetSol was
reassessed in 2010 and was successfully recertified as CMMI Level 5. We believe that the CMMI standards are a key reason in NetSol’s
demand surge worldwide. We remain convinced that this trend will continue for all NetSol offerings promoting further beneficial alliances and
increasing the number and quality of our global customers. The quest for quality standards is imperative to NetSol’s overall sustainability and
success. In 2008, NetSol became ISO 27001 certified, a global standard and a set of best practices for Information Security Management.
MATERIAL TRENDS AFFECTING NETSOL
Management has identified the following material trends affecting NetSol.
Positive trends:
· The global recession and consolidations have opened doors for low cost solution providers such as NetSol. The BestShoring®
model of NetSol is a catalyst in today’s environment.
· Global economic pressures and the recession have shifted users of IT processes and technology to utilize both offshore and onshore
solutions providers, to control costs and improve ROIs.
· Serious interest in NetSol’s next generation solution has been expressed by a few global companies. Demonstrations and
workshops with key global clients and partners of have been very well received. Hence, the new generation solution appears to be
gaining momentum.
· GMAC – China, the implementation of first R2 for Wholesale Finance (WFS) is on track setting a strong foundation for growth.
Two other key modules (CMS / CAP) are in the development stage and are expected to be marketed in fiscal 2012.
· China has become the world’s second largest economy, continuing to grow by over 9% a year while growth in other industrial
nations has declined or grown only marginally.
· China’s automobile and banking sectors have been unaffected by the global meltdown and their recent automobile sales statistics
have outperformed all other economies.
· As reported by the Associated Press, China surpassed the US as the number one automobile market in auto sales. JD Powers &
Associates anticipated further strong growth in future auto sales. It is anticipated that this market opportunity will result in further
penetration by NetSol into China’s burgeoning leasing and finance market.
· E-Commerce, new technologies, innovations and online activities are gaining momentum in many verticals.
diversification are opening for NetSol.

New areas for

· The surviving IT companies, such as NetSol, with price advantage and a global presence, will gain further momentum as economic
indicators turn positive. The bigger customers and targeted verticals are much more cost conscious and are seeking a better rate of
return on investments in IT services. NetSol has an edge due to its BestShoring® model and proven track record of delivery and
implementations worldwide.
· The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia is investing billions in healthcare, education, IT, infrastructure and many other new sectors. This
makes it a most promising market for the Atheeb NetSol joint venture.
· Noticeable new interest emanating from the Latin America markets for NFS™.
· NetSol has never lost a product customer despite the recent severe recession. The dependency of our blue chip clients on NetSol
solutions has further elevated new enhancements and services orders in the US.
· Improved outlook and earnings of bellwether technology companies in USA, reflecting the turnaround of this sector after recession.
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· Global opportunities for NetSol to diversify its delivery capabilities to Bangkok, Thailand and such other new emerging economies
that offer geopolitical stability and low cost IT resources, thereby reducing dependency upon the Lahore technology campus.
· Our global multi-national clients have continued to pursue deeper relationships in newer regions and countries. This reflects our
customers’ dependencies and satisfaction with our NetSol Financial Suite of products.
· The levy of Indian IT sector excise tax of 35% (NASSCOM) on software exports is very positive for NetSol. In Pakistan there is a
15 year tax holiday on IT exports of services. There are 5 more years remaining on this tax incentive.
Negative trends:
· Geopolitical unrest due to extremism in the regions of Pakistan and Afghanistan.
· Significant strains in US-Pakistan relations.
· Recent turbulent political developments in the Arab world might delay activities and plans.
· Natural disasters in Japan and floods disaster in Pakistan have damaged their economies.
· The emergence of many smaller players offering IT solutions in China has resulted in greater price competition.
· The fear of renewed recession in light of U.S debt down-grade and the continued sluggish European market, could lead to our
business in North America and Europe suffering.
· Dramatic and deep global recession has created a serious decline in business spending causing significant budget cuts for many of
the Company’s target verticals.
· Tighter internal processes and budgets will cause delays in the receivables from a few clients.
· Tightened liquidity and credit restrictions in consumer spending has either delayed or reduced spending on business solutions and
systems, squeezing IT budgets and extending decision making cycles.
· Anticipated worsening US deficit and a rise in inflation in coming years would put further stress on consumers and business
spending.
· Higher oil prices in the US could deter the growth of GDP.
· Unrest and growing war in Afghanistan could increase the migration of both refugees and extremists to Pakistan, thus creating
domestic and regional challenges.
· Management believes that the Pakistan rupee is overvalued and that once adjustments are made there might be both positive and
negative impacts on the financial statements of the Company. Positive impact could be in terms of the price of our services while
translating Pakistan revenues at a higher exchange rate in the consolidated revenue statement might result in negative impact on the
financial statements in future.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“U.S. GAAP”). Preparing financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. These estimates and assumptions are affected by management’s application of accounting policies.
Critical accounting policies for us include revenue recognition and multiple element arrangements, intangible assets, software development
costs, and goodwill.
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REVENUE RECOGNTION
The Company recognizes revenue from license contracts without major customization when a non-cancelable, non-contingent license
agreement has been signed, delivery of the software has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable. Revenue from
the sale of licenses with major customization, modification, and development is recognized on a percentage of completion method. Revenue
from the implementation of software is recognized on a percentage of completion method.
Revenue from consulting services is recognized as the services are performed for time-and-materials contracts. Revenue from training and
development services is recognized as the services are performed. Revenue from maintenance agreements is recognized ratably over the term
of the maintenance agreement, which in most instances is one year.
MULTIPLE ELEMENT ARRANGEMENTS
We may enter into multiple element revenue arrangements in which a customer may purchase a number of different combinations of software
licenses, consulting services, maintenance and support, as well as training and development (multiple-element arrangements).
VSOE of fair value for each element is based on the price for which the element is sold separately. We determine the VSOE of fair value of
each element based on historical evidence of our stand-alone sales of these elements to third-parties or from the stated renewal rate for the
elements contained in the initial software license arrangement. When VSOE of fair value does not exist for any undelivered element, revenue is
deferred until the earlier of the point at which such VSOE of fair value exists or until all elements of the arrangement have been delivered. The
only exception to this guidance is when the only undelivered element is maintenance and support or other services, then the entire arrangement
fee is recognized ratably over the performance period.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets consist of product licenses, renewals, enhancements, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, and customer lists. Intangible
assets with finite lives are amortized over the estimated useful life and are evaluated for impairment at least on an annual basis and whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We assess recoverability by determining whether
the carrying value of such assets will be recovered through the undiscounted expected future cash flows. If the future undiscounted cash flows
are less than the carrying amount of these assets, we recognize an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair
value of the assets.
SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Costs incurred to internally develop computer software products or to enhance an existing product are recorded as research and development
costs and expensed when incurred until technological feasibility for the respective product is established. Thereafter, all software development
costs are capitalized and reported at the lower of unamortized cost or net realizable value. Capitalization ceases when the product or
enhancement is available for general release to customers.
The Company makes on-going evaluations of the recoverability of its capitalized software projects by comparing the amount capitalized for
each product to the estimated net realizable value of the product. If such evaluations indicate that the unamortized software development costs
exceed the net realizable value, the Company writes off the amount which the unamortized software development costs exceed net realizable
value. Capitalized and purchased computer software development costs are being amortized ratably based on the projected revenue associated
with the related software or on a straight-line basis, whichever method results in a higher level of amortization.
GOODWILL
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in a purchase businesses
combination. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of goodwill may be impaired. The goodwill impairment test is a two-step test. Under the first step, the fair value of the
reporting unit is compared with its carrying value (including goodwill). If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an
indication of goodwill impairment exists for the reporting unit and the enterprise must perform step two of the impairment test (measurement).
Under step two, an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of the
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reporting unit’s goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodwill. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined by allocating the fair
value of the reporting unit in a manner similar to a purchase price allocation. The residual fair value after this allocation is the implied fair value
of the reporting unit goodwill. Fair value of the reporting unit is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis. If the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, step two does not need to be performed.
The company does impairment testing of the goodwill on an annual basis at the balance sheet date i.e., June 30th. In addition to our annual
internal impairment testing, the Company retains the services of an independent valuation specialist to validate our findings.
The source of the Company’s goodwill relates to the acquisition of three companies namely NetSol PK Tech, CQ Systems, UK and McCue
Systems, USA. NetSol PK Tech operates in the Asia Pacific region; CQ Systems (currently NetSol Technologies Europe Limited) operates in
Europe; and McCue Systems (currently NetSol Technologies North America, Inc.) operates in the North American region. All these
geographies are considered as different reporting units (segments). Goodwill arising from the acquisition of these companies has been
allocated to their respective geographical segments to which they relate. While identifying reporting units/ segments, the Company takes into
consideration the reports reviewed by the CEO (chief operating decision maker). As our financial reports are analyzed on this regional basis,
we have defined this as segment reporting for purposes of goodwill impairment testing. Reporting unit detail of goodwill as of June 30, 2011
and 2010 is given below:

Reporting Units
Asia Pacific
Europe
North America
Total

2010
$1,303,372
3,471,813
4,664,100
$9,439,285

2009
$1,303,372
3,471,813
4,664,100
$9,439,285

There was no impairment of goodwill for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010. A number of factors are taken into consideration while
calculating the fair value of the reporting units. These factors include the projected after tax earnings of the reporting unit, industry price
earnings ratio and a reasonable discount rate to arrive at the actual fair value of the reporting unit.

As the fair value of all reporting units substantially exceeded the carrying values, no impairment was identified in the consolidated financial
statements. The following table sets forth the percentage by which the fair value exceeds the carrying value for all reporting units as on June
30, 2011:

Reporting Units
Asia Pacific
Europe
North America

Percentage by which fair
value exceeds carrying value
108.42%
29.61%
99.66%

CASH RESOURCES
We were successful in maintaining our cash position by the end of our fiscal year, June 30, 2011 with $4.17 million in cash worldwide. In
addition, $5,714,300 was injected by the exercise of options and sale of equity during 2011.
26

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 COMPARED TO THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010
Net revenues for the year ended June 30, 2011 were $36,547,575 as compared to $36,779,897 for the year ended June 30, 2010.
revenues are broken out among the subsidiaries as follows:
2011
Revenue
$
-

Corporate headquarters
North America:
Netsol Tech NA
Europe:
Netsol UK
Netsol Tech Europe
Asia-Pacific:
Netsol Tech (PK)
Netsol-Innovation
Netsol Connect
Netsol-Abraxas Australia
Netsol-Thailand

Total

2010
Revenue
0.00% $
-

%

0.00%

4,223,863
4,223,863

11.56%
11.56%

5,627,277
5,627,277

15.30%
15.30%

7,158,145
7,158,145

0.00%
19.59%
19.59%

5,105,434
5,105,434

0.00%
13.88%
13.88%

19,432,468
2,864,942
612,789
44,540
2,210,827

53.17%
7.84%
1.68%
0.12%
6.05%

21,397,724
2,210,357
542,521
96,583
1,800,000

58.18%
6.01%
1.48%
0.26%
4.89%

25,165,566

68.86%

26,047,185

70.82%

100.00% $36,779,897

100.00%

$36,547,575
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%

Net

The following table sets forth the items in our consolidated statement of operations for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 as a
percentage of revenues.

2011

Net Revenues:
License fees
Maintenance fees
Services
Total revenues
Cost of revenues:
Salaries and consultants
Travel
Repairs and maintenance
Insurance
Depreciation and amortization
Other
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling and marketing
Depreciation and amortization
Bad debt expense
Salaries and wages
Professional services, including non-cash compensation
Lease abandonment charges
General and adminstrative
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Other income and (expenses)
Loss on sale of assets
Interest expense
Interest income
Gain (loss) on foreign currency exchange transactions
Share of net loss from equity investment
Beneficial conversion feature
Other income (expense)
Total other income (expenses)
Net income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income after tax
Non-controlling interest
Net income attibutable to NetSol

$11,284,472
7,488,387
17,774,715
36,547,575

For the Year
Ended June 30,
2010
%
30.88% $14,157,107
20.49%
7,047,936
48.63% 15,574,853
100.00% 36,779,897

%
38.49%
19.16%
42.35%
100.00%

8,716,495
1,044,767
307,115
126,584
3,108,286
1,500,880
14,804,127
21,743,448

23.85%
2.86%
0.84%
0.35%
8.50%
4.11%
40.51%
59.49%

8,164,147
843,626
256,997
140,496
2,298,092
2,163,689
13,867,048
22,912,849

22.20%
2.29%
0.70%
0.38%
6.25%
5.88%
37.70%
62.30%

3,016,402
1,180,226
367,064
3,347,896
806,212
(858,969)
3,719,797
11,578,627
10,164,821

8.25%
3.23%
1.00%
9.16%
2.21%
-2.35%
10.18%
31.68%
27.81%

2,222,841
1,609,854
442,804
3,026,275
900,125
867,583
4,115,658
13,185,141
9,727,709

6.04%
4.38%
1.20%
8.23%
2.45%
2.36%
11.19%
35.85%
26.45%

(21,461)
(863,707)
154,856
1,115,647
(220,506)
(453,989)
(52,149)
(341,309)
9,823,512
(120,542)
9,702,970
(3,974,882)
5,728,087

-0.06%
-2.36%
0.42%
3.05%
-0.60%
-1.24%
-0.14%
-0.93%
26.88%
-0.33%
26.55%
-10.88%
15.67%

(224,741)
(1,478,474)
261,296
(66,919)
(67,494)
(1,867,787)
56,571
(3,387,548)
6,340,160
(53,943)
6,286,217
(4,892,097)
1,394,120

-0.61%
-4.02%
0.71%
-0.18%
-0.18%
-5.08%
0.15%
-9.21%
17.24%
-0.15%
17.09%
-13.30%
3.79%

The Company has maintained its estimated revenue projections despite severe global economic challenges. Total consolidated net revenue for
fiscal year 2011, slightly decreased 0.63% from $36,779,897 in fiscal year 2010 to $36,547,575 in fiscal year 2011. This decrease included a
6.25% growth in maintenance fee revenue, from $7,047,936 to $7,488,387 and a 14.12% growth in service revenue from $15,574,853 to
$17,774,715, including consulting and implementation services. The decrease in consolidated net revenue is attributed to approximately a
20.29% decline in license revenue from $14,157,107 in 2010 to $11,284,472 in 2011. This decrease is mainly attributable to delay in signing
new contacts by some prospective customers owing to worldwide recession and deteriorating geo-political condition of the sub-continent.
However, none of the deals in pipe have been lost by the Company and the management anticipates getting the deals signed in the coming
quarters.
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The Company is well-positioned for revenue growth and has invested heavily in the development of its next generation product, which is
expected to be completed during the calendar year 2012. Globally, our target customers are still using old systems for maintaining their lease
and finance portfolios and are now planning to replace their legacy systems. NetSol, being a trusted name in this field, is in a good position
to tap new business from these companies. The completion of this next generation software will provide the Company the capability to enter
into a much larger market. We note that this product-conversion may negatively impact our license fee revenue until which point the new
product gains traction in the marketplace.
The gross profit was $21,743,448 for year ended June 30, 2011, as compared with $22,912,849 for the same period of the previous
year. This is a 5.10% decrease. The gross profit percentage was 59.49% for the current fiscal year and 62.30% in the prior year. The cost of
sales was $14,804,127 in the current year compared to $13,867,048 in the prior year. The increase in cost of sales is mainly due to increase in
salaries of the staff, increase in depreciation and amortization expense and some inflationary factors affecting global economy.
Operating expenses were $11,578,627 for the year ended June 30, 2011, as compared to, $13,185,141 for the year ended June 30, 2010, a
decrease of 12.18% from the prior year. The decrease is mainly attributable to reversal of lease abandonment charges upon final settlement
with the lessor. Depreciation and amortization expense amounted to $1,180,226 and $1,609,854 for the year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Combined salaries and wage costs were $3,347,896 and $3,026,275 for the comparable periods, respectively, or an increase of
$321,621 from the corresponding period last year. General and administrative expenses were $3,719,797 and $4,115,658 for the years ended
June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, a decrease of $395,862 or 9.62%. As a percentage of sales, these expenses were 10.18% in the current
year compared to 11.19% in the prior year. The decrease in costs is due to the cost rationalization measures taken by the company.
Selling and marketing expenses increased to $3,016,402 for the year ended June 30, 2011 as compared to $2,222,841 for the year ended June
30, 2010. As a percentage of sales, these expenses were 8.25% in the current year compared to 6.04% in the prior year. The Company
provided for certain doubtful debts of $367,064 and $442,804, during the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Income from operations in fiscal year 2011 was $10,164,821 as compared to $9,727,709 in fiscal year 2010. As a percentage of sales, net
income from operations was 27.81% in the current year as compared to 26.45% in the prior period.
Net income in fiscal year 2011 was $5,728,087 as compared to $1,394,120 in fiscal year 2010. The current fiscal year amount includes a net
reduction for the minority interest in earnings of $3,974,882 compared to a reduction of $4,892,097 in the prior year for the 49.9% minority
interest in NetSol Innovation, and the 39.48% minority interest in NetSol PK. The net earnings per share, basic and diluted, were $0.12 in
2011 as compared to $0.04 in 2010.
The net EBITDA income was $10,845,991 as compared to $6,573,187 after amortization and depreciation charges of $4,288,512 and
$3,907,946, income taxes of $120,542 and $53,943, interest expense of $863,707 and $1,478,474 and interest income of $154,856 and
$261,296 respectively. The EBITDA income per share, basic & diluted was $0.22 as compared to $.19 and $0.17 in the year ago period.
Although the net EBITDA income is a non-GAAP measure of income, we are providing it because we believe it to be an important
supplemental measure of our performance that is commonly used by securities analysts, investors, and other interested parties in the evaluation
of companies in our industry. It should not be considered as an alternative to net income, operating income or any other financial measures
calculated and presented, nor as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as a measure of our liquidity. It may not be indicative of
the Company’s historical operating results nor is it intended to be predictive of potential future results.
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Quarterly Results of Operations for the quarter ended June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010
Net revenues for the quarter ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 are broken out among the subsidiaries as follows:
2011
Revenue
$
-

Corporate headquarters
North America:
Netsol Tech NA
Europe:
Netsol UK
Netsol Tech Europe
Asia-Pacific:
Netsol Tech (PK)
Netsol-Innovation
Netsol Connect
Netsol-Abraxas Australia
Netsol-Thailand

Total

2010
Revenue
0.00% $
-

%

0.00%

1,045,137
1,045,137

15.16%
15.16%

1,270,200
1,270,200

11.87%
11.87%

874,025
874,025

0.00%
12.68%
12.68%

799,402
799,402

0.00%
7.47%
7.47%

3,700,178
757,304
142,385
19,978
352,800

53.69%
10.99%
2.07%
0.29%
5.12%

7,172,319
511,288
126,106
20,745
805,000

67.00%
4.78%
1.18%
0.19%
7.52%

4,972,645

72.15%

8,635,458

80.67%

100.00% $10,705,060

100.00%

$6,891,807
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%

The following table presents our unaudited quarterly results of operations for the quarters ended June 30, 2011 and 2010. You should read
the following table together with the consolidated financial statements and related notes contained elsewhere in this report. We have prepared
the unaudited information on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements. This table includes normal recurring adjustments
that we consider necessary for the fair presentation of our financial position and operating results for the quarters presented. Operating results
for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future quarters or for a full year.

2011

Net Revenues:
License fees
Maintenance fees
Services
Total revenues
Cost of revenues:
Salaries and consultants
Travel
Repairs and maintenance
Insurance
Depreciation and amortization
Other
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling and marketing
Depreciation and amortization
Bad debt expense
Salaries and wages
Professional services, including non-cash compensation
General and adminstrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income and (expenses)
(Loss) on sale of assets
Interest expense
Interest income
Gain (loss) on foreign currency exchange transactions
Share of net loss from equity investment
Beneficial conversion feature
Other income (expense)
Total other income (expenses)
Net income before and income taxes
Income taxes
Net income (loss) after tax
Non-controlling interest
Net income (loss) attibutable to NetSol

$ 1,025,446
1,898,641
3,967,720
6,891,807
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For the Three Months
Ended June 30,
2010
%
14.88% $ 4,641,770
27.55%
1,720,084
57.57%
4,343,206
100.00% 10,705,060

%
43.36%
16.07%
40.57%
100.00%

2,153,809
336,685
99,530
31,581
958,011
496,190
4,075,807
2,816,000

31.25%
4.89%
1.44%
0.46%
13.90%
7.20%
59.14%
40.86%

1,990,180
232,283
76,911
27,553
647,415
279,263
3,253,605
7,451,454

18.59%
2.17%
0.72%
0.26%
6.05%
2.61%
30.39%
69.61%

968,677
332,058
112,068
734,269
350,841
882,578
3,380,490
(564,490)

14.06%
4.82%
1.63%
10.65%
5.09%
12.81%
49.05%
-8.19%

550,307
267,907
233,200
811,515
350,647
849,398
3,062,974
4,388,481

5.14%
2.50%
2.18%
7.58%
3.28%
7.93%
28.61%
40.99%

(8,159)
(107,927)
11,587
217,880
(52,970)
10,257
70,668
(493,822)
(95,083)
(588,905)
(504,154)
(1,093,059)

-0.12%
-1.57%
0.17%
3.16%
0.00%
-0.77%
0.15%
1.03%
-7.17%
-1.38%
-8.55%
-7.32%
-15.86%

(10,221)
(314,981)
27,096
(257,414)
(43,510)
(515,815)
(94,426)
(1,209,271)
3,179,209
(5,337)
3,173,872
(1,657,004)
1,516,869

-0.10%
-2.94%
0.25%
-2.40%
-0.41%
-4.82%
-0.88%
-11.30%
29.70%
-0.05%
29.65%
-15.48%
14.17%

Liquidity and Capital Resources
We note that the Company's cash position was $4,172,802 at June 30, 2011 compared to $4,075,546 at June 30, 2010. Further, we note that
the Company’s current assets, as of June 30, 2011, totaled $34,590,439 and were 40.39% of total assets, an increase of 3.70% from
$33,354,816, or 46.24% of total assets as of June 30, 2010. As of June 30, 2011, the Company's working capital (current assets less current
liabilities) totaled $14,575,589 compared to $12,887,508 as of June 30, 2010, an increase of $1,688,081. As of June 30, 2011, the Company
had $15,062,503 million in accounts receivable and $7,601,230 million in revenues in excess of billings. Net cash provided by operating
activities amounted to $13,922,189 for the year ended June 30, 2011, as compared to $8,669,710 for the year ended June 30, 2010.
The increase is mainly due to an increase in accounts receivable and net profits of the company, accounts receivable. The average collection
cycle for accounts receivables ranges between three to six months from the date of invoicing. Payments are usually received within the due
dates. The average days sales outstanding for the year ended June 30, 2011, were 152 days as compared with 122 days in fiscal year 2010.
We note that net cash used in investing activities amounted to $17,795,596 for the year ended June 30, 2011, as compared to $10,216,790 for
the year ended June 30, 2010. The difference is primarily a result of the capitalization of intangible assets and an increase in purchases of fixed
assets. Please note that the Company had purchases of property and equipment of $9,085,148 compared to $2,986,495 for the comparable
period last fiscal year.
We note that net cash provided by financing activities amounted to $4,266,782 and $1,708,837 for years ended June 30, 2011, and 2010,
respectively. The current fiscal year included the cash inflow of $4,099,250 from the sale of common stock and $1,615,050 from the
exercising of stock options and warrants, compared to $854,509 and $71,250 in the prior year, respectively. As of June 30, 2011 the
convertible notes payable, net of the associated beneficial conversion feature amounted to $2,745,524 which will be payable in fiscal 2011.
In the current fiscal year, the Company had $2,969,146 in proceeds from bank loans, and net capital leases payments of $3,118,344 as
compared to $4,540,971 in proceeds from bank loans, and net capital leases payments of $4,328,700 in the comparable period last year. The
Company operates in a range of geographical regions of the world through its various subsidiaries. These subsidiaries have financial
arrangements from various financial institutions to meet both their short and long term funding requirements. These loans will become due at
different maturity dates the detail of which is given in Note No. 12 of the annexed financial statements. The Company and all of its
subsidiaries are in compliance with our financial covenant arrangements. The Company’s subsidiary, NetSol PK, has a term finance facility
from Askari Bank to finance the construction of a new building. The total amount of the facility is Rs. 200,000,000 or approximately
$2,319,378 which is secured by the first of Rs. 580 million of land, building, and equipment of the Company. The Company has used only
Rs. 75 million ($869,767 approximately) of this facility as on June 30, 2011 and the balance of Rs. 125 million is available depending upon
the financial requirements of the Company.
The Company plans on pursuing various and feasible means of raising new funding to: expand its infrastructure, enhance product offerings
and strengthen marketing and sales activities in strategic markets. A strong growth in earnings and the signing of larger contracts with
Fortune 500 customers largely depends on the financial strength of NetSol. Generally, the bigger name clients and new prospects diligently
analyze and take into consideration a stronger balance sheet before awarding big projects to vendors. Therefore, NetSol would continue its
effort to further enhance its financial resources in order to continue to attract large name customers and big value contracts.
As a growing and dynamic company, we will continue our organic growth strategy in selective markets. While we have scaled down any
major capital expenditures, there will be on-going capital expenditure needs based on our short term and long term business plans. Although
our requirements for capital expenses vary from time to time, for the next 12 months, we anticipate having the need for working capital of $4.0
to $6.0 million for overall expansion plans that would involve continued R&D, new product development, business development activities and
infrastructure enhancements.
Management intends to further improve the accounts receivable collections process from our customers. In addition, we expect that significant
executive and employee stock options exercises as a substantial amount of these options are in the money. The Company will explore
injections of new capital from strategic investors, as the most feasible and viable source of new capital. Some of the joint ventures partners
could be amongst the strategic investors to strengthen our balance sheet. Management is very aware of the need to continue to reduce both
short term and long term liabilities while continuously improving cash flow and net cash position. Management remains very committed and
focused to strengthening overall assets and will employ all of the above mentioned tools and such others as may become available to achieve
these goals.
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Financial Covenants
Our UK based subsidiary, NetSol Technologies Europe Limited (NTE) has an approved overdraft facility of £200,000 which requires that the
aggregate amount of invoiced trade debtors (net of provisions for bad and doubtful debts and excluding intra-group debtors) of NTE, not
exceeding 90 days old, will not be less than an amount equal to 200% of the facility. The Pakistani subsidiary, NetSol Technologies Limited
(NTPK) has an approved facility for both export refinance and term finance from Askari Bank Limited amounting to Rupees 400 million
($4,638,757) which requires NTPK to maintain a long term debt equity ratio of 60:40 and the current ratio of 1:1.
As of the date of this report, the Company and all its subsidiaries are in compliance with the financial covenants associated with its
borrowings. The maturity dates of the borrowings of respective subsidiaries may accelerate if they do not comply with these covenants. In
case of any change in control in subsidiaries, they may have to repay their respective credit facilities.
Dividends and Redemption
It has been the Company's policy to invest earnings in the growth of the Company rather than distribute earnings as common stock dividends.
This policy, under which common stock dividends have not been paid since the Company's inception and is expected to continue, but is
subject to regular review by the Board of Directors.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
As a small business issuer, the Company is not required to provide the disclosures set forth in this item.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The Consolidated Financial Statements that constitute Item 8 are included at the end of this report on page F-1.
I T E M 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
Kabani & Company, Inc.’s report on NetSol’s financial statements for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010, did not contain
an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, and was not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.
In connection with the audit of NetSol's financial statements for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010 there were no
disagreements, disputes, or differences of opinion with Kabani & Company on any matters of accounting principles or practices, financial
statement disclosure, or auditing scope and procedures, which, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Kabani & Company would have caused
Kabani & Company to make reference to the matter in its report.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form
10-K. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were not effective.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management has the responsibility to establish and maintain adequate internal controls over our financial reporting, as defined in Rule
13a-15(f) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of our external financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP).
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Due to inherent limitations of any internal control system, management acknowledges that there are limitations as to the effectiveness of
internal controls over financial reporting and therefore recognize that only reasonable assurance can be gained from any internal control
system. Accordingly, our internal control system may not detect or prevent material misstatements in our financial statements and projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Under the supervision and participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have performed
an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of June 30, 2011. This assessment was based on the
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on the results of our assessment, the Company has determined that as of June 30, 2011, there was a material weakness in
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Specifically, while in the performance of this assessment, management identified that
its accounting staff do not have sufficient technical accounting knowledge relating to accounting for complex U.S. GAAP matters. In
particular, although our CFO is a Chartered Accountant (CA) in Pakistan neither he, nor our controllers, holds a Certified Public Accounting
(CPA) license in the United States. While the CA certification is recognized in several key countries relative to the Company’s operations,
including Pakistan, the United Kingdom, and other British Commonwealth countries, the Company has determined that a deficiency exists
with respect to required financial reporting expertise in the United States. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was not effective as of June 30, 2011. Notwithstanding the existence of such material weakness in our
internal controls over financial reporting, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer, believes that the financial statements
included in this report fairly present in all material respects our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for the periods
presented.
Management is committed to remediating the material weakness as quickly as possible and we will continue to encourage our current
accounting staff to both further their continuing education and to sit for the Certified Public Accountant exam in the United States.
Additionally, and in recognition of immediate financial reporting needs, the Company intends to implement additional controls and procedures
during the current fiscal year to continue to ensure timely and accurate financial reporting objectives. Such additional controls and procedures
may include: The retention of a U.S. based CPA as Chief Financial Officer with U.S. GAAP experience and appropriate knowledge of
internal controls over financial reporting, for purposes of appropriate oversight of the financial reporting process and continued training of the
accounting staff; recruitment of additional personnel with relevant U.S. GAAP experience to enhance our financial reporting and internal
control function; retention of the services of a consultant for advisory services with respect to SOX 404 compliance.
This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial
reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC that permit
us to provide only management’s report in this annual report.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during our fourth fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2011, that have
materially affected, or are reasonable likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a – 15(f) and 15d – 15(f)).
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
On September 13, 2011, NetSol Technologies, Inc. entered into a purchase agreement to sell convertible notes with a total principal value of
$4,000,000 and warrants to purchase shares of common stock to an investment fund managed by CIM Investment Management Limited and
another accredited investor. The notes have a 2 year maturity date and are convertible into shares of common stock at the initial conversion
price of $0.895 per share, which conversion price was determined as of September 13, 2011, the date of the purchase agreement. The
warrants have a 5 year term and have an initial exercise price of $0.895 per share. The issuance of the notes and warrants was made in
reliance on an exemption from registration available under Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires that the Company's directors and executive officers and persons
owning more than 10% of the outstanding Common Stock, file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the Securities and
Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Executive officers, directors and beneficial owners of more than 10% of the Company's Common Stock are
required by SEC regulation to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.
Based solely on copies of such forms furnished as provided above, or written representations that no such forms were required, the Company
believes that during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to its executive officers, directors and
beneficial owners of more than 10% of its Common Stock were complied with.
CHANGE IN MANAGEMENT AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board of Directors
At the 2011 Annual Shareholders Meeting the Company’s current seven member board stood for election. The seven member board was reelected and, according to the bylaws of the company shall retain their position as directors until the next meeting. The board of directors is
made up of: Mr. Najeeb U. Ghauri, Mr. Salim Ghauri, Mr. Eugen Beckert, Mr. Naeem U. Ghauri, Mr. Shahid Burki, Mr. Mark Caton and
Mr. Alexander Shakow.
Committees
The Audit committee is made up of Mr. Burki as Chairman, Mr. Caton, Mr. Beckert and Mr. Shakow as members. The Compensation
committee consists of Mr. Caton as its Chairman and Mr. Beckert, Mr. Burki, and Mr. Shakow as its members. The Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee consists of Mr. Beckert as chairman and Mr. Burki, Mr. Caton and Mr. Shakow as members.
The table below provides the current membership for each of the committees during Fiscal Year 2011.

Director
Najeeb Ghauri
Naeem Ghauri
Salim Ghauri
Shahid J. Burki (I)
Eugen Beckert (I)
Mark Caton (I)
Alex Shakow (I)

(I)
(C)

Audit
Committee

X (C)
X
X
X

Denotes an independent director.
Denotes the Chairperson of the committee.
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Compensation
Committee

X
X
X (C)
X

Nominating
and Corporate
Governance
Committee

X
X (C)
X
X

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The following table sets forth the names and ages of the current directors and executive officers of the Company, the principal offices and
positions with the Company held by each person and the date such person became a director or executive officer of the Company. The Board
of Directors elects the executive officers of the Company annually. Each year the stockholders elect the Board of Directors. The executive
officers serve terms of one year or until their death, resignation or removal by the Board of Directors. In addition, there was no arrangement or
understanding between any executive officer and any other person pursuant to which any person was selected as an executive officer.
The directors and executive officers of the Company are as follows:
Name
Najeeb Ghauri
Salim Ghauri
Naeem Ghauri
Boo-Ali Siddiqui
Patti L. W. McGlasson
Shahid Javed Burki
Eugen Beckert
Mark Caton
Alexander Shakow

Year First Elected
As an Officer or
Director
1997
1999
1999
2009
2004
2000
2001
2002
2007

Age

Position Held with the
Registrant

Family Relationship

56
55
53
37
46
72
64
61
74

Director and Chairman
President and Director
Chief Executive Officer, Director
Chief Financial Officer
Secretary, General Counsel
Director
Director
Director
Director

Brother to Naeem and Salim Ghauri
Brother to Naeem and Najeeb Ghauri
Brother to Najeeb and Salim Ghauri
None
None
None
None
None
None

Business Experience of Officers and Directors:
NAJEEB U. GHAURI is the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of NetSol. He has been a Director of the Company since 1997,
Chairman since 2003 and Chief Executive Officer since October 2006. Mr. Ghauri is the founder of NetSol Technologies, Inc. He was
responsible for NetSol listing on NASDAQ in 1999, the NetSol subsidiary listing on KSE (Karachi Stock Exchange) in 2005, and the NetSol
listing on the NASDAQ Dubai exchange in 2008. Mr. Ghauri served as the Company's Chief Executive Officer from 1999 to 2001 and as
the Chief Financial Officer from 2001 to 2005. As CEO, Mr. Ghauri is responsible for managing the day-to-day operations of the Company,
as well as the Company's overall growth and expansion plan. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ghauri was part of the marketing team of
Atlantic Richfield Company (ARCO) (now acquired by BP), a Fortune 500 company, from 1987-1997. Prior to ARCO, he spent nearly five
years with Unilever as brand and sales managers. Mr. Ghauri received his Bachelor of Science degree in Management/Economics from
Eastern Illinois University in 1979, and his M.B.A. in Marketing Management from Claremont Graduate School in California in 1981. Mr.
Ghauri was elected Vice Chairman of US Pakistan Business Council in 2006, a Washington D.C. based council of US Chamber of
Commerce. He is also very active in several philanthropic activities in emerging markets and is a founding director of Pakistan Human
Development Fund, a non-profit organization, a partnership with UNDP to promote literacy, health services and poverty alleviation in
Pakistan. Mr. Ghauri has participated in NASDAQ opening and/or closing bell ceremonies in 2006, 2008 and 2009. The Nominating
Committee determined that Mr. Ghauri’s long term experience with the Company and his direct experience with capital markets and
investment community makes him qualified to serve on our Board of Directors. Recently joined as a director in new start up healthcare
business in the US aka as DNA Health corporation.
SALIM GHAURI has been with the Company since 1999 as the President and Director of the Company. Mr. Ghauri is currently the
Chairman and CEO of NetSol Technologies Limited and President of the Asia Pacific Region and CEO of Global Services Group. Mr.
Ghauri was the founder of Network Solutions (Pvt.) Ltd. in 1995, Later NetSol Technologies (Pvt.) Limited. Under his leadership, NetSol
gradually built a strong team of IT professionals and infrastructure in Pakistan and became the first software house in Pakistan certified as ISO
9001 and CMMi Level 5 assessed. Under his leadership, NetSol PK has become the leading IT company and is known as an IT Icon in the
region. Mr. Ghauri received his Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Science from University of Punjab in Lahore, Pakistan. Before
NetSol Technologies Ltd., Mr. Ghauri was employed with BHP in Sydney, Australia from 1987-1995, where he commenced his employment
as a consultant. Mr. Ghauri was appointed in 2007 as an Honorary Consul for Australia-Punjab Region. The Nominating Committee
determined that Mr. Ghauri’s capacity as Chief Executive of our largest subsidiary, his knowledge of our products, as well as his unique
knowledge of the
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Asia Pacific and Pakistan markets makes him qualified to serve as a member of our Board of Directors.
NAEEM GHAURI has been a Director of the Company since 1999 and was the Company’s Chief Executive Officer from August 2001 to
October 2006. Mr. Ghauri serves as the Managing Director of NetSol (UK) Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company located in
London, England. He is also the director of the Global Sales group. While instrumental in numerous transactions, his most significant
contribution to the revenue of the Company was his role in closing the TiG NetSol Joint Venture in 2005. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Ghauri was Project Director for Mercedes-Benz Finance Ltd., from 1994-1999. Mr. Ghauri supervised over 200 project managers,
developers, analysis and users in nine European Countries. Mr. Ghauri earned his degree in Computer Science from Brighton University,
England. Mr. Ghauri serves on the board of NetSol Technologies Europe, Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company. The Nominating Committee
determined that Mr. Ghauri’s experience in auto finance, a significant portion of our revenues, and his experience in developing new business
opportunities and relationships for the Company makes him qualified to serve on our Board of Directors.
BOO-ALI SIDDIQUI Mr. Siddiqui has served as NetSol's Chief Financial Officer since April 2009. He also serves as the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of NetSol Technologies Ltd. managing the finances of all companies in the Asia group since 2005. Prior to
joining NetSol, he served as Deputy Registrar of Companies for the Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) and as Senior
Manager, Audit and Tax, for Ehtisham & Co., Chartered Accountants. Mr. Siddiqui holds a Bachelor of Commerce from Hailey College of
Commerce, Lahore, University of The Punjab, Pakistan, is a Fellow Member of both the Institute of Chartered Secretaries & Managers
(FICS) and the Pakistan Institute of Public Finance Accountants (FPA), and is a Fellow Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Pakistan (FCA) as well. He completed his four years articleship from Ford Rhodes Sidat Hyder & Company a renowned accounting firm in
Pakistan representing Ernest Young International,
PATTI L. W. MCGLASSON joined NetSol as General Counsel in January 2004 and was elected to the position of Secretary in March
2004. Prior to joining NetSol, Ms. McGlasson practiced at Vogt & Resnick, law corporation, where her practice focused on corporate,
securities, business and cross-border transactions. As part of her Masters in Law in Transnational Business, she interned at the law firm of
Loeff Claeys Verbeke in Rotterdam, the Netherlands in 1991. Ms. McGlasson was admitted to practice in California in 1991. She received
her Bachelor of Arts in Political Science in 1987 from the University of California, San Diego and, her Juris Doctor and Masters in Law in
Transnational Business from the University of the Pacific, McGeorge School of Law, in 1991 and 1993, respectively.
EUGEN BECKERT was appointed to the Board of Directors in August 2001. A native of Germany, Mr. Beckert received his masters
in Engineering and Economics from the University of Karlsruhe, Germany. Mr. Beckert was with Mercedes-Benz AG/Daimler Benz AG
from 1973, working in technology and systems development. In 1992, he was appointed director of Global IT (CIO) for Debis Financial
Services, the services division of Daimler Benz. From 1996 to 2000, he acted as director of Processes and Systems (CIO) for Financial
Services of DaimlerChrysler Asia Pacific Services. During this period he was instrumental to having the LeaseSoft products of NetSol
developed and introduced in several countries as a pilot customer. From 2001 to 2004, he served as Vice President in the Japanese company
of DCS. Mr. Beckert retired from DaimlerChrysler in November 2006. Mr. Beckert is chairman of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee and a member of the Audit and Compensation Committees. The Nominating Committee determined that Mr.
Beckert’s experience in auto finance related IT, specifically as CIO for Debis Financial Services, together with his status as an independent
director under Nasdaq rules makes him qualified to serve on our Board of Directors.
SHAHID JAVED BURKI was appointed to the Board of Directors in February 2003. Before joining the World Bank in 1974 he was a
member of the Civil Service of Pakistan. He had a distinguished career with the World Bank from 1974 to 1999 where he held a number of
senior positions including Chief of Policy Planning (1974-1981); Director of International Relations Department (1981-87); Director of China
Department (1987-94); and Vice President of Latin America and the Caribbean Region (1994-99). Upon taking early retirement from the
Bank, he took up the position of Chief Executive Officer of EMP Financial Advisors, a consulting company linked with the Washington
based EMP Global, a private equity firm and worked there until 2005. He is currently Chairman the Institute of Public Policy, a think tank
associated with the Beacon house National University, Lahore, Pakistan. He also spends some time each year as Senior Visiting Research
Fellow at the Institute of South Asian Studies, National Singapore University. In 1996-97 he took leave of absence from the World Bank to
take up the position of Finance Minister of Pakistan. Mr. Burki was educated at Government College, Lahore from where he received M.Sc.
in Physics; at Oxford University as a Rhodes Scholar from where he received M.A. (Hons) in Economics; at Harvard University as a Mason
Fellow from where he received M.P.A. and also studied for Ph.D. in Economics (not completed). In 1997, he received a Diploma in
Advanced Management from Harvard University’s Business School. Mr. Burki has authored several books and articles on development
issues including Study of Chinese Communes
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(Harvard University Press, 1969); Pakistan Under Bhutto (Macmillan, 1990); Changing Perceptions, Altered Reality: Pakistan’s Economy
Under Musharraf, 1999-2006 (Oxford University Press, 2007). He is currently working on a book, Changing Asia to be published later
this year by Routledge, London. Mr. Burki is a chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Compensation and Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committees. Mr. Burki is the Company’s Financial Expert on the Audit Committee. The Nominating Committee
believes that Mr. Burki’s vast experience as an economist and entrepreneur with specialization on the Asia Pacific markets, his status as our
financial expert and, finally, his status as an independent director under Nasdaq rules makes him qualified to serve on our Board of
Directors.
MARK CATON joined the board of directors in 2007. Mr. Caton is currently President of Centela Systems, Inc. a distributor of computer
peripheral solutions in the multimedia and digital electronic market segment, a position he has held since 2003. Prior to joining Centela, Mr.
Caton was President of NetSol Technologies USA, responsible for US sales, from June 2002 to December 2003. Mr. Caton was employed
by ePlus from 1997 to 2002 as Senior Account Representative. He was a member of the UCLA Alumni Association Board of Directors and
served on the Board of Directors of NetSol from 2002-2003. Mr. Caton is a Chairman of the Compensation Committee and a member of the
Audit and Nominating Committees. Mr. Caton received his BA from UCLA in psychology in 1971. The Nominating Committee believes that
Mr. Caton’s understanding of the US IT market, his experience in human resources related issues and his status as an independent director
under Nasdaq rules qualifies him to serve on our Board of Directors.
ALEXANDER SHAKOW was elected to the board on June 4, 2007. Mr. Shakow had a distinguished career with the World Bank where he
held various high level positions from 1981-2002. Since 2002, he has been an independent consultant for various international
organizations. From 1968-1981 Mr. Shakow held many senior positions at the United States Agency for International Development,
including Assistant Administrator for Program and Policy; Director -Office of Development Planning, Bureau for Asia; and, DirectorIndonesia, Malaysia and Singapore Affairs. Mr. Shakow was also a staff member of the United States Peace Corps from 1963-1968,
including Director for Indonesia. Mr. Shakow received his PhD from the London School of Economics and Political Science in 1962. He
earned his undergraduate degree with honors from Swarthmore College in 1958. Mr. Shakow is listed in Who’s Who in America, Who’s
Who in the World and Who’s Who in Finance and Business. Mr. Shakow is a member of the Audit, Compensation and Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committees. The Nominating Committee believes that Mr. Shakow’s extensive experience as an economist with focus
on the Asia Pacific region as well as his status as an independent director under Nasdaq rules makes him qualified to serve on our Board of
Directors.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Code of Ethics.
The Company adopted on July 2, 2004, as amended and restated on July 22, 2007, a Code of Ethics applicable to every officer, director and
employee of the Company, including, but not limited to the Company’s principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. Our Code of Ethics has been posted on our website and may be
viewed at www.netsoltech.com/IR/corporate-governance.
Audit Committee
The Company has an audit committee whose members are the independent directors of the Company, specifically, Mr. Beckert, Mr. Burki,
Mr. Caton and Mr. Shakow. Mr. Burki is the current chairman of the audit committee.
Audit Committee Financial Expert.
The Company has identified its audit chairperson, Mr. Shahid Javed Burki as its audit committee financial expert. Mr. Burki is an independent
board member as the term is defined in the Nasdaq Listing Rules. Mr. Burki’s experience as Finance Minister of Pakistan, Chief Executive
Officer of EMP Financial Advisors, his various roles at the World Bank, and his tenure as both an audit committee member and chair for the
Company, provides him with an understanding of generally accepted accounting principles and financial reporting. Additionally, this
experience provides an ability to assess the general application of accounting principles in connection with the accounting for estimates,
accruals and reserves; experience analyzing financial statements that were comparable in the breadth and complexity of issues that can be
reasonably expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements; an understanding of internal control over financial reporting; and an
understanding of audit committee functions.
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ITEM 11-EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
NetSol Technologies’ Named Executive Officers, a group comprised of the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, and three
other executive officers in the 2010-2011 fiscal year, are the following individuals:
Najeeb Ghauri
Salim Ghauri
Naeem Ghauri
Boo Ali
Patti L. W. McGlasson

Chief Executive Officer
President of Asia Pacific and Middle East Operations
President of European Operations
Chief Financial Officer
Secretary and General Counsel

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives
The Compensation Committee believes that the most effective executive compensation program is one that is designed to reward the
achievement of specific annual, long-term and strategic goals by the Company, and which aligns executives’ interests with those of the
stockholders by rewarding performance at or above established goals, with the ultimate objective of increasing stockholder value. The
philosophy of the Compensation Committee is to evaluate both performance and compensation to ensure that we maintain our ability to attract
and retain superior employees in key positions and that compensation provided to key employees remains competitive relative to the
compensation paid to similarly situated executives of our peer companies. To that end, the Compensation Committee believes executive
compensation packages should include both cash and equity-based compensation that reward performance as measured against established
goals.
Setting Executive Compensation
Management develops our compensation plans by utilizing publicly available compensation data in the media services and technology
industries. We believe that the practices of these groups of companies provide us with appropriate compensation benchmarks, because these
groups of companies are in similar businesses and tend to compete with us for executives and other employees. For benchmarking executive
compensation, we typically review the compensation data we have collected from these groups of companies, as well as a subset of the data
from those companies that have a similar number of employees as the Company. For purposes of determining executive compensation, as of
the period covered by this report, we have not engaged consultants to help us analyze this data or to compare our compensation programs with
the practices of the companies represented in the compensation data we review. However, the compensation committee has determined to
utilize the services of a consultant for purposes of comparing our compensation program with similarly situated companies in like
industries. The recommendations of these consultants will be utilized by the Committee in determining the appropriate compensation
packages. While these consultants may make general recommendations about the size and components of compensation, we anticipate our
philosophy to continue on the basis of a pay-for-performance philosophy.
Based on management's analyses and recommendations, the Compensation Committee has approved a pay-for-performance compensation
philosophy, which is intended to establish base salaries and total executive compensation (taking into consideration the executive's experience
and abilities) that are competitive with those companies with a similar number of employees represented in the compensation data we review.
We work within the framework of this pay-for-performance compensation philosophy to determine each component of an executive's initial
compensation package based on numerous factors, including:
• The individual's particular background, track record and circumstances, including training and prior relevant work experience;
• The individual's role with us and the compensation paid to similar persons in the companies represented in the compensation data that
we review;
• The demand for individuals with the individual's specific expertise and experience;
• Performance goals and other expectations for the position; and,
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• Uniqueness of industry skills.
The terms of each executive officer's compensation are derived from employment agreements negotiated between the Company and the
executive. Each executive's employment agreement is generally negotiated to cover a one to three-year period, and prescribes the base salary
and other annual payments, if any, to the executive. Employment agreements for all executive officers are approved by the Board of Directors
and the Compensation Committee. Employment agreements for other executives are approved by the Company's Chief Executive Officer.
2011 Executive Compensation Components
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, the principal components of compensation that our named executive officers were eligible to receive
were:
• Base salary;
• Long Term Equity Incentive Compensation;
• Performance-based incentive compensation (discretionary bonus); and,
• Perquisites and other personal benefits.
Base Salary
An executive's base salary is evaluated together with components of the executive's other compensation to ensure that the executive's total
compensation is consistent with our overall compensation philosophy.
The base salaries were established in arms-length negotiations between the executive and the Company, taking into account their extensive
experience, knowledge of the industry, track record, and achievements on behalf of the Company.
Base salaries are adjusted annually by the Compensation Committee. As of June 30, 2011, the annual review had not been completed and
annual adjustments had not occurred.
Annual Bonus
Our compensation program includes eligibility for bonuses as rewarded by the Compensation Committee. All executives are eligible for
annual performance-based cash bonuses in accordance with Company policies. The compensation committee takes into consideration the
executive’s performance during the previous year to determine eligibility for discretionary bonuses. Further, the compensation committee will
review, if applicable, the performance criteria set forth in an executive’s previous year’s agreement and will determine if the executive has met
such criteria in order to achieve the bonus. The Company’s bonus criteria at the executive management level, is typically based on a gross
revenue and per share profit targets.
During our fiscal year ended 2010, none of the named executives were awarded cash bonuses. The Compensation Committee determined to
forgo the grant of cash bonuses during the fiscal year ended June 2010 because, while the Company was experiencing an easing of the effects
of the recession, cash bonuses could have a negative impact on the Company’s desire to maintain cash reserves.
Long-Term Equity Incentive Compensation
We believe that long-term performance is achieved through an ownership culture that encourages long-term participation by our executives in
equity-based awards. Our various Employee Stock Option Plans allow us to grant stock options to employees. We currently make initial
equity awards of stock options to new executives and certain non-executive employees in connection with their employment with the
Company. Annual grants of options, if any, are approved by the Compensation Committee.
Equity Incentives. Executives, certain non-executive employees, and directors who join us may be awarded stock awards and/or stock option
grants after they join the Company. These grants have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the grant date.
Such awards are intended to provide the executive with incentive to build value in the organization over an extended period of time. The size of
the stock option award is also reviewed in light of the executive's track record, base salary, other compensation and other factors to ensure that
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the executive's total compensation is in line with our overall compensation philosophy. A review of all components of compensation is
conducted when determining equity awards to ensure that total compensation conforms to our overall philosophy and objectives.
Equity incentives provided to executives are determined by the Fair Market Value of our common stock on the grant date were provided to the
executives as an adjustment of their overall compensation while taking in to account the need to continue to incentivize the executive to build
value in the organization. Each executive’s stock award was based on an analysis of the Compensation Committee of an appropriate overall
cash compensation for each individual taking into account their position and compensation at similarly situated companies. Each executive’s
stock award was based on a desired overall compensation cash value less the base salary as approved by the Compensation Committee.
Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits
We provide named executive officers with perquisites and other personal benefits that we believe are reasonable and consistent with our
overall compensation program to better enable the Company to attract and retain superior employees for key positions. The Compensation
Committee periodically reviews the levels of perquisites and other personal benefits provided to executive officers.
We maintain benefits and perquisites that are offered to all employees, including health insurance and dental insurance.
perquisites may vary in different country locations and are consistent with local practices and regulations.

Benefits and

Termination Based Compensation
Upon termination of employment, all executive officers with a written employment agreement are entitled to receive severance payments under
their employment agreements. In determining whether to approve, and as part of the process of setting the terms of, such severance
arrangements, the Compensation Committee recognizes that executives and officers often face challenges securing new employment following
termination. Further, the Committee recognizes that many of the named executives and officers have participated in the Company since its
founding and that this participation has not resulted in a return on their investments. Termination and Change in Control Payments considered
both the risk and the dedication of these executives’ service to the Company.
Our Chief Executive Officer, CEO of NetSol Technologies, Ltd. and CEO of NetSol Technologies Europe, Ltd. have employment
agreements that provide, if his employment is terminated without cause or if the executive terminates the agreement with Good Reason, he is
entitled to (a) all remaining salary to the end of the date of termination, plus salary from the end of the employment term through the end of the
third anniversary of the date of termination, and (b) the continuation by the Company of medical and dental insurance coverage for him and his
family until the end of the employment term and through the end of the third anniversary of the date of termination. Provided, however, if
such benefits cannot be continued for this extended period, the Executive shall receive cash (including a tax-equivalency payment for Federal,
state and local income and payroll taxes assuming Executive is in the maximum tax bracket for all such purposes) where such benefits may not
be continued. These agreements further provide for vesting of all options and restrictive stock grants, if any.
Our Chief Financial Officer has an employment agreement that provides, if his employment is terminated without cause or if the executive
terminates the agreement with Good Reason, he is entitled to (a) all remaining salary to the end of the date of termination, plus salary from the
end of the employment term through the end of the second month of the date of termination, and (b) the continuation by the Company of
medical and dental insurance coverage for him and his family until the end of the employment term and through the end of the two months
from the date of termination. Provided, however, if such benefits cannot be continued for this extended period, the Executive shall receive
cash (including a tax-equivalency payment for Federal, state and local income and payroll taxes assuming Executive is in the maximum tax
bracket for all such purposes) where such benefits may not be continued. These agreements further provide for vesting of all options and
restrictive stock grants, if any.
The Secretary of the Company has an employment agreement that provides, if she is terminated without cause or if the executive terminates the
agreement with Good Reason, she is entitled to (a) all remaining salary to the end of the date of termination, plus salary from the end of the
employment term through the end of the first anniversary of the date of termination, and (b) the continuation by the Company of medical and
dental insurance coverage for her and her family until the end of the employment term and through the end of the first anniversary of the date
of
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termination. Provided, however, if such benefits cannot be continued for this extended period, the Executive shall receive cash (including a
tax-equivalency payment for Federal, state and local income and payroll taxes assuming Executive is in the maximum tax bracket for all such
purposes) where such benefits may not be continued. These agreements further provide for vesting of all options and restrictive stock
grants, if any.
Tax and Accounting Implications
Deductibility of Executive Compensation
As part of its role, the Compensation Committee reviews and considers the deductibility of executive compensation under Section 162(m) of
the Internal Revenue Code, which provides that we may not deduct compensation of more than $1,000,000 that is paid to certain individuals.
We believe that compensation paid under the management incentive plans is generally fully deductible for federal income tax purposes.
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
Commencing on July 1, 2006, we began accounting for stock-based payments, including awards under our Employee Stock Option Plans, in
accordance with the requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, or
SFAS 123(R).
Summary Compensation
The following table shows the compensation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010, earned by our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer who is our Principal Financial and Accounting Officer, and others considered to be executive
officers of the Company.
Name and Principle
Position
Najeeb Ghauri
CEO & Chairman
Naeem Ghauri
President EMEA
Region
Salim Ghauri
President APAC
Region
Boo-Ali Siddiqui
Chief Financial Officer
Patti L. W. McGlasson
Secretary, General
Counsel

2011 $ 375,000
2010 $ 315,000
2011 $ 250,000

$
$
$

-

Stock
Awards ($)
(1)
$
96,875
$
99,375
$
96,875

2010 $ 225,000
2011 $ 250,000

$
$

-

$
$

99,375
96,875

$
$

-(2) $
-(2) $

27,000(4) $ 351,375
42,014(5) $ 388,889

2010
2011
2010
2011

212,500
84,000
75,000
130,500

$
$
$
$

-

$
$
$
$

99,375
69,250
9,000
55,400

$
$
$
$

-(2)
-(2)

9,918(5)
-(6)
-(6)
21,281(7)

2010 $ 122,747

$

-

$

7,200

$

-(2) $

Fiscal Year
Ended

Salary ($)

$
$
$
$

Bonus ($)

Option
Awards ($)
$
$
$

-(2)
-(2)
-(2)

All Other
Compensation
Total ($)
($)
$
81,603(3) $ 553,478
$
70,981(3) $ 485,356
$
26,698(4) $ 373,573

$
$
$
$

$ 321,793
$ 153,250
$ 84,000
$ 207,181

23,594(7) $ 153,541

(1) The stock was awarded as compensation to the officers and related expense was recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
(2) No options were granted to officers during the period.
(3) Consists of $36,000 and $36,000 paid for automobile and travel allowance, $16,758 and $8,379 on account of life insurance and $28,845
and $26,602 paid for medical and dental insurance premiums paid by the Company for participation in the health insurance program for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
(4) Consists of $24,000 and $24,000 paid for automobile and travel allowance and $2,698 and $3,000 paid for private medical insurance
premiums paid by the Company for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
(5) Consists of $38,526 paid for automobile and travel allowance and $3,489 paid for private medical insurance premiums paid by the
Company for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011. The amount paid to the officer was in aggregate less than $10,000 for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2010.
(6) The amount paid to the officer was in aggregate less than $10,000 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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(7) Consists of $9,000 and $8,500 paid for automobile allowance and $12,281 and $15,094 paid for medical and dental insurance premiums
for participation in the health insurance program for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 respectively.
Grants of Plan-Based Awards
Mr. Najeeb Ghauri, Mr. Naeem Ghauri and Mr. Salim Ghauri pursuant to the terms of their employment agreement were entitled for bonus
based on the performance of the Company for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008. Mssrs. Ghauri waived all rights to bonuses and options
pursuant to the terms of their employment agreements in response to the economic downturn of late 2008.
Mr. Najeeb Ghauri, Mr. Naeem Ghauri and Mr. Salim Ghauri were granted, in February 2009, 750,000, 525,000 and 525,000 options,
respectively, to acquire shares of common stock of the Company. The options vest quarterly and were approved by the Compensation
Committee as an incentive for Messrs. Ghauri in light of the agreed reduction of salary in early 2009. Ms. McGlasson was granted 20,000
shares of common stock of the Company in early 2009 as an incentive for Ms. McGlasson in light of the agreed reduction of salary.
Discussion of Summary Compensation Table
The terms of our executive officers' compensation are derived from our employment agreements with them and the annual performance review
by our Compensation Committee. The terms of Mr. Najeeb Ghauri, Mr. Naeem Ghauri and Mr. Salim Ghauri’s employment agreements with
the Company were the result of negotiations between the Company and the executives and were approved by our Compensation Committee
and Board of Directors. The terms of Ms. McGlasson’s and Mr. Siddiqui’s employment agreement with the Company were the result of
negotiations between our Chief Executive Officer and the employees and were approved by our Compensation Committee and Board of
Directors.
Employment Agreement with Najeeb Ghauri
Effective January 1, 2007, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with our Chief Executive Officer, Najeeb Ghauri (the “CEO
Agreement”). The CEO Agreement was amended effective January 1, 2008 and again January 1, 2010. Pursuant to the CEO Agreement, as
amended, between Mr. Ghauri and the Company (the "CEO Agreement"), the Company agreed to employ Mr. Ghauri as its Chief Executive
Officer from the date of the CEO Agreement through December 31, 2012. The term of employment automatically renews for 36 additional
months unless notice of intent to terminate is received by either party at least 6 months prior to the end of the term. Under the CEO
Agreement, Mr. Ghauri is entitled to an annualized base salary of $375,000 and 250,000 shares of common stock which are granted 25% on a
quarterly basis following each 3 months of service, and is eligible for annual bonuses at the discretion of the Compensation
Committee. Pursuant to the terms of the amendment, Mr. Ghauri was entitled to the following bonuses. A bonus of One Hundred Thirty
Three Thousand Dollars ($133,000) is payable upon achieving the minimum bonus benchmark of: company-wide revenue of $30,000,000 for
the fiscal year 2009-2010; and, earnings per share of $0.05 (the “Minimum Bonus Benchmark”). An additional bonus may be earned if an
“accelerator goal” is achieved. The bonus is accelerated to a total of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) if revenue of $33,000,000 is
attained together with earnings per share of $0.10.
Mr. Ghauri is entitled to participate in the Company's stock option plans, is entitled to three weeks of paid vacation per calendar year, is to
receive a car allowance totaling $3,000 per month for the term of the CEO Agreement, and the Company shall pay premiums not to exceed
$16,600 (or $4,150 quarterly) for life insurance for the Executive.
The CEO Agreement also includes provisions respecting severance, non-solicitation, non-competition, and confidentiality obligations.
Pursuant to the CEO Agreement, if he terminates his employment for Good Reason (as described below), or, is terminated prior to the end of
the employment term by the Company other than for Cause (as described below) or death, he shall be entitled to all remaining salary from the
termination date until 36 months thereafter, at the rate of salary in effect on the date of termination, immediate vesting of all options and,
continuation of all health related plan benefits for a period of 36 months. He shall have no obligation to seek other employment and any
income so earned shall not reduce the foregoing amounts. If he is terminated by the Company for Cause (as described below), or at the end of
the employment term, he shall not be entitled to further compensation. Under the CEO Agreement, Good Reason includes the assignment of
duties inconsistent with his title, a material reduction in salary and perquisites, the relocation of the Company's principal office by 30 miles, if
the Company asks him to perform any act which is illegal, including the commission of a crime or act of moral turpitude, or a material breach
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of the CEO Agreement by the Company. Under the CEO Agreement, Cause includes conviction of crime involving moral turpitude, failure
to perform his duties to the Company, engaging in activities which are directly competitive to or intentionally injurious to the Company, or
any material breach of the CEO Agreement by Mr. Ghauri.
The above summary of the CEO Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the CEO Agreement, a copy of which was
filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. The above summary of the First Amendment is
qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Amendment, a copy of which was filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 10-KSB for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008. The above summary of the Second Amendment is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of
the Amendment, a copy of which was filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 10-Q for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009.
Employment Agreement with Naeem Ghauri
Effective January 1, 2007, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with our President of NetSol Technologies Europe, Ltd. and
Chief Executive Officer of EMEA, Naeem Ghauri (the “President EMEA Agreement”). The President EMEA Agreement was amended
effective January 1, 2008 and again effective January 1, 2010. Pursuant to the Employment Agreement, as amended, the Company agreed to
employ Mr. Ghauri as its President of the EMEA region from the date of the President EMEA Agreement through December 31, 2012. The
term of employment automatically renews for 36 additional months unless notice of intent to terminate is received by either party at least 6
months prior to the end of the term. Under the President EMEA Agreement, Mr. Ghauri is entitled to an annualized base salary of $250,000,
250,000 shares of common stock which are granted 25% on a quarterly basis following each 3 months of service, and is eligible for annual
bonuses at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. A bonus of One Hundred Thirty Three Thousand Dollars ($133,000) is payable
upon achieving the minimum bonus benchmark of: company-wide revenue of $30,000,000 for the fiscal year 2009-2010; and, earnings per
share of $0.05 (the “Minimum Bonus Benchmark”). An additional bonus may be earned if an “accelerator goal” is achieved. The bonus is
accelerated to a total of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) if revenue of $33,000,000 is attained together with earnings per share of
$0.10.
In addition, Mr. Ghauri is entitled to participate in the Company's stock option plans, is entitled to two weeks of paid vacation per calendar
year and is to receive a car allowance totaling $2,000 per month for the term of the President EMEA Agreement. Finally, during the term of
the President EMEA Agreement, the Company shall pay the amount of premiums or other costs incurred for the coverage of Mr. Ghauri, his
spouse and dependent family members under the Company's health and related benefit plans.
The President EMEA Agreement also includes provisions respecting severance, non-solicitation, non-competition, and confidentiality
obligations. Pursuant to the President EMEA Agreement, if he terminates his employment for Good Reason (as described below), or, is
terminated prior to the end of the employment term by the Company other than for Cause (as described below) or death, he shall be entitled to
all remaining salary from the termination date until 36 months thereafter, at the rate of salary in effect on the date of termination, immediate
vesting of all options and, continuation of all health related plan benefits for a period of 36 months. He shall have no obligation to seek other
employment and any income so earned shall not reduce the foregoing amounts. If he is terminated by the Company for Cause (as described
below), or at the end of the employment term, he shall not be entitled to further compensation. Under the President EMEA Agreement, Good
Reason includes the assignment of duties inconsistent with his title, a material reduction in salary and perquisites, the relocation of the
Company's principal office by 30 miles, if the Company asks him to perform any act which is illegal, including the commission of a crime or
act of moral turpitude, or a material breach of the President EMEA Agreement by the Company. Under the President EMEA Agreement,
Cause includes conviction of crime involving moral turpitude, failure to perform his duties to the Company, engaging in activities which are
directly competitive to or intentionally injurious to the Company, or any material breach of the President EMEA Agreement by Mr. Ghauri.
The above summary of the President EMEA Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the President EMEA
Agreement, a copy of which was filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. The above summary
of the Amendment is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Amendment, a copy of which was filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008. The above summary of the Second Amendment is qualified in its entirety by
reference to the full text of the Amendment, a copy of which was filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 10-Q for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2009.
Employment Agreement with Salim Ghauri
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Effective January 1, 2007, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with our President of NetSol Technologies, Ltd., our
wholly owned subsidiary in Lahore, Pakistan and Chief Executive Officer of the APAC Region, Mr. Salim Ghauri (the “President APAC
Agreement”). The President APAC Agreement was amended effective January 1, 2008 and again January 1, 2010. Pursuant to the
President APAC Agreement, as amended, the Company agreed to employ Mr. Ghauri as its President APAC and Chief Executive Officer of
the Global Services Division from the date of the President APAC Agreement through December 31, 2012. The term of employment
automatically renews for 36 additional months unless notice of intent to terminate is received by either party at least 6 months prior to the end
of the term.
Under the President APAC Agreement, Mr. Ghauri is entitled to an annualized base salary of $250,000 and is eligible for annual bonuses at
the discretion of the Compensation Committee, 250,000 shares of common stock which are granted 25% on a quarterly basis following each 3
months of service, and is eligible for annual bonuses at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. A bonus of One Hundred Thirty
Three Thousand Dollars ($133,000) is payable upon achieving the minimum bonus benchmark of: company-wide revenue of $30,000,000 for
the fiscal year 2009-2010; and, earnings per share of $0.05 (the “Minimum Bonus Benchmark”). An additional bonus may be earned if an
“accelerator goal” is achieved. The bonus is accelerated to a total of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) if revenue of $33,000,000 is
attained together with earnings per share of $0.10.
The Company retained the right to increase the base compensation as it deems necessary. Mr. Ghauri agreed to a 20% decrease in his salary
from April 1 to June 30, 2009. In addition, Mr. Ghauri is entitled to participate in the Company's stock option plans, is entitled to two weeks
of paid vacation per calendar year. Finally, during the term of the President APAC Agreement, the Company shall pay the amount of
premiums or other costs incurred for the coverage of Mr. Ghauri, his spouse and dependent family members under the Company's health and
related benefit plans.
The President APAC Agreement also includes provisions respecting severance, non-solicitation, non-competition, and confidentiality
obligations. Pursuant to the President APAC Agreement, if he terminates his employment for Good Reason (as described below), or, is
terminated prior to the end of the employment term by the Company other than for Cause (as described below) or death, he shall be entitled to
all remaining salary from the termination date until 36 months thereafter, at the rate of salary in effect on the date of termination, immediate
vesting of all options and, continuation of all health related plan benefits for a period of 36 months. He shall have no obligation to seek other
employment and any income so earned shall not reduce the foregoing amounts. If he is terminated by the Company for Cause (as described
below), or at the end of the employment term, he shall not be entitled to further compensation. Under the President APAC Agreement, Good
Reason includes the assignment of duties inconsistent with his title, a material reduction in salary and perquisites, the relocation of the
Company's principal office by 30 miles, if the Company asks him to perform any act which is illegal, including the commission of a crime or
act of moral turpitude, or a material breach of the President APAC Agreement by the Company. Under the President APAC Agreement,
Cause includes conviction of crime involving moral turpitude, failure to perform his duties to the Company, engaging in activities which are
directly competitive to or intentionally injurious to the Company, or any material breach of the President APAC Agreement by Mr. Ghauri.
The above summary of the President APAC Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the President APAC
Agreement, a copy of which was filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. The above summary
of the Amendment is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Amendment, a copy of which was filed as an exhibit hereto.
The above summary of the Second Amendment is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Amendment, a copy of which was
filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 10-Q for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009.
Employment Agreement with Boo-Ali Siddiqui
Effective April 1, 2010, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with our Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Boo-Ali Siddiqui.
Pursuant to the Employment Agreement between Ms. Siddiqui and the Company (the "CFO Agreement"), the Company agreed to employ
Mr. Siddiqui as its CFO from the date of the CFO Agreement through March 31, 2011. According to the terms of the CFO Agreement, the
term of the agreement automatically extends for an additional thirty day periods unless notice of intent to terminate is received by either party at
least two weeks prior to the end of the term. Under the CFO Agreement, Mr. Siddiqui is entitled to an annualized base salary of $84,000 and
is eligible for annual bonuses at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Siddiqui shall also receive a total of 50,000 shares of
common stock to be granted in 25% tranches upon each completion of a quarter of service during the term of his CFO Agreement.
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The CFO Agreement also includes provisions respecting severance, non-solicitation, non-competition, and confidentiality obligations.
Pursuant to the CFO Agreement, if she terminates her employment for Good Reason (as described below), or, is terminated prior to the end
of the employment term by the Company other than for Cause (as described below) or death, she shall be entitled to all remaining salary from
the termination date until 2 months thereafter, at the rate of salary in effect on the date of termination, immediate vesting of all options and,
continuation of all health related plan benefits for a period of 2 months. He shall have no obligation to seek other employment and any
income so earned shall not reduce the foregoing amounts. If he is terminated by the Company for Cause (as described below), or at the end
of the employment term, he shall not be entitled to further compensation. Under the CFO Agreement, Good Reason includes the assignment
of duties inconsistent with his title, a material reduction in salary and perquisites, the relocation of the Company's principal office by 60
miles, if the Company asks him to perform any act which is illegal, including the commission of a crime or act of moral turpitude, or a
material breach of the CFO Agreement by the Company. Under the CFO Agreement, Cause includes conviction of crime involving moral
turpitude, failure to perform his duties to the Company, engaging in activities which are directly competitive to or intentionally injurious to
the Company, or any material breach of the CFO Agreement by Mr. Siddiqui.
The above summary of the CFO Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the CFO Agreement, a copy of which was
filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2009.
Employment Agreement with Patti L. W. McGlasson
Effective May 1, 2006, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with our Secretary and General Counsel, Ms. Patti L. W.
McGlasson. Pursuant to the Employment Agreement between Ms. McGlasson and the Company (the "General Counsel Agreement"), the
Company agreed to employ Ms. McGlasson as its Secretary and General Counsel from the date of the General Counsel Agreement through
March 31, 2012. According to the terms of the General Counsel Agreement, the term of the agreement automatically extends for an additional
one year periods unless notice of intent to terminate is received by either party at least 6 months prior to the end of the term. Under the General
Counsel Agreement, Ms. McGlasson was entitled to an annualized base salary of $130,000, 40,000 shares of common stock to be granted in
25% tranches after each quarter of service, and is eligible for annual bonuses at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer. In addition,
Ms. McGlasson is entitled to participate in the Company's stock option plans and, is entitled to four weeks of paid vacation per calendar year.
The General Counsel Agreement also includes provisions respecting severance, non-solicitation, non-competition, and confidentiality
obligations. Pursuant to the General Counsel Agreement, if she terminates her employment for Good Reason (as described below), or, is
terminated prior to the end of the employment term by the Company other than for Cause (as described below) or death, she shall be entitled to
all remaining salary from the termination date until 12 months thereafter, at the rate of salary in effect on the date of termination, immediate
vesting of all options and, continuation of all health related plan benefits for a period of 12 months. She shall have no obligation to seek other
employment and any income so earned shall not reduce the foregoing amounts. If she is terminated by the Company for Cause (as described
below), or at the end of the employment term, she shall not be entitled to further compensation. Under the General Counsel Agreement, Good
Reason includes the assignment of duties inconsistent with her title, a material reduction in salary and perquisites, the relocation of the
Company's principal office by 60 miles, if the Company asks her to perform any act which is illegal, including the commission of a crime or
act of moral turpitude, or a material breach of the General Counsel Agreement by the Company. Under the General Counsel Agreement, Cause
includes conviction of crime involving moral turpitude, failure to perform her duties to the Company, engaging in activities which are directly
competitive to or intentionally injurious to the Company, or any material breach of the General Counsel Agreement by Ms. McGlasson.
The above summary of the General Counsel Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the General Counsel
Agreement, a copy of which was filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006 on September 27,
2006. The above summary is also qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Amendment to the General Counsel Agreement, a
copy of which was filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table shows grants of stock options and grants of unvested stock awards outstanding on June 30, 2011, the last day of our
fiscal year, to each of the individuals named in the Summary Compensation Table.

NAME
Najeeb Ghauri

Naeem Ghauri

Salim Ghauri

Boo-Ali Siddiqui
Patti L. W. McGlasson

NUMBER OF
SECURITIES
UNDERLYING
OPTIONS (#)
EXERCISABLE
100,000
100,000
50,000
20,000
30,000
374,227
500,000
167,214
250,000
550,000
100,000
100,000
50,000
20,000
30,000
10,000
374,227
500,000
217,214
250,000
525,000
100,000
100,000
50,000
20,000
30,000
20,000
374,227
500,000
217,214
250,000
325,000
-

NUMBER OF
SECURITIES
UNDERLYING
OPTIONS (#)
UNEXERCISABLE

-

-

-

-

10,000
20,000
30,000
20,000
20,000
10,000

-
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OPTION
EXERCISE
PRICE ($)

2.21
3.75
5.00
2.64
5.00
1.94
2.91
1.83
2.50
0.65
2.21
3.75
5.00
2.64
5.00
2.50
1.94
2.91
1.83
2.50
0.65
2.21
3.75
5.00
2.64
5.00
2.50
1.94
2.91
1.83
2.50
0.65
-

OPTION
EXPIRATION
DATE
1/1/14
1/1/14
1/1/14
3/26/14
3/26/14
4/1/15
4/1/15
6/2/16
6/2/16
2/12/19
1/2/14
1/2/14
1/2/14
3/26/14
3/26/14
2/16/12
4/1/15
4/1/15
6/2/16
6/2/16
2/12/19
1/2/14
1/2/14
3/26/14
3/26/14
3/26/14
2/16/12
4/1/15
4/1/15
6/2/16
6/2/16
2/12/19
1/0/00

3.00
2.64
5.00
1.65
2.25
1.60

1/1/14
3/26/14
3/26/14
7/7/15
7/7/15
7/23/17

Option Exercises and Stock Vested
Two officers exercised 200,000 options each at an exercise price of $0.65 during the year. Options were granted in 2009.
Pension Benefits
We do not have any qualified or non-qualified defined benefit plans.
Potential Payments upon Termination or Change of Control
Generally, regardless of the manner in which a named executive officer's employment terminates, he is entitled to receive amounts earned
during his term of employment. Such amounts include the portion of the executive's base salary that has accrued prior to any termination and
not yet been paid and unused vacation pay.
In addition, we are required to make the additional payments and/or provide additional benefits to the individuals named in the Summary
Compensation Table in the event of a termination of employment or a change of control, as set forth below.
Change-in-Control Payments
Najeeb Ghauri, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
In the event that Mr. Ghauri is terminated as a result of a change in control (defined below), he is entitled to all payments due in the event of a
termination for Cause or Good Reason and: (a) a onetime payment equal to the product of 2.99 and his salary during the preceding 12 months;
(b) a one-time payment equal to the higher of (i) Executive’s bonus for the previous year and (ii) one percent of the Company’s consolidated
gross revenues for the previous twelve (12) months; and, at the election of the Executive, (c) a one-time cash payment equal to the cash value
of all shares eligible for exercise upon the exercise of Executive’s Options then currently outstanding and exercisable as if they had been
exercised in full (the “Change of Control Termination Payment”). In the event Executive elects to receive the cash value of the shares
underlying Executive’s options, he shall so notify the Company of his intent.
The following table summarizes the potential payments to Mr. Ghauri assuming his employment with us was terminated or a change of control
occurred on June 30, 2011, the last day of our most recently completed fiscal year.

CHANGE OF
CONTROL

BENEFITS AND PAYMENTS
Base Salary
Bonus
Salary Multiple Pay-out
Bonus or Revenue One-time Pay-Out
Net Cash Value of Options
Total
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TERMINATION
BY US
WITHOUT
CAUSE OR BY
EXECUTIVE
FOR GOOD
REASON

TERMINATION
UPON DEATH
OR
DISABILITY

$

1,125,000
1,121,250
365,476
4,518,302

$

-

$

1,125,000

$

7,130,028

$

-

$

1,125,000

Naeem Ghauri, President, Americas Europe Region
In the event that Mr. Ghauri is terminated as a result of a change in control (defined below), he is entitled to all payments due in the event of a
termination for Cause or Good Reason and: (a) a onetime payment equal to the product of 2.99 and his salary during the preceding 12 months;
(b) a one-time payment equal to the higher of (i) Executive’s bonus for the previous year and (ii) one percent of the Company’s consolidated
gross revenues for the previous twelve (12) months; and, at the election of the Executive, (c) a one-time cash payment equal to the cash value
of all shares eligible for exercise upon the exercise of Executive’s Options then currently outstanding and exercisable as if they had been
exercised in full (the “Change of Control Termination Payment”). In the event Executive elects to receive the cash value of the shares
underlying Executive’s options, he shall so notify the Company of his intent.
The following table summarizes the potential payments to Mr. Ghauri assuming his employment with us was terminated or a change of control
occurred on June 30, 2011, the last day of our most recently completed fiscal year.

CHANGE OF
CONTROL

BENEFITS AND PAYMENTS
Base Salary
Bonus
Salary Multiple Pay-out
Bonus or Revenue One-time Pay-Out
Net Cash Value of Options
Total

TERMINATION
BY US
WITHOUT
CAUSE OR BY
EXECUTIVE
FOR GOOD
REASON

TERMINATION
UPON DEATH
OR
DISABILITY

$

750,000
747,500
365,476
4,618,552

$

-

$

750,000

$

6,481,528

$

-

$

750,000

Salim Ghauri, President, Asia Pacific Region
In the event that Mr. Ghauri is terminated as a result of a change in control (defined below), he is entitled to all payments due in the event of a
termination for Cause or Good Reason and: (a) a onetime payment equal to the product of 2.99 and his salary during the preceding 12 months;
(b) a one-time payment equal to the higher of (i) Executive’s bonus for the previous year and (ii) one percent of the Company’s consolidated
gross revenues for the previous twelve (12) months; and, at the election of the Executive, (c) a one-time cash payment equal to the cash value
of all shares eligible for exercise upon the exercise of Executive’s Options then currently outstanding and exercisable as if they had been
exercised in full (the “Change of Control Termination Payment”). In the event Executive elects to receive the cash value of the shares
underlying Executive’s options, he shall so notify the Company of his intent.
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The following table summarizes the potential payments to Mr. Ghauri assuming his employment with us was terminated or a change of
control occurred on June 30, 2011, the last day of our most recently completed fiscal year.

CHANGE OF
CONTROL

BENEFITS AND PAYMENTS
Base Salary
Bonus
Salary Multiple Pay-out
Bonus or Revenue One-time Pay-Out
Net Cash Value of Options
Total

TERMINATION
BY US
WITHOUT
CAUSE OR BY
EXECUTIVE
FOR GOOD
REASON

TERMINATION
UPON DEATH
OR
DISABILITY

$

750,000
747,500
365,476
4,513,552

$

-

$

750,000

$

6,376,528

$

-

$

750,000

Boo-Ali Siddiqui, Chief Financial Officer
In the event that Mr. Siddiqui is terminated as a result of a change in control (defined below), he is entitled to all payments due in the event of a
termination for Cause or Good Reason and: (a) a onetime payment equal to the product of 2.99 and his salary during the preceding 6 months;
(b) a one-time payment equal to the higher of (i) Executive’s bonus for the previous year and (ii) one-half of one percent of the Company’s
consolidated gross revenues for the previous six (6) months (the “Change of Control Termination Payment”).
The following table summarizes the potential payments to Mr. Siddiqui assuming his employment with us was terminated or a change of
control occurred on June 30, 2011, the last day of our most recently completed fiscal year.

CHANGE OF
CONTROL

BENEFITS AND PAYMENTS
Base Salary
Bonus
Salary Multiple Pay-out
Bonus or Revenue One-time Pay-Out
Net Cash Value of Options
Total
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TERMINATION
BY US
WITHOUT
CAUSE OR BY
EXECUTIVE
FOR GOOD
REASON

TERMINATION
UPON DEATH
OR
DISABILITY

$

42,000
125,580
88,596
-

$

-

$

14,000

$

256,176

$

-

$

14,000

Patti L. W. McGlasson, Secretary and General Counsel
In the event that Ms. McGlasson is terminated as a result of a change in control (defined below), she is entitled to all payments due in the event
of a termination for Cause or Good Reason and: (a) a onetime payment equal to the product of 2.99 and her salary during the preceding 12
months; (b) a one-time payment equal to the higher of (i) Executive’s bonus for the previous year and (ii) one-half of one percent of the
Company’s consolidated gross revenues for the previous twelve (12) months; and, at the election of the Executive, (c) a one-time cash
payment equal to the cash value of all shares eligible for exercise upon the exercise of Executive’s Options then currently outstanding and
exercisable as if they had been exercised in full (the “Change of Control Termination Payment”). In the event Executive elects to receive the
cash value of the shares underlying Executive’s options, she shall so notify the Company of her intent.
The following table summarizes the potential payments to Ms. McGlasson assuming her employment with us was terminated or a change of
control occurred on June 30, 2011, the last day of our most recently completed fiscal year.

CHANGE OF
CONTROL

BENEFITS AND PAYMENTS
Base Salary
Bonus
Salary Multiple Pay-out
Bonus or Revenue One-time Pay-Out
Net Cash Value of Options
Total

TERMINATION
BY US
WITHOUT
CAUSE OR BY
EXECUTIVE
FOR GOOD
REASON

TERMINATION
UPON DEATH
OR
DISABILITY

$

130,000
390,195
182,738
326,800

$

-

$

130,000

$

1,029,733

$

-

$

130,000

Director Compensation
Director Compensation Table
The following table sets forth a summary of the compensation earned by our Directors and/or paid to certain of our Directors pursuant to the
Company's compensation policies for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, other than Najeeb Ghauri, Naeem Ghauri and Salim Ghauri who
are executives and directors.

Eugen Beckert
Shahid Javed Burki
Mark Caton
Alexander Shakow
(1)

FEES
EARNED
OR PAID
IN CASH
($)
25,000
31,000
28,000
18,000

NAME

SHARES
AWARDS
($) (1)
67,225
67,225
67,225
67,225

TOTAL
($)
92,225
98,225
95,225
85,225

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, 22,500 shares were issued and 20,000 shares were accrued to be issued valuing
$67,225 to each independent director.
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Director Compensation Policy
Messrs. Ghauri are not paid any fees or other compensation for services as members of our Board of Directors.
The non-employee members of our Board of Directors received as compensation for services as directors as well as reimbursement for
documented reasonable expenses incurred in connection with attendance at meetings of our Board of Directors and the committees thereof.
The Company paid the following amounts to members of the Board of Directors for the activities shown during the fiscal year ended June 30,
2011.

BOARD ACTIVITY

Board Member Fee
Committee Membership
Chairperson for Audit Committee
Chairperson for Compensation Committee
Chairperson for Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

CASH
PAYMENTS
$
48,000
$
18,000
$
15,000
$
12,000
$
9,000

Members of our Board of Directors are also eligible to receive stock option or stock award grants both upon joining the Board of Directors
and on an annual basis in line with recommendations by the Compensation Committee, which grants are non-qualified stock options under our
Employee Stock Option Plans. Further, from time to time, the non-employee members of the Board of Directors are eligible to receive stock
grants that may be granted if and only if approved by the shareholders of the Company.
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
The current members of the Compensation Committee are Messrs. Caton (Chairman), Mr. Beckert, Mr. Burki and Mr. Shakow. During the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, the Chairman of the Compensation Committee was Mr. Caton. There were no other members of the
committee during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. All current members of the Compensation Committee are "independent directors" as
defined under the NASDAQ Listing Rules. None of these individuals were at any time during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, or at any
other time, an officer or employee of the Company.
No executive officer of the Company serves as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that has one or
more executive officers serving as a member of the Company's Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.
Employee Stock Option Plans
The 2001 plan authorizes the issuance of up to 2,000,000 options to purchase common stock of which 2,000,000 have been granted. The
grant prices range between $.75 and $2.50.
The 2002 plan authorizes the issuance of up to 2,000,000 options to purchase common stock of which 2,000,000 options have been
granted. The grant prices range between $.75 and $5.00.
In March 2004, our shareholders approved the 2003 stock option plan. This plan authorizes up to 2,000,000 options to purchase common
stock of which 1,948,741 have been granted. The grant prices range between $0.65 and $5.00.
In March 2005, our shareholders approved the 2004 stock option plan. This plan authorizes up to 5,000,000 options to purchase common
stock of which 4,938,246 have been granted. The grant prices range between $1.25 and $3.00.
In April 2006, our shareholders approved the 2005 stock option plan. This plan authorizes up to 5,000,000 options to purchase common
stock of which 4,625,000 have been granted. The grant prices range between $0.65 and $2.55.
In June 2008, our shareholders approved the 2008 Equity incentive plan. This plan authorizes up to 1,000,000 grants and/or options of
common stock of which 917,000 have been granted. The grant prices range between $0.32 and $2.32.
In May 2011, our shareholders approved the 2011 Equity incentive plan. This plan authorizes up to 5,000,000
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grants and/or options of common stock of which nothing yet has been granted.
ITEM 12- SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Company's Common Stock, its only class of
outstanding voting securities as of September 13, 2011, by (i) each person who is known to the Company to own beneficially more than 5%
of the outstanding common Stock with the address of each such person, (ii) each of the Company's present directors and officers, and (iii) all
officers and directors as a group:
Percentage
Najeeb Ghauri (3)
Naeem Ghauri (3)
Salim Ghauri (3)
Eugen Beckert (3)
Shahid Javed Burki (3)
Mark Caton (3)
Alexander Shakow (3)
Patti McGlasson (3)
Boo-Ali Siddiqui (3)
Newland Capital Management LLC (5)
All officers and directors as a group (nine
persons)

4,302,823
3,457,528
3,356,616
308,900
292,000
92,700
85,273
195,500
70,000
3,967,868

7.67%
6.16%
5.99%
*
*
*
*
*
*
7.08%

12,161,340

21.67%

* Less than one percent
(1) Except as otherwise indicated, the Company believes that the beneficial owners of the common stock listed below, based on information
furnished by such owners, have sole investment and voting power with respect to such shares, subject to community property laws where
applicable. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and generally includes
voting or investment power with respect to securities.
(2) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Commission and generally includes voting or investment power
with respect to securities. Shares of common stock relating to options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of September 13,
2011, are deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of the person holding such securities but are not deemed outstanding for
computing the percentage of any other person. Except as indicated by footnote, and subject to community property laws where applicable, the
persons named in the table above have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them.
Includes shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days, as follows: Mr. Najeeb Ghauri, 2,274,277; Mr. Naeem Ghauri,
2,309,377; Mr. Salim Ghauri, 1,945,191; Mr. Eugen Beckert, 135,000; Mr. Shahid Burki, 150,000; and Ms. Patti McGlasson, 110,000.
(3) Address c/o NetSol Technologies, Inc. at 23901 Calabasas Road, Suite 2072, Calabasas, CA 91302.
(4) Shares issued and outstanding as of September 13, 2011 were 56,076,355.
(5) Pursuant to a form 13G/A filed on February 11, 2011 and relying upon the authenticity of the information contained therein, the following
persons have shared voting power over 3,967,868 shares of common stock of the Company: Newland Capital Management, LLC (as to
3,967,868 shares), Newland Master Fund, Ltd. (as to 3,967,868), Ken Brodkowitz (as to 3,967,868 shares) and Michael Vermut (as to
4,001,768 shares). Newland Capital Management, LLC, Ken Brodkowitz and Michael Vermut with addresses c/o Newland Capital
Management LLC, 350 Madison Avenue, 11th Floor, New York, New York, 10017; Newland Master Fund, Ltd., address is c/o Goldman
Sachs (CAYMAN) Trust, Limited, P.O. Box 896, Gardenia Court, Suite 3307, 45 Market St., Camana Bay, Cayman Islands KY1-1103.
ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.
In July 2011, the board approved compensation for service on the Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committees. This compensation is discussed in the sections entitled “Directors’ Compensation” beginning on page 50.
ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Audit Fees
Kabani & Co. audited the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010. The aggregate fees
billed by Kabani & Co. for the annual audit and review of financial statements included in the Company’s Form 10 or services that are
normally provided by Kabani & Company that are normally provided by the accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or
engagements for the year ended June 30, 2011 was $182,744 and for the year ended June 30, 2010 was $165,000.
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Tax Fees
Tax fees for fiscal year 2011 were $15,000 and consisted of the preparation of the Company’s federal and state tax returns for the fiscal years
2010. Tax fees for fiscal year 2010 were $15,000 and consisted of the preparation of the Company’s federal and state tax returns for the fiscal
year 2009.
All Other Fees
There were no other fees billed by Kabani & Co. or services rendered to NetSol during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, other
than as described above.
Pre-Approval Procedures
The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors are responsible for the engagement of the independent auditors and for approving, in
advance, all auditing services and permitted non-audit services to be provided by the independent auditors. The Audit Committee maintains a
policy for the engagement of the independent auditors that is intended to maintain the independent auditor’s independence from NetSol. In
adopting the policy, the Audit Committee considered the various services that the independent auditors have historically performed or may be
needed to perform in the future. The policy, which is to be reviewed and re-adopted at least annually by the Audit Committee:
(i)

Approves the performance by the independent auditors of certain types of service (principally audit-related and tax), subject to
restrictions in some cases, based on the Committee’s determination that this would not be likely to impair the independent auditors’
independence from NetSol;

(ii)

Requires that management obtain the specific prior approval of the Audit Committee for each engagement of the independent
auditors to perform other types of permitted services; and,

(iii) Prohibits the performance by the independent auditors of certain types of services due to the likelihood that their independence
would be impaired.
Any approval required under the policy must be given by the Audit Committee, by the Chairman of the Committee in office at the time, or by
any other Committee member to whom the Committee has delegated that authority. The Audit Committee does not delegate its responsibilities
to approve services performed by the independent auditors to any member of management.
The standard applied by the Audit Committee in determining whether to grant approval of an engagement of the independent auditors is
whether the services to be performed, the compensation to be paid therefore and other related factors are consistent with the independent
auditors’ independence under guidelines of the Securities and Exchange Commission and applicable professional standards. Relevant
considerations include, but are not limited to, whether the work product is likely to be subject to, or implicated in, audit procedures during the
audit of NetSol’s financial statements; whether the independent auditors would be functioning in the role of management or in an advocacy
role; whether performance of the service by the independent auditors would enhance NetSol’s ability to manage or control risk or improve
audit quality; whether performance of the service by the independent auditors would increase efficiency because of their familiarity with
NetSol’s business, personnel, culture, systems, risk profile and other factors; and whether the amount of fees involved, or the proportion of
the total fees payable to the independent auditors in the period that is for tax and other non-audit services, would tend to reduce the
independent auditors’ ability to exercise independent judgment in performing the audit.
54

PART IV
ITEM 15 - EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a)

Exhibits
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7
3.8
3.9
4.1
4.2
4.3
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.11.
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15

Articles of Incorporation of Mirage Holdings, Inc., a Nevada corporation, dated March 18, 1997, incorporated by reference
as Exhibit 3.1 to NetSol’s Registration Statement No. 333-28861 filed on Form SB-2 filed June 10, 1997.*
Amendment to Articles of Incorporation dated May 21, 1999, incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3.2 to NetSol’s Annual
Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1999 on Form 10K-SB filed September 28, 1999.*
Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of NetSol International, Inc. dated March 20, 2002 incorporated by reference as
Exhibit 3.3 to NetSol’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB/A filed on February 2, 2001.*
Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of NetSol Technologies, Inc. dated August 20, 2003 filed as Exhibit A to
NetSol’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed June 27, 2003.*
Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of NetSol Technologies, Inc. dated March 14, 2005 filed as Exhibit 3.0 to
NetSol’s quarterly report filed on Form 10-QSB for the period ended March 31, 2005.*
Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation dated October 18, 2006 filed as Exhibit 3.5 to NetSol’s Annual Report for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 on Form 10-KSB.*
Amendment to Articles of Incorporation dated May 12, 2008 (1)*
Bylaws of Mirage Holdings, Inc., as amended and restated as of November 28, 2000 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3.3
to NetSol’s Annual Report for the fiscal year ending in June 30, 2000 on Form 10K-SB/A filed on February 2, 2001.*
Amendment to the Bylaws of NetSol Technologies, Inc. dated February 16, 2002 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3.5 to
NetSol’s Registration Statement filed on Form S-8 filed on March 27, 2002.*
Form of Common Stock Certificate*
Form of Warrant*.
Form of Series A 7% Cumulative Preferred Stock filed as Annex E to NetSol’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed September
18, 2006*.
Lease Agreement for Calabasas executive offices dated December 3, 2003 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 99.1 to
NetSol’s Current Report filed on Form 8-K filed on December 24, 2003.*
Company Stock Option Plan dated May 18, 1999 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Annual Report
for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1999 on Form 10K-SB filed September 28, 1999.*
Company Stock Option Plan dated April 1, 1997 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.5 to NetSol’s Registration
Statement No. 333-28861 on Form SB-2 filed June 10, 1997*
Company 2003 Incentive and Nonstatutory incorporated by reference as Exhibit 99.1 to NetSol’s Definitive Proxy Statement
filed February 6, 2004.*
Company 2001 Stock Options Plan dated March 27, 2002 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5.1 to NetSol’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 filed on March 27, 2002.*
Company 2008 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference as Annex A to NetSol’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed
May 28, 2008.*
Frame Agreement by and between DaimlerChrysler Services AG and NetSol Technologies dated June 4, 2004 incorporated
by reference as Exhibit 10.13 to NetSol’s Annual Report for the year ended June 30, 2005 on Form 10-KSB filed on
September 15, 2005.*
Share Purchase Agreement dated as of January 19, 2005 by and between the Company and the shareholders of CQ Systems
Ltd. incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2.1 to NetSol’s Current Report filed on form 8-K on January 25, 2005.*
Stock Purchase Agreement dated May 6, 2006 by and between the Company, McCue Systems, Inc. and the shareholders of
McCue Systems, Inc. incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2.1 to NetSol’s Current Report filed on form 8-K on May 8,
2006.*
Employment Agreement by and between NetSol Technologies, Inc. and Patti L. W. McGlasson dated May 1, 2006
incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.20 to NetSol’s Annual Report on form 10-KSB dated September 18, 2006.*
Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Najeeb Ghauri dated January 1, 2007 filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the
Company’s Annual Report filed on Form 10-KSB for the year ended June 30, 2007.*
Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Naeem Ghauri dated January 1, 2007 filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the
Company’s Annual Report filed on Form 10-KSB for the year ended June 30, 2007.*
Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Salim Ghauri dated January 1, 2007 filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the
Company’s Annual Report filed on Form 10-KSB for the year ended June 30, 2007.*
Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Tina Gilger dated August 1, 2007 filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the
Company’s Annual Report filed on Form 10-KSB for the year ended June 30, 2007.*
Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Company and Najeeb Ghauri dated effective January 1, 2007.*
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10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31
10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35
10.36
10.37
10.38
10.39
10.40
10.41
10.42
10.43

Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Company and Naeem Ghauri dated effective January 1, 2007. *
Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Company and Salim Ghauri dated effective January 1,*
Lease Agreement by and between McCue Systems, Inc. and Sea Breeze 1 Venture dated April 29, 2003*.
Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between McCue Systems, Inc. and Sea Breeze 1 Venture dated June 25, 2007 filed
as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual Report filed on Form 10-KSB for the year ended June 30, 2007. *
Lease Agreement by and between NetSol Pvt Limited and Civic Centres Company (PVT) Limited dated May 28, 2001
incorporated by this reference as Exhibit 10.23 to NetSol’s Annual Report on form 10-KSB dated September 18, 2006.*
Lease Agreement by and between NetSol Pvt Limited and Mrs. Rameeza Zobairi dated December 5, 2005 incorporated by
this reference as Exhibit 10.24 to NetSol’s Annual Report on form 10-KSB dated September 18, 2006.*
Lease Agreement by and between NetSol Pvt Limited and Mr. Nisar Ahmed dated May 4, 2006 incorporated by this
reference as Exhibit 10.25 to NetSol’s Annual Report on form 10-KSB dated September 18, 2006.*
Lease Agreement by and between NetSol Technologies, Ltd. and Argyll Business Centres Limited dated April 28, 2006
incorporated by this reference as Exhibit 10. 26 to NetSol’s Annual Report on form 10-KSB dated September 18, 2006.*
Tenancy Agreement by and between NetSol Technologies, Ltd. and Beijing Lucky Goldstar Building Development Co. Ltd.
dated June 26, 2007 filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Annual Report filed on Form 10-KSB for the year ended June
30, 2007.*
Company 2005 Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference as Exhibit 99.1 to NetSol’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on
March 3, 2006.*
Company 2004 Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference as Exhibit 99.1 to NetSol’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on
February 7, 2005.*
Working area sublease by and between NetSol Technologies, Ltd. and Toyota Leasing (Thailand) Co. Ltd., dated June 21,
2007 filed as Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report filed on Form 10-KSB for the year ended June 30, 2007.*
Lease Agreement by and between NetSol Technologies, Inc. and NetSol Technologies North America, Inc. and NOP
Watergate LLC dated April 3, 2008.*
Lease Amendment Number Three by and between NetSol Technologies, Inc. and Century National Properties, Inc. dated
December 12, 2007. *
Rent Agreement by and between Mr. Tahir Mehmood Khan and NetSol Technologies Ltd. Dated January 21, 2008. *
Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Company and Najeeb Ghauri dated effective January 1, 2010. *
Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Company and Naeem Ghauri dated effective January 1, 2010.*
Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Company and Salim Ghauri dated effective January 1, 2010.*
Lease Amendment No. 4 by and between NetSol Technologies, Inc. and Century National Properties, Inc. dated October 7,
2009.*
Office Lease by and between NetSol Technologies North America, Inc. and Legacy Partners I Alameda Mariner Loop, LLC
dated November 27, 2009.*
Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Company and Patti L. W. McGlasson dated effective April 1,
2010.*
Employment Agreement by and between Company and Boo-Ali Siddiqui dated effective April 1, 2010.*
Convertible Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement between NetSol Technologies, Inc. and Purchasers dated September 13,
2011.(1)
Investor Rights Agreement by and between NetSol Technologies, Inc. and Purchasers dated September 13, 2011.(1)
Common Stock Purchase Warrant Agreement between NetSol Technologies, Inc. and Solomon Strategic Holdings, Inc. (1)
Common Stock Purchase Warrant Agreement between NetSol Technologies, Inc. and Tail Wind Fund Ltd.(1)
Convertible Note dated September 13, 2011 by and between NetSol Technologies, Inc. and Solomon Strategic Holdings, Inc.
(1)
Convertible Note dated September 13, 2011 by and between NetSol Technologies, Inc. and Tail Wind Fund.(1)
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21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

A list of all subsidiaries of the Company(1)
Consent of Kabani & Company(1)
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (CEO) (1)
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (CFO) (1)
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002
(CEO)(1)
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley act of 2002
(CFO)(1)

*Previously Filed
(1) Filed Herewith
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SIGNATURES
In accordance with Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant caused this amended report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NetSol Technologies, Inc.
Date: September 16, 2011

BY:

/S/ NAJEEB GHAURI
Najeeb Ghauri
Chief Executive Officer

Date: September 16, 2011

BY:

/S/ Boo-Ali Siddiqui
Boo-Ali Siddiqui
Chief Financial Officer
Principal Accounting Officer
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In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: September 16, 2011

BY:

/S/ NAJEEB U. GHAURI
Najeeb U. Ghauri
Chief Executive Officer
Director, Chairman

Date: September 16, 2011

BY:

/S/BOO-ALI SIDDIQUI
Boo-Ali Siddiqui
Chief Financial Officer
Principal Accounting Officer

Date: September 16, 2011

BY:

/S/ SALIM GHAURI
Salim Ghauri
President, APAC
Director

Date: September 16, 2011

BY:

/S/ NAEEM GHAURI
Naeem Ghauri
President, EMEA
Director

Date: September 16, 2011

BY:

/S/ EUGEN BECKERT
Eugen Beckert
Director

Date: September 16, 2011

BY:

/S/ SHAHID JAVED BURKI
Shahid Javed Burki
Director

Date: September 16, 2011

BY:

/S/ MARK CATON
Mark Caton
Director

Date: September 16, 2011

BY:

/S/ ALEXANDER SHAKOW
Alexander Shakow
Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors
NetSol Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries
Calabasas, California
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NetSol Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries (The "Company") as of June
30, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive losses, equity and cash flows for each of years
in the two-year period then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement. The company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal
control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of NetSol Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 and the results of its consolidated operations and
comprehensive loss, equity and cash flows for each of years in the two-year period then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Los Angeles, CA
September 16, 2011
F-2

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of June 30, 2011 and 2010
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Revenues in excess of billings
Other current assets
Total current assets
Investment under equity method
Property and equipment, net
Intangibles:
Product licenses, renewals, enhancements, copyrights, trademarks, and tradenames, net
Customer lists, net
Goodwill
Total intangibles
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Due to officers
Current portion of loans and obligations under capitalized leases
Other payables - acquisitions
Unearned revenues
Convertible notes payable , current portion
Loans payable, bank
Common stock to be issued
Total current liabilities
Obligations under capitalized leases, less current maturities
Convertible notes payable less current maturities
Long term loans; less current maturities
Lease abandonment liability; long term
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Equity:
Common stock, $.001 par value; 95,000,000 shares authorized; 55,531,855 & 37,103,396 issued and
outstanding as of June 30, 2011 and 2010
Additional paid-in-capital
Treasury stock
Accumulated deficit
Stock subscription receivable
Other comprehensive loss
Total NetSol shareholders' equity
Non-controlling interest
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity
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2011

2010

$ 4,172,802
5,700,000
15,062,503
7,601,230
2,053,904
34,590,439
16,014,461

$ 4,075,546
5,700,000
12,280,331
9,477,278
1,821,661
33,354,816
200,506
9,472,917

25,437,479
164,715
9,439,285
35,041,480
$ 85,646,380

19,002,081
666,575
9,439,285
29,107,941
$ 72,136,180

$ 4,730,027
7,062,535
103,226
2,653,460
2,745,524
2,319,378
400,700
20,014,850
285,472
434,884
20,735,206

$ 4,937,987
10,911
7,285,773
103,226
2,545,314
3,017,096
2,327,476
239,525
20,467,308
204,620
4,066,109
727,336
867,583
26,332,956

55,532
37,104
97,886,492
86,002,648
(396,008)
(396,008)
(34,130,944) (39,859,030)
(2,198,460)
(2,007,960)
(8,805,922)
(8,396,086)
52,410,690
35,380,668
12,500,484
10,422,557
64,911,174
45,803,224
$ 85,646,380 $ 72,136,180

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
As of June 30, 2011 and 2010

Net Revenues:
License fees
Maintenance fees
Services
Total revenues
Cost of revenues:
Salaries and consultants
Travel
Repairs and maintenance
Insurance
Depreciation and amortization
Other
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling and marketing
Depreciation and amortization
Bad debt expense
Salaries and wages
Professional services, including non-cash compensation
Lease abandonment charges
General and adminstrative
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Other income and (expenses)
Loss on sale of assets
Interest expense
Interest income
Gain (loss) on foreign currency exchange transactions
Share of net loss from equity investment
Beneficial conversion feature
Other (expense) income
Total other income (expenses)
Net income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income after tax
Non-controlling interest
Net income attibutable to NetSol
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Translation adjustment
Comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive loss attributable to non controlling interest
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to NetSol

2011

2010

$11,284,472
7,488,387
17,774,715
36,547,575

$14,157,107
7,047,936
15,574,853
36,779,897

8,716,495
1,044,767
307,115
126,584
3,108,286
1,500,880
14,804,127
21,743,448

8,164,147
843,626
256,997
140,496
2,298,092
2,163,689
13,867,048
22,912,849

3,016,402
1,180,226
367,064
3,347,896
806,212
(858,969)
3,719,797
11,578,627
10,164,821

2,222,841
1,609,854
442,804
3,026,275
900,125
867,583
4,115,658
13,185,141
9,727,709

(21,461)
(863,707)
154,856
1,115,647
(220,506)
(453,989)
(52,149)
(341,309)
9,823,512
(120,542)
9,702,970
(3,974,882)
5,728,087

(224,741)
(1,478,474)
261,296
(66,919)
(67,494)
(1,867,787)
56,571
(3,387,548)
6,340,160
(53,943)
6,286,217
(4,892,097)
1,394,120

(525,907) (2,349,539)
5,202,180
(955,419)
(116,070)
(852,852)
$ 5,318,251 $ (102,567)

Net income per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Amounts attributable to NetSol common shareholders
Net income
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0.12
0.12

$
$

0.04
0.04

48,543,200
49,568,190

34,516,428
37,796,745

$ 5,728,087

$ 1,394,120

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
As of June 30, 2011 and 2010

Preferred Stock
Shares
Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Capital

Treasury
Shares

Stock
Subscriptions Shares to
Receivable be Issued

Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

Non
Controling
Interest

Total
Equity

Balance at June
30, 2009
1,920 $ 1,920,000 30,046,987 $30,047 $78,198,522 $(396,008) $ (842,619) $ 220,365 $(6,899,399) $(41,253,150) $ 6,383,310 37,361,069
Excercise of
common stock
options
423,000
423
276,937
(153,750) (52,360)
71,250
Excercise of
common stock
warrants
Common stock
issued for:
Cash
2,541,929
2,542
1,933,488
(1,011,591) (69,930)
854,509
Services
932,812
933
659,302
- 141,450
801,684
Conversion
of
convertible
note
3,095,240
3,096
1,946,904
1,950,000
Payment of
interest
Payment of
interest on
convertible
note
63,428
63
39,897
39,961
Equity
component
shown as
current
liability
(239,525)
(239,525)
Fair market
value of
options issued
803,508
803,508
Redemption of
preferred
stock
(1,920) (1,920,000)
(1,920,000)
Recognition of
Recognition of
beneficial
conversion
feature
2,144,089
2,144,089
Foreign
currency
translation
adjusts
(1,496,687)
(852,852) (2,349,539)
Net income for
the year
1,394,120
4,892,097
6,286,217
Balance at June
30, 2010
- $
- 37,103,396 $37,104 $86,002,648 $(396,008) $(2,007,960) $
- $(8,396,086) $(39,859,030) $10,422,557 $45,803,224
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NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

Preferred Stock
Shares Amount
Balance at June 30,
2010
Excercise of
common stock
options
Excercise of
common stock
warrants
Common stock
issued for:
Cash
Services
Conversion
of
convertible
note
Payment of
interest on
convertible
note
Equity component
shown as current
liability at
June 30,
2010
June 30,
2011
Fair market value of
options issued
Acqusition of non
controlling interest
in subsidiary
Dividend to non
controlling interest
Foreign currency
translation adjusts
Net income for the
year
Balance at June 30,
2011

- $

Additional
Paid-in
Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Capital

Treasury
Shares

Stock
Subscriptions Shares to
Receivable be Issued

- 37,103,396 $37,104 $86,002,648 $(396,008) $(2,007,960) $
(183,500)

Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

Non
Controling
Interest

- $(8,396,086) $(39,859,030) $10,422,557
125,000

Total
Equity
45,803,224

1,771,000

1,771

1,361,779

1,305,050

3,384,390

3,384

306,616

5,106,756
903,056

5,107
903

4,101,143
849,140

7,008,101

7,008

4,796,331

4,803,339

255,156

255

191,553

191,808

310,000
(7,000)
-

36,175

4,099,250
886,218

239,525

239,525

(400,700)

(400,700)

459,174

459,174

(181,891)

(489,569)

(671,460)

(1,291,313) (1,291,313)
(409,837)

(116,070)
5,728,087

- $

- 55,531,855 $55,532 $97,886,492 $(396,008) $(2,198,460) $
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3,974,882

(525,907)
9,702,969

- $(8,805,923) $(34,130,943) $12,500,484 $64,911,174

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For The Year Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for bad debts
Loss on foreign currency exchange transaction
Share of net loss from investment under equity method
Loss on sale of assets
(Gain) on settlement of lease abandonment provision
Stock issued for interest on notes payable
Stock issued for services
Fair market value of warrants and stock options granted
Beneficial conversion feature
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase/ decrease in accounts receivable
Increase/ decrease in other current assets
Increase/ decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Sales of property and equipment
Purchase of non-controlling interest in subsidiary
Short-term investments held for sale
Investment under equity method
Increase in intangible assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options and warrants
Proceeds from convertible notes payable
Redemption of preferred stock
Restricted cash
Dividend Paid
Bank overdraft
Proceeds from bank loans
Payments on bank loans
Payments on capital lease obligations & loans - net
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes in cash
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
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For the Year
Ended June 30,
2011
2010
$ 9,702,970

$ 6,286,217

4,288,512
367,064
220,506
21,462
(858,969)
191,808
886,218
459,174
453,989

3,907,945
442,804
4,144
67,494
224,741
867,583
39,960
801,684
803,508
1,867,787

(3,422,252)
1,987,996
(376,287)
13,922,189

(1,316,995)
(3,701,022)
(1,626,140)
8,669,710

(9,085,148)
313,935
(671,460)
(256,522)
(8,096,401)
(17,795,596)

(2,986,495)
641,484
(268,000)
(7,603,779)
(10,216,790)

4,099,250
1,615,050
(1,291,313)
39,026
2,969,146
(46,033)
(3,118,344)
4,266,782
(296,116)
97,259
4,075,546
$ 4,172,802 $

854,509
71,250
3,500,000
(1,920,000)
(700,000)
(43,828)
(7,008)
4,540,971
(258,358)
(4,328,700)
1,708,837
(489,973)
(328,216)
4,403,762
4,075,546

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010
For the Year
Ended June 30,
2011
2010

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Taxes

$1,043,065
$
5,725

$1,420,559
$ 117,808

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Stock issued for the conversion of Notes Payable
Purchase of property and equipment under capital lease

$4,803,339
$ 492,567

$1,950,000
$ 98,866
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NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2011 and 2010

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
NetSol Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries(collectively, the “Company”), formerly known as NetSol International, Inc. and Mirage
Holdings, Inc., was incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada on March 18, 1997. During November 1998, Mirage Collections,
Inc., a wholly owned and non-operating subsidiary, was dissolved.
The Company designs, develops, markets, and exports proprietary software products to customers in the automobile finance and leasing,
banking, healthcare, and financial services industries worldwide. The Company also provides system integration, consulting, IT products and
services in exchange for fees from customers.
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(A) Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of NetSol Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Company”) as follows:
Wholly-owned Subsidiaries
NetSol Technologies North America, Inc. (“NTNA”)
NetSol Technologies Limited (“NetSol UK”)
NetSol-Abraxas Australia Pty Ltd. (“Abraxas”)
NetSol Technologies Europe Limited (“NTE”)
NTPK (Thailand) Co. Limited (“NTPK Thailand”)
NetSol Connect (Private), Ltd. (“Connect”)
Majority-owned Subsidiaries
NetSol Technologies, Ltd. (“NetSol PK”)
NetSol Innovation (Private) Limited (“NetSol Innovation”)
The Company consolidates any variable interest entities of which it is the primary beneficiary. Equity investments through which we exercise
significant influence over but do not control the investee and are not the primary beneficiary of the investee’s activities are accounted for
using the equity method. Investments through which we are not able to exercise significant influence over the investee and which do not have
readily determinable fair values are accounted for under the cost method. All material inter-company accounts have been eliminated in the
consolidation.
(B) Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“US GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
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NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2011 and 2010
(C) Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
(D) Cash and Cash Equivalents and Cash Concentrations
For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash equivalents include all highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities
of three months or less which are not securing any corporate obligations. The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts, which,
at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts.
(E) Restricted Cash
The Company has certificates of deposits (“CD”s) in various configurations and maturity dates with Habib American Bank. A portion of
these CDs are restricted as collateral to secure outstanding balances on an existing line of credit, and become unrestricted to the extent that
they are not required for collateralization purposes. As of June 30, 2011 the outstanding balance on the line of credit was $5,404,608, with a
corresponding restriction to the CD balances. The line of credit has a maximum available balance of $5,700,000.
(F) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses inherent in its accounts receivable portfolio. In establishing
the required allowance, management regularly reviews the composition of accounts receivable and analyzes customer credit worthiness,
customer concentrations, current economic trends and changes in customer payment patterns. Reserves are recorded primarily on a specific
identification basis. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the
potential for recovery is considered remote. As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Company had recorded allowance for doubtful accounts of
$2,717,745 and $2,525,009, respectively.
(G) Revenues in Excess of Billings
Revenues in excess of billings represent the total of the project to be billed to the customer over the revenues recognized under the percentage
of completion method. As the customer is billed under the terms of their contract, the corresponding amount is transferred from this account
to “Accounts Receivable.”
(H) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to earnings as incurred; additions, renewals
and betterments are capitalized. When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the respective accounts, and any gain or loss is included in operations. Depreciation is computed using
various methods over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging from three to ten years.
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NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2011 and 2010
The Company capitalizes costs of materials, consultants, and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees incurred in developing internaluse computer software. These costs are included with “Computer equipment and software.” Costs incurred during the preliminary project
and post-implementation stages are charged to general and administrative expense as incurred.
(I) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company tests long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable through the estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the
assets. Whenever any such impairment exists, an impairment loss will be recognized for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the
fair value.
(J) Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consist of product licenses, renewals, enhancements, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, and customer lists. Intangible
assets with finite lives are amortized over the estimated useful life and are evaluated for impairment at least on an annual basis and whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We assess recoverability by determining whether
the carrying value of such assets will be recovered through the undiscounted expected future cash flows. If the future undiscounted cash
flows are less than the carrying amount of these assets, we recognize an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the
fair value of the assets.
(K) Software Development Costs
Costs incurred to internally develop computer software products or to enhance an existing product are recorded as research and development
costs and expensed when incurred until technological feasibility for the respective product is established. Thereafter, all software
development costs are capitalized and reported at the lower of unamortized cost or net realizable value. Capitalization ceases when the product
or enhancement is available for general release to customers.
The Company makes on-going evaluations of the recoverability of its capitalized software projects by comparing the amount capitalized for
each product to the estimated net realizable value of the product. If such evaluations indicate that the unamortized software development costs
exceed the net realizable value, the Company writes off the amount which the unamortized software development costs exceed net realizable
value. Capitalized and purchased computer software development costs are being amortized ratably based on the projected revenue associated
with the related software or on a straight-line basis, whichever method results in a higher level of amortization.
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NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2011 and 2010
(L) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in a purchase businesses
combination. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of goodwill may be impaired. The goodwill impairment test is a two-step test. Under the first step, the fair value of the
reporting unit is compared with its carrying value (including goodwill). If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an
indication of goodwill impairment exists for the reporting unit and the enterprise must perform step two of the impairment test
(measurement). Under step two, an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill over
the implied fair value of that goodwill. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit in a
manner similar to a purchase price allocation. The residual fair value after this allocation is the implied fair value of the reporting unit
goodwill. Fair value of the reporting unit is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds
its carrying value, step two does not need to be performed.
(M) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are categorized based on whether or not the inputs are observable in the
market and the degree that the inputs are observable. The categorization of financial assets and liabilities within the valuation hierarchy is
based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
The Company's financial instruments primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable.
As of the balance sheet dates, the estimated fair values of the financial instruments were not materially different from their carrying values as
presented on the balance sheet. This is primarily attributed to the short maturities of these instruments.
(N) Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue from license contracts without major customization when a non-cancelable, non-contingent license
agreement has been signed, delivery of the software has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable. Revenue
from the sale of licenses with major customization, modification, and development is recognized on a percentage of completion method.
Revenue from the implementation of software is recognized on a percentage of completion method.
Revenue from consulting services is recognized as the services are performed for time-and-materials contracts. Revenue from training and
development services is recognized as the services are performed. Revenue from maintenance agreements is recognized ratably over the term
of the maintenance agreement, which in most instances is one year.
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NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2011 and 2010
(O) Multiple Element Arrangements
We enter into multiple element revenue arrangements in which a customer may purchase a number of different combinations of software
licenses, consulting services, maintenance and support, as well as training and development (multiple-element arrangements).
VSOE of fair value for each element is based on the price for which the element is sold separately. We determine the VSOE of fair value of
each element based on historical evidence of our stand-alone sales of these elements to third-parties or from the stated renewal rate for the
elements contained in the initial software license arrangement. When VSOE of fair value does not exist for any undelivered element, revenue
is deferred until the earlier of the point at which such VSOE of fair value exists or until all elements of the arrangement have been delivered.
The only exception to this guidance is when the only undelivered element is maintenance and support or other services, then the entire
arrangement fee is recognized ratably over the performance period.
Net revenues by our various products and services provided for the year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:
2011
$11,284,472
7,488,387
17,774,715
$36,547,575

Licensing Fees
Maintenance Fees
Services
Total

2010
$14,157,107
7,047,936
15,574,853
$36,779,897

(P) Unearned Revenue
Unearned revenue represents billings in excess of revenue earned on contracts and are recognized on a pro-rata basis over the life of the
contract. Unearned revenue was $2,653,460 and $2,545,314 as of June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010 respectively.
(Q) Advertising Costs
The Company expenses the cost of advertising as incurred. Advertising costs for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 were $246,254
and $227,045 respectively.
(R) Share-Based Compensation
The Company measures stock-based compensation cost at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and recognize it as expense
over the applicable vesting period of the stock award (generally four to five years) using the straight-line method.
(S) Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is
provided for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not these items will either expire before the Company is able to realize their benefits,
or that future deductibility is uncertain.
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NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2011 and 2010
(T) Foreign Currency Translation
Assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are
translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Translation adjustments resulting from this process are recorded to other
comprehensive income.
(U) Statement of Cash Flows
The Company's cash flows from operations are calculated based upon the local currencies. As a result, amounts related to assets and
liabilities reported on the statement of cash flows will not necessarily agree with changes in the corresponding balances on the balance sheet.
(V) Segment Reporting
The Company defines operating segments as components about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly
by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performances. The Company allocates its
resources and assesses the performance of its sales activities based on geographic locations of its subsidiaries (see Note 17).
(W) Reclassifications
Certain 2010 balances have been reclassified to conform to the 2011 presentation.
(X) New Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) amended guidance related to the measurement of liabilities at fair
value, which was effective upon issuance. These amendments clarify that in circumstances in which a quoted price in an active market for the
identical liability is not available, we are required to use the quoted price of the identical liability when traded as an asset, quoted prices for
similar liabilities, or quoted prices for similar liabilities when traded as assets. If these quoted prices are not available, we are required to use
another valuation technique, such as an income approach or a market approach. The adoption of these amendments did not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In October 2009, the FASB amended guidance related to revenue recognition that will be effective for the Company beginning July 1, 2010.
Under the new guidance on arrangements that include software elements, tangible products that have software components that are essential
to the functionality of the tangible product will no longer be within the scope of the software revenue recognition guidance, and softwareenabled products will now be subject to other relevant revenue recognition guidance. Additionally, the FASB amended guidance on revenue
arrangements with multiple deliverables that are outside the scope of the software revenue recognition guidance. Under the new guidance,
when vendor specific objective evidence or third party evidence for deliverables in an arrangement cannot be determined, a best estimate of
the selling price is required to separate deliverables and allocate arrangement consideration using the relative selling price method. The new
guidance includes new disclosure requirements on how the application of the relative selling price method affects the timing and amount of
revenue recognition. The adoption of these amendments is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2011 and 2010
In December 2009, the FASB amended guidance related to fair value measurements and Disclosures, which was effective beginning the 2nd
quarter of the Company’s 2010 fiscal year, December 31, 2009. These amendments prescribe new disclosures and clarify certain existing
disclosure requirements related to fair value measurements. The objective of the amendments was to improve these disclosures and, thus,
increase the transparency in financial reporting. The adoption of these amendments did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In February 2010, the FASB amended guidance related to disclosure of subsequent events, which was effective upon issuance. These
amendments prescribe that entities that are SEC filers are required to evaluate subsequent events through the date that the financial statements
are issued. The adoption of these amendments did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
NOTE 3 – EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period.
Diluted earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock plus the effect of dilutive potential
common shares outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method. Dilutive potential common shares include outstanding stock
options, warrants, and stock awards.
The components of basic and diluted earnings per share as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:
For the year ended June 30, 2011
Basic income per share:
Dividend to preferred shareholders
Net income available to common shareholders
Effect of dilutive securities
Stock options
Warrants
Diluted income per share

Net Income
$ 5,728,087
-

For the year ended June 30, 2010
Basic income per share:
Dividend to preferred shareholders
Net income available to common shareholders
Effect of dilutive securities
Stock options
Warrants
Diluted income per share

Net Income
$ 1,394,120
-

$ 5,728,087

$ 1,394,120
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Shares
48,543,200

Per Share
$
0.12

899,600
125,390
49,568,190

$

Shares
34,516,428

566,857
2,713,460
37,796,745

0.12

Per Share
$
0.04
$
-

$

0.04

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2011 and 2010
NOTE 4 – MAJOR CUSTOMERS
During fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, there was no single customer who represented 10% or more of the Company’s total revenue.
The Company is a strategic business partner for Daimler Financial Services (which consists of a group of many companies in different
countries), which accounts for approximately 20.58% and 8.57% of revenue, Toyota Motors (which consists of a group of many companies
in different countries) accounts for approximately 5.40% and 4.51% of revenue, and Nissan (which consists of a group of many companies
in different countries) accounts for approximately 4.10% and 7.21% of revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Accounts receivable at June 30, 2011 for these companies were $1,526,762, $1,080,318 and $820,206, respectively. Accounts
receivable at June 30, 2010 for these companies were $1,902,499, $690,125 and $732,061.
NOTE 5 – OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Other current assets consist of the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010:

Prepaid Expenses
Advance Income Tax
Employee Advances
Security Deposits
Tender Money Receivable
Other Receivables
Other Assets
Total

As of June 30
2011

As of June 30
2010

$

$

$

245,194
726,979
53,404
161,263
133,166
535,597
198,301
2,053,904

$

237,702
422,028
57,113
131,229
252,826
535,981
184,782
1,821,661

NOTE 6 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment, net, consist of the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010:
As of June 30
2011
Office furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
Assets under capital leases
Building
Land
Capital work in progress
Autos
Improvements
Subtotal
Accumulated depreciation

As of June 30
2010

$

1,179,993 $ 1,041,326
13,463,560
8,038,033
2,024,282
1,838,217
2,337,758
2,314,080
2,240,036
562,109
2,659,750
1,925,207
794,617
744,586
162,896
163,365
24,862,892
16,626,923
(8,848,431)
(7,154,005)
$ 16,014,461 $ 9,472,917

For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, depreciation expense totaled $2,013,388 and $1,513,998, respectively. Of these amounts,
$1,450,723 and $1,068,642 are reflected as part of cost of revenues as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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The Company’s capital work in progress consists of ongoing enhancements to its facilities and infrastructure as necessary to meet the
Company’s expected long-term growth needs. The Company recorded capitalized interest of $278,308 and 127,790 as of June 30, 2011 and
2010, respectively.
Assets acquired under capital leases were $2,024,282 and $1,838,217 as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Accumulated amortization
related to those leases were $807,562 and $621,567 for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
NOTE 7 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets consist of the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010:
Product Licenses Customer Lists
Total
$
25,042,331 $
5,804,057 $ 30,846,388
7,652,707
7,652,707
(2,734,235)
(2,734,235)
(10,958,723)
(5,137,482) (16,096,205)
$
19,002,080 $
666,575 $ 19,668,655

Intangible assets - June 30, 2009 - cost
Additions
Effect of translation adjustment
Accumulated amortization
Net balance - June 30, 2010
Intangible assets - June 30, 2010 - cost
Additions
Effect of translation adjustment
Accumulated amortization
Net balance - June 30, 2011

$

$

Weighted average amortization period

29,960,803 $
8,159,168
106,429
(12,788,921)
25,437,479 $
7.96

Amortization expense for:
Year ended June 30, 2011
Year ended June 30, 2010

$
$

1,769,149
1,716,504

$
$

5,804,057 $ 35,764,860
8,159,168
106,429
(5,639,341) (18,428,262)
164,715 $ 25,602,194
5.00

7.57

501,860
677,444

$ 2,271,009
$ 2,393,948

(A) Product Licenses
Product licenses include original license issue, renewals, enhancements, copyrights, trademarks, and trade names. Product licenses included
unamortized software development and enhancement costs of $19,213,449.
(B) Customer Lists
On October 31, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase the rights to the customer list of Ciena Solutions, LLC, a
California limited liability company (“Ciena”). Under the terms of the agreement, the total consideration for these rights included an initial
payment of $350,000 (plus interest of $2,963), and deferred consideration to be paid in cash and the Company’s common stock based on the
operational results of Ciena, and certain other factors, over a four-year fiscal period. Each fiscal period is measured from July 1 to June 30
with fiscal period one being the period from July 1, 2008 to June 30, 2009. No other assets or liabilities were acquired by the Company as a
result of this transaction.
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As a result of operational losses of Ciena in the first three fiscal periods, 2009 2010 and 2011, respectively, the first three annual deferred
consideration installment payments were determined to be zero.
(C) Amortization
Software development amortization expense was $1,657,562 and $1,229,450 for the years ended June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010,
respectively, and is recorded in cost of revenues.
Amortization expense of intangible assets over the next five years is as follows:

Asset
Product Licences
Customer Lists

6/30/12
$1,382,702
164,715

6/30/13
$1,279,334
-

$1,547,417

$1,279,334

FISCAL YEAR ENDING
6/30/14
6/30/15
6/30/16
$1,167,903 $ 871,558 $ 871,558
$1,167,903

$ 871,558

$ 871,558

Thereafter
$19,864,424
-

TOTAL
$25,437,479
164,715

$19,864,424

$25,602,194

NOTE 8 – GOODWILL
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in prior period businesses
combinations. Goodwill is comprised of the following amounts as of June 30, 2011 and 2010:

Asia Pacific
Europe
North America
Total

2011

2010

$1,303,372
3,471,813
4,664,100

$1,303,372
3,471,813
4,664,100

$9,439,285

$9,439,285

There was no impairment of goodwill for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010.
NOTE 9 – INVESTMENT UNDER EQUITY METHOD
On April 10, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement to form a joint venture with the Atheeb Trading Company, a member of the
Atheeb Group (“Atheeb”). The joint venture entity Atheeb NetSol Saudi Company Ltd. is a company organized under the laws of the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The venture was formed with an initial capital contribution of $268,000 by the Company and $266,930 by
Atheeb with a profit sharing ratio of 50.1:49.9, respectively. The final formation of the company was completed on March 7, 2010. The joint
venture was accounted for as an equity method investment as the Company has not established control over the affairs of Atheeb NetSol
Saudi Company Ltd. due to its minority representation on the board of directors.
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The Company's investment in equity for the year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:
Initial investment in Atheeb at cost
Net loss for the period
NetSol's share (50.1%)

$ 268,000
(134,719)
(67,494)

Net book value at June 30, 2010

$ 200,506

Net loss for the year ended June 30, 2011
NetSol's share (50.1%)
Loss adjusted against investment

(542,929)
(272,007)
(200,506)

Net book value at June 30, 2011

$

0

NOTE 10 – ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following as of June 30, 2011 and 2010:

Accounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Accrued Payroll
Accrued Payroll Taxes
Interest Payable
Deferred Revenues
Taxes Payable
Total

As of June 30
2011

As of June 30
2010

$

$

$
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1,348,453
2,364,233
148,565
216,485
380,808
32,066
239,417
4,730,027

$

1,321,212
2,375,625
158,392
299,908
602,614
47,066
133,169
4,937,987

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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June 30, 2011 and 2010
NOTE 11 – DEBTS
(A) Loans and Leases Payable
Notes and leases payable consist of the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010:

Name
D&O Insurance
Habib Bank Line of Credit
Bank Overdraft Facility
Term Finance Facility
Subsidiary Capital Leases

As of June 30
2011

Current
Maturities

Long-Term
Maturities

$

$

21,429
5,404,608
254,502
434,883
947,113
$7,062,535

$

As of June 30
2010

Current
Maturities

Long-Term
Maturities

$

$

$

$

Name
D&O Insurance
E&O Insurance
Habib Bank Line of Credit
Bank Overdraft Facility
HSBC Loan
Term Finance Facility
Subsidiary Capital Leases
Lease abandonment liability

$

21,429
5,404,608
254,502
869,767
1,232,585
7,782,891

12,122
7,046
5,677,533
202,712
43,306
1,163,738
1,111,271
867,583
9,085,311

12,122
7,046
5,677,533
202,712
43,306
436,402
906,651
$7,285,773

434,884
285,472
$ 720,356

727,336
204,620
867,583
$1,799,538

The Company finances Directors’ and Officers’ (“D&O”) liability insurance as well as Errors and Omissions (“E&O”) liability insurance,
for which the total balances are renewed on an annual basis and as such are recorded in current maturities. The interest rate on the insurance
financing was 5.99% as of June 30, 2011 and 2010. Interest paid during the year-ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was nominal.
In April 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with Habib American Bank to secure a line of credit to be collateralized by
Certificates of Deposit held at the bank. The interest rate on this line of credit is variable and was 2% and 3.23% as of June 30, 2011 and
2010, respectively. Interest paid during the year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $118,148 and $123,496, respectively.
During the year ended June 30, 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, NTE entered into an overdraft facility with HSBC Bank plc whereby the
bank would cover any overdrafts up to £200,000, or approximately $320,400. The annual interest rate is 3.25% over the bank’s sterling base
rate, which was 5.00% and 5.00% as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
In August 2007, the Company’s subsidiary, NetSol UK, entered into an agreement with HSBC Bank whereby the line of credit outstanding
of £500,000 or approximately $801,000 was converted into a loan payable with a maturity of three years. The interest rate is 7.5% with
monthly payments of £14,436 or approximately $23,126. The Parent has guaranteed payment of the loan in the event the subsidiary should
default. Interest paid during the year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $220 and $4,133, respectively.
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The Company’s subsidiary, NetSol PK, entered into a term finance facility from Askari Bank to finance the construction of a new building.
The total amount of the facility is Rs. 200,000,000 or approximately $2,319,378 (secured by the first charge of Rs. 580 million or
approximately $6.73 million over the land, building and equipment of the company). The interest rate is 2.75% above the six-month Karachi
Inter Bank Offering Rate. As on June 30, 2010, the subsidiary had used Rs. 100,000,000 or approximately $1,159,689 of which $724,806
was shown as long term liabilities and the remainder of $434,883 as current maturity. As of the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company has
used Rs. 75,000,000 or approximately $869,767 of which $434,884 is shown as long term liabilities and the remainder of $434,883 as
current maturity.
The Company leases various fixed assets under capital lease arrangements expiring in various years through 2014. The assets and liabilities
under capital leases are recorded at the lower of the present value of the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the asset. The assets are
depreciated over the lesser of their related lease terms or their estimated useful lives and are secured by the assets themselves. Depreciation of
assets under capital leases is included in depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010.
Following is the aggregate minimum future lease payments under capital leases for the years-ended June 30, 2011 and 2010:
As of June 30
2011

Minimum Lease Payments
Due FYE 6/30/11
Due FYE 6/30/12
Due FYE 6/30/13
Due FYE 6/30/14
Due FYE 6/30/15
Total Minimum Lease Payments
Interest Expense relating to future periods
Present Value of minimum lease payments
Less: Current portion
Non-Current portion

$

$
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As of June 30
2010

- $
1,010,836
209,260
115,346
1,335,442
(102,856)
1,232,585
(947,113)
285,472 $

941,406
189,155
27,481
1,158,042
(46,771)
1,111,271
(906,651)
204,620
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Following is a summary of property and equipment held under capital leases as of June 30, 2011 and 2010:
As of June 30
2011
$
518,911
769,106
434,049
302,216

Computer Equipment and Software
Furniture and Fixtures
Vehicles
Building Equipment
Total
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Net

$

As of June 30
2010
$
473,033
830,942
232,026
302,216

2,024,282
(807,562)
1,216,720 $

1,838,217
(621,567)
1,216,650

In 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, NTNA, had acquired an office space in Emeryville on a long term lease. However, due to the
unprecedented recession experienced in 2009, the company decided to vacate the office space and terminate the lease in October 2009. The
Company recorded a lease abandonment charge of $1,076,347 in the quarter-ended December 31, 2009. However, the office space was
leased by another company during the quarter-ended March 31, 2010 and the lease abandonment charge was reduced by $208,765 to
$867,583 as of June 30, 2010. In March 2011 the Company entered into final settlement agreement with new management of the company.
As a result of this settlement the Company recorded a gain of $858,969 in these consolidated financial statements.
(B) Loans Payable – Bank
The Company’s subsidiary, NetSol Technologies Limited, has a loan with a bank, secured by the Company’s assets. This loan consists of
the following as of June 30, 2011 & June 30, 2010:
For the year ended June 30, 2011:
TYPE OF
LOAN

MATURITY
DATE

Export Refinance

Every 6 months

INTEREST
RATE

BALANCE
USD

11.00% $ 2,319,378

Total

$ 2,319,378

For the year ended June 30, 2010:
TYPE OF
LOAN

MATURITY
DATE

Export Refinance

Every 6 months

Total

INTEREST
RATE

BALANCE
USD

8.50% $ 2,327,476
$ 2,327,476

(C) Other Payable – Acquisition
On June 30, 2006, the Company acquired McCue Systems, Inc. (“McCue”), a California corporation (subsequently renamed as NetSol
Technologies North America, Inc.) The total purchase price was $7,080,385, including $3,784,635 of cash and 1,712,332 shares of the
Company’s common stock. Of the total purchase price, the accompanying consolidated financial statements include certain amounts payable
to McCue shareholders that have not been located as of the date of this report.
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As of the year-ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the remaining cash due of $103,226 is shown as “Other Payable – Acquisition” and the
remaining stock to be issued of 46,704 shares at an average price of $1.89 is shown in “Shares to be issued” in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. Amounts payable represent the remaining McCue shareholders that have not been located as of the date of
this report.
(D) Due to Officers
The officers of the Company, from time to time, loan funds to the Company. The balance due to officers as of June 30, 2010 and June 30,
2011 was $10,911 and Nil respectively.
NOTE 12 – CONVERTIBLE NOTE PAYABLE
The net outstanding balance of convertible notes as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

Issue Date
Jul-08
Total
Issue Date
Jul-08
Aug-09
Mar-10
Total

Balance net of BCF
@ 6/30/11

Current
Portion

Long
Term

Maturity
Date

2,745,524

2,745,524

-

2,745,524

2,745,524

-

Balance net of BCF
@ 6/30/10

Current
Portion

4,066,109
1,517,096
1,500,000

1,517,096
1,500,000

7,083,205

3,017,096

Jul-11

Long
Term

Maturity
Date

4,066,109

Jul-11
Aug-10
Mar-11

4,066,109

For the year-ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, total interest accrued on convertible notes was $248,250 and $375,510, respectively.
Principle commitments related to the convertible notes for the next five years is as follows:
FYE 6-30-2011

$2,745,524

(A) 2008 Convertible Debt
In July 2008, the Company issued $6,000,000 of 7% convertible debt maturing in 3 years (the “2008 Notes”), with a conversion price of
$3.00 per share.
In January 2009, the 2008 Notes were amended to remove certain anti-dilution protection provisions and participation rights in future filings
in exchange for a reduction in the conversion rate to $0.78, and $1,000,000 in cash, payable to the debt holders in 4 quarterly installments.
Pursuant to the terms of the amendment, the Company recorded a beneficial conversion feature (“BCF”) in the amount of $230,769 which is
being amortized as a component of interest expense over the maturity period. The related liability of $1,000,000 was recorded as a
component of interest expense for the year-ended June 30, 2009.
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In August 2009, the Company amended the 2008 Notes by reducing the conversion rate to $0.63, and recorded an additional BCF of
$715,518, which is being amortized as a component of interest expense over the maturity period.
During the year-ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, Holders of the 2008 Notes elected to convert principal and interest due thereon into a total of
2,744,042 and 2,513,112 shares of common stock. These conversions reduced the total principal of the 2008 Notes to $2,758,330 and
$4,450,000 respectively.
(B) 2009 Convertible Debt
In August 2009, the Company issued $2,000,000 of 9% convertible debt maturing in 1 year (the “2009 Notes”) with a conversion price of
$0.63 per share, in exchange for the redemption of preferred shares outstanding. The associated BCF of $1,428,571 is being amortized as a
component of interest expense through maturity.
During the year-ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, Holders of the 2009 Notes elected to convert principal and interest due thereon into a total of
2,613,333 and 645,556 shares of common stock respectively. This conversion reduced the total principal of the 2009 Notes to $1,600,000
and Nil.
(C) 2010 Convertible Debt
In March 2010, the Company issued $1,500,000 of 8% convertible debt maturing in 1 year (the “2010 Notes”), with a conversion price of
$1.15 per share. In August, 2010, the note conversion prices were adjusted to $.0.85 per share.
During the year ended June 30, 2011, the holders of the note elected to convert the entire amount of principal and interest due thereon into a
total of 1,905,882 shares of common stock reducing the principal of the 2010 Notes to nil.
NOTE 13 – INCOME TAXES
The Company is incorporated in the State of Nevada and registered to do business in the State of California and has operations in primarily
three tax jurisdictions - the United Kingdom (“UK”), Pakistan and the United States (“US”).
Consolidated pre-tax income as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 consists of the following:
2011
2010
$ (17,122) $(7,570,321)
5,865,750
8,964,441
$5,848,628 $ 1,394,120

US operations
Foreign operations
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he components of the provision for income taxes as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

Current:
Federal
State and Local
Foreign
Deferred
Federal
State and Local
Foreign
Provision for income taxes

$

2011
14,762
21,788
83,992

$ 120,542

$

$

2010

53,944
53,944

A reconciliation of taxes computed at the statutory federal income tax rate to income tax expense (benefit) as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 is as
follows:

Income taxes (benefit) at statutory rate
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit
Foreign earnings taxed at different rates
Change in valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
Non-deductible expenses
Alternative minimum tax

2011
$ 1,988,532
103,375
(1,336,651)
(1,163,238)
513,760
14,763

Other, net
Provision for income taxes

$

120,542

2010
34.0% $ 564,632
1.8%
20,137
-22.9% (2,552,712)
-19.9%
864,867
8.8% 1,157,020
0.3%
0.0%
2.1% $
53,944

34.0%
1.2%
-153.7%
52.1%
69.7%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
3.2%

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 consist of tax effects of temporary differences related to the
following:
Deferred tax asset:
Other
Fixed Assets
AMT Credit
Intangible assets
Net operating loss carryforwards
Net deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax assets

2011
2010
102,356 $
81,191
(148,278)
14,763
(70,564)
(333,365)
10,268,233
11,581,920
10,166,509
11,329,746
(10,166,509) (11,329,746)
$
- $
$
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(A) United States of America
The Company has established a full valuation allowance as management believes it is more likely than not that these assets will not be
realized in the future. The valuation allowance decreased by $1,163,238 for the year ended June 30, 2011 mainly due to adjusting the
Company's net operating loss carry forwards for the current year operating loss.
At June 30, 2011, federal and state net operating loss carry forwards were $27,439,816 and $8,171,971 respectively. Federal net operating
loss carry forwards begin to expire in 2020, while state net operating loss carry forwards begin to expire in 2015. Due to both historical and
recent changes in the capitalization structure of the Company, the utilization of net operating losses may be limited pursuant to section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code.
As of June 30, 2011, the Company does not have any unrecognized tax benefits related to various federal and state income tax matters. The
Company will recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.
The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is currently open to audit
under the statute of limitations by the federal and state jurisdictions for the years ending June 30, 2008 through 2011. The Company does not
anticipate any material amount of unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months.
The cumulative amount of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that the Company intends to
permanently invest and upon which no deferred US income taxes have been provided is $26,794,050 as of June 30, 2011. The additional US
income tax on unremitted foreign earnings, if repatriated, would be offset in part by foreign tax credits. The extent of this offset would
depend on many factors, including the method of distribution, and specific earnings distributed.

(B) Pakistan
As of June 30, 2011 the Company's Pakistan subsidiaries had net operating loss carry forwards
which can be carried forward six years to offset future taxable income. The deferred tax assets for the Pakistan subsidiaries at June 30, 2011
consists mainly of net operating loss carry forwards in which the Company established a full valuation allowance as the management
believes it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized in the future.
2011
2010
$ 276,452 $ 734,117
96,758
256,941
(96,758)
(256,941)
$
- $
-

Net operating loss carry forward
Total deferred tax assets
Less : valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
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(C) United Kingdom
As of June 30, 2011 the Company's UK subsidiaries had net operating loss carry forwards which can be carried forward indefinitely to
offset future taxable income. The deferred tax assets for the UK Subsidiaries at June 30, 2011 consists mainly of net operating loss carry
forwards in which the Company established a full valuation allowance as the management believes it is more likely than not that these assets
will not be realized in the future.
2011
2010
$ 398,449 $1,776,880
119,535
533,064
(119,535)
(533,064)
$
- $
-

Net operating loss carry forward
Total deferred tax assets
Less : valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
NOTE 14 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(A) Shares Issued for Services to Related Parties

During the year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Company issued a total of 442,500 and 187,500 shares of restricted common stock for
services rendered by the officers of the company. The issuances were approved by both the compensation committee and the board of
directors. These shares were valued at the fair market value of $528,900 and $163,125, as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
During the year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Company issued a total of 90,000 and 90,000 shares of restricted common stock for
services rendered by the independent members of the Board of Directors as part of their board compensation. The issuances were approved
by both the compensation committee and the board of directors. These shares were valued at the fair market value of $135,300 and $78,900,
as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
During the year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Company issued a total of 32,699 and 139,881 shares of its common stock to employees
as required according to the terms of their employment agreements valued at $33,300 and $130,500, respectively.
An additional 14,000 shares of restricted common stock was issued to employees as a year-end bonus for services performed in 2009.
Subsequent to the close of the quarter ended December 31, 2009, 500 shares of these bonus shares were canceled, resulting in a total
issuance of 13,500 shares.
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(B) Share-Based Payment Transactions
During the year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Company issued a total of 337,857 and 501,931 shares of its common stock for
provision of services to unrelated consultants valued at $152,543 and $275,019, respectively.
(C) SHARE ISSUED AGAINST CASH PAYMENTS
During the years ended June 30, 2011, and 2010, the Company issued a total of 5,106,756 and 2,541,929 shares of its common stock
against cash valued of $4,106,250 and $1,195,432, respectively.
NOTE 15 – INCENTIVE AND NON-STATUTORY STOCK OPTION PLAN
Common stock purchase options and warrants consisted of the following as of June 30, 2011:
OPTIONS:
Issued by the Company

# of shares

Exercise
Price

Outstanding and exercisable, June 30, 2009
Granted
Exercised
Expired

7,706,917 $
300,000 $
(300,000) $
-

Outstanding and exercisable, June 30, 2010

7,706,917

$

1,471,000

$

Granted
Exercised

(1,771,000) $

Expired / Forfeited

(487,600) $

Outstanding and exercisable, June 30, 2011

6,919,317

$

0.30 to
$5.00
0.75
0.75

Aggregated
Intrinsic Value
$

-

$

146,047

$

1,637,459

$

-

3.3
1.65 to
$3.70

$

1,698,387

0.31
1.68
0.31 to
$3.70

$

219,119

0.30 to
$5.00
0.65 to
$1.25
0.65 to
$1.25
1.00 to
$5.00
0.30 to
$5.00

WARRANTS:
Outstanding and exercisable, June 30, 2009
Granted
Exercised
Expired

1,777,617 $
3,274,682 $
(288,980)

Outstanding and exercisable, June 30, 2010
Granted
Exercised
Expired

4,763,319

(3,879,028) $
(706,061) $

Outstanding and exercisable, June 30, 2011

178,230
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The average life remaining on the options and warrants as of June 30, 2011 is as follows:

OPTIONS:
Issued by the Company

Exercise Price

Number
Outstanding
and Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

$0.01 - $0.99
$1.00 - $1.99
$2.00 - $2.99
$3.00 - $5.00

1,406,000
2,033,317
2,830,000
650,000

7.48
3.93
3.82
2.54

0.65
1.86
2.70
4.38

6,919,317

4.48

2.19

165,730
12,500

3.95
0.27

0.43
3.70

178,230

3.69

0.66

Totals

Weighted
Ave
Exericse
Price

WARRANTS:
$0.31 - $1.99
$3.00 - $5.00
Totals

All options and warrants granted are vested and are exercisable as of June 30, 2011. During the fiscal year 2011 and 2010, The Company
granted 1,471,000 and 300,000 stock options to its employees at the weighted average grant-date fair value of $0.30 and $0.25 respectively.
(A) Incentive and Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan
The Company maintains several Incentive and Non-Statutory Stock Option Plans (“Plans”) for its employees and consultants. Options
granted under these Plans to an employee of the Company become exercisable over a period of no longer than ten (10) years and no less than
twenty percent (20%) of the shares are exercisable annually. Options are not exercisable, in whole or in part, prior to one (1) year from the
date of grant unless the board of directors specifically determines otherwise, as provided.
Two types of options may be granted under these Plans: (1) Incentive Stock Options (also known as Qualified Stock Options) which may
only be issued to employees of the Company and whereby the exercise price of the option is not less than the fair market value of the
common stock on the date it was reserved for issuance under the Plan; and (2) Non-statutory Stock Options which may be issued to either
employees or consultants of the Company and whereby the exercise price of the option is less than the fair market value of the common stock
on the date it was reserved for issuance under the plan. Grants of options may be made to employees and consultants without regard to any
performance measures. All options issued pursuant to the Plan are nontransferable and subject to forfeiture.
Options
During the quarter ended December 31, 2009, the Company granted 250,000 options to two employees with an exercise price of $0.75 per
share and an expiration date of 1 year, vesting immediately. Using the Black-Scholes method to value the options, the Company recorded
$71,238 in compensation expense for these options in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes option pricing
model used the following assumptions (all dividend rates are assumed to be nil):
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Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

1.56%
1 year
56%

During the quarter ended June 30, 2010, the Company granted 50,000 options to two employees with an exercise price of $0.75 per share
and an expiration date of 1 month, vesting immediately. Using the Black-Scholes method to value the options, the Company recorded $3,652
in compensation expense for these options in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes option pricing model
used the following assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

1.08%
1 month
39%

During the quarter ended September 30, 2010, the Company granted 750,000 options to five employees with an exercise price of $0.65 per
share and an expiration date of 1 Year, vesting quarterly. Using the Black-Scholes method to value the options, the Company recorded
$156,630 per quarter in compensation expense for these options in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes
option pricing model used the following assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

2.01%
1 year
90%

During the quarter ended September 30, 2010, the Company granted 10,000 options to one employee with an exercise price of $0.65 per
share and an expiration date of 1 Year, vesting immediately. Using the Black-Scholes method to value the options, the Company recorded
$2,785 in compensation expense for these options in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes option pricing
model used the following assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

2.01%
1 year
90%

During the quarter ended September 30, 2010, the Company granted 242,000 options to seven employees with an exercise price of $0.65 per
share and an expiration date of 4 months, vesting immediately. Using the Black-Scholes method to value the options, the Company recorded
$43,441 in compensation expense for these options in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes option pricing
model used the following assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

1.81%
4 months
90%

During the quarter ended December 31, 2010, the Company granted 15,000 options to one employee with an exercise price of $0.65 per
share and an expiration date of 1 month, vesting immediately. Using the Black-Scholes method to value the options, the Company recorded
$11,717 in compensation expense for these options in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes option pricing
model used the following assumptions:
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Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

1.65%
1 month
99%

During the quarter ended December 31, 2010, the Company granted 4,000 options to one employee with an exercise price of $1.25 per share
and an expiration date of 1 month, vesting immediately. Using the Black-Scholes method to value the options, the Company recorded $1,040
in compensation expense for these options in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes option pricing model
used the following assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

1.65%
1 month
99%

During the quarter ended March 31, 2011, the Company granted 250,000 options to three employees with an exercise price of $1.25 per
share and an expiration date of 1 month, vesting immediately. Using the Black-Scholes method to value the options, the Company recorded
$102,154 in compensation expense for these options in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes option
pricing model used the following assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

2.16%
1 month
99%

During the quarter ended June 30, 2011, the Company granted 100,000 options to three employees with an exercise price of $1.25 per share
and an expiration date of 1 month, vesting immediately. Using the Black-Scholes method to value the options, the Company recorded
$47,338 in compensation expense for these options in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes option pricing
model used the following assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

2.4%
1 month
99%

During the quarter ended June 30, 2011, the Company granted 100,000 options to three employees with an exercise price of $1.25 per share
and an expiration date of 1 month, vesting immediately. Using the Black-Scholes method to value the options, the Company recorded
$17,915 in compensation expense for these options in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes option pricing
model used the following assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

3.13%
1 month
99%
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Warrants
During 2010, the Company amended the terms of warrant agreements associated with common stock issued in October, 2007. Pursuant to
the terms of the amendment, the exercise price was reduced to $0.31 from $0.63, resulting in a corresponding increase in the number of
shares of common stock underlying the warrants by 3,274,682. The above holders exercised 1,000,000 warrants and 2,879,028 warrants
through a cashless exercise, resulting in 2,384,390 shares issued.
(B) Equity Incentive Plan
In May 2008, the shareholders approved the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2008 Plan”) which provides for the grant of equity-based
awards, including options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards or performance share awards or any other right or interest
relating to shares or cash, to eligible participants. The aggregate number of shares reserved and available for award under the 2008 Plan is
1,000,000 (the Share Reserve). The 2008 Plan contemplates the issuance of common stock upon exercise of options or other awards granted
to eligible persons under the 2008 Plan. Shares issued under the 2008 Plan may be both authorized and unissued shares or previously issued
shares acquired by the Company. Upon termination or expiration of an unexercised option, stock appreciation right or other stock-based
award under the 2008 Plan, in whole or in part, the number of shares of common stock subject to such award again become available for
grant under the 2008 Plan. Any shares of restricted stock forfeited as described below will become available for grant. The maximum
number of shares that may be granted to any one participant in any calendar year may not exceed 500,000 shares. All options issued pursuant
to the Plan are nontransferable and subject to forfeiture.
Stock Options
Options granted under the 2008 Plan are not generally transferable and must be exercised within 10 years, subject to earlier termination upon
termination of the option holder's employment, but in no event later than the expiration of the option's term. The exercise price of each option
may not be less than the fair market value of a share of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant (except in connection with the
assumption or substitution for another option in a manner qualifying under Section 424(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the Code). Incentive stock options granted to any participant who owns 10% or more of the Company’s outstanding common
stock (a Ten Percent Shareholder) must have an exercise price equal to or exceeding 110% of the fair market value of a share of our common
stock on the date of the grant and must not be exercisable for longer than five years. Options become vested and exercisable at such times or
upon such events and subject to such terms, conditions, performance criteria or restrictions as specified by the Committee. The maximum
term of any option granted under the 2008 Plan is ten years, provided that an incentive stock option granted to a Ten Percent Shareholder
must have a term not exceeding five years.
Performance Awards
Under the 2008 Plan, a participant may also be awarded a "performance award," which means that the participant may receive cash, stock or
other awards contingent upon achieving performance goals established by the Committee. The Committee may also make "deferred share"
awards, which entitle the participant to receive our stock in the future for services performed between the date of the award and the date the
participant may receive the stock. The vesting of deferred share awards may be based on performance criteria and/or continued service with
our Company. A participant who is granted a "stock appreciation right" under the Plan has the right to receive all or a percentage of the fair
market value of a share of stock on the date of exercise of the stock appreciation right minus the grant price of the stock appreciation right
determined by the Committee (but in no event less than the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant). Finally, the Committee may
make "restricted stock" awards under the 2008 Plan, which are subject to such terms and conditions as the Committee determines and as are
set forth in the award agreement related to the restricted stock. As of June 30, 2011, 917,000 shares have been issued under this plan.
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NOTE 16 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
(A) Leases
The Company’s headquarters is located in California in approximately 1,919 rentable square feet and a rent of $4,318 per month. The term of
the lease is for two years and expires on December 31, 2011. A security deposit of $4,447 was made and is included in other current assets
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
The Australia lease is a month to month lease and is rented at the rate of $175 per month. The Beijing lease is a three-year lease that expires
in January 2014. The monthly rent is approximately $10,082. The Bangkok lease is a three years lease expiring in November 2013 with
monthly rent of approximately $4,141. The NetSol Europe facilities, located in Horsham, United Kingdom, are leased until June 23, 2021 for
an annual rent of approximately $123,750. NTNA recently relocated to Alameda, California location. The Alameda lease is a three-year lease
with monthly rent of $7,148.
The NetSol Connect Karachi lease is a one-year lease that expires on December 2011 and currently is rented at the rate of approximately
$1,118 per month. The NetSol Pindi office lease is a one year-lease that expires in July 2012 and currently is rented at the rate of
approximately $639 per month.
Upon expiration of its leases, the Company does not anticipate any difficulty in obtaining renewals or alternative space. Rent expense
amounted to $861,262 and $994,280 for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
The total annual lease commitment for the next five years is as follows:
FYE 6/30/12
FYE 6/30/13
FYE 6/30/14
FYE 6/30/15
FYE 6/30/16

$ 999,552
272,670
181,490
123,750
123,750

(B) Litigation
The Pakistan subsidiary of the Company, NetSol PK had entered into an agreement with Raseen Technologies LLC ("Raseen"), an Abu
Dhabi based company to establish a new joint venture (“JV”) in Pakistan for providing services to telecom sector. Based on that
understanding, the Company spent $367,164 for capital equipment and various expenses in preparation for the delivery of services to be
provided relative to the operations of the JV. The non-capital related expenditures were recorded as other assets in accordance with the
agreement, which provides that all expenditures were to be reimbursed by the JV to the corresponding company upon achievement of
positive cash flows.
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Subsequent to the execution of the agreement, and previous to the incorporation of the JV, Raseen terminated its participation without cause,
as defined. The Company has filed a civil suit against Raseen in the civil court of Lahore, Pakistan for the recovery of the JV-related
expenditures disbursed. As a result of the litigation on this matter, and the inherent uncertainty of any recovery, the Company had recorded a
loss as of the year-ended June 30, 2010 in the amount of $237,104, which is the total of non-capital related expenditures. The capital assets
purchased are computer equipment, as well as furniture and fixtures that are currently being utilized and accordingly depreciated by the
Company for use in the normal course of operations.
As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, to the best knowledge of the Company’s management and counsel, there is no material litigation pending or
threatened against the Company.
NOTE 17 – SEGMENT INFORMATION AND GEOGRAPHIC AREAS
The Company has identified three global regions or segments for its products and services; North America, Europe, and Asia-Pacific. Our
reportable segments are business units located in different global regions. Each business unit provides similar products and services; license
fees for leasing and asset-based software, related maintenance fees, and implementation and IT consulting services. Separate management of
each segment is required because each business unit is subject to operational issues and strategies unique to their particular regional location.
We account for intercompany sales and expenses as if the sales or expenses were to third parties and eliminate them in consolidation.
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The following table presents a summary of operating information and certain year-end balance sheet information for the years ended June 30,
2011 and 2010:

Revenues from unaffiliated customers:
North America
Europe
Asia - Pacific
Consolidated

2011

2010

$ 4,223,863
7,158,145
25,165,566
$36,547,574

$ 5,627,277
5,105,434
26,047,185
$36,779,897

Operating income (loss):
Corporate headquarters
North America
Europe
Asia - Pacific
Consolidated

$ (3,762,967) $ (4,713,914)
1,775,501
67,133
2,705,583
872,249
9,446,703
13,502,240
$10,164,820 $ 9,727,708

Net income (loss) after taxes and before minority interest:
Corporate headquarters
North America
Europe
Asia - Pacific
Consolidated

$ (5,043,335) $ (7,605,495)
1,758,835
35,174
2,601,842
804,350
10,385,627
13,052,189
$ 9,702,970 $ 6,286,218

Identifiable assets:
Corporate headquarters
North America
Europe
Asia - Pacific
Consolidated

$16,790,104
2,316,781
4,590,556
61,948,940
$85,646,380

$17,598,812
2,073,111
3,237,702
49,226,555
$72,136,180

$

614,063
459,219
710,022
2,505,206
$ 4,288,511

$ 1,166,797
539,176
658,591
1,543,382
$ 3,907,946

$

$

Depreciation and amortization:
Corporate headquarters
North America
Europe
Asia - Pacific
Consolidated
Capital expenditures:
Corporate headquarters
North America
Europe
Asia - Pacific
Consolidated

53,738
1,013
9,030,397
$ 9,085,148

41,569
104,922
2,840,005
$ 2,986,495

Geographic Information
Disclosed in the table below is geographic information for each country that comprised greater than five percent of our total revenues for
fiscal 2011 and 2010.
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China
Thailand
USA
UK
Pakistan & India
Australia & New Zealand
Other Countries
Total

June 30, 2011
Revenue

Long-lived
Assets

June 30, 2010
Revenue

Long-lived
Assets

$ 11,063,164
5,127,971
5,829,118
5,300,942
3,211,605
1,995,786
4,018,988
$ 36,547,575

$

$ 11,500,798
4,975,571
5,805,502
5,937,566
1,994,993
1,066,013
5,499,454
$ 36,779,897

$

134,202
154,784
10,896,290
1,044,289
38,824,246
2,130
$51,055,941

45,570
179,125.00
11,299,551
1,654,054
25,398,401
4,158
$38,580,858

NOTE 18 – NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARY
The Company had non-controlling interests in several of its subsidiaries. The balance of non-controlling interest as of June 30, 2011 and
2010 was as follows:

Non
Controlling
Interest %

SUBSIDIARY
NetSol PK
NetSol-Innovation

NonControlling
Interest at
June 30, 2011

39.48% $ 11,531,694
49.90%
968,790

Total

$ 12,500,484
Non
Controlling
Interest %

SUBSIDIARY
NetSol PK
NetSol-Innovation
Connect

NonControlling
Interest at
June 30, 2010

42.04% $
49.90%
49.90%

Total

9,133,392
1,291,057
(1,891)

$ 10,422,557

(A) NetSol Technologies, Limited (“NetSol PK”)
For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, NetSol Technologies Ltd. (“NetSol PK”) had net income of $8,506,045 and
$11,300,445. The related non-controlling interest was $3,469,710 and $4,750,707, respectively.
During the quarter ended March 31, 2011 the company purchased 1,995,309 shares from open market with a value of $491,460. As a result
of purchase the corresponding non-controlling interest decreased from 42.04% to 39.48%.
During the year ended June 30, 2011, NetSol PK declared and paid a cash dividend of $1,125,733, of which the Company’s interest was
$653,905. The amount attributable to the minority holders was $471,828.
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(B) NetSol Innovation (Private) Limited (“NetSol Innovation”)
For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, NetSol Innovation (Private) Limited (“NetSol Innovation”) had net income of
$1,012,368 and $301,098. The related non-controlling interest was $505,172 and $150,248, respectively.
During the fiscal year-ended June 2011, NetSol Innovation declared a cash dividend of $1,642,647, of which the Company’s interest was
$823,162. The amount attributable to the non-controlling interest was $819,485 and is reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
(C) NetSol Connect (“Connect”)
On July 1, 2010, the Company acquired the remaining non-controlling interest in NetSol Connect against a payment of $180,000.The
balance of non-controlling interest on June 30, 2010 (the acquisition date) was ($1,892). The company adjusted the additional paid in capital
by $181,891.
NOTE 19 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
(A) Subsidiary
The Company formed a new subsidiary called Vroozi, Inc. a California corporation on or about August 3, 2011 to head its e-commerce
division. Vroozi, Inc. will act as the sales and delivery channel for the Company’s existing product, smartOCI™. Vroozi, Inc. will be
developing the next generation of e-commerce and search engine products and technology. Currently, Vroozi, Inc. is located at the
Company’s Calabasas offices at 23901 Calabasas Road, Suite 2072, Calabasas, CA 91302.
(B) Equity Transactions
The Company issued a total of 22,500 shares of common stock to employees as required according to the terms of their employment
agreements valued at $37,575. These shares were included in ‘Shares to be issued’ as of June 30, 2011.
The Company issued a total of 80,000 shares of restricted common stock for services rendered by the independent members of the Board of
Directors as part of their board compensation. The issuances were approved by both the compensation committee and the board of directors
and were included in ‘Shares to be issued’ as of June 30, 2011.
The Company issued a total of 12,000 shares of restricted common stock for services rendered by the consultant as required according to
service agreement. These shares were included in ‘Shares to be issued’ as of June 30, 2011.
Employees of the Company exercised options to acquire 430,000 shares of common stock valued at $440,000.
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On September 13, 2011, NetSol Technologies, Inc. entered into a purchase agreement to sell convertible notes with a total principal value of
$4,000,000 and warrants to purchase shares of common stock to an investment fund managed by CIM Investment Management Limited and
another accredited investor. The notes have a 2 year maturity date and are convertible into shares of common stock at the initial conversion
price of $0.895 per share, which conversion price was determined as of September 13, 2011, the date of the purchase agreement. The
warrants have a 5 year term and have an initial exercise price of $0.895 per share. The issuance of the notes and warrants was made in
reliance on an exemption from registration available under Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The use of proceeds of
the new note were used to pay off the current note of $2,758,330 in full along with interest of $348,929 accrued till September 13, 2011.
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CONVERTIBLE NOTE AND WARRANT PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This CONVERTIBLE NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is dated as of September 13, 2011, by and among
NetSol Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Seller”), and each of the persons signatory hereto (each is individually referred to as a
“Purchaser” and collectively, the “Purchasers”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Purchasers are willing to purchase from the Seller, and the Seller desires to sell to the Purchasers, an aggregate of
(1) $4,000,000 in principal amount of the Seller’s 8.25% Convertible Notes (“Notes”), and (2) Common Stock Purchase Warrants (the
“Warrants”) entitling the Purchasers to purchase up to such number of shares of the Seller’s common stock, $0.001 par value (the “Common
Stock”), as is equal to 30% of such principal amount divided by the Market Price (as defined in the Notes) as of the Closing Date, for an
aggregate purchase price equal to the aggregate principal amount of Notes purchased, as more fully set forth herein; and
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth
herein, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I - PURCHASE AND SALE
1.1

Purchase and Sale.

(a)
Closing. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the closing of the transactions
contemplated under this Agreement (the “Closing”), each Purchaser shall purchase, severally and not jointly, and the Seller shall issue and sell
to each Purchaser, such principal amount of Notes and such number of Warrants set forth on such Purchaser’s signature page hereto for the
Purchase Price set forth thereon. The Closing shall occur as promptly as practicable, but no later than five (5) business days, following
satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Sections 6.1 and 6.2, at the offices of Peter J. Weisman, P.C., 2 Rector Street, 3rd Floor,
New York, NY 10006, or on such other date and at such other location as the Seller and Purchasers shall mutually agree. The “Closing
Date” means the date on which the Closing occurs.
(b)
Purchase Price. The purchase price (the “Purchase Price”) to be paid by each Purchaser to the Seller to acquire the
Notes and Warrants at Closing shall be equal to the amount set forth on such Purchaser’s signature page hereto.
(c)
Warrants. The total number of shares of Common Stock for which each Purchaser’s Warrant shall be exercisable
shall equal 30% of such Purchaser’s Purchase Price divided by the Market Price.
(d)
Definitions. The shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Notes (including without limitation in
payment upon purchase or redemption thereof) or upon payment of interest on the Notes are referred to herein as the “Conversion Shares,”
and the
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shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants are referred to herein as the “Warrant Shares.” The date on which the
Closing occurs is the “Closing Date”.
1.2
Terms of the Notes and Warrants. The terms and provisions of the Notes are more fully set forth in the form of Note,
attached hereto as Exhibit A. The terms and provisions of the Warrants are more fully set forth in the form of Common Stock Purchase
Warrant, attached hereto as Exhibit B.
ARTICLE II – TRANSFERS AND LEGENDS
2.1
Transfers. Except as required by federal securities laws and the securities law of any state or other jurisdiction within the
United States, the Notes, Conversion Shares, Warrants and Warrant Shares (collectively, the “Securities”) may be transferred, in whole or in
part, by any of the Purchasers at any time. In the case of Notes, such transfer may be effected by delivering written transfer instructions to the
Seller, and the Seller shall reflect such transfer on its books and records and reissue Notes upon surrender of such Notes being
transferred. Any such transfer shall be made by a Purchaser in accordance with applicable law. In connection with any transfer of Securities
other than pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or to the Seller,
the Seller may require the transferor thereof to furnish to the Seller an opinion of counsel selected by the transferor, such counsel and the form
and substance of which opinion shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Seller and Seller’s counsel, to the effect that such transfer does not
require registration under the Securities Act; provided, that in the case of a transfer of Conversion Shares pursuant to Rule 144 under the
Securities Act, no opinion shall be required if the transferor provides the Seller with a customary seller’s representation letter.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Seller hereby consents to and agrees to register on the books of the Seller and with any transfer agent for
the securities of the Seller, without any such legal opinion, any transfer of Securities by a Purchaser to an Affiliate of such Purchaser,
provided that the transferee certifies to the Seller that it is an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act and that it
is acquiring the Securities solely for investment purposes (subject to the qualifications hereof) and not with a view to, or for, resale,
distribution or fractionalization thereof in whole or in part in violation of the Securities Act. The Seller shall reissue certificates evidencing the
Securities upon surrender of certificates evidencing the Securities being transferred in accordance with this Section 2.1. An “Affiliate” means
any Person (as such term is defined below) that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by or is
under common control with a Person, as such terms are used in and construed under Rule 144 under the Securities Act. With respect to a
Purchaser, any investment fund or managed account that is managed on a discretionary basis by the same investment manager as such
Purchaser will be deemed to be an Affiliate of such Purchaser. A “Person” means any individual or corporation, partnership, trust,
incorporated or unincorporated association, joint venture, limited liability company, joint stock company, government (or an agency or
subdivision of any thereof) or other entity of any kind.
2.2
Legends. The certificates representing the Securities, unless such Securities are registered under the Securities Act or
eligible for resale without registration pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act, shall bear the following legends:
“THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY, OR ACQUIRABLE UPON CONVERSION OF SECURITIES EVIDENCED BY, THIS [NOTE]
[CERTIFICATE] HAVE NOT BEEN
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REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD IN THE
ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER SAID ACT UNLESS, IN THE OPINION OF COUNSEL
REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY, SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.”
“THE SALE, TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT OF THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS [NOTE] [CERTIFICATE] IS
SUBJECT TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF A CERTAIN INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT DATED AS OF
SEPTEMBER 13, 2011, AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, AMONG THE COMPANY AND CERTAIN HOLDERS OF ITS
OUTSTANDING SECURITIES. COPIES OF SUCH AGREEMENT MAY BE OBTAINED AT NO COST BY WRITTEN REQUEST
MADE BY THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF THIS [NOTE] [CERTIFICATE] TO THE SECRETARY OF THE COMPANY.”
ARTICLE III - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLER
The Seller represents and warrants to the Purchasers as follows:
3.1
Corporate Existence and Power; Subsidiaries. The Seller and its Subsidiaries are corporations duly incorporated, validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the state in which they are incorporated, and have all corporate powers required to carry on
their business as now conducted. The Seller and its Subsidiaries are duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and are in good
standing in each jurisdiction where the character of the property owned or leased by them or the nature of their activities makes such
qualification necessary, except for those jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect on the
Seller or any of its Subsidiaries. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Material Adverse Effect” means, with respect to any person or
entity, a material adverse effect on its and its Subsidiaries’ condition (financial or otherwise), business, properties, assets, liabilities (including
contingent liabilities), results of operations or current prospects, taken as a whole, on the transactions contemplated hereby or by the
agreements and instruments to be entered into in connection herewith or therewith, or on the authority or ability of the Seller to perform its
obligations hereunder or under the Related Documents. True and complete copies of the Seller’s Articles of Incorporation, as amended, and
Bylaws, as amended, as currently in effect and as will be in effect on the Closing Date (collectively, the “Articles and Bylaws”), have
previously been provided to the Purchasers. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Subsidiary” or “Subsidiaries” means, with respect to
any entity, any corporation or other organization of which securities or other ownership interests having ordinary voting power to elect a
majority of the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions are directly or indirectly owned by such entity or of which
such entity is a partner or is, directly or indirectly, the beneficial owner of 50% or more of any class of equity securities or equivalent profit
participation interests, or is considered a “significant subsidiary” as defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X promulgated by the
Commission under the Exchange Act. The Seller has no Subsidiaries other than those listed on Schedule 3.1 hereto, each of which, unless
otherwise indicated, is wholly-owned by the Seller.
3.2
Corporate Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance by the Seller of this Agreement, the Notes, the
Warrants, the Investor Rights Agreement and each of the other documents executed pursuant to and in connection with this Agreement
(collectively, the
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“Related Documents”), and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (including, but not limited to, the sale and
delivery of the Notes and the Warrants, and the subsequent issuance of the Conversion Shares upon conversion of the Notes and the Warrant
Shares upon exercise of the Warrants) have been duly authorized, and no additional corporate or stockholder action is required for the
approval of this Agreement. The Conversion Shares and Warrant Shares have been duly reserved for issuance by the Seller (without regard to
any limitations on issuance or beneficial ownership). This Agreement and the Related Documents have been or, to the extent contemplated
hereby or by the Related Documents, will be duly executed and delivered and constitute the legal, valid and binding agreement of the Seller,
enforceable against the Seller in accordance with their terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium
and similar laws of general application relating to or affecting the enforcement of rights of creditors, and except as enforceability of its
obligations hereunder are subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in
equity or at law).
3.3
Charter, Bylaws and Corporate Records. The minute books of the Seller and its Subsidiaries contain complete and accurate
records of all meetings and other corporate actions of the board of directors, committees of the board of directors, incorporators and
stockholders of the Seller and its Subsidiaries. All material corporate decisions and actions have been validly made or taken. All corporate
books, including without limitation the share transfer register, comply with applicable laws and regulations and have been regularly
updated. Such books fully and correctly reflect all the decisions of the stockholders.

3.4
Governmental Authorization. Except as otherwise specifically contemplated in this Agreement and the Related Documents,
and except for: (i) the filings referenced in Sections 5.10 and 5.11; (ii) the filing of a Form D with respect to the Notes and Warrants under
Regulation D under the Securities Act; (iii) the application(s) to each trading market for the listing of the Conversion Shares and the Warrant
Shares for trading thereon; and (iv) any filings required under state securities laws that are permitted to be made after the date hereof, the
execution, delivery and performance by the Seller of this Agreement and the Related Documents, and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby (including, but not limited to, the sale and delivery of the Notes and Warrants and the subsequent issuance of
the Conversion Shares and Warrant Shares upon conversion of the Notes or otherwise or exercise of the Warrants, as applicable) by the Seller
require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any governmental body, agency, official or authority.
3.5
Non-Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by the Seller of this Agreement and the Related Documents,
and the consummation by the Seller of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (including the issuance of the Conversion Shares and
Warrant Shares) do not and will not (a) contravene or conflict with the Articles (as amended by any certificate of designation) and Bylaws of
the Seller and its Subsidiaries or any material agreement to which the Seller is a party or by which it is bound; (b) contravene or conflict with
or constitute a violation of any provision of any law, regulation, judgment, injunction, order or decree binding upon or applicable to the Seller
or its Subsidiaries; (c) constitute a default (or would constitute a default with notice or lapse of time or both) under or give rise to a right of
termination, cancellation or acceleration or loss of any benefit under any material agreement, contract or other instrument binding upon the
Seller or its Subsidiaries or under any material license, franchise, permit or other similar authorization held by the Seller or its Subsidiaries; or
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(d) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (as defined below) on any asset of the Seller or its Subsidiaries. For purposes of this
Agreement, the term “Lien” means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest, claim or encumbrance of
any kind in respect of such asset.
3.6
SEC Documents. The Seller is obligated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) to
file reports pursuant to Sections 13 or 15(d) thereof (all such reports filed or required to be filed by the Seller, including all exhibits thereto or
incorporated therein by reference, and all documents filed by the Seller under the Securities Act hereinafter called the “SEC Documents”). The
Seller has filed all reports or other documents required to be filed under the Exchange Act. All SEC Documents filed by the Seller as of or for
any period beginning on or after June 30, 2010, (i) were prepared in all material respects in accordance with the requirements of the Exchange
Act and (ii) did not at the time they were filed (or, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date hereof, then on the date of such filing)
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Seller has previously delivered to the
Purchaser a correct and complete copy of each report (including, without limitation, the most recent Proxy Statement) which the Seller filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC” or the “Commission”) under the Exchange Act for any period ending on or after
June 30, 2010 (the “Recent Reports”) to the extent not available via EDGAR. None of the information about the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries which has been disclosed to the Purchasers herein or in the course of discussions and negotiations with respect hereto which is
not disclosed in the Recent Reports is or was required to be so disclosed, and no material non-public information has been disclosed to the
Purchasers, except for certain information which will be publicly disclosed on prior to September 30, 2011. To the extent that the Seller fails
to so publicly disclose any such material non-public information prior to such date, any Purchaser in possession of such information shall be
permitted to publicly disclose such material non-public information. The Seller agrees that it shall not furnish any Purchaser any material nonpublic information concerning the Seller which it does not intend to disclose on or prior to such date.
3.7
Financial Statements. The financial statements of the Seller included in the SEC Documents comply in all material respects
with applicable accounting requirements and the rules and regulations of the Commission with respect thereto as in effect at the time of
filing. Such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis
during the periods involved (“GAAP”), except as may be otherwise specified in such financial statements or the notes thereto and except that
unaudited financial statements may not contain all footnotes required by GAAP, and fairly present in all material respects the financial position
of the Seller and its consolidated subsidiaries as of and for the dates thereof and the results of operations and cash flows for the periods then
ended, subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal, immaterial, year-end audit adjustments. Except, however, that Seller’s financial
statements may only be relied upon in light of the disclosure contained in Seller’s amendment to its 10-K for the period ending June 30,
2010. In this amendment, Seller’s disclosed a material weakness in controls over financial reporting in that those responsible for preparing the
financial statements do not hold a US CPA or have equivalent experience and as such Seller’s management has determined that its accounting
staff does not have sufficient technical accounting knowledge relating to accounting for complex U.S. GAAP matters. Sellers’ anticipate that
this conclusion shall remain until such time as the staff
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can demonstrate its knowledge. All material agreements to which the Seller and its Subsidiaries are a party or to which any of their respective
property or assets are subject that are required to be filed as Exhibits to the SEC Documents under Item 601 of Regulation S K are included as
a part of, or specifically identified in, the SEC Documents.
3.8
Compliance with Law. The Seller and its Subsidiaries are in compliance and have conducted their business so as to comply
with all laws, rules and regulations, judgments, decrees or orders of any court, administrative agency, commission, regulatory authority or
other governmental authority or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, applicable to their operations, the violation of which would cause a
Material Adverse Affect. There are no judgments or orders, injunctions, decrees, stipulations or awards (whether rendered by a court or
administrative agency or by arbitration), including any such actions relating to affirmative action claims or claims of discrimination, against the
Seller or its Subsidiaries or against any of their properties or businesses.
3.9
No Defaults. Except as disclosed in Section 3.9, to the Seller and its Subsidiaries’ knowledge, Seller and its Subsidiaries
are not, nor have they received notice that they would be with the passage of time, giving of notice, or both, (i) in violation of any provision of
their Articles and Bylaws (ii) in default or violation of any term, condition or provision of (A) any judgment, decree, order, injunction or
stipulation applicable to the Seller or its Subsidiaries or (B) any agreement, note, mortgage, indenture, contract, lease or instrument, permit,
concession, franchise or license to which the Seller or its Subsidiaries are a party or by which the Seller or its Subsidiaries or their properties
or assets may be bound, and no circumstances exist which would entitle any party to any agreement, note, mortgage, indenture, contract, lease
or instrument to which such Seller or its Subsidiaries are a party, to terminate such as a result of such Seller or its Subsidiaries, having failed
to meet any provision thereof including, but not limited to, meeting any applicable milestone under any agreement or contract which would
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Seller or its subsidiaries.
3.10
Litigation. Except as disclosed in the Recent Reports or on Schedule 3.10, there is no action, suit, proceeding, judgment,
claim or investigation pending or, to the best knowledge of the Seller, threatened against the Seller and its Subsidiaries which could,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Seller or its Subsidiaries or which in any
manner challenges or seeks to prevent, enjoin, alter or materially delay any of the transactions contemplated hereby, and Seller is not aware of
any basis for the assertion of any of the foregoing.
There are no claims or complaints existing or, to the knowledge of the Seller or its Subsidiaries, threatened for product liability in
respect of any product of the Seller or its Subsidiaries, and the Seller and its Subsidiaries are not aware of any basis for the assertion of any
such claim.
3.11
Absence of Certain Changes. Since June 30, 2010, the Seller has conducted its business only in the ordinary course and
there has not occurred, except as set forth in the Recent Reports or any exhibit thereto or incorporated by reference therein:
(a)

Any event that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries;
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(b)

Any amendments or changes in the Articles or Bylaws of the Seller and its Subsidiaries;

(c)
Any damage, destruction or loss, whether or not covered by insurance, that would, individually or in the aggregate, have or
would be reasonably likely to have, a Material Adverse Effect on the Seller and its Subsidiaries;
(d)

Except as set forth in its Recent Reports or on Schedule 3.11(d), any

(i)
incurrence, assumption or guarantee by the Seller or its Subsidiaries of any debt for borrowed money other than for
equipment leases;
(ii)
issuance or sale of any securities convertible into or exchangeable for securities of the Seller other than to directors,
employees and consultants pursuant to existing equity compensation or stock purchase plans of the Seller;
(iii)
issuance or sale of options or other rights to acquire from the Seller or its Subsidiaries, directly or indirectly,
securities of the Seller or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for any such securities, other than options issued to directors,
employees and consultants in the ordinary course of business in accordance with past practice;
(iv)

issuance or sale of any stock, bond or other corporate security;

(v)
discharge or satisfaction of any material Lien, other than current liabilities incurred since June 30, 2010 in the
ordinary course of business;
(vi)
declaration or making any payment or distribution to stockholders or purchase or redemption of any share of its
capital stock or other security;
(vii)
sale, assignment or transfer of any of its intangible assets except in the ordinary course of business, or cancellation
of any debt or claim except in the ordinary course of business;
(viii)
(ix)
practices; or
(x)

waiver of any right of substantial value whether or not in the ordinary course of business;
material change in officer compensation except in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past

other commitment (contingent or otherwise) to do any of the foregoing.

(e)
Any creation, sufferance or assumption by the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries of any Lien on any asset (other than Liens
existing on the date hereof or in connection with equipment leases and working capital lines of credit set forth on Schedule 3.11(e)) or any
making of any loan, advance or capital contribution to or investment in any Person in an aggregate amount which exceeds $25,000 outstanding
at any time;
(f)

Any entry into, amendment of, relinquishment, termination or non-renewal by the
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Seller or its Subsidiaries of any material contract, license, lease, transaction, commitment or other right or obligation, other than in the ordinary
course of business; or
(g)
Any transfer or grant of a right with respect to the trademarks, trade names, service marks, trade secrets, copyrights or
other intellectual property rights owned or licensed by the Seller or its Subsidiaries, except as among the Seller and its Subsidiaries.
3.12
No Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth in the Recent Reports, and except for liabilities and obligations incurred in
the ordinary course of business since June 30, 2010, as of the date hereof, (i) the Seller and its Subsidiaries do not have any material liabilities
or obligations (absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise) which, and (ii) there has not been any aspect of the prior or current conduct of the
business of the Seller or its Subsidiaries which may form the basis for any material claim by any third party which if asserted could result in
any such material liabilities or obligations which, are not fully reflected, reserved against or disclosed in the balance sheet of the Seller as at
June 30, 2010.
3.13
Taxes. All tax returns and tax reports required to be filed with respect to the income, operations, business or assets of the
Seller and its Subsidiaries have been timely filed (or appropriate extensions have been obtained) with the appropriate governmental agencies in
all jurisdictions in which such returns and reports are required to be filed, and all of the foregoing as filed are correct and complete and, in all
material respects, reflect accurately all liability for taxes of the Seller and its Subsidiaries for the periods to which such returns relate, and all
amounts shown as owing thereon have been paid. All income, profits, franchise, sales, use, value added, occupancy, property, excise, payroll,
withholding, FICA, FUTA and other taxes (including interest and penalties), if any, collectible or payable by the Seller and its Subsidiaries or
relating to or chargeable against any of its material assets, revenues or income or relating to any employee, independent contractor, creditor,
stockholder or other third party through the Closing Date, will have been fully collected and paid by such date if due by such date or provided
for by adequate reserves in the Financial Statements as of and for the periods ended June 30, 2010 (other than taxes accruing after such date)
and all similar items due through the Closing Date will have been fully paid by that date or provided for by adequate reserves, whether or not
any such taxes were reported or reflected in any tax returns or filings. No taxation authority has sought to audit the records of the Seller or
any of its Subsidiaries for the purpose of verifying or disputing any tax returns, reports or related information and disclosures provided to
such taxation authority, or for the Seller’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ alleged failure to provide any such tax returns, reports or related
information and disclosure. No material claims or deficiencies have been asserted against or inquiries raised with the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries with respect to any taxes or other governmental charges or levies which have not been paid or otherwise satisfied, including
claims that, or inquiries whether, the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries has not filed a tax return that it was required to file, and, to the best of the
Seller’s knowledge, there exists no reasonable basis for the making of any such claims or inquiries. Neither the Seller nor any of its
Subsidiaries has waived any restrictions on assessment or collection of taxes or consented to the extension of any statute of limitations relating
to taxation.
3.14
Interests of Officers, Directors and Other Affiliates. The description of any interest held, directly or indirectly, by any
officer, director or other Affiliate of Seller (other than the interests of the Seller and its Subsidiaries in such assets) in any property, real or
personal, tangible or intangible, used in or pertaining to Seller’s business, including any interest in the
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Intellectual Property (as defined in Section 3.15 hereof), as set forth in the Recent Reports, is true and complete, and no officer, director or
other Affiliate of the Seller has any interest in any property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, used in or pertaining to the Seller’s
business, including the Seller’s Intellectual Property, other than as set forth in the Recent Reports.
3.15

Intellectual Property. Other than as set forth in the Recent Reports:

(a)
the Seller or a Subsidiary thereof has the right to use or is the sole and exclusive owner of all right, title and interest in and
to all foreign and domestic patents, patent rights, trademarks, service marks, trade names, brands and copyrights (whether or not registered
and, if applicable, including pending applications for registration) owned, used or controlled by the Seller and its Subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Rights”) and in and to each material invention, software, trade secret, technology, product, composition, formula, method of process used by
the Seller or its Subsidiaries (the Rights and such other items, the “Intellectual Property”), and, to the Seller’s knowledge, has the right to use
the same, free and clear of any claim or conflict with the rights of others;
(b)
no royalties or fees (license or otherwise) are payable by the Seller or its Subsidiaries to any Person by reason of the
ownership or use of any of the Intellectual Property except as set forth on Schedule 3.15;
(c)
there have been no claims made against the Seller or its Subsidiaries asserting the invalidity, abuse, misuse, or
unenforceability of any of the Intellectual Property, and, to its knowledge, there are no reasonable grounds for any such claims;
(d)
neither the Seller nor its Subsidiaries have made any claim of any violation or infringement by others of its rights in the
Intellectual Property, and to the best of the Seller’s knowledge, no reasonable grounds for such claims exist; and
(e)
neither the Seller nor its Subsidiaries have received notice that it is in conflict with or infringing upon the asserted rights of
others in connection with the Intellectual Property.
3.16
Restrictions on Business Activities. Other than as set forth in the Recent Reports, there is no agreement, judgment,
injunction, order or decree binding upon the Seller or its Subsidiaries which has or could reasonably be expected to have the effect of
prohibiting or materially impairing any business practice of the Seller or its Subsidiaries, any acquisition of property by the Seller or its
Subsidiaries or the conduct of business by the Seller or its Subsidiaries as currently conducted or as currently proposed to be conducted by the
Seller.
3.17
Preemptive Rights. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.17, none of the stockholders of the Seller possess any preemptive
rights in respect of the Notes, Warrants, Conversion Shares or Warrant Shares to be issued to the Purchasers in connection herewith or upon
exercise of the Warrants, as applicable.
3.18
Insurance. The insurance policies providing insurance coverage to the Seller or its Subsidiaries including for product
liability are adequate for the business conducted by the Seller and its Subsidiaries (currently limited to the testing phase) and are sufficient for
compliance by the Seller and its Subsidiaries with all requirements of law and all material agreements to which the Seller or its Subsidiaries are
a party or by which any of their assets are
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bound. All of such policies are in full force and effect and are valid and enforceable in accordance with their terms, and the Seller and its
Subsidiaries have complied with all material terms and conditions of such policies, including premium payments. None of the insurance
carriers has indicated to the Seller or its Subsidiaries an intention to cancel any such policy.
3.19
Subsidiaries and Investments. Except as set forth in the Recent Reports or on Schedule 3.19, the Seller has no
Subsidiaries or Investments. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Investments” shall mean, with respect to any Person, all advances,
loans or extensions of credit to any other Person, all purchases or commitments to purchase any stock, bonds, notes, debentures or other
securities of any other Person, and any other investment in any other Person, including partnerships or joint ventures (whether by capital
contribution or otherwise) or other similar arrangement (whether written or oral) with any Person, including but not limited to arrangements in
which (i) the Person shares profits and losses, (ii) any such other Person has the right to obligate or bind the Person to any third party, or (iii)
the Person may be wholly or partially liable for the debts or obligations of such partnership, joint venture or other arrangement.
3.20
Capitalization. The authorized capital stock of the Seller consists of 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par
value per share, of which 56,076,355 shares are issued and outstanding as of the date hereof, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock,
issuable in one or more classes or series, with such relative rights and preferences as the Board of Directors may determine, none of which has
been authorized for issuance other than the shares of the Seller’s Series A 7% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, none of which are
outstanding as of the date hereof. All shares of the Seller’s issued and outstanding capital stock have been duly authorized, are validly issued
and outstanding, and are fully paid and nonassessable. No securities issued by the Seller from the date of its incorporation to the date hereof
were issued in violation of any statutory or common law preemptive rights. There are no dividends which have accrued or been declared but
are unpaid on the capital stock of the Seller. All taxes required to be paid by Seller in connection with the issuance and any transfers of the
Seller’s capital stock have been paid. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.20, all permits or authorizations required to be obtained from or
registrations required to be effected with any Person in connection with any and all issuances of securities of the Seller from the date of the
Seller’s incorporation to the date hereof have been obtained or effected, and all securities of the Seller have been issued and are held in
accordance with the provisions of all applicable securities or other laws. This issuance of the Notes and Warrants hereunder and/or the
issuance of the Conversion Shares or Warrant Shares upon conversion of the Notes or exercise of the Warrants will not cause any adjustment
to the current conversion price or exercise under any outstanding securities.
3.21
Options, Warrants, Rights. Except as set forth in the Recent Reports or on Schedule 3.21, there are no outstanding (a)
securities, notes or instruments convertible into or exercisable for any of the capital stock or other equity interests of the Seller or its
Subsidiaries; (b) options, warrants, subscriptions or other rights to acquire capital stock or other equity interests of the Seller or its
Subsidiaries; or (c) commitments, agreements or understandings of any kind, including employee benefit arrangements, relating to the issuance
or repurchase by the Seller or its Subsidiaries of any capital stock or other equity interests of the Seller or its Subsidiaries, any such securities
or instruments convertible or exercisable for securities or any such options, warrants or rights. Other than the rights of the Purchasers under
the Notes and warrants issued in connection therewith and except as set forth on Schedule 3.21, neither the
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Seller nor the Subsidiaries have granted anti-dilution rights to any person or entity in connection with any outstanding option, warrant,
subscription or any other instrument convertible or exercisable for the securities of the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries. Other than the rights
granted to the Purchasers under the Investor Rights Agreement and except as set forth on Schedule 3.21, there are no outstanding rights which
permit the holder thereof to cause the Seller or the Subsidiaries to file a registration statement under the Securities Act or which permit the
holder thereof to include securities of the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries in a registration statement filed by the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries under the Securities Act, and there are no outstanding agreements or other commitments which otherwise relate to the registration
of any securities of the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries for sale or distribution in any jurisdiction.
3.22
Employees, Employment Agreements and Employee Benefit Plans. Except as set forth in the Recent Reports or on
Schedule 3.22, there are no employment, consulting, severance or indemnification arrangements, agreements, or understandings between the
Seller and any officer, director, consultant or employee of the Seller or its Subsidiaries (the “Employment Agreements”). Except as set forth in
the Recent Reports or on Schedule 3.22, no Employment Agreement provides for the acceleration or change in the award, grant, vesting or
determination of options, warrants, rights, severance payments, or other contingent obligations of any nature whatsoever of the Seller or its
Subsidiaries in favor of any such parties in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Except as disclosed in the
Recent Reports or on Schedule 3.22, the terms of employment or engagement of all directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants and
professional advisors of the Seller and its Subsidiaries are such that their employment or engagement may be terminated upon not more than
two weeks’ notice given at any time without liability for payment of compensation or damages and the Seller and its Subsidiaries have not
entered into any agreement or arrangement for the management of their business or any part thereof other than with their directors or
employees.
3.23
Absence of Certain Business Practices. Neither the Seller, nor any Affiliate of the Seller, nor to the knowledge of the
Seller, any agent or employee of the Seller, any other Person acting on behalf of or associated with the Seller, or any individual related to any
of the foregoing Persons, acting alone or together, has: (a) received, directly or indirectly, any rebates, payments, commissions, promotional
allowances or any other economic benefits, regardless of their nature or type, from any customer, supplier, trading company, shipping
company, governmental employee or other Person with whom the Seller has done business directly or indirectly; or (b) directly or indirectly,
given or agreed to give any gift or similar benefit to any customer, supplier, trading company, shipping company, governmental employee or
other Person who is or may be in a position to help or hinder the business of the Seller (or assist the Seller in connection with any actual or
proposed transaction) which (i) may subject the Seller to any damage or penalty in any civil, criminal or governmental litigation or proceeding,
(ii) if not given in the past, may have had an adverse effect on the Seller or (iii) if not continued in the future, may adversely affect the assets,
business, operations or prospects of the Seller or subject the Seller to suit or penalty in any private or governmental litigation or proceeding.
3.24
Products and Services. To the knowledge of the Seller and except as disclosed in the Recent Reports, there exists no set
of facts (i) which could furnish a basis for the withdrawal, suspension or cancellation of any registration, license, permit or other governmental
approval or consent of any governmental or regulatory agency with respect to any product or service developed or provided by the Seller or its
Subsidiaries, (ii) which could furnish a basis for the
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withdrawal, suspension or cancellation by order of any state, federal or foreign court of law of any product or service, or (iii) which could
have a Material Adverse Effect on the continued operation of any facility of the Seller or its Subsidiaries or which could otherwise cause the
Seller or its Subsidiaries to withdraw, suspend or cancel any such product or service from the market or to change the marketing classification
of any such product or service. Each product or service provided by Seller or its Subsidiaries has been provided in accordance in all material
respects with the specifications under which such product or service normally is and has been provided and the provisions of all applicable
laws or regulations.
3.25
Environmental Matters. None of the premises or any properties owned, occupied or leased by the Seller or its
Subsidiaries (the “Premises”) has been used by the Seller or the Subsidiaries or, to the Seller’s knowledge, by any other Person, to
manufacture, treat, store, or dispose of any substance that has been designated to be a “hazardous substance” under applicable Environmental
Laws (hereinafter defined) (“Hazardous Substances”) in violation of any applicable Environmental Laws. To its knowledge, the Seller has not
disposed of, discharged, emitted or released any Hazardous Substances which would require, under applicable Environmental Laws,
remediation, investigation or similar response activity. No Hazardous Substances are present as a result of the actions of the Seller or, to the
Seller’s knowledge, any other Person, in, on or under the Premises which would give rise to any liability or clean-up obligations of the Seller
under applicable Environmental Laws. The Seller and, to the Seller’s knowledge, any other Person for whose conduct it may be responsible
pursuant to an agreement or by operation of law, are in compliance with all laws, regulations and other federal, state or local governmental
requirements, and all applicable judgments, orders, writs, notices, decrees, permits, licenses, approvals, consents or injunctions in effect on the
date of this Agreement relating to the generation, management, handling, transportation, treatment, disposal, storage, delivery, discharge,
release or emission of any Hazardous Substance (the “Environmental Laws”). Neither the Seller nor, to the Seller’s knowledge, any other
Person for whose conduct it may be responsible pursuant to an agreement or by operation of law has received any written complaint, notice,
order, or citation of any actual, threatened or alleged noncompliance with any of the Environmental Laws, and there is no proceeding, suit or
investigation pending or, to the Seller’s knowledge, threatened against the Seller or, to the Seller’s knowledge, any such Person with respect to
any violation or alleged violation of the Environmental Laws, and, to the knowledge of the Seller, there is no basis for the institution of any
such proceeding, suit or investigation.
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3.26
Licenses; Compliance Regulatory Requirements. Except as disclosed in the Recent Reports, the Seller holds all material
authorizations, consents, approvals, franchises, licenses and permits required under applicable law or regulation for the operation of the
business of the Seller and its Subsidiaries as presently operated (the “Governmental Authorizations”). All the Governmental Authorizations
have been duly issued or obtained and are in full force and effect, and the Seller and its Subsidiaries are in material compliance with the terms
of all the Governmental Authorizations. The Seller and its Subsidiaries have not engaged in any activity that, to their knowledge, would cause
revocation or suspension of any such Governmental Authorizations. The Seller has no knowledge of any facts which could reasonably be
expected to cause the Seller to believe that the Governmental Authorizations will not be renewed by the appropriate governmental authorities in
the ordinary course. Neither the execution, delivery nor performance of this Agreement shall adversely affect the status of any of the
Governmental Authorizations.
3.27
Brokers. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, based upon any arrangement made by or on behalf of the Seller. No broker,
finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement, based upon any arrangement made by or on behalf of the Seller, which would make any Purchaser liable for any fees or
commissions.
3.28
Securities Laws. Neither the Seller nor its Subsidiaries nor any agent acting on behalf of the Seller or its Subsidiaries has
taken or will take any action which might cause this Agreement or the Notes or Warrants to violate the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or
any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder, as in effect on the Closing Date. Assuming that all of the representations and warranties of
the Purchasers set forth in Article IV are true, all offers and sales of capital stock, securities and notes of the Seller were conducted and
completed in compliance with the Securities Act. All shares of capital stock and other securities issued by the Seller and its Subsidiaries prior
to the date hereof have been issued in transactions that were either registered offerings or were exempt from the registration requirements
under the Securities Act and all applicable state securities or “blue sky” laws and in compliance with all applicable corporate laws.
3.29
Disclosure. No representation or warranty made by the Seller in this Agreement, nor in any document, written
information, financial statement, certificate, schedule or exhibit prepared and furnished by the Seller or the representatives of the Seller
pursuant hereto or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact, or
to Seller’s knowledge omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements or facts contained herein or therein not misleading in light
of the circumstances under which they were furnished.
3.30
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. There is no transaction, arrangement or other relationship between the Seller and an
unconsolidated or other off-balance sheet entity that is required to be disclosed by the Seller in its Exchange Act filings and is not so disclosed
or that otherwise would be reasonably expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. There are no such transactions, arrangements or other
relationships with the Seller that may create contingencies or liabilities that are not otherwise disclosed by the Seller in its SEC filings.
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3.31
Application of Takeover Protections. Except as is set forth in the Articles of Incorporation and amendments thereto of
Seller, the Seller and its Board of Directors have taken all necessary action, if any, in order to render inapplicable any control share acquisition,
business combination, poison pill (including any distribution under a rights agreement) or other similar anti-takeover provision under the
Seller’s Articles and By-Laws (or similar charter documents) or the laws of its state of incorporation or any agreement to which the Seller is a
party that is or could become applicable to the Purchasers as a result of the Purchasers and the Seller fulfilling their obligations or exercising
their rights under this Agreement and the Related Documents, including without limitation the Seller’s issuance of the Securities and the
Purchasers’ ownership of the Securities.
3.32
No Additional Agreements. The Seller does not have any agreement with any Purchaser with respect to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Documents other than as specified in this Agreement and the Related Documents.
3.33
Acknowledgment Regarding Purchasers’ Purchase of Seller Securities. The Seller acknowledges and agrees that each of
the Purchasers is acting solely in the capacity of an arm’s length purchaser with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated
hereby. The Seller further acknowledges that no Purchaser is acting as a financial advisor or fiduciary of the Seller or any other Purchaser (or
in any similar capacity) with respect to this Agreement and the Related Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and
any advice given by any Purchaser or any of their respective representatives or agents in connection with this Agreement or the Related
Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby is merely incidental to such Purchaser’s purchase of the Securities. The Seller
further represents to each Purchaser that the Seller’s decision to enter into this Agreement and the Related Documents has been based solely
on the independent evaluation of the transactions contemplated hereby by the Seller and its representatives.
3.34
Internal Accounting Controls. Except as disclosed in Seller’s 10-K for the period ending June 30, 2010, the Seller and
each of its subsidiaries maintains a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that (i) transactions are
executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorizations, (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in conformity with GAAP and to maintain asset accountability, (iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance
with management’s general or specific authorization, and (iv) the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at
reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences. The Seller has established disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Seller and designed such disclosure controls and procedures
to ensure that material information relating to the Seller, including its subsidiaries, is made known to the certifying officers by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which the Seller’s Form 10-K or 10-Q, as the case may be, is being prepared. The Seller’s
certifying officers have evaluated the effectiveness of the Seller’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by the
Seller’s most recently filed periodic report under the Exchange Act (such date, the “Evaluation Date”). The Seller presented in its most
recently filed Form 10-K or Form 10-Q the conclusions of the certifying officers about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on their evaluations as of the Evaluation Date. Since the Evaluation Date, there have been no changes in the Seller’s internal
control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rule
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13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Seller’s internal control over
financial reporting.
3.35
Solvency. Based on the financial condition of the Seller as of the Closing Date, (i) the Seller’s fair saleable value of its
assets exceeds the amount that will be required to be paid on or in respect of the Seller’s existing debts and other liabilities (including known
contingent liabilities) as they mature; (ii) the Seller’s assets do not constitute unreasonably small capital to carry on its business for the current
fiscal year as now conducted and as proposed to be conducted including its capital needs taking into account the particular capital requirements
of the business conducted by the Seller, and projected capital requirements and capital availability thereof; and (iii) the current cash flow of the
Seller, together with the proceeds the Seller would receive, were it to liquidate all of its assets, after taking into account all anticipated uses of
the cash, would be sufficient to pay all amounts on or in respect of its debt when such amounts are required to be paid. The Seller does not
intend to incur debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they mature (taking into account the timing and amounts of cash to be payable on
or in respect of its debt).
3.36
Title to Assets. The Seller and the Subsidiaries have good and marketable title in fee simple to all real property owned by
them that is material to their respective businesses and good and marketable title in all personal property owned by them that is material to their
respective businesses, in each case free and clear of all Liens, except for (i) Liens as do not materially affect the value of such property, do not
materially interfere with the use made and proposed to be made of such property by the Seller and the Subsidiaries, (ii) Liens for taxes not yet
due and payable and (iii) Liens which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have or result in a Material
Adverse Effect. To the Seller’s knowledge, any real property and facilities held under lease by the Seller and the Subsidiaries are held by them
under valid, subsisting and enforceable leases of which the Seller and the Subsidiaries are in compliance except, in each case, as would not
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
ARTICLE IV - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASERS
Each Purchaser, for itself only, hereby severally and not jointly, represents and warrants to the Seller as follows:
4.1
Existence and Power. The Purchaser is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
jurisdiction of such Purchaser’s organization. The Purchaser has all powers required to carry on such Purchaser’s business as now
conducted.
4.2
Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance by the Purchaser of this Agreement, the Related Documents to
which such Purchaser is a party, and the consummation by the Purchaser of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly
authorized, and no additional action is required for the approval of this Agreement or the Related Documents. This Agreement and the Related
Documents to which the Purchaser is a party have been or, to the extent contemplated hereby, will be duly executed and delivered and
constitute valid and binding agreements of the Purchaser, enforceable against such Purchaser in accordance with their terms, except as may be
limited by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium and similar laws of general application relating to or affecting the enforcement
of
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rights of creditors and except that enforceability of their obligations thereunder are subject to general principles of equity (regardless of
whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
4.3
Investment. The Purchaser is acquiring the securities described herein for its own account and not with a view to, or for
sale in connection with, any distribution thereof, nor with the intention of distributing or reselling the same, provided, however, that by making
the representation herein, the Purchaser does not agree to hold any of the securities for any minimum or other specific term and reserves the
right to dispose of the securities at any time in accordance with or pursuant to a registration statement or an exemption under the Securities
Act. The Purchaser is aware that none of the securities has been registered under the Securities Act or under applicable state securities or blue
sky laws. The Purchaser is an “Accredited Investor” as such term is defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D, as promulgated under the Securities
Act (including without limitation, if the Purchaser is an employee benefit plan within the meaning of the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974 and a self-directed plan, then investment decisions are made solely by persons that are “Accredited Investors”).
4.4
Reliance on Exemptions. The Purchaser understands that the Notes and Warrants are being offered and sold to such
Purchaser in reliance upon specific exemptions from the registration requirements of United States federal and state securities laws and that the
Seller is relying upon the truth and accuracy of, and such Purchaser’s compliance with, the representations, warranties, agreements,
acknowledgments and understandings of such Purchaser set forth herein in order to determine the availability of such exemptions and the
eligibility of such Purchaser to acquire the securities.
4.5
Experience of the Purchaser. The Purchaser, either alone or together with its representatives, has such knowledge,
sophistication and experience in business and financial matters so as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the prospective
investment in the Securities, and has so evaluated the merits and risks of such investment. The Purchaser is able to bear the economic risk of
an investment in the securities and, at the present time, is able to afford a complete loss of such investment.
4.6
General Solicitation. The Purchaser is not purchasing the Securities as a result of any advertisement, article, notice or other
communication regarding the securities published in any newspaper, magazine or similar media or broadcast over television or radio or
presented at any seminar or any other general solicitation or general advertisement.
4.7
Receipt of Purchaser Information. The Purchaser hereby acknowledges that it has been furnished with, or has had an
opportunity to acquire and carefully review the following documents filed by the Seller with the SEC: (a) Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended June 30, 2010 and amendments thereto (the “10-K”); (b) Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for each of the quarters ended
September 30, 2010, December 31, 2010 and March 31, 2011 and any amendments thereto, respectively; (c) all Current Reports on Form 8K after the filing of the 10-K; and (d) the Seller’s most recent definitive proxy materials. Purchaser further represents that the Purchaser has
been furnished by the Seller during the course of this transaction with all information regarding the Seller that it or its investment advisors,
attorney and/or accountant has requested or desired to know, has been afforded the opportunity to ask questions of and receive answers from
duly authorized officers or other representatives of the Seller concerning the terms
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and conditions of the transaction, and has received any additional information that the Purchaser has requested .
ARTICLE V - COVENANTS OF THE SELLER AND PURCHASERS
5.1
Insurance. The Seller and its Subsidiaries shall, from time to time upon the written request of the Purchasers, promptly
furnish or cause to be furnished to the Purchasers evidence, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Purchasers, of the
maintenance of all insurance maintained by it for loss or damage by fire and other hazards, damage or injury to persons and property,
including from product liability, and under workmen’s compensation laws.
5.2
Reporting Obligations. So long as any of the Notes are outstanding, and so long as any portion of the Warrants has not
been exercised and has not expired by its terms, the Seller shall furnish to the Purchasers, or any other persons who hold any of the Notes or
Warrants (provided that such subsequent holders give notice to the Seller that they hold Notes or Warrants and furnish their addresses)
promptly upon their becoming available one copy of (A) each report, notice or proxy statement sent by the Seller to its stockholders generally,
and of each regular or periodic report (pursuant to the Exchange Act) and (B) any registration statement, prospectus or written communication
pursuant to the Securities Act relating to the issuance or registration of Conversion Shares and filed by the Seller with the Commission or any
securities market or exchange on which shares of Common Stock are listed; provided, however, that the Seller shall have no obligation to
deliver reports or schedules under this Section 5.2 to the extent such reports are publicly available via EDGAR.
The Purchasers are hereby authorized to deliver a copy of any financial statement or any other information relating to the business,
operations or financial condition of the Seller which may have been furnished to the Purchasers hereunder, to any regulatory body or agency
having jurisdiction over the Purchasers or to any Person which shall, or shall have right or obligation to succeed to all or any part of the
Purchasers’ interest in the Seller or this Agreement.
5.3
Investigation. The representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement shall not be affected
or diminished in any way by any investigation (or failure to investigate) at any time by or on behalf of the party for whose benefit such
representations, warranties, covenants and agreements were made. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the inability or failure of
the Purchasers to discover any breach, default or misrepresentation by the Seller under this Agreement or the Related Documents (including
under any certificate furnished pursuant to this Agreement), notwithstanding the exercise by the Purchasers or other holders of the Notes of
their rights hereunder to conduct an investigation shall not in any way diminish any liability hereunder.
5.4
Further Assurances. The Seller shall, at its cost and expense, upon written request of the Purchasers, duly execute and
deliver, or cause to be duly executed and delivered, to the Purchasers such further instruments and do and cause to be done such further acts as
may be necessary, advisable or proper, at the reasonable request of the Purchasers, to carry out more effectually the provisions and purposes
of this Agreement. The parties shall use their best efforts to timely satisfy each of the conditions described in Article VI of this Agreement.
17

5.5
Use of Proceeds. The Seller covenants and agrees that the proceeds of the aggregate Purchase Price shall be used by the
Seller solely for working capital, general corporate purposes and the expenses reasonably incurred by Seller in connection with the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; provided that under no circumstances shall any portion of the proceeds be applied to:
(i)

accelerated repayment of debt existing on the date hereof;

(ii)

the payment of dividends or other distributions on any capital stock of the Seller;

(iii)

increased executive compensation or loans to officers, employees, stockholders or directors, unless approved by a
disinterested majority of the Board of Directors; or

(iv)

any expenditure not directly related to the business of the Seller.

5.6
Corporate Existence. So long as a Purchaser owns Notes, Warrants, Conversion Shares or Warrant Shares, the Seller shall
preserve and maintain and cause its Subsidiaries to preserve and maintain their corporate existence and good standing in the jurisdiction of
their incorporation and the rights, privileges and franchises of the Seller and its Subsidiaries (except, in each case, in the event of a merger or
consolidation in which the Seller or its Subsidiaries, as applicable, is not the surviving entity) in each case where failure to so preserve or
maintain could have a Material Adverse Effect on the Seller.
5.7
Licenses. The Seller shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, maintain at all times all material licenses or permits necessary
to the conduct of its business and as required by any governmental agency or instrumentality thereof.
5.8
Taxes and Claims. The Seller and its Subsidiaries shall duly pay and discharge (a) all material taxes, assessments and
governmental charges upon or against the Seller or its properties or assets prior to the date on which penalties attach thereto, unless and to the
extent that such taxes are being diligently contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings, and appropriate reserves therefor have been
established, and (b) all material lawful claims, whether for labor, materials, supplies, services or anything else which might or could, if unpaid,
become a lien or charge upon the properties or assets of the Seller or its Subsidiaries unless and to the extent only that the same are being
diligently contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and appropriate reserves therefor have been established.
5.9
Perform Covenants. The Seller shall (a) make full and timely payment of any and all payments on the Notes, and all other
obligations of the Seller to the Purchasers in connection therewith, whether now existing or hereafter arising, and (b) duly comply with all the
terms and covenants contained herein and in each of the instruments and documents given to the Purchasers in connection with or pursuant to
this Agreement, all at the times and places and in the manner set forth herein or therein.
5.10
(a)

Additional Covenants.
Except for transactions approved by a majority of the disinterested directors of the
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Board of Directors, neither the Seller nor any of its Subsidiaries shall enter into any transaction with any director, officer, employee or holder
of more than 5% of the outstanding capital stock of any class or series of capital stock of the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, member of the
family of any such person, or any corporation, partnership, trust or other entity in which any such person, or member of the family of any
such person, is a director, officer, trustee, partner or holder of more than 5% of the outstanding capital stock thereof, with the exception of
transactions which are consummated upon terms that are no less favorable than would be available if such transaction had been effected at
arms-length, in the reasonable judgment of the Board of Directors.
(b)
The Seller shall timely prepare and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission the form of notice of the sale of
securities pursuant to the requirements of Regulation D regarding the sale of the Notes and Warrants under this Agreement.
(c)
The Seller shall timely prepare and file such applications, consents to service of process (but not including a general consent
to service of process) and similar documents and take such other steps and perform such further acts as shall be required by the U.S. state
securities law requirements of each jurisdiction where a Purchaser resides as indicated on such Purchaser’s signature page hereto with respect
to the sale of the Notes and Warrants under this Agreement.
(d)
Neither the Seller nor any of its Affiliates, nor any Person acting on its or their behalf, shall directly or indirectly make any
offers or sales of any securities or solicit any offers to buy any securities under circumstances that would cause the loss of the 4(2) exemption
under the Securities Act for the transactions contemplated hereby. Subject to any consent or approval rights of the Purchasers hereunder, in
the event the Seller contemplates an offering of its equity or debt securities within six months following the Closing Date, the Seller agrees that
it shall notify the Purchasers of such offering (without providing any material non-public information to any Purchaser without its prior
approval) and obtain the prior written consent of Purchasers.
5.11
Securities Laws Disclosure; Publicity. The Seller shall (i) on or promptly after the Closing Date, issue a press release
acceptable to The Tail Wind Fund Ltd. disclosing the transactions contemplated hereby, and (ii) promptly after the Closing Date, file with the
Commission a Report on Form 8-K disclosing the transactions contemplated hereby. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, neither the
Seller nor the Purchasers shall make any press release or other publicity about the terms of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated
hereby without the prior approval of the other unless otherwise required by law or the rules of the Commission.
5.12
Like Treatment of Purchasers and Holders. Neither the Seller nor any of its affiliates shall, directly or indirectly, pay or
cause to be paid any consideration (immediate or contingent), whether by way of interest, fee, payment for redemption, conversion or exercise
of the Securities, or otherwise, to any Purchaser or holder of Securities, for or as an inducement to, or in connection with the solicitation of,
any consent, waiver or amendment to any terms or provisions of this Agreement or the Related Documents, unless such consideration is
required to be paid to all Purchasers or holders of Securities bound by such consent, waiver or amendment. The Seller shall not, directly or
indirectly, redeem any Securities unless such offer of redemption is made pro rata to all Purchasers or holders of Securities, as the case may
be, on identical terms.
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5.13
Independent Nature of Purchasers’ Obligations and Rights. The obligations of each Purchaser under this Agreement or
any Related Documents are several and not joint with the obligations of any other Purchaser, and no Purchaser shall be responsible in any way
for the performance of the obligations of any other Purchaser under any such agreement. Nothing contained herein or in any Related
Documents, and no action taken by any Purchaser pursuant thereto, shall be deemed to constitute the Purchasers as a partnership, an
association, a joint venture or any other kind of entity, or create a presumption that the Purchasers are in any way acting in concert or as a
group with respect to such obligations or the transactions contemplated by such agreement. Each Purchaser shall be entitled to independently
protect and enforce its rights, including without limitation, the rights arising out of this Agreement or out of the other Related Documents, and
it shall not be necessary for any other Purchaser to be joined as an additional party in any proceeding for such purpose.
5.14
Other Transactions. So long as any Notes remain outstanding, the Seller shall not issue or sell or agree to issue or sell
any securities in a financing or capital raising transaction which is an at-the-money public offering, involves Convertible Securities, a Variable
Rate Transaction, an MFN Transaction (as such terms are defined in the Notes) or otherwise provides the purchasers of such securities with
more favorable terms (including without limitation with respect to the effective purchase price per share, conversion, exercise or exchange
price (whether before or after adjustment), term, coupon, warrant coverage or otherwise) than those contained in this Agreement and the
Related Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
ARTICLE VI - CONDITIONS TO CLOSINGS
6.1
Conditions to Obligations of Purchasers to Effect each Closing. The obligations of a Purchaser to consummate the Closing
and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction at or prior to Closing, of each of the following
conditions, any of which may be waived, in writing, by a Purchaser:
(a)
Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Seller set forth in this Agreement shall be true
and correct in all material respects (except for those qualified as to materiality or a Material Adverse Effect, which shall be true and correct in
all respects) as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent that such representation or warranty speaks of an
earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct in all material respects (or if qualified as to materiality or a
Material Adverse Effect, true and correct in all respects) as of such date) as though made on and as of the Closing Date. On or prior to the
Closing Date the Seller shall deliver to each of the Purchasers a certificate of the Chief Executive Office and Chief Financial Officer of the
Seller to the effect that all of the representations and warranties of the Seller set forth in this Agreement are true and correct as of the Closing
Date (including, to the extent necessary, updated disclosure schedules which shall be reasonably acceptable to each Purchaser) and that the
Seller has performed all of its obligations under this Agreement required to be performed prior to the Closing Date.
(b)
Performance of Obligations of Seller. The Seller shall have performed in all material respects all agreements and covenants
required to be performed by it under this Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date.
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(c)
No Suspension of Trading. From the date hereof to the Closing Date, trading in the Common Stock shall not have been
suspended by the Commission (except for any suspension of trading of limited duration agreed to by the Seller, which suspension shall be
terminated prior to Closing), and, at any time prior to the Closing Date, trading in securities generally as reported by Bloomberg Financial
Markets shall not have been suspended or limited, or minimum prices shall not have been established on securities whose trades are reported
by such service, or on any trading market, nor shall a banking moratorium have been declared either by the United States or New York State
authorities, nor shall there have occurred any material outbreak or escalation of hostilities or other national or international calamity of such
magnitude in its effect on, or any material adverse change in, any financial market which, in each case, in the reasonable judgment of each
Purchaser, makes it impracticable or inadvisable to purchase the Notes and Warrants at the Closing.
(d)
Closing Date:

Deliverables. The Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered to each of the Purchasers the following on or prior to the

1.
(i)
One or more Notes, in the aggregate principal amount as is to be purchased at the Closing by such
Purchaser, registered in the name of such Purchaser; and
(ii)
One or more certificates evidencing the Warrants, registered in the name of such Purchaser, pursuant to
which such Purchaser shall be entitled to purchase that number of shares of Common Stock as determined herein.
2.
The Investor Rights Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the “Investor Rights Agreement”), duly
executed by the Seller.
3.

A legal opinion of counsel to the Seller (“Seller’s Counsel”), in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D.

4.
A certificate of the Secretary of the Seller (the “Secretary’s Certificate”), in form and substance satisfactory to the
Purchasers, certifying as follows as of the date of such Closing:
(i)
that attached to the Secretary’s Certificate is true and complete copy of the Articles of Incorporation of the
Seller, as amended, including any certificate of designation;
(ii)
Certificate;

that a true copy of the Bylaws of the Seller, as amended to the Closing Date, is attached to the Secretary’s

(iii)
that attached thereto are true and complete copies of the resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Seller
authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Documents, instruments and
certificates required to be executed by it in connection herewith and approving the consummation of the transactions in the
manner contemplated hereby including, but not limited to, the authorization and issuance of the Notes and Warrants;
(iv)

the names and true signatures of the officers of the Seller signing
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this Agreement and all other documents to be delivered in connection with this Agreement;
(v)

such other matters as required by this Agreement; and

(vi)

such other matters as the Purchasers may reasonably request.

5.
Seller shall have applied to each U.S. securities exchange, interdealer quotation system and other trading market
where its Common Stock is currently listed or qualified for trading or quotation for the listing or qualification of the Conversion
Shares and the Warrant Shares for trading or quotation thereon in the time and manner required thereby.
6.

(e)

Such other documents as the Purchasers shall reasonably request.

There shall have been no Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Seller.

6.2
Conditions to Obligations of the Seller to Effect each Closing. The obligations of the Seller to effect the Closing and the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Closing of each of the following conditions,
any of which may be waived, in writing, by the Seller:
(a)
Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of each Purchaser set forth in this Agreement shall be
true and correct in all material respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent that such representation
or warranty speaks of an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such
date) as though made on and as of the Closing Date.
(b)
Performance of Obligations of the Purchasers. Each of the Purchasers shall have performed in all material respects all
agreements and covenants required to be performed by it under this Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date.
(c)
Deliverables. Each of the Purchasers shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Seller (i) upon receipt of the Seller’s items
described in Section 6.1(d) above, payment of the portion of the Purchase Price set forth on such Purchaser’s signature page hereto; (ii) an
executed copy of the Investor Rights Agreement; and (iii) such other documents as the Seller shall reasonably request.

ARTICLE VII – INDEMNIFICATION AND LIQUIDATED DAMAGES
7.1
Survival of Representations. The representations and warranties of the Seller and the Purchasers contained in or made
pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement. The Seller’s and the Purchasers’ warranties and
representations shall in no way be affected by any investigation of the subject matter thereof made by or on behalf of the Seller or the
Purchasers.
7.2
Indemnification. The Seller agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Purchasers, their Affiliates, each of their officers,
directors, employees and agents and their
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respective successors and assigns, from and against any losses, damages, or expenses which are caused by or arise out of (i) any breach or
default in the performance by the Seller of any covenant or agreement made by the Seller in this Agreement or in any of the Related
Documents; (ii) any breach of warranty or representation made by the Seller in this Agreement or in any of the Related Documents; (iii) any
and all third party actions, suits, proceedings, claims, demands, judgments, costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees and expenses)
incident to any of the foregoing; and (iv) any enforcement of this indemnification.
7.3
Indemnity Procedure. The Seller is referred to herein as the “Indemnifying Party” and the other party or parties claiming
indemnity is referred to as the “Indemnified Party”. An Indemnified Party under this Agreement shall, with respect to claims asserted against
such party by any third party, give written notice to the Indemnifying Party of any liability which might give rise to a claim for indemnity
under this Agreement within sixty (60) business days of the receipt of any written claim from any such third party, but not later than twenty
(20) days prior to the date any answer or responsive pleading is due, and with respect to other matters for which the Indemnified Party may
seek indemnification, give prompt written notice to the Indemnifying Party of any liability which might give rise to a claim for indemnity;
provided, however, that any failure to give such notice will not waive any rights of the Indemnified Party except to the extent the rights of the
Indemnifying Party are materially prejudiced.
The Indemnifying Party shall have the right, at its election, to take over the defense or settlement of such claim by giving written
notice to the Indemnified Party at least fifteen (15) days prior to the time when an answer or other responsive pleading or notice with respect
thereto is required. If the Indemnifying Party makes such election, it may conduct the defense of such claim through counsel of its choosing
(subject to the Indemnified Party’s approval of such counsel, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld), shall be solely responsible
for the expenses of such defense and shall be bound by the results of its defense or settlement of the claim. The Indemnifying Party shall not
settle any such claim without prior notice to and consultation with the Indemnified Party, and no such settlement involving any equitable relief
or which might have an adverse effect on the Indemnified Party may be agreed to without the written consent of the Indemnified Party (which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld). So long as the Indemnifying Party is diligently contesting any such claim in good faith, the
Indemnified Party may pay or settle such claim only at its own expense and the Indemnifying Party will not be responsible for the fees of
separate legal counsel to the Indemnified Party, unless the named parties to any proceeding include both parties or representation of both
parties by the same counsel would be inappropriate due to conflicts of interest or otherwise. If the Indemnifying Party does not make such
election, or having made such election does not, in the reasonable opinion of the Indemnified Party proceed diligently to defend such claim,
then the Indemnified Party may (after written notice to the Indemnifying Party), at the expense of the Indemnifying Party, elect to take over the
defense of and proceed to handle such claim in its discretion and the Indemnifying Party shall be bound by any defense or settlement that the
Indemnified Party may make in good faith with respect to such claim. In connection therewith, the Indemnifying Party will fully cooperate
with the Indemnified Party should the Indemnified Party elect to take over the defense of any such claim. The parties agree to cooperate in
defending such third party claims and the Indemnified Party shall provide such cooperation and such access to its books, records and
properties as the Indemnifying Party shall reasonably request with respect to any matter for which indemnification is sought hereunder; and
the parties hereto agree to cooperate with each other in order to ensure the proper and adequate defense thereof.
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With regard to claims of third parties for which indemnification is payable hereunder, such indemnification shall be paid by the
Indemnifying Party upon the earlier to occur of: (i) the entry of a judgment against the Indemnified Party and the expiration of any applicable
appeal period, or if earlier, five (5) days prior to the date that the judgment creditor has the right to execute the judgment; (ii) the entry of an
unappealable judgment or final appellate decision against the Indemnified Party; or (iii) a settlement of the claim. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the reasonable expenses of counsel to the Indemnified Party shall be reimbursed on a current basis by the Indemnifying Party. With
regard to other claims for which indemnification is payable hereunder, such indemnification shall be paid promptly by the Indemnifying Party
upon demand by the Indemnified Party.
7.4
Liquidated Damages. The Seller and the Purchasers agree that the Purchasers will suffer damages if a Breach Event (as
defined below) occurs or is ongoing. The Seller and the Purchasers further agree that it may not be feasible to ascertain the extent of such
damages with precision. If a Breach Event (as defined below) occurs, then the Purchasers may elect, as liquidated damages, and in addition to
any other remedies legally available to such Purchasers, to require that the Seller shall pay to the Purchasers liquidated damages at a rate of
12% per annum of the aggregate Purchase Price of such Purchasers payable monthly in cash at the end of each month (or part thereof) in
which the Breach Event is outstanding.
“Breach Event” means either:
(i)
Any breach of any warranty or representation of the Seller as of the date made in this Agreement, any
Related Agreement or any other agreement delivered herewith, which breach, or the facts and circumstances concerning such breach,
has or is reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect; or
(ii)
Any breach by the Seller of any material covenant or obligation under this Agreement, any Related
Agreement or any other agreement delivered herewith, and which breach, if capable of being cured, has not been cured within ten (10)
days after notice of such breach has been given by the holders of a majority of principal amount of Notes to the Seller.
The Seller and the Purchasers have expressly negotiated this Section 7.4, and have agreed that in light of the circumstances existing at
the time of execution of this Agreement, the liquidated damages expressed herein represent a reasonable estimate of the harm likely to be
suffered by the Purchasers upon the occurrence of a Breach Event.
ARTICLE VIII - MISCELLANEOUS
8.1
Further Assurances. Each party agrees to cooperate fully with the other parties and to execute such further instruments,
documents and agreements and to give such further written assurances as may be reasonably requested by any other party to better evidence
and reflect the transactions described herein and contemplated hereby and to carry into effect the intents and purposes of this Agreement, and
further agrees to take promptly, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do promptly, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or
advisable
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under applicable law to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated hereby, to obtain all necessary waivers, consents and
approvals, to effect all necessary registrations and filings, and to remove any injunctions or other impediments or delays, legal or otherwise, in
order to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement for the purpose of securing to the parties hereto the
benefits contemplated by this Agreement.
8.2
Fees and Expenses. The parties hereto shall pay their own costs and expenses in connection herewith. The Seller shall pay
all fees and expenses of any placement agents, finders and escrow agents in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
pursuant to a separate agreement between such parties.
8.3
Notices. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries required or permitted to be provided hereunder shall be
in writing and shall be deemed given and effective on the earliest of (a) the date of transmission, if such notice or communication is delivered
via facsimile at the facsimile number specified in this Section prior to 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on a business day, (b) the next business
day after the date of transmission, if such notice or communication is delivered via facsimile at the facsimile number specified in this Section
on a day that is not a business day or later than 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on any business day, (c) the business day following the date
of mailing, if sent by U.S. nationally recognized overnight courier service such as Federal Express, or (d) actual receipt by the party to whom
such notice is required to be given. The address for such notices and communications shall be as follows:
If to the Purchasers at each Purchaser’s address set forth on such Purchaser’s signature page hereto, or with respect to the Seller,
addressed to:
NetSol Technologies, Inc.
23901 Calabasas Road,
Suite 2072
Calabasas, CA 91302
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile No.: (818) 222-9197
or to such other address or addresses or facsimile number or numbers as any such party may most recently have designated in writing to the
other parties hereto by such notice. Copies of notices to any Purchaser shall be sent to the addresses, if any, listed on such Purchaser’s
signature page hereto, with a copy to:
Peter J. Weisman, P.C.

2 Rector Street, 3rd Floor
New York, NY 10006

Unless otherwise stated above, such communications shall be effective when they are received by the addressee thereof in conformity
with this Section. Any party may change its address for such communications by giving notice thereof to the other parties in conformity with
this Section.
8.4

Governing Law. All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement
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and interpretation of this Agreement shall be governed by and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York without
reference to the conflicts of laws principles thereof.
8.5
Jurisdiction and Venue. This Agreement shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Federal District Court,
Southern District of New York and if such court does not have proper jurisdiction, the State Courts of New York County, New York. The
parties to this Agreement agree that any breach of any term or condition of this Agreement shall be deemed to be a breach occurring in the
State of New York by virtue of a failure to perform an act required to be performed in the State of New York and irrevocably and expressly
agree to submit to the jurisdiction of the Federal District Court, Southern District of New York and if such court does not have proper
jurisdiction, the State Courts of New York County, New York for the purpose of resolving any disputes among the parties relating to this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. The parties irrevocably waive, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which
they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or any
judgment entered by any court in respect hereof brought in New York County, New York, and further irrevocably waive any claim that any
suit, action or proceeding brought in Federal District Court, Southern District of New York and if such court does not have proper
jurisdiction, the State Courts of New York County, New York has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Each of the parties hereto
consents to process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding, by mailing a copy thereof to such party at the address in effect for
notices to it under this Agreement and agrees that such service shall constitute good and sufficient service of process and notice
thereof. Nothing in this Section 8.5 shall affect or limit any right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.
8.6
Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is personal to each of the parties and may not be assigned without the written
consent of the other parties; provided, however, that any of the Purchasers shall be permitted to assign this Agreement to any Person to whom
it assigns or transfers securities issued or issuable pursuant to this Agreement. Any assignee must be an “accredited investor” as defined in
Rule 501(a) promulgated under the Securities Act.
8.7
Severability. If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof, shall for any reason or to any extent be invalid
or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement and application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall continue in full
force and effect and in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated.
8.8
Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the other agreements and instruments referenced herein constitute the entire
understanding and agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings.
8.9
Other Remedies. Except as otherwise provided herein, any and all remedies herein expressly conferred upon a party shall
be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy conferred hereby or by law, or in equity on such party, and the exercise of
any one remedy shall not preclude the exercise of any other.
8.10
Amendment and Waivers. Subject to Section 5.12, any term or provision of this Agreement may be amended, and the
observance of any term of this Agreement may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively)
only by a
26

writing signed by the Seller and at least 75% in interest of the Purchasers, and such waiver or amendment, as the case may be, shall be binding
upon all Purchasers. The waiver by a party of any breach hereof or default in the performance hereof shall not be deemed to constitute a
waiver of any other default or any succeeding breach or default. This Agreement may not be amended or supplemented by any party hereto
except pursuant to a written amendment executed by the Seller and at least 75% in interest of the Purchasers. No amendment shall be effected
to impact a Purchaser in a disproportionately adverse fashion without the consent of such individual Purchaser.
8.11.
Termination. This Agreement may be terminated by any Purchaser, as to such Purchaser’s obligations hereunder only
and without any effect whatsoever on the obligations between the Seller and the other Purchasers, by written notice to the Seller, if the Closing
has not been consummated on or before the 10th day following the date hereof; provided, however, that no such termination will affect the
right of any party to sue for any breach by the other party (or parties).
8.12
No Waiver. The failure of any party to enforce any of the provisions hereof shall not be construed to be a waiver of the
right of such party thereafter to enforce such provisions.
8.13
Construction of Agreement; Knowledge. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “knowledge,” when used in reference
to a corporation means the knowledge of the directors and executive officers of such corporation (including, if applicable, any person
designated as a chief scientific, medical or technical officer) assuming such persons shall have made inquiry that is customary and appropriate
under the circumstances to which reference is made, and when used in reference to an individual means the knowledge of such individual
assuming the individual shall have made inquiry that is customary and appropriate under the circumstances to which reference is made.
8.14
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original as
against any party whose signature appears thereon and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement
shall become binding when one or more counterparts hereof, individually or taken together, shall bear the signatures of all of the parties
reflected hereon as signatories. In the event that any signature is delivered by facsimile transmission, such signature shall create a valid and
binding obligation of the party executing (or on whose behalf such signature is executed) with the same force and effect as if such facsimile
signature page were an original thereof.
8.15
No Third Party Beneficiary. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended, or shall be construed, to confer
upon or give any person other than the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, legal representatives, successors and
permitted assigns, any rights or remedies under or by reason of this Agreement.
8.16
Waiver of Trial by Jury. THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY SUIT,
ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
SELLER:
NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ Najeeb Ghauri
______________________________
Name: Najeeb Ghauri
Title: Chief Executive Officer

PURCHASER:
THE TAIL WIND FUND LTD.
By:
CIM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LTD.,
as investment manager

Name:
Title:

By: /s/ Dan Nye

Address:
1 Regent Street, 1st Floor
London SW1Y 4NS
Attn: Dan Nye
Telephone: 011-44-207-468-7630
Facsimile: 011-44-207-468-7657
Email: d.nye@ciminvest.com
Residence/Jurisdiction of Organization: B.V.I.

Principal Amount of Investment/Purchase Price: $3,600,000.00
Number of Warrant Shares: 1,267,606

PURCHASER:
SOLOMON STRATEGIC HOLDINGS, INC.

By: /s/ Andrew P. Mackellar
Andrew P. Mackellar, Director
Address:
c/o Andrew P. MacKellar
Greenlands
The Red Gap
Castletown, IM9 1HB, British Isles
Telephone: +011 (44) 1624 824171
Facsimile: +011 (44) 1624 824191
Email: mackellar_twi@manx.net
Residence/Jurisdiction of Organization: B.V.I.

Principal Amount of Investment/Purchase Price: $400,000.00
Number of Warrant Shares: 140,845

Schedule 3.1
Seller’s Subsidiaries
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

NTPK (THAILAND) Company Limited.; Bangkok, Thailand
NetSol Technologies Ltd. located in Lahore, Pakistan (60.52% interest).
NetSol Connect (Pvt) Limited located in Karachi, Pakistan.
NetSol Abraxas, Inc., located in Adelaide, Australia.
NetSol Technologies Ltd. located in London, England.
NetSol Technologies Europe, Ltd., Located in Horsham, England
NetSol-Innovation (Pvt) Limited, Located in Lahore, Pakistan.(50.1% interest)
NetSol Technologies North America, Inc., Located in Alameda, California
NetSol Technologies Beijing, a wholly owned subsidiary being formed in Beijing, PRC.

Seller’s Investments
1.
2.

Atheeb NetSol Saudi Company Limited, located in in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
A to be formed joint venture company with Brasil Invest Group to be named NetSol Brasil Invest to be formed in Brazil.
3.9

The Convertible Notes issued by the Company on or about August 11, 2009 were due on or about August 11, 2011, and, accordingly are past
due.
3.10
None
Schedule 3.11 (b), (d) and (e)
(b) None
(d) Seller has received subscriptions to purchase shares of common stock from accredited, non-U.S. individuals for a total purchase of
714,286 shares of common stock for total consideration of $500,000. Such shares will be issued no later than September 20, 2011.
(e)

*
·

A secure line of credit collateralized by Certificates of Deposit with Habib American Bank.
The Company’s subsidiary, NetSol PK, entered into a term finance facility from Askari Bank to finance the construction of a
new building. The total amount of the facility is Rs. 200,000,000 or approximately $2,319,378 (secured by the first of Rs. 580
million over the land, building and equipment of the company). The interest rate is 3% above the six-month Karachi Inter Bank
Offering Rate. As on June 30, 2010,

the subsidiary had used Rs. 100,000,000 or approximately $1,159,689 of which $724,806 was shown as long term liabilities and
the remainder of $434,883 as current maturity. As of the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company has used Rs. 75,000,000 or
approximately $869,767 of which $434,884 is shown as long term liabilities and the remainder of $434,883 as current maturity.
Schedule 3.15
None
Schedule 3.17
None
Schedule 3.18
None
Schedule 3.19
See Schedule 3.1
Schedule 3.20
None
Schedule 3.21
None
Schedule 3.22
None

INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT
This Investor Rights Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of September 13, 2011 among NetSol Technologies,
Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Company”), and each of the purchasers executing this Agreement (collectively, the “Purchasers”).
This Agreement is being entered into pursuant to the Convertible Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of the date hereof,
by and among the Company and the Purchasers (the “Purchase Agreement”).
The Company and the Purchasers hereby agree as follows:
1.

Definitions.

Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given such terms in the Purchase Agreement. As
used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
“Advice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3(m).
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly controls or is controlled by or under
common control with such Person. For the purposes of this definition, “control,” when used with respect to any Person, means the
possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the
ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; and the terms of “affiliated,” “controlling” and “controlled” have meanings correlative
to the foregoing.
“Blackout Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3(n).
“Board” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3(n).
“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday and any day which shall be a legal holiday or a day on which banking
institutions in the State of New York generally are authorized or required by law or other government actions to close.
“Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.
“Common Stock” means the Company's Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share.
“Effectiveness Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.
“Event” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8(e).
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“Holder” or “Holders” means the holder or holders, as the case may be, from time to
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time of Registrable Securities, including without limitation the Purchasers and their assignees.
“Indemnified Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(c).
“Indemnifying Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(c).
“Losses” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(a).
“Person” means an individual or a corporation, partnership, trust, incorporated or unincorporated association, joint venture, limited
liability company, joint stock company, government (or an agency or political subdivision thereof) or other entity of any kind.
“Proceeding” means an action, claim, suit, investigation or proceeding (including, without limitation, an investigation or partial
proceeding, such as a deposition), whether commenced or threatened.
“Prospectus” means the prospectus included in any Registration Statement (including, without limitation, a prospectus that includes
any information previously omitted from a prospectus filed as part of an effective registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A
promulgated under the Securities Act), as amended or supplemented by any prospectus supplement, with respect to the terms of the offering of
any portion of the Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement, and all other amendments and supplements to the
Prospectus, including post-effective amendments, and all material incorporated by reference in such Prospectus.
“Registrable Securities” means (a) the Conversion Shares and the Warrant Shares (without regard to any limitations on beneficial
ownership or issuance contained in the Notes or Warrants) or other securities issued or issuable to each Purchaser or its transferee or
designee (i) upon conversion or exchange of the Notes and/or as interest on the Notes (including without limitation any and all shares of
Common Stock issued upon purchase of any Notes by the Company), or upon exercise of the Warrants, or (ii) upon any distribution with
respect to, any exchange for or any replacement of such Notes or Warrants, or (iii) upon any conversion, exercise or exchange of any
securities issued in connection with any such distribution, exchange or replacement; (b) securities issued or issuable upon any stock split,
stock dividend, recapitalization or similar event with respect to the foregoing; and (c) any other security issued as a dividend or other
distribution with respect to, in exchange for, in replacement or redemption of, or in reduction of the liquidation value of, any of the securities
referred to in the preceding clauses; provided, however, that such securities shall cease to be Registrable Securities when such securities have
been sold to or through a broker or dealer or underwriter in a public distribution or a public securities transaction or when such securities may
be sold without any restriction pursuant to Rule 144(d)(1)(ii) as determined by the counsel to the Company pursuant to a written opinion letter,
addressed to the Company's transfer agent to such effect as described in Section 2 of this Agreement.
“Registration Statement” means the registration statements and any additional registration statements contemplated by Section 2,
including (in each case) the Prospectus,
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amendments and supplements to such registration statement or Prospectus, including pre- and post-effective amendments, all exhibits thereto,
and all material incorporated by reference in such registration statement.
“Rule 144” means Rule 144 promulgated by the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act, as such Rule may be amended from time
to time, or any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the Commission having substantially the same effect as such Rule.
“Rule 158” means Rule 158 promulgated by the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act, as such Rule may be amended from time
to time, or any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the Commission having substantially the same effect as such Rule.
“Rule 415” means Rule 415 promulgated by the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act, as such Rule may be amended from time
to time, or any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the Commission having substantially the same effect as such Rule.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
“Special Counsel” means Peter J. Weisman, P.C.
2.
Piggy-Back Registrations. If at any time when there is not an effective Registration Statement covering all of the Registrable
Securities, the Company shall determine to prepare and file with the Commission a registration statement relating to an offering for its own
account or the account of others under the Securities Act of any of its equity securities, other than on Form S-4 or Form S-8 (each as
promulgated under the Securities Act) or its then equivalents relating to equity securities to be issued solely in connection with any acquisition
of any entity or business or equity securities issuable in connection with stock option or other employee benefit plans, then the Company shall
send to each Holder of Registrable Securities written notice of such determination and, if within seven (7) Business Days after receipt of such
notice, any such Holder shall so request in writing (which request shall specify the Registrable Securities intended to be disposed of by the
Holder), the Company will cause the registration under the Securities Act of all Registrable Securities which the Company has been so
requested to register by the Holder, to the extent required to permit the disposition of the Registrable Securities so to be registered, provided
that if at any time after giving written notice of its intention to register any securities and prior to the effective date of the registration statement
filed in connection with such registration, the Company shall determine for any reason not to register or to delay registration of such securities,
the Company may, at its election, give written notice of such determination to such Holder and, thereupon, (i) in the case of a determination not
to register, shall be relieved of its obligation to register any Registrable Securities in connection with such registration (but not from its
obligation to pay expenses in accordance with Section 4 hereof), and (ii) in the case of a determination to delay registering, shall be permitted
to delay registering any Registrable Securities being registered pursuant to this Section 8(d) for the same period as the delay in registering such
other securities. The
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Company shall include in such registration statement all or any part of such Registrable Securities such Holder requests to be registered;
provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to register any Registrable Securities pursuant to this Section 8(d) that are eligible
for sale pursuant to Rule 144(d)(1)(ii) of the Securities Act. In the case of an underwritten public offering, if the managing underwriter(s) or
underwriter(s) should reasonably object to the inclusion of the Registrable Securities in such registration statement, then if the Company after
consultation with the managing underwriter should reasonably determine that the inclusion of such Registrable Securities would materially
adversely affect the offering contemplated in such registration statement, and based on such determination recommends inclusion in such
registration statement of fewer or none of the Registrable Securities of the Holders, then (x) the number of Registrable Securities of the
Holders included in such registration statement shall be reduced pro-rata among such Holders (based upon the number of Registrable
Securities requested to be included in the registration), if the Company after consultation with the underwriter(s) recommends the inclusion of
fewer Registrable Securities, or (y) none of the Registrable Securities of the Holders shall be included in such registration statement, if the
Company after consultation with the underwriter(s) recommends the inclusion of none of such Registrable Securities; provided, however, that
if securities are being offered for the account of other persons or entities as well as the Company, such reduction shall not represent a greater
fraction of the number of Registrable Securities intended to be offered by the Holders than the fraction of similar reductions imposed on such
other persons or entities (other than the Company). The Company shall keep such Registration Statement continuously effective under the
Securities Act until such date as is the earlier of (x) the date when all Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement have been
sold or (y) the date on which all Registrable Securities may be sold without any restriction pursuant to Rule 144(d)(1)(ii) as determined by the
counsel to the Company pursuant to a written opinion letter, addressed to the Company's transfer agent to such effect (the “Effectiveness
Period”).
3.

Registration Procedures.

In connection with the Company's registration obligations hereunder, the Company shall:
(a)
Include in any Registration Statement a Plan of Distribution substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto with
respect to the Holders selling Registrable Securities. Not less than three (3) Business Days prior to the filing of the Registration Statement or
any related Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto, the Company shall (i) furnish to the Special Counsel, copies of all such
documents proposed to be filed, which documents (other than those incorporated by reference) will be subject to the review of such Special
Counsel, and (ii) at the request of any Holder cause its officers and directors, counsel and independent certified public accountants to respond
to such inquiries as shall be necessary, in the reasonable opinion of counsel to such Holders, to conduct a reasonable investigation within the
meaning of the Securities Act. The Company shall not file the Registration Statement or any such Prospectus or any amendments or
supplements thereto to which the Holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities or the Special Counsel shall reasonably object in writing
within three (3) Business Days after their receipt thereof, unless
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counsel to the Company determines in writing that such objection is without merit.
(b)
(i) Prepare and file with the Commission such amendments, including post-effective amendments, to the Registration
Statement as may be necessary to keep the Registration Statement continuously effective as to the applicable Registrable Securities for the
Effectiveness Period and to the extent any Registrable Securities are not included in such Registration Statement for reasons other than the
failure of the Holder to comply with Section 3(m) hereof, shall prepare and file with the Commission such additional Registration Statements
in order to register for resale under the Securities Act all Registrable Securities; (ii) cause the related Prospectus to be amended or
supplemented by any required Prospectus supplement, and as so supplemented or amended to be filed pursuant to Rule 424 (or any similar
provisions then in force) promulgated under the Securities Act; (iii) respond as promptly as possible, and in no event later than 10 Business
Days, to any comments received from the Commission with respect to the Registration Statement or any amendment thereto and as promptly
as possible provide the Holders true and complete copies of all correspondence from and to the Commission relating to the Registration
Statement; and (iv) comply in all material respects with the provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act with respect to the
disposition of all Registrable Securities covered by the Registration Statement during the applicable period in accordance with the intended
methods of disposition by the Holders thereof set forth in the Registration Statement as so amended or in such Prospectus as so supplemented.
(c)
Notify the Holders of Registrable Securities to be sold and the Special Counsel as promptly as possible (A) when a
Prospectus or any Prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement is proposed to be filed (but in no event in
the case of this subparagraph (A), less than three (3) Business Days prior to date of such filing); (B) when the Commission notifies the
Company whether there will be a “review” of such Registration Statement and whenever the Commission comments in writing on such
Registration Statement; and (C) with respect to the Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment, when the same has become
effective (which notice shall be delivered to the Purchasers and Special Counsel on the same day as such effectiveness), and after the
effectiveness thereof: (i) of any request by the Commission or any other Federal or state governmental authority for amendments or
supplements to the Registration Statement or Prospectus or for additional information; (ii) of the issuance by the Commission of any stop
order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement covering any or all of the Registrable Securities or the initiation of any
Proceedings for that purpose; (iii) of the receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification or
exemption from qualification of any of the Registrable Securities for sale in any jurisdiction, or the initiation or threatening of any Proceeding
for such purpose; and (iv) if the financial statements included in the Registration Statement become ineligible for inclusion therein or of the
occurrence of any event that makes any statement made in the Registration Statement or Prospectus or any document incorporated or deemed
to be incorporated therein by reference untrue in any material respect or that requires any revisions to the Registration Statement, Prospectus or
other documents so that, in the case of the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, as the case may be, it will not contain any untrue statement
of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or
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necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Without limitation to
any remedies to which the Holders may be entitled under this Agreement, if any of the events described in clauses (i) through (iv) of Section
3(c)(C) occurs, the Company shall use its best efforts to respond to and correct the event.
(d)
Use its best efforts to avoid the issuance of, or, if issued, use best efforts to obtain the withdrawal of, (i) any order
suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or (ii) any suspension of the qualification (or exemption from qualification) of any
of the Registrable Securities for sale in any jurisdiction, at the earliest practicable moment.
(e)
If requested by any Holder of Registrable Securities, (i) promptly incorporate in a Prospectus supplement or post-effective
amendment to the Registration Statement such information as the Company reasonably agrees should be included therein and (ii) make all
required filings of such Prospectus supplement or such post-effective amendment as soon as practicable after the Company has received
notification of the matters to be incorporated in such Prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment; provided, however, that the
Company shall not be required to take any action pursuant to this Section 3(e) that would, in the written opinion of counsel for the Company
(addressed to the Special Counsel), violate applicable law.
(f)
Furnish to each Holder and the Special Counsel, without charge, at least one conformed copy of each Registration
Statement and each amendment thereto, including financial statements and schedules, and all exhibits to the extent requested by such Person
(including those previously furnished or incorporated by reference) promptly after the filing of such documents with the Commission.
(g)
Promptly deliver to each Holder and the Special Counsel, without charge, as many copies of the Prospectus or
Prospectuses (including each form of prospectus) and each amendment or supplement thereto as such Persons may reasonably request; and
the Company hereby consents to the use of such Prospectus and each amendment or supplement thereto by each of the selling Holders in
connection with the offering and sale of the Registrable Securities covered by such Prospectus and any amendment or supplement thereto.
(h)
Prior to any public offering of Registrable Securities, use its best efforts to register or qualify or cooperate with the selling
Holders and the Special Counsel in connection with the registration or qualification (or exemption from such registration or qualification) of
such Registrable Securities for offer and sale under the securities or Blue Sky laws of such jurisdictions within the United States as any
Holder requests in writing, to keep each such registration or qualification (or exemption therefrom) effective during the Effectiveness Period
and to do any and all other acts or things necessary or advisable to enable the disposition in such jurisdictions of the Registrable Securities
covered by a Registration Statement; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to qualify generally to do business in any
jurisdiction where it is not then so qualified or to take any action that would subject it to general service of process in any jurisdiction where it
is
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not then so subject or subject the Company to any material tax in any such jurisdiction where it is not then so subject.
(i)
Cooperate with the Holders to facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of certificates representing Registrable Securities
to be sold pursuant to a Registration Statement, which certificates shall be free, to the extent permitted by applicable law and the Purchase
Agreement, of all restrictive legends, and to enable such Registrable Securities to be in such denominations and registered in such names as
any Holder may request at least two (2) Business Days prior to any sale of Registrable Securities. In connection therewith, the Company shall
promptly after the effectiveness of the Registration Statement (but no later than one day thereafter) cause an opinion of counsel to be delivered
to and maintained with its transfer agent, together with any other authorizations, certificates and directions required by the transfer agent,
which authorize and direct the transfer agent to issue such Registrable Securities without legend upon sale by the Holder of such shares of
Registrable Securities under the Registration Statement.
(j)
Upon the occurrence of any event contemplated by Section 3(c)(C)(iii) or (iv), as promptly as possible, prepare a
supplement or amendment, including a post-effective amendment, to the Registration Statement or a supplement to the related Prospectus or
any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference, and file any other required document so that, as thereafter
delivered, neither the Registration Statement nor such Prospectus will contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading.
(k)
Cause all Registrable Securities relating to such Registration Statement to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange, the
American Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq Stock Market, or the OTC.BB (the “Exchange”).
(l)
Comply in all material respects with all applicable rules and regulations of the Commission and make generally available to
its security holders earnings statements satisfying the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and Rule 158 not later than 45 days
after the end of any 3-month period (or 90 days after the end of any 12-month period if such period is a fiscal year) commencing on the first
day of the first fiscal quarter of the Company after the effective date of the Registration Statement, which statement shall conform to the
requirements of Rule 158.
(m)
Request each selling Holder to furnish to the Company information regarding such Holder and the distribution of such
Registrable Securities as is required by law or the Commission to be disclosed in the Registration Statement, and the Company may exclude
from such registration the Registrable Securities of any such Holder who fails (i) to furnish such information or (ii) to agree to furnish, upon
request, such additional information regarding such Holder as may later be required by law to be disclosed, in each case, within a reasonable
time prior to the filing of each Registration Statement, supplemented Prospectus and/or amended Registration Statement.
If the Registration Statement refers to any Holder by name or otherwise as the holder
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of any securities of the Company, then such Holder shall have the right to require (if such reference to such Holder by name or otherwise is
not required by the Securities Act or any similar federal statute then in force) the deletion of the reference to such Holder in any amendment or
supplement to the Registration Statement filed or prepared subsequent to the time that such reference ceases to be required.
Each Holder agrees by its acquisition of such Registrable Securities that, upon receipt of a notice from the Company of the
occurrence of any event of the kind described in Section 3(c)(i), 3(c)(ii), 3(c)(iii), 3(c)(iv) or 3(n), such Holder will forthwith discontinue
disposition of such Registrable Securities under the Registration Statement until such Holder's receipt of the copies of the supplemented
Prospectus and/or amended Registration Statement contemplated by Section 3(j), or until it is advised in writing (the “Advice”) by the
Company that the use of the applicable Prospectus may be resumed, and, in either case, has received copies of any additional or supplemental
filings that are incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in such Prospectus or Registration Statement.
(n)
If (i) there is material non-public information regarding the Company which the Company's Board of Directors (the
“Board”) reasonably determines not to be in the Company's best interest to disclose and which the Company is not otherwise required to
disclose, or (ii) there is a significant business opportunity (including, but not limited to, the acquisition or disposition of assets (other than in
the ordinary course of business) or any merger, consolidation, tender offer or other similar transaction) available to the Company which the
Board reasonably determines not to be in the Company's best interest to disclose and which the Company would be required to disclose under
the Registration Statement, then the Company may postpone or suspend filing or effectiveness of a registration statement for a period not to
exceed 20 consecutive days, provided that the Company may not postpone or suspend its obligation under this Section 3(n) for more than 30
days in the aggregate during any 12 month period (each, a “Blackout Period”).
4.

Registration Expenses.

All fees and expenses incident to the performance of or compliance with this Agreement by the Company shall be borne by the
Company whether or not the Registration Statement is filed or becomes effective and whether or not any Registrable Securities are sold
pursuant to the Registration Statement. The fees and expenses referred to in the foregoing sentence shall include, without limitation, (i) all
registration and filing fees (including, without limitation, fees and expenses (A) with respect to filings required to be made with each other
securities exchange, quotation system or market on which Registrable Securities are required hereunder to be listed, (B) with respect to filings
required to be made with the Commission, and (C) in compliance with state securities or Blue Sky laws (including, without limitation, fees and
disbursements of Special Counsel in connection with Blue Sky qualifications of the Registrable Securities and determination of the eligibility
of the Registrable Securities for investment under the laws of such jurisdictions as the Holders of a majority of Registrable Securities may
designate)), (ii) printing expenses (including, without limitation, expenses of printing certificates for Registrable Securities and of printing or
photocopying prospectuses), (iii) messenger, telephone and delivery expenses, (iv)
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Securities Act liability insurance, if the Company so desires such insurance, (v) fees and expenses of all other Persons retained by the
Company in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, without limitation, the
Company's independent public accountants (including, in the case of an underwritten offering, the expenses of any comfort letters or costs
associated with the delivery by independent public accountants of a comfort letter or comfort letters) and legal counsel, and (vi) fees and
expenses of the Special Counsel in connection with any Registration Statement hereunder. In addition, the Company shall be responsible for
all of its internal expenses incurred in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including,
without limitation, all salaries and expenses of its officers and employees performing legal or accounting duties), the expense of any annual
audit, the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the listing of the Registrable Securities on any securities exchange as required
hereunder.
5.

Indemnification.

(a)
Indemnification by the Company. The Company shall, notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement, indemnify and
hold harmless each Holder, the officers, directors, agents, brokers (including brokers who offer and sell Registrable Securities as principal as a
result of a pledge or any failure to perform under a margin call of Common Stock), investment advisors and employees of each of them, each
Person who controls any such Holder (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act) and the
officers, directors, agents and employees of each such controlling Person, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, from and against
any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs (including, without limitation, costs of preparation and reasonable attorneys' fees) and
expenses (collectively, “Losses”), as incurred, arising out of or relating to any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained or
incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, any Prospectus or any form of prospectus or in any amendment or supplement thereto
or in any preliminary prospectus, or arising out of or relating to any omission or alleged omission of a material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of any Prospectus or form of prospectus or amendment or supplement thereto,
in the light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, except to the extent, but only to the extent, that (i) such untrue
statements or omissions are based solely upon information regarding such Holder furnished in writing to the Company by such Holder
expressly for use therein, which information was reasonably relied on by the Company for use therein or to the extent that such information
relates to (x) such Holder and was reviewed and expressly approved in writing by such Holder expressly for use in the Registration
Statement, such Prospectus or such form of prospectus or in any amendment or supplement thereto or (y) such Holder's proposed method of
distribution of Registrable Securities as set forth in Exhibit A (or as such Holder otherwise informs the Company in writing); or (ii) in the case
of an occurrence of an event of the type described in Section 3(c)(ii), 3(c)(iii), 3(c)(iv) or 3(n), the use by a Holder of an outdated or defective
Prospectus after the delivery to the Holder of written notice from the Company that the Prospectus is outdated or defective and prior to the
receipt by such Holder of the Advice contemplated in Section 3(m). The Company shall notify the Holders promptly of the institution, threat
or assertion of any Proceeding of which the
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Company is aware in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Such indemnity shall remain in full force and effect
regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of an Indemnified Party (as defined in Section 5(c) to this Agreement) and shall survive
the transfer of the Registrable Securities by the Holders.
(b)
Indemnification by Holders. Each Holder shall, severally and not jointly, indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its
directors, officers, agents and employees, each Person who controls the Company (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act and
Section 20 of the Exchange Act), and the directors, officers, agents and employees of such controlling Persons, to the fullest extent permitted
by applicable law, from and against all Losses, as incurred, arising solely out of or based solely upon any untrue statement of a material fact
contained in the Registration Statement, any Prospectus, or any form of prospectus, or in any amendment or supplement thereto, or arising
solely out of or based solely upon any omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in
the case of any Prospectus or form of prospectus or supplement thereto, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made) not
misleading, to the extent, but only to the extent, that (i) such untrue statement or omission is contained in or omitted from any information so
furnished in writing by such Holder to the Company specifically for inclusion in the Registration Statement or such Prospectus and that such
information was reasonably relied upon by the Company for use in the Registration Statement, such Prospectus, or in any amendment or
supplement thereto, or to the extent that such information relates to (x) such Holder and was reviewed and expressly approved in writing by
such Holder expressly for use in the Registration Statement, such Prospectus, or such form of prospectus or in any amendment or supplement
thereto or (y) such Holder's proposed method of distribution of Registrable Securities as set forth in Exhibit A (or as such Holder otherwise
informs the Company in writing) or (ii) in the case of an occurrence of an event of the type described in Section 3(c)(ii), 3(c)(iii), 3(c)(iv) or
3(n), the use by a Holder of an outdated or defective Prospectus after the delivery to the Holder of written notice from the Company that the
Prospectus is outdated or defective and prior to the receipt by such Holder of the Advice contemplated in Section 3(m); provided, however,
that the indemnity agreement contained in this Section 5(b) shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any Losses if such settlement is
effected without the prior written consent of the Holder, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained herein, the Holder shall be liable under this Section 5(b) for only that amount as does not exceed the net proceeds to such
Holder as a result of the sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement.
(c)
Conduct of Indemnification Proceedings. If any Proceeding shall be brought or asserted against any Person entitled to
indemnity hereunder (an “Indemnified Party”), such Indemnified Party promptly shall notify the Person from whom indemnity is sought (the
“Indemnifying Party”) in writing, and the Indemnifying Party shall assume the defense thereof, including the employment of counsel
reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party and the payment of all reasonable fees and expenses incurred in connection with defense
thereof; provided, that the failure of any Indemnified Party to give such notice shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligations or
liabilities pursuant to this Agreement, except (and only) to the extent that it shall be finally determined by a court of competent
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jurisdiction (which determination is not subject to appeal or further review) that such failure shall have proximately and materially adversely
prejudiced the Indemnifying Party.
An Indemnified Party shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such Proceeding and to participate in the defense thereof,
but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such Indemnified Party or Parties unless: (1) the Indemnifying Party has
agreed in writing to pay such fees and expenses; or (2) the Indemnifying Party shall have failed promptly to assume the defense of such
Proceeding and to employ counsel reasonably satisfactory to such Indemnified Party in any such Proceeding; or (3) the named parties to any
such Proceeding (including any impleaded parties) include both such Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party, and such Indemnified
Party shall have been advised by counsel in writing (with a copy to the Indemnifying Party) that a conflict of interest is likely to exist if the
same counsel were to represent such Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party (in which case, if such Indemnified Party notifies the
Indemnifying Party in writing that it elects to employ separate counsel at the expense of the Indemnifying Party, the Indemnifying Party shall
not have the right to assume the defense thereof and such counsel shall be at the reasonable expense of the Indemnifying Party). The
Indemnifying Party shall not be liable for any settlement of any such Proceeding effected without its written consent, which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld. No Indemnifying Party shall, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, effect any settlement of
any pending Proceeding in respect of which any Indemnified Party is a party, unless such settlement includes an unconditional release of such
Indemnified Party from all liability on claims that are the subject matter of such Proceeding and does not impose any monetary or other
obligation or restriction on the Indemnified Party.
All reasonable fees and expenses of the Indemnified Party (including reasonable fees and expenses to the extent incurred in
connection with investigating or preparing to defend such Proceeding in a manner not inconsistent with this Section) shall be paid to the
Indemnified Party, as incurred, within ten (10) Business Days of written notice thereof to the Indemnifying Party, which notice shall be
delivered no more frequently than on a monthly basis (regardless of whether it is ultimately determined that an Indemnified Party is not entitled
to indemnification hereunder; provided, that the Indemnifying Party may require such Indemnified Party to undertake to reimburse all such
fees and expenses to the extent it is finally judicially determined that such Indemnified Party is not entitled to indemnification hereunder).
(d)
Contribution. If a claim for indemnification under Section 5(a) or 5(b) is unavailable to an Indemnified Party because of a
failure or refusal of a governmental authority to enforce such indemnification in accordance with its terms (by reason of public policy or
otherwise), then each Indemnifying Party, in lieu of indemnifying such Indemnified Party, shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by
such Indemnified Party as a result of such Losses, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the Indemnifying Party
and Indemnified Party in connection with the actions, statements or omissions that resulted in such Losses as well as any other relevant
equitable considerations. The relative fault of such Indemnifying Party and Indemnified Party shall be determined by reference to, among other
things, whether any action in question, including any untrue or
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alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission of a material fact, has been taken or made by, or relates to
information supplied by, such Indemnifying Party or Indemnified Party, and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and
opportunity to correct or prevent such action, statement or omission. The amount paid or payable by a party as a result of any Losses shall be
deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 5(c), any reasonable attorneys' or other reasonable fees or expenses incurred
by such party in connection with any Proceeding to the extent such party would have been indemnified for such fees or expenses if the
indemnification provided for in this Section was available to such party in accordance with its terms. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, the Holder shall be required to contribute under this Section 5(d) for only that amount as does not exceed the net proceeds to
such Holder as a result of the sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement.
The parties hereto agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 5(d) were determined by pro
rata allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take into account the equitable considerations referred to in the immediately
preceding paragraph. No Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be
entitled to contribution from any Person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.
The indemnity and contribution agreements contained in this Section are in addition to any liability that the Indemnifying Parties may
have to the Indemnified Parties. The indemnity and contribution agreements herein are in addition to and not in diminution or limitation of any
indemnification provisions under the Purchase Agreement.
6.

Rule 144.

As long as any Holder owns any Notes, Conversion Shares, Warrants or Warrant Shares, the Company covenants to timely file (or
obtain extensions in respect thereof and file within the applicable grace period) all reports required to be filed by the Company after the date
hereof pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. As long as any Holder owns any Notes, Conversion Shares, Warrants or
Warrant Shares, if the Company is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, it will prepare and
furnish to the Holders and make publicly available in accordance with Rule 144(c) promulgated under the Securities Act annual and quarterly
financial statements, together with a discussion and analysis of such financial statements in form and substance substantially similar to those
that would otherwise be required to be included in reports required by Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as well as any other
information required thereby, in the time period that such filings would have been required to have been made under the Exchange Act. The
Company further covenants that it will take such further action as any Holder may reasonably request, all to the extent required from time to
time to enable such Person to sell Conversion Shares and Warrant Shares without registration under the Securities Act within the limitation of
the exemptions provided by Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act, including compliance with the provisions of the Purchase
Agreement relating to the transfer of the Conversion Shares and Warrant Shares. Upon the request of any Holder, the Company shall deliver
to such Holder a written certification of a
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duly authorized officer as to whether it has complied with such requirements.
7.

Covenants of Purchasers.

In connection with the Registration Statement, each of the Purchasers covenants as follows:
(a) Unless and until such Purchaser has provided written notice to the Company to the contrary, all sales of Registrable Securities by
such Purchaser shall be made without payment of underwriting discounts or commissions except for the usual and customary commission
paid to brokers or dealers.
(b) Such Purchaser shall advise the Company of any arrangement with a broker or dealer for the sale of such Purchaser’s Registrable
Securities through a block trade, special offering, exchange or secondary distribution or a principal purchase by a broker or dealer, and the
details of such transaction.
(c) Such Purchaser shall comply with all prospectus delivery requirements with respect to sales of the Registrable Securities to the
extent required by the Securities Act and other applicable law.
(d) Such Purchaser shall report to the Company, upon written request of the Company, whether all Registrable Securities held by
such Purchaser have been sold or otherwise transferred.
8.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
Remedies. In the event of a breach by the Company or by a Holder, of any of their obligations under this Agreement, each
Holder or the Company, as the case may be, in addition to being entitled to exercise all rights granted by law and under this Agreement,
including recovery of damages, will be entitled to specific performance of its rights under this Agreement. The Company and each Holder
agree that monetary damages would not provide adequate compensation for any losses incurred by reason of a breach by it of any of the
provisions of this Agreement and hereby further agrees that, in the event of any action for specific performance in respect of such breach, it
shall waive the defense that a remedy at law would be adequate.
(b)
No Inconsistent Agreements. Except as otherwise disclosed in the Purchase Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries is a party to an agreement currently in effect, nor shall the Company or any of its subsidiaries, on or after the date of this
Agreement, enter into any agreement with respect to its securities that is inconsistent with the rights granted to the Holders in this Agreement
or otherwise conflicts with the provisions hereof. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, without the written consent of the Holders
of a majority of the then outstanding Registrable Securities, the Company shall not grant to any Person the right to request the Company to
register any securities of the Company under the Securities Act unless the rights so granted are subject in all respects to the prior rights in full
of the Holders set forth herein, and are not otherwise in conflict with the provisions of this Agreement.
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(c)
Notice of Effectiveness. Within two (2) Business Days after the Registration Statement which includes the Registrable
Securities is ordered effective by the Commission, the Company shall deliver, and shall cause legal counsel for the Company to deliver, to the
transfer agent for such Registrable Securities (with copies to the Holders whose Registrable Securities are included in such Registration
Statement) confirmation that the Registration Statement has been declared effective by the Commission in form and substance reasonably
acceptable to the holders of Registrable Securities.
(d)

[Intentionally Left Blank.]

(e)
Failure to File Registration Statement and Other Events. The Company and the Holders agree that the Holders will suffer
damages if the Registration Statement is not filed and maintained in the manner contemplated herein during the Effectiveness Period. The
Company and the Holders further agree that it would not be feasible to ascertain the extent of such damages with precision. Accordingly, if (i)
the Company fails to include Registrable Securities in a registration statement filed with the Commission under the Securities Act to the extent
required in accordance herewith, or (ii) the Registration Statement is filed with and declared effective by the Commission but thereafter ceases
to be effective as to all Registrable Securities at any time prior to the expiration of the Effectiveness Period, without being succeeded promptly
by a subsequent Registration Statement filed with the Commission, except as otherwise permitted by this Agreement, including pursuant to
Section 3(n), or (iii) trading in the Common Stock shall be suspended or if the Common Stock is delisted from any securities exchange,
quotation system or market on which Registrable Securities are required hereunder to be listed (each an “Exchange”), without immediately
being listed on any other Exchange, for any reason for more than one (1) Business Day, other than pursuant to Section 3(n), or (iv) the
conversion or redemption rights of the Holders, or the exercise rights of the Holders under the Warrants, are suspended for any reason
without the consent of the particular Holder, or (v) the Company has breached Section 3(n) of this Agreement (any such failure or breach
being referred to as an “Event”), the Company shall pay in cash as liquidated damages for such failure and not as a penalty to each Holder an
amount equal to one and one-half percent (1.5%) of such Holder's Purchase Price paid by such Holder pursuant to the Purchase Agreement
for the initial thirty (30) day period (or portion thereof) until the applicable Event has been cured, and one and one-half percent (1.5%) of such
Holder's Purchase Price paid by such Holder pursuant to the Purchase Agreement for each subsequent thirty (30) day period (or portion
thereof) until the applicable Event has been cured (the “Periodic Amount”). Payments to be made pursuant to this Section 8(e) shall be due
and payable immediately upon demand in immediately available cash funds. The parties agree that the Periodic Amount represents a
reasonable estimate on the part of the parties, as of the date of this Agreement, of the amount of damages that may be incurred by the Holders
in connection with such Event. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall remain obligated to cure the breach or correct the condition
that caused the Event, and the Holder shall have the right to take any action necessary or desirable to enforce such obligation.
14

(f)

Specific Enforcement, Consent to Jurisdiction.

(i)
The Company and the Holders acknowledge and agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of
the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is
accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent or cure breaches of the provisions of this
Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof, this being in addition to any other remedy to which any of them
may be entitled by law or equity.
(ii)
Each of the Company and the Holders (i) hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and
federal courts located in New York City, New York for the purposes of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this
Agreement and (ii) hereby waives, and agrees not to assert in any such suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally
subject to the jurisdiction of such court, that the suit, action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum or that the venue of the
suit, action or proceeding is improper. Each of the Company and the Holders consents to process being served in any such suit, action
or proceeding by mailing a copy thereof to such party at the address in effect for notices to it under this Agreement and agrees that
such service shall constitute good and sufficient service of process and notice thereof. Nothing in this Section 8(f) shall affect or limit
any right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.
(g)
Amendments and Waivers. The provisions of this Agreement, including the provisions of this sentence, may not be
amended, modified or supplemented, and waivers or consents to departures from the provisions hereof may not be given, unless the same
shall be in writing and signed by the Company and the Holders of at least 75% of the Registrable Securities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a
waiver or consent to depart from the provisions hereof with respect to a matter that relates exclusively to the rights of Holders and that does
not directly or indirectly affect the rights of other Holders may be given by Holders of the Registrable Securities to which such waiver or
consent relates; provided, however, that the provisions of this sentence may not be amended, modified, or supplemented except in accordance
with the provisions of the immediately preceding sentence.
(h)
Notices. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries required or permitted to be provided hereunder shall be
in writing and shall be deemed given and effective on the earlier of (i) the date of transmission, if such notice or communication is delivered
via facsimile at the facsimile telephone number specified for notice prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on a Business Day, (ii) the next
Business Day after the date of transmission, if such notice or communication is delivered via facsimile at the facsimile number specified in this
Section on a day that is not a Business Day or later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on any date and earlier than 11:59 p.m., New York
City time, on such date, (iii) the Business Day following the date of mailing, if sent by nationally recognized overnight courier service such as
Federal Express or (iv) actual receipt by the party to whom such notice is required to be given. The addresses for such communications shall
be with respect to each Holder at its address set forth under its name on Schedule 1 attached hereto, or with respect to the Company, addressed
to:
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Netsol Technologies, Inc.
23901 Calabasas Road,
Suite 2072
Calabasas, CA 91302
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile No.: (818) 222-9197
or to such other address or addresses or facsimile number or numbers as any such party may most recently have designated in writing to the
other parties hereto by such notice. Copies of notices to any Holder shall be sent to the addresses set forth on the signature page of such
Holder to the Purchase Agreement.
(i)
Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their successors
and permitted assigns and shall inure to the benefit of each Holder and its successors and assigns; provided, that the Company may not assign
this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of each Holder; and provided, further, that each
Holder may assign its rights hereunder in the manner and to the Persons as permitted under the Purchase Agreement.
(j)
Assignment of Registration Rights. The rights of each Holder hereunder, including the right to have the Company register
for resale Registrable Securities in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, shall be automatically assignable by each Holder to any
transferee of such Holder of all or a portion of the Notes or Warrants or the Registrable Securities if: (i) the Holder agrees in writing with the
transferee or assignee to assign such rights, and a copy of such agreement is furnished to the Company within a reasonable time after such
assignment, (ii) the Company is, within a reasonable time after such transfer or assignment, furnished with written notice of (a) the name and
address of such transferee or assignee, and (b) the securities with respect to which such registration rights are being transferred or assigned,
(iii) following such transfer or assignment the further disposition of such securities by the transferee or assignees is restricted under the
Securities Act and applicable state securities laws, (iv) at or before the time the Company receives the written notice contemplated by clause (ii)
of this Section 8(j), the transferee or assignee agrees in writing with the Company to be bound by all of the provisions of this Agreement, and
(v) such transfer shall have been made in accordance with the applicable requirements of the Purchase Agreement. The rights to assignment
shall apply to the Holders (and to subsequent) successors and assigns.
The Company may require, as a condition of allowing such assignment in connection with a transfer of Notes, Warrants or
Registrable Securities (i) that the Holder or transferee of all or a portion of the Notes, Warrants or the Registrable Securities as the case may
be, furnish to the Company a written opinion of counsel that is reasonably acceptable to the Company to the effect that such transfer may be
made without registration under the Securities Act, (ii) that the Holder or transferee execute and deliver to the Company an investment letter in
form and substance acceptable to the Company and (iii) that the
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transferee be an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501(a) promulgated under the Securities Act.
(k)
Counterparts; Facsimile. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed
shall be deemed to be an original and, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same Agreement. In the event that any signature
is delivered by electronic image or facsimile transmission, such signature shall create a valid binding obligation of the party executing (or on
whose behalf such signature is executed) the same with the same force and effect as if such electronic image or facsimile signature were the
original thereof.
(l)
Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New
York, without regard to principles of conflicts of law thereof.
(m)

Cumulative Remedies. The remedies provided herein are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law.

(n)
Severability. If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be invalid, illegal, void or unenforceable in any respect, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions set forth herein shall
remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated, and the parties hereto shall use their reasonable efforts
to find and employ an alternative means to achieve the same or substantially the same result as that contemplated by such term, provision,
covenant or restriction. It is hereby stipulated and declared to be the intention of the parties that they would have executed the remaining terms,
provisions, covenants and restrictions without including any of such that may be hereafter declared invalid, illegal, void or unenforceable.
(o)
Headings. The headings herein are for convenience only, do not constitute a part of this Agreement and shall not be deemed
to limit or affect any of the provisions hereof.
(p)
Registrable Securities Held by the Company and its Affiliates. Whenever the consent or approval of Holders of a specified
percentage of Registrable Securities is required hereunder, Registrable Securities held by the Company or its Affiliates (other than any Holder
or transferees or successors or assigns thereof if such Holder is deemed to be an Affiliate solely by reason of its holdings of such Registrable
Securities) shall not be counted in determining whether such consent or approval was given by the Holders of such required percentage.
(q)
Obligations of Purchasers. The Company acknowledges that the obligations of each Purchaser under this Agreement, are
several and not joint with the obligations of any other Purchaser, and no Purchaser shall be responsible in any way for the performance of the
obligations of any other Purchaser under this Agreement. The decision of each Purchaser to enter into to this Agreement has been made by
such Purchaser independently of any other Purchaser. The Company further acknowledges that nothing contained in this Agreement,
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and no action taken by any Purchaser pursuant hereto, shall be deemed to constitute the Purchasers as a partnership, an association, a joint
venture or any other kind of entity, or create a presumption that the Purchasers are in any way acting in concert or as a group with respect to
such obligations or the transactions contemplated hereby. Each Purchaser shall be entitled to independently protect and enforce its rights,
including without limitation, the rights arising out of this Agreement, and it shall not be necessary for any other Purchaser to be joined as an
additional party in any proceeding for such purpose.
The Company has elected to provide all Purchasers with the same terms and Agreement for the convenience of the Company and not
because it was required or requested to do so by the Purchasers. The Company acknowledges that such procedure with respect to this
Agreement in no way creates a presumption that the Purchasers are in any way acting in concert or as a group with respect to this Agreement
or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
[signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Investor Rights Agreement to be duly executed by their respective
authorized persons as of the date first indicated above.
COMPANY:
NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ Najeeb Ghauri
_____________________________
Name: Najeeb Ghauri
Title: Chief Executive Officer
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PURCHASERS:
THE TAIL WIND FUND LTD.
By:
CIM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT, LTD.,
as investment manager

By: /s/ Dan Nye
Dan Nye

SOLOMON STRATEGIC HOLDINGS, INC.

By: /s/ Andrew P. Mackellar
Andrew P. Mackellar, Director

[Omnibus NetSol Technologies, Inc. Investor Rights Agreement Signature Page]
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EXHIBIT A
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We are registering the shares of common stock on behalf of the selling security holders. Sales of shares may be made by selling
security holders, including their respective donees, transferees, pledgees or other successors-in-interest directly to purchasers or to or through
underwriters, broker-dealers or through agents. Sales may be made from time to time on the Nasdaq Capital Market, any other exchange or
market upon which our shares may trade in the future, in the over-the-counter market or otherwise, at market prices prevailing at the time of
sale, at prices related to market prices, or at negotiated or fixed prices. The shares may be sold by one or more of, or a combination of, the
following:
-

a block trade in which the broker-dealer so engaged will attempt to sell the shares as agent but may position and resell a portion of
the block as principal to facilitate the transaction (including crosses in which the same broker acts as agent for both sides of the
transaction);

-

purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by such broker-dealer, including resales for its account, pursuant to this
prospectus;

-

ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker solicits purchases;

-

through options, swaps or derivatives;

-

in privately negotiated transactions;

-

in making short sales entered into after the date of this prospectus or in transactions to cover such short sales; and

-

put or call option transactions relating to the shares.

The selling security holders may effect these transactions by selling shares directly to purchasers or to or through broker-dealers,
which may act as agents or principals. These broker-dealers may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions
from the selling security holders and/or the purchasers of shares for whom such broker-dealers may act as agents or to whom they sell as
principals, or both (which compensation as to a particular broker-dealer might be in excess of customary commissions). The selling security
holders have advised us that they have not entered into any agreements, understandings or arrangements with any underwriters or brokerdealers regarding the sale of their securities.
The selling security holders may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions. In connection with
those transactions, the broker-dealers or other financial institutions may engage in short sales of the shares or of securities convertible into or
exchangeable for the shares in the course of hedging positions they assume with the
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selling security holders. The selling security holders may also enter into options or other transactions with broker-dealers or other financial
institutions which require the delivery of shares offered by this prospectus to those broker-dealers or other financial institutions. The brokerdealer or other financial institution may then resell the shares pursuant to this prospectus (as amended or supplemented, if required by
applicable law, to reflect those transactions).
The selling security holders and any broker-dealers that act in connection with the sale of shares may be deemed to be “underwriters”
within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Securities Act of 1933, and any commissions received by broker-dealers or any profit on the resale
of the shares sold by them while acting as principals may be deemed to be underwriting discounts or commissions under the Securities Act.
The selling security holders may agree to indemnify any agent, dealer or broker-dealer that participates in transactions involving sales of the
shares against liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act. We have agreed to indemnify each of the selling security holders
and each selling security holder has agreed, severally and not jointly, to indemnify us against some liabilities in connection with the offering of
the shares, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.
The selling security holders will be subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. We have informed the
selling security holders that the anti-manipulative provisions of Regulation M promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 may
apply to their sales in the market.
Selling security holders also may resell all or a portion of the shares in open market transactions in reliance upon Rule 144 under the
Securities Act, provided they meet the criteria and conform to the requirements of Rule 144.
Upon being notified by a selling security holder that a material arrangement has been entered into with a broker-dealer for the sale of
shares through a block trade, special offering, exchange distribution or secondary distribution or a purchase by a broker or dealer, we will file
a supplement to this prospectus, if required pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act, disclosing:
-

the name of each such selling security holder and of the participating broker-dealer(s);

-

the number of shares involved;

-

the initial price at which the shares were sold;

-

the commissions paid or discounts or concessions allowed to the broker-dealer(s), where applicable;

-

that such broker-dealer(s) did not conduct any investigation to verify the information set out or incorporated by reference in this
prospectus; and

-

other facts material to the transactions.
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In addition, if required under applicable law or the rules or regulations of the Commission, we will file a supplement to this
prospectus when a selling security holder notifies us that a donee or pledgee intends to sell more than 500 shares of common stock.
We are paying all expenses and fees in connection with the registration of the shares. The selling security holders will bear all
brokerage or underwriting discounts or commissions paid to broker-dealers in connection with the sale of the shares.
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THIS WARRANT AND THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, ASSIGNED OR TRANSFERRED, IN
THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER SAID ACT OR UNLESS THE COMPANY
HAS RECEIVED AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT
REGISTRATION UNDER SAID ACT IS NOT REQUIRED.
THIS WARRANT DOES NOT REQUIRE PHYSICAL SURRENDER OF THE WARRANT IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL
EXERCISE. AS A RESULT, FOLLOWING ANY EXERCISE OF ANY PORTION OF THIS WARRANT, THE NUMBER OF
SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH THIS WARRANT MAY BE EXERCISED MAY BE LESS THAN THE
NUMBER OF SHARES SET FORTH BELOW.

Issuance Date: September 13, 2011

COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT
To Purchase 140,845 Shares of Common Stock of NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT Solomon Strategic Holdings, Inc., or registered assigns (the “Holder”), is entitled, during the
Exercise Period (as hereinafter defined), to purchase from NetSol Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Company”), the Warrant
Stock (as hereinafter defined and subject to adjustment as provided herein), in whole or in part, at a purchase price of $0.895 per share, all on
and subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
1.

Definitions. As used in this Warrant, the following terms have the respective meanings set forth below:

“Affiliate” means any person or entity that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by or is
under common control with a person or entity, as such terms are used in and construed under Rule 144 under the Securities Act. With respect
to a Holder of Warrants, any investment fund or managed account that is managed on a discretionary basis by the same investment manager as
such Holder will be deemed to be an Affiliate of such Holder.
“Appraised Value” means, in respect of any share of Common Stock on any date herein specified, the fair saleable value of such
share of Common Stock (determined without giving effect to the discount for (i) a minority interest or (ii) any lack of liquidity of the Common
Stock or to the fact that the Company may have no class of equity registered under the Exchange Act) as of the last day of the most recent
fiscal month ending prior to such date specified, based on the value of the Company on a fully-diluted basis, as determined by a nationally
recognized investment banking firm selected by the Company’s Board of Directors and having no prior relationship with the Company.
“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday and any day which shall be a legal holiday or a day on which banking
institutions in the State of New York generally are authorized or required by law or other government actions to close.
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“Change of Control” means the (i) acquisition by an individual or legal entity or group (as set forth in Section 13(d) of the Exchange
Act) of more than one-half of the voting rights or equity interests in the Company; or (ii) sale, conveyance, or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the assets, property or business of the Company or the merger into or consolidation with any other corporation (other than a
wholly owned subsidiary corporation) or effectuation of any transaction or series of related transactions where holders of the Company’s
voting securities prior to such transaction or series of transactions fail to continue to hold at least 50% of the voting power of the Company
(or, if other than the Company, the successor or acquiring entity) immediately following such transaction.
“Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission or any other federal agency then administering the Securities Act
and other federal securities laws.
“Common Stock” means (except where the context otherwise indicates) the Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the
Company, and any capital stock into which such Common Stock may thereafter be changed or converted, and shall also include (i) capital
stock of the Company of any other class (regardless of how denominated) issued to the holders of shares of Common Stock upon any
reclassification thereof which is also not preferred as to dividends or assets on liquidation over any other class of stock of the Company and
which is not subject to redemption and (ii) shares of common stock of any successor or acquiring corporation received by or distributed to the
holders of Common Stock of the Company in the circumstances contemplated by Section 4.5.
“Current Market Price” means, in respect of any share of Common Stock on any date herein specified,
(1)

if there shall not then be a public market for the Common Stock, the higher of
(a) the book value per share of Common Stock at such date, and
(b) the Appraised Value per share of Common Stock at such date,

or
(2)
if there shall then be a public market for the Common Stock, the average of the daily market prices for the five (5)
consecutive Trading Days immediately before such date. The daily market price for each such Trading Day shall be (i) the closing bid price on
such day on the principal stock exchange on which such Common Stock is then listed or admitted to trading, or quoted, as applicable, (ii) if no
sale takes place on such day on any such exchange, the last reported closing bid price on such day as officially quoted on any such exchange,
(iii) if the Common Stock is not then listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange, the last reported closing bid price on such day in the
over-the-counter market, as furnished by the National Association of Securities Dealers Automatic Quotation System or the National
Quotation Bureau, Inc., (iv) if neither such corporation at the time is engaged in the business of reporting such prices, as furnished by any
similar firm then engaged in such business, or (v) if there is no such firm, as furnished by any member of the NASD selected mutually by the
holder of this Warrant and the Company or, if they cannot agree upon such selection, as selected by two such members of the NASD, one of
which shall be selected by holder of this Warrant and one of which shall be selected by the Company.
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“Current Warrant Price” means, in respect of a share of Common Stock at any date herein specified, the price at which a share of
Common Stock may be purchased pursuant to this Warrant on such date. Unless and until the Current Warrant Price is adjusted pursuant to
the terms herein, the initial Current Warrant Price shall be $0.895 per share of Common Stock.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any similar federal statute, and the rules and regulations
of the Commission thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect from time to time.
“Exercise Period” means the period during which this Warrant is exercisable pursuant to Section 2.1.
“Expiration Date” means the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date of issuance hereof.
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America as from time to time in effect.
“NASD” means the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., or any successor corporation thereto.
“Notes” means the Notes as defined in and issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreement.
“Other Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.5.
“Person” means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, joint venture, trust, incorporated organization, association,
corporation, limited liability company, institution, public benefit corporation, entity or government (whether federal, state, county, city,
municipal or otherwise, including, without limitation, any instrumentality, division, agency, body or department thereof).
“Purchase Agreement” means that certain Convertible Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of the date hereof among the
Company and the other parties named therein, pursuant to which this Warrant was originally issued.
“Restricted Common Stock” means shares of Common Stock which are, or which upon their issuance upon the exercise of any
Warrant would be required to be, evidenced by a certificate bearing the restrictive legend set forth in Section 3.2.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any similar federal statute, and the rules and regulations of the
Commission thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect at the time.
“Trading Day” means any day on which the primary market on which shares of Common Stock are listed is open for trading.
“Transfer” means any disposition of any Warrant or Warrant Stock or of any interest in
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either thereof, which would constitute a sale thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act.
“Warrants” means this Warrant and all warrants issued upon transfer, division or combination of, or in substitution for, any thereof.
All Warrants shall at all times be identical as to terms and conditions and date, except as to the number of shares of Common Stock for which
they may be exercised.
“Warrant Price” means an amount equal to (i) the number of shares of Common Stock being purchased upon exercise of this Warrant
pursuant to Section 2.1, multiplied by (ii) the Current Warrant Price.
“Warrant Stock” means the 140,845 shares of Common Stock to be purchased upon the exercise hereof, subject to adjustment as
provided herein.
2.
2.1.

Exercise of Warrant.
Manner of Exercise.

(a)
From and after the date of issuance hereof and until 5:00 P.M., New York time, on the Expiration Date (the
“Exercise Period”), the Holder may exercise this Warrant, on any Business Day, for all or any part of the number of shares of Warrant Stock
purchasable hereunder.
(b)
In order to exercise this Warrant, in whole or in part, the Holder shall deliver to the Company at its principal office
or at the office or agency designated by the Company pursuant to Section 12, (i) a written notice of Holder’s election to exercise this Warrant,
which notice shall specify the number of shares of Warrant Stock to be purchased, (ii) payment of the Warrant Price as provided herein, and
(iii) upon exercise of this Warrant in full, this Warrant. Such notice shall be substantially in the form of the subscription form appearing at the
end of this Warrant as Exhibit A, duly executed by the Holder or its agent or attorney. Upon receipt thereof, the Company shall, as promptly
as practicable, and in any event within three Business Days thereafter, electronically transmit the Common Stock issuable upon exercise hereof
to the Holder, by crediting the account of the Holder’s prime broker with Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) through its Deposit
Withdrawal Agent Commission (“DWAC”) system using the Fast Automated Securities Transfer (“FAST”) program. The parties agree to
coordinate with DTC to accomplish this objective. In lieu of such electronic delivery through DWAC, the Company shall, to the extent
requested by the Holder or required by law, execute or cause to be executed and deliver or cause to be delivered to the Holder a certificate or
certificates representing the aggregate number of full shares of Warrant Stock issuable upon exercise hereof. The time periods for delivery of
physical certificates evidencing the Warrant Shares are the same as those described above. Any stock certificate or certificates so delivered
shall be, to the extent possible, in such denomination or denominations as the Holder shall request in the notice and shall be registered in the
name of the Holder or such other name as shall be designated in the notice. This Warrant shall be deemed to have been exercised and such
certificate or certificates shall be deemed to have been issued, and the Holder or any other Person so designated to be named therein shall be
deemed to have become a Holder of record of such shares for all purposes, as of the date when the notice to exercise is received by the
Company as described
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above. If this Warrant shall have been exercised in part, the Company shall, at the time of delivery of the certificate or certificates representing
Warrant Stock, if not effected using book entry as described below, deliver to the Holder a new Warrant evidencing the rights of the Holder to
purchase the unpurchased shares of Common Stock called for by this Warrant, which new Warrant shall in all other respects be identical with
this Warrant, or at the request of the Holder, appropriate notation may be made on this Warrant and the same returned to the Holder.
(c)
Payment of the Warrant Price may be made at the option of the Holder by: (i) certified or official bank check
payable to the order of the Company, or (ii) wire transfer to the account of the Company, provided that if at any time following the 120th day
after the Closing Date there is no effective Registration Statement registering, or no current prospectus available for, the resale of the Warrant
Shares by the Holder, then this Warrant may also be exercised at such time by means of a “cashless exercise” in which the Holder shall be
entitled to receive a certificate for the number of Warrant Shares equal to the quotient obtained by dividing [(A-B) (X)] by (A), where:
(A) = the closing sale price on the Trading Day immediately preceding the date of such election;
(B) = the Warrant Price of this Warrant, as adjusted; and
(X) = the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant in accordance with the terms of this
Warrant by means of a cash exercise rather than a cashless exercise.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, on the Expiration Date, this Warrant shall be automatically exercised via cashless exercise
pursuant to this Section 2.1(c).
(d)
All shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant pursuant to the terms hereof shall be
validly issued and, upon payment of the Warrant Price, shall be fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to any preemptive rights.
(e)
Book-Entry. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, upon exercise of any portion of this Warrant in accordance
with the terms hereof, the warrantholder shall not be required to physically surrender this Warrant to the Company unless such holder is
purchasing the full amount of Warrant Shares represented by this Warrant. The warrantholder and the Company shall maintain records
showing the number of Warrant Shares so purchased hereunder and the dates of such purchases or shall use such other method, reasonably
satisfactory to the warrantholder and the Company, so as not to require physical surrender of this Warrant upon each such exercise. In
connection therewith a form of ledger to maintain a record of such transactions is attached hereto. The warrantholder and any assignee, by
acceptance of this Warrant or a new Warrant, acknowledge and agree that, by reason of the provisions of this paragraph, following exercise of
any portion of this Warrant, the number of Warrant Shares which may be purchased upon exercise of this Warrant may be less than the
number of Warrant Shares set forth on the face hereof.
2.2.
Fractional Shares. The Company shall not be required to issue a fractional share of Common Stock upon exercise of any
Warrant. As to any fraction of a share which the Holder
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of one or more Warrants, the rights under which are exercised in the same transaction, would otherwise be entitled to purchase upon such
exercise, the Company shall pay an amount in cash equal to the Current Market Price per share of Common Stock on the date of exercise
multiplied by such fraction.
2.3.
Continued Validity. A Holder of shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise of this Warrant, in whole or in part
(other than a Holder who acquires such shares after the same have been publicly sold pursuant to a Registration Statement under the Securities
Act or sold pursuant to Rule 144 thereunder), shall continue to be entitled with respect to such shares to all rights to which it would have been
entitled as the Holder under Sections 10 and 13 of this Warrant.
2.4.

Restrictions on Exercise Amount.

(i)
Unless a Holder delivers to the Company irrevocable written notice prior to the date of issuance hereof or sixty-one days
prior to the effective date of such notice that this Section 2.4(i) shall not apply to such Holder, the Company shall not issue to the Holder, and
the Holder may not acquire, a number of shares of Warrant Stock to the extent that, upon such exercise, the number of shares of Common
Stock then beneficially owned by such holder and its Affiliates and any other persons or entities whose beneficial ownership of Common
Stock would be aggregated with the Holder’s for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act (including shares held by any “group” of
which the holder is a member, but excluding shares beneficially owned by virtue of the ownership of securities or rights to acquire securities
that have limitations on the right to convert, exercise or purchase similar to the limitation set forth herein) would exceed 9.9% of the total
number of shares of Common Stock of the Company then issued and outstanding. For purposes hereof, “group” has the meaning set forth in
Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and applicable regulations of the Commission, and the percentage held by the holder shall be determined in
a manner consistent with the provisions of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act. Each delivery of a notice of exercise by a Holder will constitute
a representation by such Holder that it has evaluated the limitation set forth in this paragraph and determined, based on the most recent public
filings by the Company with the Commission, that the issuance of the full number of shares of Warrant Stock requested in such notice of
exercise is permitted under this paragraph.
(ii)
Overall Limit on Common Stock Issuable. Notwithstanding anything herein or in the other documents, if the Company has
not obtained Shareholder Approval (as defined below), then the Company may not issue, upon exercise of the Warrants, a number of shares
of Common Stock in excess of the amount of shares of Common Stock which may be issued upon the exercise of the Warrants (the “Issuable
Maximum”) without causing the Company to breach its obligations under the rules or regulations of the Nasdaq Stock Market (including
without limitation Section 5635(d) of the NASDAQ Stock Market Rules), provided that any portion of this Warrant which cannot be
exercised due to such Issuable Maximum shall be purchased by the Company using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. Each Holder
shall be entitled to a portion of the Issuable Maximum equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the aggregate principal amount of the
Notes issued and sold to such Holder by (y) the aggregate principal amount of all Notes issued and sold by the Company. If any Holder shall
no longer hold any Notes, then such Holder’s remaining portion of the Issuable Maximum, if any, shall be
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reallocated pro-rata among the other Holders. “Shareholder Approval” means approval by the shareholders of the Company, in accordance
with the applicable rules and regulations of the Nasdaq Stock Market (including without limitation Section 5635(e) of the NASDAQ Stock
Market Rules) and Nevada corporate law, of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, the Notes and the Warrants (as
amended hereby), including without limitation the issuance of all of the Conversion Shares under the Notes in excess of the Issuable
Maximum.
3.

Transfer, Division and Combination.

3.1.
Transfer. The Warrants and the Warrant Stock shall be freely transferable, subject to compliance with all applicable laws,
including, but not limited to the Securities Act. If, at the time of the surrender of this Warrant in connection with any transfer of this Warrant or
the resale of the Warrant Stock, this Warrant or the Warrant Stock, as applicable, shall not be registered under the Securities Act, the Company
may require, as a condition of allowing such transfer (i) that the Holder or transferee of this Warrant or the Warrant Stock as the case may be,
furnish to the Company a written opinion of counsel that is reasonably acceptable to the Company to the effect that such transfer may be made
without registration under the Securities Act, (ii) that the Holder or transferee execute and deliver to the Company an investment letter in form
and substance reasonably acceptable to the Company, and (iii) that the transferee be an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501(a)
promulgated under the Securities Act. Transfer of this Warrant and all rights hereunder, in whole or in part, in accordance with the foregoing
provisions, shall be registered on the books of the Company to be maintained for such purpose, upon surrender of this Warrant at the principal
office of the Company referred to in Section 2.1 or the office or agency designated by the Company pursuant to Section 12, together with a
written assignment of this Warrant substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto duly executed by the Holder or its agent or attorney and funds
sufficient to pay any transfer taxes payable upon the making of such transfer. Upon such surrender and, if required, such payment, the
Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant or Warrants in the name of the assignee or assignees and in the denomination specified in
such instrument of assignment, and shall issue to the assignor a new Warrant evidencing the portion of this Warrant not so assigned, and this
Warrant shall promptly be cancelled. Following a transfer that complies with the requirements of this Section 3.1, the Warrant may be
exercised by a new Holder for the purchase of shares of Common Stock regardless of whether the Company issued or registered a new
Warrant on the books of the Company. In connection with any transfer of this Warrant after the Registration Statement (as defined in the
Investor Rights Agreement) is declared effective under the Securities Act, the Holder or transferee of this Warrant shall reimburse the
Company for its reasonable out of pocket costs in connection with such transfer (including without limitation the reasonable attorneys fees for
preparing and filing a prospectus supplement with the SEC and/or delivering an updated opinion letter to the Seller’s transfer agent).
3.2.
Restrictive Legends. Each certificate for Warrant Stock initially issued upon the exercise of this Warrant, and each
certificate for Warrant Stock issued to any subsequent transferee of any such certificate, unless, in each case, such Warrant Stock is registered
under the Securities Act or is eligible for resale without registration pursuant to Rule 144(k) under the Securities Act, shall be stamped or
otherwise imprinted with a legend in substantially the following form:
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“THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT
OF 1933 AS AMENDED, AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, ASSIGNED OR TRANSFERRED, IN THE ABSENCE OF AN
EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER SAID ACT OR UNLESS THE COMPANY HAS RECEIVED AN OPINION
OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT REGISTRATION UNDER SAID ACT IS NOT
REQUIRED.”
“THE SALE, TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT OF THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE IS SUBJECT TO
THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF A CERTAIN INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT DATED AS OF SEPTEMBER ___, 2011,
AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, AMONG THE COMPANY AND CERTAIN HOLDERS OF ITS OUTSTANDING
SECURITIES. COPIES OF SUCH AGREEMENT MAY BE OBTAINED AT NO COST BY WRITTEN REQUEST MADE BY THE
HOLDER OF RECORD OF THIS CERTIFICATE TO THE SECRETARY OF THE COMPANY.”
3.3.
Division and Combination; Expenses; Books. This Warrant may be divided or combined with other Warrants upon
presentation hereof at the aforesaid office or agency of the Company, together with a written notice specifying the names and denominations in
which new Warrants are to be issued, signed by the Holder or its agent or attorney. Subject to compliance with Section 3.1 as to any transfer
which may be involved in such division or combination, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant or Warrants in exchange for
the Warrant or Warrants to be divided or combined in accordance with such notice. The Company shall prepare, issue and deliver at its own
expense the new Warrant or Warrants under this Section 3. The Company agrees to maintain, at its aforesaid office or agency, books for the
registration and the registration of transfer of the Warrants.
4.
Adjustments. The number of shares of Common Stock for which this Warrant is exercisable, and the price at which such
shares may be purchased upon exercise of this Warrant, shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as set forth in this Section 4. The
Company shall give the Holder notice of any event described below which requires an adjustment pursuant to this Section 4 in accordance
with Sections 5.1 and 5.2.
4.1.

Stock Dividends, Subdivisions and Combinations. If at any time while this Warrant is outstanding the Company shall:
(i)

declare a dividend or make a distribution on its outstanding shares of Common Stock in shares of Common Stock,

(ii)

subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a larger number of shares of Common Stock, or

(iii)

combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares of Common Stock, then:

(1)
the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable upon exercise of this Warrant immediately after the occurrence of any
such event shall be adjusted to equal the number of shares of Common Stock which a record holder of the same number of shares of Common
Stock
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that would have been acquirable under this Warrant immediately prior to the record date for such dividend or distribution or the effective date
of such subdivision or combination would own or be entitled to receive after such record date or the effective date of such subdivision or
combination, as applicable, and
(2)

the Current Warrant Price shall be adjusted to equal:

(A)
the Current Warrant Price in effect at the time of the record date for such dividend or distribution or of the effective
date of such subdivision or combination, multiplied by the number of shares of Common Stock into which this Warrant is exercisable
immediately prior to the adjustment, divided by
(B)

the number of shares of Common Stock into which this Warrant is exercisable immediately after such adjustment.

Any adjustment made pursuant to clause (i) of this paragraph shall become effective immediately after the record date for the
determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or distribution, and any adjustment pursuant to clauses (ii) or (iii) of this
paragraph shall become effective immediately after the effective date of such subdivision or combination.
4.2.
Certain Other Distributions. If at any time while this Warrant is outstanding the Company shall cause the holders of its
Common Stock to be entitled to receive any dividend or other distribution of:
(i)

cash,

(ii)
any evidences of its indebtedness, any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property or assets of
any nature whatsoever (other than cash or additional shares of Common Stock as provided in Section 4.1 hereof), or
(iii)
any warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase any evidences of its indebtedness, any shares of stock of
any class or any other securities or property or assets of any nature whatsoever, then:
(1)
the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be adjusted to equal the
product of the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable upon exercise of this Warrant immediately prior to the record date for
such dividend or distribution, multiplied by a fraction (x) the numerator of which shall be the Current Warrant Price per share of
Common Stock at the date of taking such record and (y) the denominator of which shall be such Current Warrant Price minus the
amount allocable to one share of Common Stock of any such cash so distributable and of the fair value (as determined in good faith by
the Board of Directors of the Company) of any and all such evidences of indebtedness, shares of stock, other securities or property or
warrants or other subscription or purchase rights so distributable; and
(2)
the Current Warrant Price in effect immediately prior to the record date fixed for determination of stockholders
entitled to receive such distribution shall be adjusted to equal (x) the Current Warrant Price multiplied by the number of shares of
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Common Stock acquirable upon exercise of this Warrant immediately prior to the adjustment, divided by (y) the number of shares of
Common Stock acquirable upon exercise of this Warrant immediately after such adjustment. A reclassification of the Common Stock
(other than a change in par value, or from par value to no par value or from no par value to par value) into shares of Common Stock
and shares of any other class of stock shall be deemed a distribution by the Company to the holders of its Common Stock of such
shares of such other class of stock within the meaning of this Section 4.2 and, if the outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be
changed into a larger or smaller number of shares of Common Stock as a part of such reclassification, such change shall be deemed a
subdivision or combination, as the case may be, of the outstanding shares of Common Stock within the meaning of Section 4.1.
4.3.
Securities Issuances. In the event that the Company or any of its subsidiaries (A) issues or sells any Common Stock or
convertible securities, warrants, options or other rights to subscribe for or to purchase or exchange for, shares of Common Stock
(“Convertible Securities”) or (B) directly or indirectly effectively reduces the conversion, exercise or exchange price for any Convertible
Securities which are currently outstanding, at or to an effective Per Share Selling Price (as defined below) which is less than the greater of (I)
the closing sale price per share of the Common Stock on the principal market on which the Common Stock is traded the Trading Day next
preceding such issue or sale or, in the case of issuances to holders of its Common Stock, the date fixed for the determination of stockholders
entitled to receive such warrants, rights, or options (“Fair Market Price”), or (II) the Current Warrant Price, then in each such case the Current
Warrant Price in effect immediately prior to such issue or sale or record date, as applicable, shall be automatically reduced effective
concurrently with such issue or sale to an amount determined by multiplying the Current Warrant Price then in effect by a fraction, (x) the
numerator of which shall be the sum of (1) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to such issue or sale, plus
(2) the number of shares of Common Stock which the aggregate consideration received by the Company for such additional shares would
purchase at such Fair Market Price or Current Warrant Price, as the case may be, and (y) the denominator of which shall be the number of
shares of Common Stock of the Company outstanding immediately after such issue or sale, and the number of shares of Warrant Stock for
which this Warrant is thereafter exercisable shall be automatically inversely proportionately increased such that the aggregate Warrant Price
hereunder immediately preceding such issuance shall be equal to the aggregate Warrant Price following such issuance and the adjustments
hereby. The foregoing provision shall not apply to any issuances or sales of Common Stock or Convertible Securities (i) pursuant to any
Convertible Securities currently outstanding on the date hereof in accordance with the terms of such Convertible Securities in effect on the date
hereof, or (ii) to any officer, director or employee of the Company pursuant to a bona fide option or equity incentive plan duly adopted by the
Company’s Board of Directors and shareholders. The Company shall give to the Warrantholder written notice of any such sale of Common
Stock within 24 hours of the closing of any such sale and shall within such 24 hour period issue a press release announcing such sale if such
sale is a material event for, or otherwise material to, the Company.
For the purposes of the foregoing adjustments, in the case of the issuance of any Convertible Securities, the maximum number of
shares of Common Stock issuable upon
10

exercise, exchange or conversion of such Convertible Securities shall be deemed to be outstanding.
For purposes of this Section 4.3, if an event occurs that triggers more than one of the above adjustment provisions, then only one
adjustment shall be made and the calculation method which yields the greatest downward adjustment in the Current Warrant Price shall be
used.
“Per Share Selling Price” shall include the amount actually paid by third parties for each share of Common Stock in a sale or issuance
by the Company. In the event a fee is paid by the Company in connection with such transaction directly or indirectly to such third party or its
affiliates, any such fee shall be deducted from the selling price pro rata to all shares sold in the transaction to arrive at the Per Share Selling
Price. A sale of shares of Common Stock shall include the sale or issuance of Convertible Securities, and in such circumstances the Per Share
Selling Price of the Common Stock covered thereby shall also include the exercise, exchange or conversion price thereof (in addition to the
consideration received by the Company upon such sale or issuance less the fee amount as provided above). In case of any such security
issued in a transaction in which the purchase price or the conversion, exchange or exercise price is directly or indirectly subject to adjustment
or reset based on a future date, future trading prices of the Common Stock, specified or contingent events directly or indirectly related to the
business of the Company or the market for the Common Stock, or otherwise (but excluding standard stock split anti-dilution provisions or
weighted-average anti-dilution provisions similar to that set forth herein, provided that any actual reduction of such price under any such
security pursuant to such weighted-average anti-dilution provision shall be included and cause a adjustment hereunder), the Per Share Selling
Price shall be deemed to be the lowest conversion, exchange, exercise or reset price at which such securities are converted, exchanged,
exercised or reset or might have been converted, exchanged, exercised or reset, or the lowest adjustment, as the case may be, over the life of
such securities. If shares are issued for a consideration other than cash, the Per Share Selling Price shall be the fair value of such
consideration as determined in good faith by independent certified public accountants mutually acceptable to the Company and the Holder. In
the event the Company directly or indirectly effectively reduces the conversion, exercise or exchange price for any Convertible Securities
which are currently outstanding, then the Per Share Selling Price shall equal such effectively reduced conversion, exercise or exchange price.
4.4.
Other Provisions Applicable to Adjustments. The following provisions shall be applicable to the making of adjustments of
the number of shares of Common Stock into which this Warrant is exercisable and the Current Warrant Price provided for in Section 4:
(a) When Adjustments to Be Made. The adjustments required by Section 4 shall be made whenever and as often as any
specified event requiring an adjustment shall occur, except that any that would otherwise be required may be postponed (except in the case of a
subdivision or combination of shares of the Common Stock, as provided for in Section 4.1) up to, but not beyond the date of exercise if such
adjustment either by itself or with other adjustments not previously made adds or subtracts less than 1% of the shares of Common Stock into
which this Warrant is exercisable immediately prior to the making of such adjustment. Any adjustment representing a change of less than such
minimum amount (except as aforesaid) which is postponed shall be carried forward and made as soon as such adjustment, together with other
adjustments required by this Section 4 and not previously made, would result in a minimum
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adjustment or on the date of exercise. For the purpose of any adjustment, any specified event shall be deemed to have occurred at the close of
business on the date of its occurrence.
(b) Fractional Interests. In computing adjustments under this Section 4, fractional interests in Common Stock shall be taken
into account to the nearest 1/100th of a share.
(c) When Adjustment Not Required. If the Company undertakes a transaction contemplated under this Section 4 and as a
result takes a record of the holders of its Common Stock for the purpose of entitling them to receive a dividend or distribution or subscription
or purchase rights or other benefits contemplated under this Section 4 and shall, thereafter and before the distribution to stockholders thereof,
legally abandon its plan to pay or deliver such dividend, distribution, subscription or purchase rights or other benefits contemplated under this
Section 4, then thereafter no adjustment shall be required by reason of the taking of such record and any such adjustment previously made in
respect thereof shall be rescinded and annulled.
(d) Escrow of Stock. If after any property becomes distributable pursuant to Section 4 by reason of the taking of any record
of the holders of Common Stock, but prior to the occurrence of the event for which such record is taken, a holder of this Warrant exercises the
Warrant during such time, then such holder shall continue to be entitled to receive any shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise
hereunder by reason of such adjustment and such shares or other property shall be held in escrow for the holder of this Warrant by the
Company to be issued to holder of this Warrant upon and to the extent that the event actually takes place. Notwithstanding any other provision
to the contrary herein, if the event for which such record was taken fails to occur or is rescinded, then such escrowed shares shall be canceled
by the Company and escrowed property returned to the Company.
4.5.

Reorganization, Reclassification, Merger, Consolidation or Disposition of Assets.

(a) If there shall occur a Change of Control and, pursuant to the terms of such Change of Control, shares of common stock
of the successor or acquiring corporation, or any cash, shares of stock or other securities or property of any nature whatsoever (including
warrants or other subscription or purchase rights) in addition to or in lieu of common stock of the successor or acquiring corporation (“Other
Property”), are to be received by or distributed to the holders of Common Stock of the Company, then the Holder of this Warrant shall have
the right thereafter to receive, upon the exercise of the Warrant, the number of shares of common stock of the successor or acquiring
corporation or of the Company, if it is the surviving corporation, and the Other Property receivable upon or as a result of such Change of
Control by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock into which this Warrant is exercisable immediately prior to such event.
(b) In case of any such Change of Control described in Section 4.5(a) above, the resulting, successor or acquiring entity (if
other than the Company) and, if an entity different from the successor or acquiring entity, the entity whose capital stock or assets the holders
of the Common Stock are entitled to receive as a result of such Change of Control, shall expressly assume the due and punctual observance
and performance of each and every covenant and condition contained in this Warrant to be performed and observed by the Company and all
the obligations and liabilities hereunder, subject to such modifications as may be deemed appropriate
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(as determined by resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company) in order to provide for adjustments of shares of the Common Stock
into which this Warrant is exercisable which shall be as nearly equivalent as practicable to the adjustments provided for in Section 4. For
purposes of Section 4, common stock of the successor or acquiring corporation shall include stock of such corporation of any class which is
not preferred as to dividends or assets on liquidation over any other class of stock of such corporation and which is not subject to redemption
and shall also include any evidences of indebtedness, shares of stock or other securities which are convertible into or exchangeable for any
such stock, either immediately or upon the arrival of a specified date or the happening of a specified event and any warrants or other rights to
subscribe for or purchase any such stock. The foregoing provisions of this Section 4 shall similarly apply to successive Change of Control
transactions.
4.6.
Other Action Affecting Common Stock. In case at any time or from time to time the Company shall take any action in
respect of its Common Stock, other than the payment of dividends permitted by Section 4 or any other action described in Section 4, then,
unless such action will not have a materially adverse effect upon the rights of the holder of this Warrant, the number of shares of Common
Stock or other stock into which this Warrant is exercisable and/or the purchase price thereof shall be adjusted in such manner as may be
equitable in the circumstances.
4.7.
Certain Limitations. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company agrees not to enter into any transaction
which, by reason of any adjustment hereunder, would cause the Current Warrant Price to be less than the par value per share of Common
Stock.
4.8.
Stock Transfer Taxes. The issue of stock certificates upon exercise of this Warrant shall be made without charge to the
holder for any tax in respect of such issue. The Company shall not, however, be required to pay any tax which may be payable in respect of
any transfer involved in the issue and delivery of shares in any name other than that of the holder of this Warrant, and the Company shall not
be required to issue or deliver any such stock certificate unless and until the person or persons requesting the issue thereof shall have paid to
the Company the amount of such tax or shall have established to the satisfaction of the Company that such tax has been paid.
5.

Notices to Warrant Holders.

5.1.
Certificate as to Adjustments. Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or readjustment of the Current Warrant Price, the
Company, at its expense, shall promptly compute such adjustment or readjustment in accordance with the terms hereof and prepare and furnish
to the Holder of this Warrant a certificate setting forth such adjustment or readjustment and showing in detail the facts upon which such
adjustment or readjustment is based. The Company shall, upon the written request at any time of the Holder of this Warrant, furnish or cause
to be furnished to such Holder a like certificate setting forth (i) such adjustments and readjustments, (ii) the Current Warrant Price at the time
in effect and (iii) the number of shares of Common Stock and the amount, if any, or other property which at the time would be received upon
the exercise of Warrants owned by such Holder.
5.2.

Notice of Corporate Action. If at any time:
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(a)
the Company shall take a record of the holders of its Common Stock for the purpose of entitling them to receive a
dividend (other than a cash dividend payable out of earnings or earned surplus legally available for the payment of dividends under the laws of
the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Company) or other distribution, or any right to subscribe for or purchase any evidences of its
indebtedness, any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property, or to receive any other right, or
(b)
there shall be any capital reorganization of the Company, any reclassification or recapitalization of the capital stock
of the Company or any consolidation or merger of the Company with, or any sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all the
property, assets or business of the Company to, another corporation,
(c)

there shall be a voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company, or

(d)
the Company shall cause the holders of its Common Stock to be entitled to receive (i) any dividend or other
distribution of cash, (ii) any evidences of its indebtedness, or (iii) any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property or assets
of any nature whatsoever (other than cash or additional shares of Common Stock as provided in Section 4.1 hereof); or (iv) any warrants or
other rights to subscribe for or purchase any evidences of its indebtedness, any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property
or assets of any nature whatsoever;
then, in any one or more of such cases, the Company shall give to the Holder (i) at least 20 days’ prior written notice of the date on which a
record date shall be selected for such dividend, distribution or right or for determining rights to vote in respect of any such reorganization,
reclassification, merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, disposition, dissolution, liquidation or winding up, and (ii) in the case of any such
reorganization, reclassification, merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, disposition, dissolution, liquidation or winding up, at least 20 days’ prior
written notice of the date when the same shall take place. Such notice in accordance with the foregoing clause also shall specify (i) the date on
which any such record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution or right, the date on which the holders of Common Stock
shall be entitled to any such dividend, distribution or right, and the amount and character thereof, and (ii) the date on which any such
reorganization, reclassification, merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, disposition, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is to take place and the
time, if any such time is to be fixed, as of which the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to exchange their shares of Common Stock for
securities or other property deliverable upon such reorganization, reclassification, merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, disposition, dissolution,
liquidation or winding up. Each such written notice shall be sufficiently given if addressed to the Holder at the last address of the Holder
appearing on the books of the Company and delivered in accordance with Section 15.2.
5.3.
No Rights as Stockholder. This Warrant does not entitle the Holder to any voting or other rights as a stockholder of the
Company prior to exercise and payment for the Warrant Price in accordance with the terms hereof.
6.

No Impairment. The Company shall not by any action, including, without
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limitation, amending its articles of incorporation or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue or
sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms of this Warrant, but
will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all such terms and in the taking of all such actions as may be necessary or appropriate
to protect the rights of the Holder against impairment. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company will (a) not increase the
par value of any shares of Common Stock receivable upon the exercise of this Warrant above the amount payable therefor upon such exercise
immediately prior to such increase in par value, (b) take all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order that the Company may
validly and legally issue fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of this Warrant, and (c) use its best efforts
to obtain all such authorizations, exemptions or consents from any public regulatory body having jurisdiction thereof as may be necessary to
enable the Company to perform its obligations under this Warrant. Upon the request of the Holder, the Company will at any time during the
period this Warrant is outstanding acknowledge in writing, in form satisfactory to the Holder, the continuing validity of this Warrant and the
obligations of the Company hereunder.
7.
Reservation and Authorization of Common Stock; Registration With Approval of Any Governmental Authority. From and
after the date of issuance hereof, the Company shall at all times reserve and keep available for issue upon the exercise of Warrants such
number of its authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock as will be sufficient to permit the exercise in full of all outstanding Warrants
(without regard to any ownership limitations provided in Section 2.4(i)). All shares of Common Stock which shall be so issuable, when
issued upon exercise of any Warrant and payment therefor in accordance with the terms of such Warrant, shall be duly and validly issued and
fully paid and nonassessable, and not subject to preemptive rights. Before taking any action which would cause an adjustment reducing the
Current Warrant Price below the then par value, if any, of the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants, the Company
shall take any corporate action which may be necessary in order that the Company may validly and legally issue fully paid and non-assessable
shares of such Common Stock at such adjusted Current Warrant Price. Before taking any action which would result in an adjustment in the
number of shares of Common Stock for which this Warrant is exercisable or in the Current Warrant Price, the Company shall obtain all such
authorizations or exemptions thereof, or consents thereto, as may be necessary from any public regulatory body or bodies having jurisdiction
thereof. If any shares of Common Stock required to be reserved for issuance upon exercise of Warrants require registration or qualification
with any governmental authority under any federal or state law before such shares may be so issued (other than as a result of a prior or
contemplated distribution by the Holder of this Warrant), the Company will in good faith and as expeditiously as possible and at its expense
endeavor to cause such shares to be duly registered.
8.
Taking of Record; Stock and Warrant Transfer Books. In the case of all dividends or other distributions by the Company to
the holders of its Common Stock with respect to which any provision of Section 4 refers to the taking of a record of such holders, the
Company will in each such case take such a record and will take such record as of the close of business on a Business Day. The Company
will not at any time, except upon dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company, close its stock transfer books or Warrant transfer
books so as to result in preventing or delaying the exercise or transfer of any Warrant.
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9.
Piggyback Registration Rights. The resale of the Warrant Stock shall be registered to the extent set forth and in accordance
with the terms and conditions contained in that certain Investor Rights Agreement dated of even date hereof, among the Holder, the Company
and the other parties named therein (the “Investor Rights Agreement”). The Holder acknowledges that pursuant to the Investor Rights
Agreement, the Company has the right to request that the Holder furnish information regarding such Holder and the distribution of the
Warrant Stock as is required by law or the Commission to be disclosed in the Registration Statement (as such term is defined in the Investor
Rights Agreement), and the Company may exclude from such registration the shares of Warrant Stock acquirable hereunder if Holder fails to
furnish such information within a reasonable time prior to the filing of each Registration Statement, supplemented prospectus included therein
and/or amended Registration Statement.
10.
Supplying Information. Upon any default by the Company of its obligations hereunder or under the Investor Rights
Agreement, the Company shall cooperate with the Holder in supplying such information as may be reasonably necessary for such Holder to
complete and file any information reporting forms presently or hereafter required by the Commission as a condition to the availability of an
exemption from the Securities Act for the sale of any Warrant or Restricted Common Stock.
11.
Loss or Mutilation. Upon receipt by the Company from the Holder of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of the
ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Warrant and indemnity or security reasonably satisfactory to it and
reimbursement to the Company of all reasonable expenses incidental thereto and in case of mutilation upon surrender and cancellation hereof,
the Company will execute and deliver in lieu hereof a new Warrant of like tenor to the Holder; provided, however, that in the case of
mutilation, no indemnity shall be required if this Warrant in identifiable form is surrendered to the Company for cancellation.
12.
Office of the Company. As long as any of the Warrants remain outstanding, the Company shall maintain an office or
agency (which may be the principal executive offices of the Company) where the Warrants may be presented for exercise, registration of
transfer, division or combination as provided in this Warrant.
13.

Financial and Business Information.

13.1.
Quarterly Information. The Company will deliver to the Holder, as soon as available and in any event within 45 days
after the end of each of the first three quarters of each fiscal year of the Company, one copy of an unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the
Company and its subsidiaries as at the end of such quarter, and the related unaudited consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and
cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries for such quarter and, in the case of the second and third quarters, for the portion of the fiscal
year ending with such quarter, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding periods in the previous fiscal
year. Such financial statements shall be prepared by the Company in accordance with GAAP and accompanied by the certification of the
Company’s chief executive officer or chief financial officer that such financial statements present fairly the consolidated financial position,
results of operations and cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the end of such quarter and for such year-to-date period, as the
case may be; provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to deliver such
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quarterly information under this Section 13.1 to the extent it is publicly available; and provided further, that if such information contains
material non-public information, the Company shall so notify the Holder prior to delivery thereof and the Holder shall have the right to refuse
delivery of such information.
13.2.
Annual Information. The Company will deliver to the Holder as soon as available and in any event within 90 days after
the end of each fiscal year of the Company, one copy of an audited consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the
end of such year, and audited consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries for such
year; setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding periods in the previous fiscal year; all prepared in
accordance with GAAP, and which audited financial statements shall be accompanied by an opinion thereon of the independent certified public
accountants regularly retained by the Company, or any other firm of independent certified public accountants of recognized national standing
selected by the Company; provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to deliver such annual information under this Section
13.2 to the extent it is publicly available; and provided further, that if such information contains material non-public information, the Company
shall so notify the Holder prior to delivery thereof and the Holder shall have the right to refuse delivery of such information..
13.3.
Filings. The Company will file on or before the required date all regular or periodic reports (pursuant to the Exchange
Act) with the Commission and will deliver to Holder promptly upon their becoming available one copy of each report, notice or proxy
statement sent by the Company to its stockholders generally.
14.
Limitation of Liability. No provision hereof, in the absence of affirmative action by the Holder to purchase shares of
Common Stock, and no enumeration herein of the rights or privileges of the Holder hereof, shall give rise to any liability of the Holder for the
purchase price of any Common Stock, whether such liability is asserted by the Company or by creditors of the Company.
15.

Miscellaneous.

15.1
Nonwaiver and Expenses. No course of dealing or any delay or failure to exercise any right hereunder on the part of the
Holder shall operate as a waiver of such right or otherwise prejudice Holder’s rights, powers or remedies. If the Company fails to make, when
due, any payments provided for hereunder, or fails to comply with any other provision of this Warrant, the Company shall pay to the Holder
such amounts as shall be sufficient to cover any third party costs and expenses including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees,
including those of appellate proceedings, incurred by the Holder in collecting any amounts due pursuant hereto or in otherwise enforcing any
of its rights, powers or remedies hereunder.
15.2
Notice Generally. All notices, requests, demands or other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and
shall be given in the manner and to the addresses set forth in the Purchase Agreement.
15.3

Successors and Assigns. Subject to compliance with the provisions of Section 3.1,
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this Warrant and the rights evidenced hereby shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the successors of the Company and the
successors and assigns of the Holder. The provisions of this Warrant are intended to be for the benefit of all Holders from time to time of this
Warrant, and shall be enforceable by any such Holder.
15.4
Amendment. This Warrant may be modified or amended or the provisions of this Warrant waived with the written
consent of both the Company and the Holder.
15.5
Severability. Wherever possible, each provision of this Warrant shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and
valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Warrant shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be
modified to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of
this Warrant.
15.6
Headings. The headings used in this Warrant are for the convenience of reference only and shall not, for any purpose, be
deemed a part of this Warrant.
15.7
Governing Law. This Warrant and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be deemed to be consummated in the State
of New York and shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the local laws of the State of New York without regard to the
provisions thereof relating to conflicts of laws. The Company hereby irrevocably consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State and Federal
courts located in New York City, New York in connection with any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Warrant. In any such
litigation the Company agrees that the service thereof may be made by certified or registered mail directed to the Company pursuant to Section
15.2.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, NetSol Technologies, Inc. has caused this Warrant to be executed by its duly authorized officer and
attested by its Secretary.
Dated: September 13, 2011

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ Najeeb Ghauri
______________________________
Name: Najeeb Ghauri
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Attest:

By: /s/ Patti L.W. McGlasson
______________________________
Name: Patti L.W. McGlasson
Title: Secretary
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EXHIBIT A
SUBSCRIPTION FORM
[To be executed only upon exercise of Warrant]
NetSol Technologies, Inc.
23901 Calabasas Road,
Suite 2072
Calabasas, CA 91302
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile No.: (818) 222-9197

This undersigned hereby elects to exercise the right of purchase represented by the within Warrant (“Warrant”) for, and to purchase thereunder
_______________ shares of Common Stock (“Warrant Shares”) provided for therein, and requests that certificates for the Warrant Shares be
issued as follows:
_______________________________
Name
_______________________________
Address
_______________________________
_______________________________
and, if the number of Warrant Shares shall not be all the Warrant Shares purchasable upon exercise of the Warrant, that a new Warrant for the
balance of the Warrant Shares.
In lieu of delivering physical certificates representing the Warrant Shares purchasable upon exercise of this Warrant, provided the Company's
transfer agent is participating in the Depository Trust Company ("DTC") Fast Automated Securities Transfer ("FAST") program, upon
request of the Holder, the Company shall use its best efforts to cause its transfer agent to electronically transmit the Warrant Shares issuable
upon conversion or exercise to the undersigned, by crediting the account of the undersigned's prime broker with DTC through its Deposit
Withdrawal Agent Commission ("DWAC") system.
To the extent the undersigned intends to sell the Warrant Shares issued to the undersigned upon exercise of this Warrant pursuant to a
Registration Statement (as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement), the undersigned agrees to comply with all applicable prospectus
delivery requirements under the Securities Act with respect to such sale.

Dated:_______________________

Signature:______________________
________________________________
Name (please print)
________________________________
Address
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EXHIBIT B
ASSIGNMENT FORM
FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned registered owner of this Warrant for the purchase of shares of common stock of NetSol
Technologies, Inc. hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto the Assignee named below all of the rights of the undersigned under this Warrant,
with respect to the number of shares of common stock set forth below:

_______________________________________
_______________________________________
_______________________________________
(Name and Address of Assignee)
_______________________________________
(Number of Shares of Common Stock)

and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint ____________ attorney-in-fact to register such transfer on the books of the Company,
maintained for the purpose, with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:_________________________________
______________________________________
(Print Name and Title)
______________________________________
(Signature)
______________________________________
(Witness)

NOTICE: The signature on this assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the Warrant in every particular, without
alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever.
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THIS WARRANT AND THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, ASSIGNED OR TRANSFERRED, IN
THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER SAID ACT OR UNLESS THE COMPANY
HAS RECEIVED AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT
REGISTRATION UNDER SAID ACT IS NOT REQUIRED.
THIS WARRANT DOES NOT REQUIRE PHYSICAL SURRENDER OF THE WARRANT IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL
EXERCISE. AS A RESULT, FOLLOWING ANY EXERCISE OF ANY PORTION OF THIS WARRANT, THE NUMBER OF
SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH THIS WARRANT MAY BE EXERCISED MAY BE LESS THAN THE
NUMBER OF SHARES SET FORTH BELOW.

Issuance Date: September 13, 2011

COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT
To Purchase 1,267,606 Shares of Common Stock of NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT The Tail Wind Fund, Ltd., or registered assigns (the “Holder”), is entitled, during the Exercise
Period (as hereinafter defined), to purchase from NetSol Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Company”), the Warrant Stock (as
hereinafter defined and subject to adjustment as provided herein), in whole or in part, at a purchase price of $0.895 per share, all on and
subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
1.

Definitions. As used in this Warrant, the following terms have the respective meanings set forth below:

“Affiliate” means any person or entity that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by or is
under common control with a person or entity, as such terms are used in and construed under Rule 144 under the Securities Act. With respect
to a Holder of Warrants, any investment fund or managed account that is managed on a discretionary basis by the same investment manager as
such Holder will be deemed to be an Affiliate of such Holder.
“Appraised Value” means, in respect of any share of Common Stock on any date herein specified, the fair saleable value of such
share of Common Stock (determined without giving effect to the discount for (i) a minority interest or (ii) any lack of liquidity of the Common
Stock or to the fact that the Company may have no class of equity registered under the Exchange Act) as of the last day of the most recent
fiscal month ending prior to such date specified, based on the value of the Company on a fully-diluted basis, as determined by a nationally
recognized investment banking firm selected by the Company’s Board of Directors and having no prior relationship with the Company.
“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday and any day which shall be a legal holiday or a day on which banking
institutions in the State of New York generally are authorized or required by law or other government actions to close.
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“Change of Control” means the (i) acquisition by an individual or legal entity or group (as set forth in Section 13(d) of the Exchange
Act) of more than one-half of the voting rights or equity interests in the Company; or (ii) sale, conveyance, or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the assets, property or business of the Company or the merger into or consolidation with any other corporation (other than a
wholly owned subsidiary corporation) or effectuation of any transaction or series of related transactions where holders of the Company’s
voting securities prior to such transaction or series of transactions fail to continue to hold at least 50% of the voting power of the Company
(or, if other than the Company, the successor or acquiring entity) immediately following such transaction.
“Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission or any other federal agency then administering the Securities Act
and other federal securities laws.
“Common Stock” means (except where the context otherwise indicates) the Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the
Company, and any capital stock into which such Common Stock may thereafter be changed or converted, and shall also include (i) capital
stock of the Company of any other class (regardless of how denominated) issued to the holders of shares of Common Stock upon any
reclassification thereof which is also not preferred as to dividends or assets on liquidation over any other class of stock of the Company and
which is not subject to redemption and (ii) shares of common stock of any successor or acquiring corporation received by or distributed to the
holders of Common Stock of the Company in the circumstances contemplated by Section 4.5.
“Current Market Price” means, in respect of any share of Common Stock on any date herein specified,
(1)

if there shall not then be a public market for the Common Stock, the higher of
(a) the book value per share of Common Stock at such date, and
(b) the Appraised Value per share of Common Stock at such date,

or
(2)
if there shall then be a public market for the Common Stock, the average of the daily market prices for the five (5)
consecutive Trading Days immediately before such date. The daily market price for each such Trading Day shall be (i) the closing bid price on
such day on the principal stock exchange on which such Common Stock is then listed or admitted to trading, or quoted, as applicable, (ii) if no
sale takes place on such day on any such exchange, the last reported closing bid price on such day as officially quoted on any such exchange,
(iii) if the Common Stock is not then listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange, the last reported closing bid price on such day in the
over-the-counter market, as furnished by the National Association of Securities Dealers Automatic Quotation System or the National
Quotation Bureau, Inc., (iv) if neither such corporation at the time is engaged in the business of reporting such prices, as furnished by any
similar firm then engaged in such business, or (v) if there is no such firm, as furnished by any member of the NASD selected mutually by the
holder of this Warrant and the Company or, if they cannot agree upon such selection, as selected by two such members of the NASD, one of
which shall be selected by holder of this Warrant and one of which shall be selected by the Company.
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“Current Warrant Price” means, in respect of a share of Common Stock at any date herein specified, the price at which a share of
Common Stock may be purchased pursuant to this Warrant on such date. Unless and until the Current Warrant Price is adjusted pursuant to
the terms herein, the initial Current Warrant Price shall be $0.895 per share of Common Stock.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any similar federal statute, and the rules and regulations
of the Commission thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect from time to time.
“Exercise Period” means the period during which this Warrant is exercisable pursuant to Section 2.1.
“Expiration Date” means the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date of issuance hereof.
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America as from time to time in effect.
“NASD” means the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., or any successor corporation thereto.
“Notes” means the Notes as defined in and issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreement.
“Other Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.5.
“Person” means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, joint venture, trust, incorporated organization, association,
corporation, limited liability company, institution, public benefit corporation, entity or government (whether federal, state, county, city,
municipal or otherwise, including, without limitation, any instrumentality, division, agency, body or department thereof).
“Purchase Agreement” means that certain Convertible Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of the date hereof among the
Company and the other parties named therein, pursuant to which this Warrant was originally issued.
“Restricted Common Stock” means shares of Common Stock which are, or which upon their issuance upon the exercise of any
Warrant would be required to be, evidenced by a certificate bearing the restrictive legend set forth in Section 3.2.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any similar federal statute, and the rules and regulations of the
Commission thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect at the time.
“Trading Day” means any day on which the primary market on which shares of Common Stock are listed is open for trading.
“Transfer” means any disposition of any Warrant or Warrant Stock or of any interest in
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either thereof, which would constitute a sale thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act.
“Warrants” means this Warrant and all warrants issued upon transfer, division or combination of, or in substitution for, any thereof.
All Warrants shall at all times be identical as to terms and conditions and date, except as to the number of shares of Common Stock for which
they may be exercised.
“Warrant Price” means an amount equal to (i) the number of shares of Common Stock being purchased upon exercise of this Warrant
pursuant to Section 2.1, multiplied by (ii) the Current Warrant Price.
“Warrant Stock” means the 1,267,606 shares of Common Stock to be purchased upon the exercise hereof, subject to adjustment as
provided herein.
2.
2.1.

Exercise of Warrant.
Manner of Exercise.

(a)
From and after the date of issuance hereof and until 5:00 P.M., New York time, on the Expiration Date (the
“Exercise Period”), the Holder may exercise this Warrant, on any Business Day, for all or any part of the number of shares of Warrant Stock
purchasable hereunder.
(b)
In order to exercise this Warrant, in whole or in part, the Holder shall deliver to the Company at its principal office
or at the office or agency designated by the Company pursuant to Section 12, (i) a written notice of Holder’s election to exercise this Warrant,
which notice shall specify the number of shares of Warrant Stock to be purchased, (ii) payment of the Warrant Price as provided herein, and
(iii) upon exercise of this Warrant in full, this Warrant. Such notice shall be substantially in the form of the subscription form appearing at the
end of this Warrant as Exhibit A, duly executed by the Holder or its agent or attorney. Upon receipt thereof, the Company shall, as promptly
as practicable, and in any event within three Business Days thereafter, electronically transmit the Common Stock issuable upon exercise hereof
to the Holder, by crediting the account of the Holder’s prime broker with Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) through its Deposit
Withdrawal Agent Commission (“DWAC”) system using the Fast Automated Securities Transfer (“FAST”) program. The parties agree to
coordinate with DTC to accomplish this objective. In lieu of such electronic delivery through DWAC, the Company shall, to the extent
requested by the Holder or required by law, execute or cause to be executed and deliver or cause to be delivered to the Holder a certificate or
certificates representing the aggregate number of full shares of Warrant Stock issuable upon exercise hereof. The time periods for delivery of
physical certificates evidencing the Warrant Shares are the same as those described above. Any stock certificate or certificates so delivered
shall be, to the extent possible, in such denomination or denominations as the Holder shall request in the notice and shall be registered in the
name of the Holder or such other name as shall be designated in the notice. This Warrant shall be deemed to have been exercised and such
certificate or certificates shall be deemed to have been issued, and the Holder or any other Person so designated to be named therein shall be
deemed to have become a Holder of record of such shares for all purposes, as of the date when the notice to exercise is received by the
Company as described
4

above. If this Warrant shall have been exercised in part, the Company shall, at the time of delivery of the certificate or certificates representing
Warrant Stock, if not effected using book entry as described below, deliver to the Holder a new Warrant evidencing the rights of the Holder to
purchase the unpurchased shares of Common Stock called for by this Warrant, which new Warrant shall in all other respects be identical with
this Warrant, or at the request of the Holder, appropriate notation may be made on this Warrant and the same returned to the Holder.
(c)
Payment of the Warrant Price may be made at the option of the Holder by: (i) certified or official bank check
payable to the order of the Company, or (ii) wire transfer to the account of the Company, provided that if at any time following the 120th day
after the Closing Date there is no effective Registration Statement registering, or no current prospectus available for, the resale of the Warrant
Shares by the Holder, then this Warrant may also be exercised at such time by means of a “cashless exercise” in which the Holder shall be
entitled to receive a certificate for the number of Warrant Shares equal to the quotient obtained by dividing [(A-B) (X)] by (A), where:
(A) = the closing sale price on the Trading Day immediately preceding the date of such election;
(B) = the Warrant Price of this Warrant, as adjusted; and
(X) = the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant in accordance with the terms of this
Warrant by means of a cash exercise rather than a cashless exercise.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, on the Expiration Date, this Warrant shall be automatically exercised via cashless exercise
pursuant to this Section 2.1(c).
(d)
All shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant pursuant to the terms hereof shall be
validly issued and, upon payment of the Warrant Price, shall be fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to any preemptive rights.
(e)
Book-Entry. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, upon exercise of any portion of this Warrant in accordance
with the terms hereof, the warrantholder shall not be required to physically surrender this Warrant to the Company unless such holder is
purchasing the full amount of Warrant Shares represented by this Warrant. The warrantholder and the Company shall maintain records
showing the number of Warrant Shares so purchased hereunder and the dates of such purchases or shall use such other method, reasonably
satisfactory to the warrantholder and the Company, so as not to require physical surrender of this Warrant upon each such exercise. In
connection therewith a form of ledger to maintain a record of such transactions is attached hereto. The warrantholder and any assignee, by
acceptance of this Warrant or a new Warrant, acknowledge and agree that, by reason of the provisions of this paragraph, following exercise of
any portion of this Warrant, the number of Warrant Shares which may be purchased upon exercise of this Warrant may be less than the
number of Warrant Shares set forth on the face hereof.
2.2.
Fractional Shares. The Company shall not be required to issue a fractional share of Common Stock upon exercise of any
Warrant. As to any fraction of a share which the Holder
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of one or more Warrants, the rights under which are exercised in the same transaction, would otherwise be entitled to purchase upon such
exercise, the Company shall pay an amount in cash equal to the Current Market Price per share of Common Stock on the date of exercise
multiplied by such fraction.
2.3.
Continued Validity. A Holder of shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise of this Warrant, in whole or in part
(other than a Holder who acquires such shares after the same have been publicly sold pursuant to a Registration Statement under the Securities
Act or sold pursuant to Rule 144 thereunder), shall continue to be entitled with respect to such shares to all rights to which it would have been
entitled as the Holder under Sections 10 and 13 of this Warrant.
2.4.

Restrictions on Exercise Amount.

(i)
Unless a Holder delivers to the Company irrevocable written notice prior to the date of issuance hereof or sixty-one days
prior to the effective date of such notice that this Section 2.4(i) shall not apply to such Holder, the Company shall not issue to the Holder, and
the Holder may not acquire, a number of shares of Warrant Stock to the extent that, upon such exercise, the number of shares of Common
Stock then beneficially owned by such holder and its Affiliates and any other persons or entities whose beneficial ownership of Common
Stock would be aggregated with the Holder’s for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act (including shares held by any “group” of
which the holder is a member, but excluding shares beneficially owned by virtue of the ownership of securities or rights to acquire securities
that have limitations on the right to convert, exercise or purchase similar to the limitation set forth herein) would exceed 9.9% of the total
number of shares of Common Stock of the Company then issued and outstanding. For purposes hereof, “group” has the meaning set forth in
Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and applicable regulations of the Commission, and the percentage held by the holder shall be determined in
a manner consistent with the provisions of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act. Each delivery of a notice of exercise by a Holder will constitute
a representation by such Holder that it has evaluated the limitation set forth in this paragraph and determined, based on the most recent public
filings by the Company with the Commission, that the issuance of the full number of shares of Warrant Stock requested in such notice of
exercise is permitted under this paragraph.
(ii)
Overall Limit on Common Stock Issuable. Notwithstanding anything herein or in the other documents, if the Company has
not obtained Shareholder Approval (as defined below), then the Company may not issue, upon exercise of the Warrants, a number of shares
of Common Stock in excess of the amount of shares of Common Stock which may be issued upon the exercise of the Warrants (the “Issuable
Maximum”) without causing the Company to breach its obligations under the rules or regulations of the Nasdaq Stock Market (including
without limitation Section 5635(d) of the NASDAQ Stock Market Rules), provided that any portion of this Warrant which cannot be
exercised due to such Issuable Maximum shall be purchased by the Company using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. Each Holder
shall be entitled to a portion of the Issuable Maximum equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the aggregate principal amount of the
Notes issued and sold to such Holder by (y) the aggregate principal amount of all Notes issued and sold by the Company. If any Holder shall
no longer hold any Notes, then such Holder’s remaining portion of the Issuable Maximum, if any, shall be
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reallocated pro-rata among the other Holders. “Shareholder Approval” means approval by the shareholders of the Company, in accordance
with the applicable rules and regulations of the Nasdaq Stock Market (including without limitation Section 5635(e) of the NASDAQ Stock
Market Rules) and Nevada corporate law, of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, the Notes and the Warrants (as
amended hereby), including without limitation the issuance of all of the Conversion Shares under the Notes in excess of the Issuable
Maximum.
3.

Transfer, Division and Combination.

3.1.
Transfer. The Warrants and the Warrant Stock shall be freely transferable, subject to compliance with all applicable laws,
including, but not limited to the Securities Act. If, at the time of the surrender of this Warrant in connection with any transfer of this Warrant or
the resale of the Warrant Stock, this Warrant or the Warrant Stock, as applicable, shall not be registered under the Securities Act, the Company
may require, as a condition of allowing such transfer (i) that the Holder or transferee of this Warrant or the Warrant Stock as the case may be,
furnish to the Company a written opinion of counsel that is reasonably acceptable to the Company to the effect that such transfer may be made
without registration under the Securities Act, (ii) that the Holder or transferee execute and deliver to the Company an investment letter in form
and substance reasonably acceptable to the Company, and (iii) that the transferee be an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501(a)
promulgated under the Securities Act. Transfer of this Warrant and all rights hereunder, in whole or in part, in accordance with the foregoing
provisions, shall be registered on the books of the Company to be maintained for such purpose, upon surrender of this Warrant at the principal
office of the Company referred to in Section 2.1 or the office or agency designated by the Company pursuant to Section 12, together with a
written assignment of this Warrant substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto duly executed by the Holder or its agent or attorney and funds
sufficient to pay any transfer taxes payable upon the making of such transfer. Upon such surrender and, if required, such payment, the
Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant or Warrants in the name of the assignee or assignees and in the denomination specified in
such instrument of assignment, and shall issue to the assignor a new Warrant evidencing the portion of this Warrant not so assigned, and this
Warrant shall promptly be cancelled. Following a transfer that complies with the requirements of this Section 3.1, the Warrant may be
exercised by a new Holder for the purchase of shares of Common Stock regardless of whether the Company issued or registered a new
Warrant on the books of the Company. In connection with any transfer of this Warrant after the Registration Statement (as defined in the
Investor Rights Agreement) is declared effective under the Securities Act, the Holder or transferee of this Warrant shall reimburse the
Company for its reasonable out of pocket costs in connection with such transfer (including without limitation the reasonable attorneys fees for
preparing and filing a prospectus supplement with the SEC and/or delivering an updated opinion letter to the Seller’s transfer agent).
3.2.
Restrictive Legends. Each certificate for Warrant Stock initially issued upon the exercise of this Warrant, and each
certificate for Warrant Stock issued to any subsequent transferee of any such certificate, unless, in each case, such Warrant Stock is registered
under the Securities Act or is eligible for resale without registration pursuant to Rule 144(k) under the Securities Act, shall be stamped or
otherwise imprinted with a legend in substantially the following form:
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“THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT
OF 1933 AS AMENDED, AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, ASSIGNED OR TRANSFERRED, IN THE ABSENCE OF AN
EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER SAID ACT OR UNLESS THE COMPANY HAS RECEIVED AN OPINION
OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT REGISTRATION UNDER SAID ACT IS NOT
REQUIRED.”
“THE SALE, TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT OF THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE IS SUBJECT TO
THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF A CERTAIN INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT DATED AS OF SEPTEMBER ___, 2011,
AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, AMONG THE COMPANY AND CERTAIN HOLDERS OF ITS OUTSTANDING
SECURITIES. COPIES OF SUCH AGREEMENT MAY BE OBTAINED AT NO COST BY WRITTEN REQUEST MADE BY THE
HOLDER OF RECORD OF THIS CERTIFICATE TO THE SECRETARY OF THE COMPANY.”
3.3.
Division and Combination; Expenses; Books. This Warrant may be divided or combined with other Warrants upon
presentation hereof at the aforesaid office or agency of the Company, together with a written notice specifying the names and denominations in
which new Warrants are to be issued, signed by the Holder or its agent or attorney. Subject to compliance with Section 3.1 as to any transfer
which may be involved in such division or combination, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant or Warrants in exchange for
the Warrant or Warrants to be divided or combined in accordance with such notice. The Company shall prepare, issue and deliver at its own
expense the new Warrant or Warrants under this Section 3. The Company agrees to maintain, at its aforesaid office or agency, books for the
registration and the registration of transfer of the Warrants.
4.
Adjustments. The number of shares of Common Stock for which this Warrant is exercisable, and the price at which such
shares may be purchased upon exercise of this Warrant, shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as set forth in this Section 4. The
Company shall give the Holder notice of any event described below which requires an adjustment pursuant to this Section 4 in accordance
with Sections 5.1 and 5.2.
4.1.

Stock Dividends, Subdivisions and Combinations. If at any time while this Warrant is outstanding the Company shall:
(i)

declare a dividend or make a distribution on its outstanding shares of Common Stock in shares of Common Stock,

(ii)

subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a larger number of shares of Common Stock, or

(iii)

combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares of Common Stock, then:

(1)
the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable upon exercise of this Warrant immediately after the occurrence of any
such event shall be adjusted to equal the number of shares of Common Stock which a record holder of the same number of shares of Common
Stock
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that would have been acquirable under this Warrant immediately prior to the record date for such dividend or distribution or the effective date
of such subdivision or combination would own or be entitled to receive after such record date or the effective date of such subdivision or
combination, as applicable, and
(2)

the Current Warrant Price shall be adjusted to equal:

(A)
the Current Warrant Price in effect at the time of the record date for such dividend or distribution or of the effective
date of such subdivision or combination, multiplied by the number of shares of Common Stock into which this Warrant is exercisable
immediately prior to the adjustment, divided by
(B)

the number of shares of Common Stock into which this Warrant is exercisable immediately after such adjustment.

Any adjustment made pursuant to clause (i) of this paragraph shall become effective immediately after the record date for the
determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or distribution, and any adjustment pursuant to clauses (ii) or (iii) of this
paragraph shall become effective immediately after the effective date of such subdivision or combination.
4.2.
Certain Other Distributions. If at any time while this Warrant is outstanding the Company shall cause the holders of its
Common Stock to be entitled to receive any dividend or other distribution of:
(i)

cash,

(ii)
any evidences of its indebtedness, any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property or assets of
any nature whatsoever (other than cash or additional shares of Common Stock as provided in Section 4.1 hereof), or
(iii)
any warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase any evidences of its indebtedness, any shares of stock of
any class or any other securities or property or assets of any nature whatsoever, then:
(1)
the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be adjusted to equal the
product of the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable upon exercise of this Warrant immediately prior to the record date for
such dividend or distribution, multiplied by a fraction (x) the numerator of which shall be the Current Warrant Price per share of
Common Stock at the date of taking such record and (y) the denominator of which shall be such Current Warrant Price minus the
amount allocable to one share of Common Stock of any such cash so distributable and of the fair value (as determined in good faith by
the Board of Directors of the Company) of any and all such evidences of indebtedness, shares of stock, other securities or property or
warrants or other subscription or purchase rights so distributable; and
(2)
the Current Warrant Price in effect immediately prior to the record date fixed for determination of stockholders
entitled to receive such distribution shall be adjusted to equal (x) the Current Warrant Price multiplied by the number of shares of
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Common Stock acquirable upon exercise of this Warrant immediately prior to the adjustment, divided by (y) the number of shares of
Common Stock acquirable upon exercise of this Warrant immediately after such adjustment. A reclassification of the Common Stock
(other than a change in par value, or from par value to no par value or from no par value to par value) into shares of Common Stock
and shares of any other class of stock shall be deemed a distribution by the Company to the holders of its Common Stock of such
shares of such other class of stock within the meaning of this Section 4.2 and, if the outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be
changed into a larger or smaller number of shares of Common Stock as a part of such reclassification, such change shall be deemed a
subdivision or combination, as the case may be, of the outstanding shares of Common Stock within the meaning of Section 4.1.
4.3.
Securities Issuances. In the event that the Company or any of its subsidiaries (A) issues or sells any Common Stock or
convertible securities, warrants, options or other rights to subscribe for or to purchase or exchange for, shares of Common Stock
(“Convertible Securities”) or (B) directly or indirectly effectively reduces the conversion, exercise or exchange price for any Convertible
Securities which are currently outstanding, at or to an effective Per Share Selling Price (as defined below) which is less than the greater of (I)
the closing sale price per share of the Common Stock on the principal market on which the Common Stock is traded the Trading Day next
preceding such issue or sale or, in the case of issuances to holders of its Common Stock, the date fixed for the determination of stockholders
entitled to receive such warrants, rights, or options (“Fair Market Price”), or (II) the Current Warrant Price, then in each such case the Current
Warrant Price in effect immediately prior to such issue or sale or record date, as applicable, shall be automatically reduced effective
concurrently with such issue or sale to an amount determined by multiplying the Current Warrant Price then in effect by a fraction, (x) the
numerator of which shall be the sum of (1) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to such issue or sale, plus
(2) the number of shares of Common Stock which the aggregate consideration received by the Company for such additional shares would
purchase at such Fair Market Price or Current Warrant Price, as the case may be, and (y) the denominator of which shall be the number of
shares of Common Stock of the Company outstanding immediately after such issue or sale, and the number of shares of Warrant Stock for
which this Warrant is thereafter exercisable shall be automatically inversely proportionately increased such that the aggregate Warrant Price
hereunder immediately preceding such issuance shall be equal to the aggregate Warrant Price following such issuance and the adjustments
hereby. The foregoing provision shall not apply to any issuances or sales of Common Stock or Convertible Securities (i) pursuant to any
Convertible Securities currently outstanding on the date hereof in accordance with the terms of such Convertible Securities in effect on the date
hereof, or (ii) to any officer, director or employee of the Company pursuant to a bona fide option or equity incentive plan duly adopted by the
Company’s Board of Directors and shareholders. The Company shall give to the Warrantholder written notice of any such sale of Common
Stock within 24 hours of the closing of any such sale and shall within such 24 hour period issue a press release announcing such sale if such
sale is a material event for, or otherwise material to, the Company.
For the purposes of the foregoing adjustments, in the case of the issuance of any Convertible Securities, the maximum number of
shares of Common Stock issuable upon
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exercise, exchange or conversion of such Convertible Securities shall be deemed to be outstanding.
For purposes of this Section 4.3, if an event occurs that triggers more than one of the above adjustment provisions, then only one
adjustment shall be made and the calculation method which yields the greatest downward adjustment in the Current Warrant Price shall be
used.
“Per Share Selling Price” shall include the amount actually paid by third parties for each share of Common Stock in a sale or issuance
by the Company. In the event a fee is paid by the Company in connection with such transaction directly or indirectly to such third party or its
affiliates, any such fee shall be deducted from the selling price pro rata to all shares sold in the transaction to arrive at the Per Share Selling
Price. A sale of shares of Common Stock shall include the sale or issuance of Convertible Securities, and in such circumstances the Per Share
Selling Price of the Common Stock covered thereby shall also include the exercise, exchange or conversion price thereof (in addition to the
consideration received by the Company upon such sale or issuance less the fee amount as provided above). In case of any such security
issued in a transaction in which the purchase price or the conversion, exchange or exercise price is directly or indirectly subject to adjustment
or reset based on a future date, future trading prices of the Common Stock, specified or contingent events directly or indirectly related to the
business of the Company or the market for the Common Stock, or otherwise (but excluding standard stock split anti-dilution provisions or
weighted-average anti-dilution provisions similar to that set forth herein, provided that any actual reduction of such price under any such
security pursuant to such weighted-average anti-dilution provision shall be included and cause a adjustment hereunder), the Per Share Selling
Price shall be deemed to be the lowest conversion, exchange, exercise or reset price at which such securities are converted, exchanged,
exercised or reset or might have been converted, exchanged, exercised or reset, or the lowest adjustment, as the case may be, over the life of
such securities. If shares are issued for a consideration other than cash, the Per Share Selling Price shall be the fair value of such
consideration as determined in good faith by independent certified public accountants mutually acceptable to the Company and the Holder. In
the event the Company directly or indirectly effectively reduces the conversion, exercise or exchange price for any Convertible Securities
which are currently outstanding, then the Per Share Selling Price shall equal such effectively reduced conversion, exercise or exchange price.
4.4.
Other Provisions Applicable to Adjustments. The following provisions shall be applicable to the making of adjustments of
the number of shares of Common Stock into which this Warrant is exercisable and the Current Warrant Price provided for in Section 4:
(a) When Adjustments to Be Made. The adjustments required by Section 4 shall be made whenever and as often as any
specified event requiring an adjustment shall occur, except that any that would otherwise be required may be postponed (except in the case of a
subdivision or combination of shares of the Common Stock, as provided for in Section 4.1) up to, but not beyond the date of exercise if such
adjustment either by itself or with other adjustments not previously made adds or subtracts less than 1% of the shares of Common Stock into
which this Warrant is exercisable immediately prior to the making of such adjustment. Any adjustment representing a change of less than such
minimum amount (except as aforesaid) which is postponed shall be carried forward and made as soon as such adjustment, together with other
adjustments required by this Section 4 and not previously made, would result in a minimum
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adjustment or on the date of exercise. For the purpose of any adjustment, any specified event shall be deemed to have occurred at the close of
business on the date of its occurrence.
(b) Fractional Interests. In computing adjustments under this Section 4, fractional interests in Common Stock shall be taken
into account to the nearest 1/100th of a share.
(c) When Adjustment Not Required. If the Company undertakes a transaction contemplated under this Section 4 and as a
result takes a record of the holders of its Common Stock for the purpose of entitling them to receive a dividend or distribution or subscription
or purchase rights or other benefits contemplated under this Section 4 and shall, thereafter and before the distribution to stockholders thereof,
legally abandon its plan to pay or deliver such dividend, distribution, subscription or purchase rights or other benefits contemplated under this
Section 4, then thereafter no adjustment shall be required by reason of the taking of such record and any such adjustment previously made in
respect thereof shall be rescinded and annulled.
(d) Escrow of Stock. If after any property becomes distributable pursuant to Section 4 by reason of the taking of any record
of the holders of Common Stock, but prior to the occurrence of the event for which such record is taken, a holder of this Warrant exercises the
Warrant during such time, then such holder shall continue to be entitled to receive any shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise
hereunder by reason of such adjustment and such shares or other property shall be held in escrow for the holder of this Warrant by the
Company to be issued to holder of this Warrant upon and to the extent that the event actually takes place. Notwithstanding any other provision
to the contrary herein, if the event for which such record was taken fails to occur or is rescinded, then such escrowed shares shall be canceled
by the Company and escrowed property returned to the Company.
4.5.

Reorganization, Reclassification, Merger, Consolidation or Disposition of Assets.

(a) If there shall occur a Change of Control and, pursuant to the terms of such Change of Control, shares of common stock
of the successor or acquiring corporation, or any cash, shares of stock or other securities or property of any nature whatsoever (including
warrants or other subscription or purchase rights) in addition to or in lieu of common stock of the successor or acquiring corporation (“Other
Property”), are to be received by or distributed to the holders of Common Stock of the Company, then the Holder of this Warrant shall have
the right thereafter to receive, upon the exercise of the Warrant, the number of shares of common stock of the successor or acquiring
corporation or of the Company, if it is the surviving corporation, and the Other Property receivable upon or as a result of such Change of
Control by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock into which this Warrant is exercisable immediately prior to such event.
(b) In case of any such Change of Control described in Section 4.5(a) above, the resulting, successor or acquiring entity (if
other than the Company) and, if an entity different from the successor or acquiring entity, the entity whose capital stock or assets the holders
of the Common Stock are entitled to receive as a result of such Change of Control, shall expressly assume the due and punctual observance
and performance of each and every covenant and condition contained in this Warrant to be performed and observed by the Company and all
the obligations and liabilities hereunder, subject to such modifications as may be deemed appropriate
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(as determined by resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company) in order to provide for adjustments of shares of the Common Stock
into which this Warrant is exercisable which shall be as nearly equivalent as practicable to the adjustments provided for in Section 4. For
purposes of Section 4, common stock of the successor or acquiring corporation shall include stock of such corporation of any class which is
not preferred as to dividends or assets on liquidation over any other class of stock of such corporation and which is not subject to redemption
and shall also include any evidences of indebtedness, shares of stock or other securities which are convertible into or exchangeable for any
such stock, either immediately or upon the arrival of a specified date or the happening of a specified event and any warrants or other rights to
subscribe for or purchase any such stock. The foregoing provisions of this Section 4 shall similarly apply to successive Change of Control
transactions.
4.6.
Other Action Affecting Common Stock. In case at any time or from time to time the Company shall take any action in
respect of its Common Stock, other than the payment of dividends permitted by Section 4 or any other action described in Section 4, then,
unless such action will not have a materially adverse effect upon the rights of the holder of this Warrant, the number of shares of Common
Stock or other stock into which this Warrant is exercisable and/or the purchase price thereof shall be adjusted in such manner as may be
equitable in the circumstances.
4.7.
Certain Limitations. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company agrees not to enter into any transaction
which, by reason of any adjustment hereunder, would cause the Current Warrant Price to be less than the par value per share of Common
Stock.
4.8.
Stock Transfer Taxes. The issue of stock certificates upon exercise of this Warrant shall be made without charge to the
holder for any tax in respect of such issue. The Company shall not, however, be required to pay any tax which may be payable in respect of
any transfer involved in the issue and delivery of shares in any name other than that of the holder of this Warrant, and the Company shall not
be required to issue or deliver any such stock certificate unless and until the person or persons requesting the issue thereof shall have paid to
the Company the amount of such tax or shall have established to the satisfaction of the Company that such tax has been paid.
5.

Notices to Warrant Holders.

5.1.
Certificate as to Adjustments. Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or readjustment of the Current Warrant Price, the
Company, at its expense, shall promptly compute such adjustment or readjustment in accordance with the terms hereof and prepare and furnish
to the Holder of this Warrant a certificate setting forth such adjustment or readjustment and showing in detail the facts upon which such
adjustment or readjustment is based. The Company shall, upon the written request at any time of the Holder of this Warrant, furnish or cause
to be furnished to such Holder a like certificate setting forth (i) such adjustments and readjustments, (ii) the Current Warrant Price at the time
in effect and (iii) the number of shares of Common Stock and the amount, if any, or other property which at the time would be received upon
the exercise of Warrants owned by such Holder.
5.2.

Notice of Corporate Action. If at any time:
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(a)
the Company shall take a record of the holders of its Common Stock for the purpose of entitling them to receive a
dividend (other than a cash dividend payable out of earnings or earned surplus legally available for the payment of dividends under the laws of
the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Company) or other distribution, or any right to subscribe for or purchase any evidences of its
indebtedness, any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property, or to receive any other right, or
(b)
there shall be any capital reorganization of the Company, any reclassification or recapitalization of the capital stock
of the Company or any consolidation or merger of the Company with, or any sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all the
property, assets or business of the Company to, another corporation,
(c)

there shall be a voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company, or

(d)
the Company shall cause the holders of its Common Stock to be entitled to receive (i) any dividend or other
distribution of cash, (ii) any evidences of its indebtedness, or (iii) any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property or assets
of any nature whatsoever (other than cash or additional shares of Common Stock as provided in Section 4.1 hereof); or (iv) any warrants or
other rights to subscribe for or purchase any evidences of its indebtedness, any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property
or assets of any nature whatsoever;
then, in any one or more of such cases, the Company shall give to the Holder (i) at least 20 days’ prior written notice of the date on which a
record date shall be selected for such dividend, distribution or right or for determining rights to vote in respect of any such reorganization,
reclassification, merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, disposition, dissolution, liquidation or winding up, and (ii) in the case of any such
reorganization, reclassification, merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, disposition, dissolution, liquidation or winding up, at least 20 days’ prior
written notice of the date when the same shall take place. Such notice in accordance with the foregoing clause also shall specify (i) the date on
which any such record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution or right, the date on which the holders of Common Stock
shall be entitled to any such dividend, distribution or right, and the amount and character thereof, and (ii) the date on which any such
reorganization, reclassification, merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, disposition, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is to take place and the
time, if any such time is to be fixed, as of which the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to exchange their shares of Common Stock for
securities or other property deliverable upon such reorganization, reclassification, merger, consolidation, sale, transfer, disposition, dissolution,
liquidation or winding up. Each such written notice shall be sufficiently given if addressed to the Holder at the last address of the Holder
appearing on the books of the Company and delivered in accordance with Section 15.2.
5.3.
No Rights as Stockholder. This Warrant does not entitle the Holder to any voting or other rights as a stockholder of the
Company prior to exercise and payment for the Warrant Price in accordance with the terms hereof.
6.

No Impairment. The Company shall not by any action, including, without
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limitation, amending its articles of incorporation or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue or
sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms of this Warrant, but
will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all such terms and in the taking of all such actions as may be necessary or appropriate
to protect the rights of the Holder against impairment. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company will (a) not increase the
par value of any shares of Common Stock receivable upon the exercise of this Warrant above the amount payable therefor upon such exercise
immediately prior to such increase in par value, (b) take all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order that the Company may
validly and legally issue fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of this Warrant, and (c) use its best efforts
to obtain all such authorizations, exemptions or consents from any public regulatory body having jurisdiction thereof as may be necessary to
enable the Company to perform its obligations under this Warrant. Upon the request of the Holder, the Company will at any time during the
period this Warrant is outstanding acknowledge in writing, in form satisfactory to the Holder, the continuing validity of this Warrant and the
obligations of the Company hereunder.
7.
Reservation and Authorization of Common Stock; Registration With Approval of Any Governmental Authority. From and
after the date of issuance hereof, the Company shall at all times reserve and keep available for issue upon the exercise of Warrants such
number of its authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock as will be sufficient to permit the exercise in full of all outstanding Warrants
(without regard to any ownership limitations provided in Section 2.4(i)). All shares of Common Stock which shall be so issuable, when
issued upon exercise of any Warrant and payment therefor in accordance with the terms of such Warrant, shall be duly and validly issued and
fully paid and nonassessable, and not subject to preemptive rights. Before taking any action which would cause an adjustment reducing the
Current Warrant Price below the then par value, if any, of the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants, the Company
shall take any corporate action which may be necessary in order that the Company may validly and legally issue fully paid and non-assessable
shares of such Common Stock at such adjusted Current Warrant Price. Before taking any action which would result in an adjustment in the
number of shares of Common Stock for which this Warrant is exercisable or in the Current Warrant Price, the Company shall obtain all such
authorizations or exemptions thereof, or consents thereto, as may be necessary from any public regulatory body or bodies having jurisdiction
thereof. If any shares of Common Stock required to be reserved for issuance upon exercise of Warrants require registration or qualification
with any governmental authority under any federal or state law before such shares may be so issued (other than as a result of a prior or
contemplated distribution by the Holder of this Warrant), the Company will in good faith and as expeditiously as possible and at its expense
endeavor to cause such shares to be duly registered.
8.
Taking of Record; Stock and Warrant Transfer Books. In the case of all dividends or other distributions by the Company to
the holders of its Common Stock with respect to which any provision of Section 4 refers to the taking of a record of such holders, the
Company will in each such case take such a record and will take such record as of the close of business on a Business Day. The Company
will not at any time, except upon dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company, close its stock transfer books or Warrant transfer
books so as to result in preventing or delaying the exercise or transfer of any Warrant.
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9.
Piggyback Registration Rights. The resale of the Warrant Stock shall be registered to the extent set forth and in accordance
with the terms and conditions contained in that certain Investor Rights Agreement dated of even date hereof, among the Holder, the Company
and the other parties named therein (the “Investor Rights Agreement”). The Holder acknowledges that pursuant to the Investor Rights
Agreement, the Company has the right to request that the Holder furnish information regarding such Holder and the distribution of the
Warrant Stock as is required by law or the Commission to be disclosed in the Registration Statement (as such term is defined in the Investor
Rights Agreement), and the Company may exclude from such registration the shares of Warrant Stock acquirable hereunder if Holder fails to
furnish such information within a reasonable time prior to the filing of each Registration Statement, supplemented prospectus included therein
and/or amended Registration Statement.
10.
Supplying Information. Upon any default by the Company of its obligations hereunder or under the Investor Rights
Agreement, the Company shall cooperate with the Holder in supplying such information as may be reasonably necessary for such Holder to
complete and file any information reporting forms presently or hereafter required by the Commission as a condition to the availability of an
exemption from the Securities Act for the sale of any Warrant or Restricted Common Stock.
11.
Loss or Mutilation. Upon receipt by the Company from the Holder of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of the
ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Warrant and indemnity or security reasonably satisfactory to it and
reimbursement to the Company of all reasonable expenses incidental thereto and in case of mutilation upon surrender and cancellation hereof,
the Company will execute and deliver in lieu hereof a new Warrant of like tenor to the Holder; provided, however, that in the case of
mutilation, no indemnity shall be required if this Warrant in identifiable form is surrendered to the Company for cancellation.
12.
Office of the Company. As long as any of the Warrants remain outstanding, the Company shall maintain an office or
agency (which may be the principal executive offices of the Company) where the Warrants may be presented for exercise, registration of
transfer, division or combination as provided in this Warrant.
13.

Financial and Business Information.

13.1.
Quarterly Information. The Company will deliver to the Holder, as soon as available and in any event within 45 days
after the end of each of the first three quarters of each fiscal year of the Company, one copy of an unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the
Company and its subsidiaries as at the end of such quarter, and the related unaudited consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and
cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries for such quarter and, in the case of the second and third quarters, for the portion of the fiscal
year ending with such quarter, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding periods in the previous fiscal
year. Such financial statements shall be prepared by the Company in accordance with GAAP and accompanied by the certification of the
Company’s chief executive officer or chief financial officer that such financial statements present fairly the consolidated financial position,
results of operations and cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the end of such quarter and for such year-to-date period, as the
case may be; provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to deliver such
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quarterly information under this Section 13.1 to the extent it is publicly available; and provided further, that if such information contains
material non-public information, the Company shall so notify the Holder prior to delivery thereof and the Holder shall have the right to refuse
delivery of such information.
13.2.
Annual Information. The Company will deliver to the Holder as soon as available and in any event within 90 days after
the end of each fiscal year of the Company, one copy of an audited consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the
end of such year, and audited consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries for such
year; setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding periods in the previous fiscal year; all prepared in
accordance with GAAP, and which audited financial statements shall be accompanied by an opinion thereon of the independent certified public
accountants regularly retained by the Company, or any other firm of independent certified public accountants of recognized national standing
selected by the Company; provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to deliver such annual information under this Section
13.2 to the extent it is publicly available; and provided further, that if such information contains material non-public information, the Company
shall so notify the Holder prior to delivery thereof and the Holder shall have the right to refuse delivery of such information..
13.3.
Filings. The Company will file on or before the required date all regular or periodic reports (pursuant to the Exchange
Act) with the Commission and will deliver to Holder promptly upon their becoming available one copy of each report, notice or proxy
statement sent by the Company to its stockholders generally.
14.
Limitation of Liability. No provision hereof, in the absence of affirmative action by the Holder to purchase shares of
Common Stock, and no enumeration herein of the rights or privileges of the Holder hereof, shall give rise to any liability of the Holder for the
purchase price of any Common Stock, whether such liability is asserted by the Company or by creditors of the Company.
15.

Miscellaneous.

15.1
Nonwaiver and Expenses. No course of dealing or any delay or failure to exercise any right hereunder on the part of the
Holder shall operate as a waiver of such right or otherwise prejudice Holder’s rights, powers or remedies. If the Company fails to make, when
due, any payments provided for hereunder, or fails to comply with any other provision of this Warrant, the Company shall pay to the Holder
such amounts as shall be sufficient to cover any third party costs and expenses including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees,
including those of appellate proceedings, incurred by the Holder in collecting any amounts due pursuant hereto or in otherwise enforcing any
of its rights, powers or remedies hereunder.
15.2
Notice Generally. All notices, requests, demands or other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and
shall be given in the manner and to the addresses set forth in the Purchase Agreement.
15.3

Successors and Assigns. Subject to compliance with the provisions of Section 3.1,
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this Warrant and the rights evidenced hereby shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the successors of the Company and the
successors and assigns of the Holder. The provisions of this Warrant are intended to be for the benefit of all Holders from time to time of this
Warrant, and shall be enforceable by any such Holder.
15.4
Amendment. This Warrant may be modified or amended or the provisions of this Warrant waived with the written
consent of both the Company and the Holder.
15.5
Severability. Wherever possible, each provision of this Warrant shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and
valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Warrant shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be
modified to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of
this Warrant.
15.6
Headings. The headings used in this Warrant are for the convenience of reference only and shall not, for any purpose, be
deemed a part of this Warrant.
15.7
Governing Law. This Warrant and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be deemed to be consummated in the State
of New York and shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the local laws of the State of New York without regard to the
provisions thereof relating to conflicts of laws. The Company hereby irrevocably consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State and Federal
courts located in New York City, New York in connection with any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Warrant. In any such
litigation the Company agrees that the service thereof may be made by certified or registered mail directed to the Company pursuant to Section
15.2.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, NetSol Technologies, Inc. has caused this Warrant to be executed by its duly authorized officer and
attested by its Secretary.
Dated: September 13, 2011

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ Najeeb Ghauri
______________________________
Name: Najeeb Ghauri
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Attest:

By: /s/ Patti L.W. McGlasson
______________________________
Name: Patti L.W. McGlasson
Title: Secretary
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EXHIBIT A
SUBSCRIPTION FORM
[To be executed only upon exercise of Warrant]
NetSol Technologies, Inc.
23901 Calabasas Road,
Suite 2072
Calabasas, CA 91302
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile No.: (818) 222-9197

This undersigned hereby elects to exercise the right of purchase represented by the within Warrant (“Warrant”) for, and to purchase thereunder
_______________ shares of Common Stock (“Warrant Shares”) provided for therein, and requests that certificates for the Warrant Shares be
issued as follows:
_______________________________
Name
_______________________________
Address
_______________________________
_______________________________
and, if the number of Warrant Shares shall not be all the Warrant Shares purchasable upon exercise of the Warrant, that a new Warrant for the
balance of the Warrant Shares.
In lieu of delivering physical certificates representing the Warrant Shares purchasable upon exercise of this Warrant, provided the Company's
transfer agent is participating in the Depository Trust Company ("DTC") Fast Automated Securities Transfer ("FAST") program, upon
request of the Holder, the Company shall use its best efforts to cause its transfer agent to electronically transmit the Warrant Shares issuable
upon conversion or exercise to the undersigned, by crediting the account of the undersigned's prime broker with DTC through its Deposit
Withdrawal Agent Commission ("DWAC") system.
To the extent the undersigned intends to sell the Warrant Shares issued to the undersigned upon exercise of this Warrant pursuant to a
Registration Statement (as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement), the undersigned agrees to comply with all applicable prospectus
delivery requirements under the Securities Act with respect to such sale.

Dated:_______________________

Signature:______________________
________________________________
Name (please print)
________________________________
Address
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EXHIBIT B
ASSIGNMENT FORM
FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned registered owner of this Warrant for the purchase of shares of common stock of NetSol
Technologies, Inc. hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto the Assignee named below all of the rights of the undersigned under this Warrant,
with respect to the number of shares of common stock set forth below:

_______________________________________
_______________________________________
_______________________________________
(Name and Address of Assignee)
_______________________________________
(Number of Shares of Common Stock)

and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint ____________ attorney-in-fact to register such transfer on the books of the Company,
maintained for the purpose, with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:_________________________________
______________________________________
(Print Name and Title)
______________________________________
(Signature)
______________________________________
(Witness)

NOTICE: The signature on this assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the Warrant in every particular, without
alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever.
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NEITHER THESE SECURITIES NOR THE SECURITIES INTO WHICH THESE SECURITIES ARE CONVERTIBLE
HAVE BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION IN RELIANCE UPON AN
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES
ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE
REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION
FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES
ACT.
THIS NOTE DOES NOT REQUIRE PHYSICAL SURRENDER OF THE NOTE IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL
REDEMPTION OR CONVERSION. AS A RESULT, FOLLOWING ANY REDEMPTION OR CONVERSION OF ANY
PORTION OF THIS NOTE, THE OUTSTANDING PRINCIPAL AMOUNT REPRESENTED BY THIS NOTE MAY BE LESS
THAN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT AND ACCRUED INTEREST SET FORTH BELOW.

8.25% CONVERTIBLE NOTE
OF
NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Issuance Date: September 13, 2011

Original Principal Amount: $400,000
New York, New York

This Note (“Note”) is one of a duly authorized issue of Notes of NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a corporation duly
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada (the “Company”), designated as the Company's 8.25% Convertible Notes due
on September 13, 2013 (the “Maturity Date”) in an aggregate principal amount (when taken together with the original principal amounts of
all other Notes) which does not exceed Four Million U.S. Dollars (U.S. $4,000,000) (the “Notes”).
For Value Received, the Company hereby promises to pay to the order of SOLOMON STRATEGIC HOLDINGS, INC. or its
registered assigns or successors-in-interest (“Holder”) the principal sum of Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (U.S. $400,000), together with
all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, if any, on the Maturity Date, to the extent such principal amount and interest has not been repaid or
converted into the Company's Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “Common Stock”), in accordance with the terms
hereof. Interest on the unpaid principal balance hereof shall accrue at the rate of 8.25% per annum from the date of original issuance hereof
(the “Issuance Date”) until the same becomes due and payable on the Maturity Date, or such earlier date upon acceleration or by conversion
or redemption in accordance with the terms hereof or of the other Agreements. Interest on this Note shall accrue daily commencing on the
Issuance Date and shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year, 30-day months and actual days elapsed and shall be payable in
accordance with Section 1 hereof. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, this Note shall bear interest on the due and unpaid Principal
Amount from and after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default pursuant to Section 4(a) at the rate (the “Default
Rate”) equal to the lower of eighteen (18%) per annum or the highest rate permitted by law. Unless otherwise agreed or required by

applicable law, payments will be applied first to any unpaid collection costs, then to unpaid interest and fees and any remaining amount to
principal.
All payments of principal and interest on this Note shall be made in lawful money of the United States of America by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to such account as the Holder may from time to time designate by written notice in accordance with the provisions
of this Note or by Company check. This Note may not be prepaid in whole or in part except as otherwise provided herein. Whenever any
amount expressed to be due by the terms of this Note is due on any day which is not a Business Day (as defined below), the same shall
instead be due on the next succeeding day which is a Business Day.
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth in the Purchase Agreement dated on or
about the Issuance Date pursuant to which the Notes were originally issued (the “Purchase Agreement”). For purposes hereof the following
terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them below:
“Bankruptcy Event” means any of the following events: (a) the Company or any subsidiary commences a case or other proceeding
under any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment of debt, relief of debtors, dissolution, insolvency or liquidation or similar law
of any jurisdiction relating to the Company or any subsidiary thereof; (b) there is commenced against the Company or any subsidiary any such
case or proceeding that is not dismissed within 60 days after commencement; (c) the Company or any subsidiary is adjudicated insolvent or
bankrupt or any order of relief or other order approving any such case or proceeding is entered; (d) the Company or any subsidiary suffers
any appointment of any custodian or the like for it or any substantial part of its property that is not discharged or stayed within 60 days; (e) the
Company or any subsidiary makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (f) the Company or any subsidiary fails to pay, or states
that it is unable to pay or is unable to pay, its debts generally as they become due; (g) the Company or any subsidiary calls a meeting of its
creditors with a view to arranging a composition, adjustment or restructuring of its debts; or (h) the Company or any subsidiary, by any act or
failure to act, expressly indicates its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any of the foregoing or takes any corporate or other action for
the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing.
“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which commercial banks in the City of New York
are authorized or required by law or executive order to remain closed.
“Change in Control Transaction” will be deemed to exist if (i) there occurs any consolidation, merger or other business
combination of the Company with or into any other corporation or other entity or person (whether or not the Company is the surviving
corporation), or any other corporate reorganization or transaction or series of related transactions in which in any of such events the voting
stockholders of the Company prior to such event cease to own 50% or more of the voting power, or corresponding voting equity interests, of
the surviving corporation after such event (including without limitation any “going private” transaction under Rule 13e-3 promulgated
pursuant to the Exchange Act or tender offer by the Company under Rule 13e-4 promulgated pursuant to the Exchange Act for 20% or more
of the Company's Common Stock), (ii) any person (as defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act), together with its affiliates and associates
(as such terms are defined in Rule 405 under the Act), beneficially
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owns or is deemed to beneficially own (as described in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act without regard to the 60-day exercise period) in
excess of 35% of the Company's voting power, (iii) there is a replacement of more than one-half of the members of the Company’s Board of
Directors which is not approved by those individuals who are members of the Company's Board of Directors on the date thereof, (iv) in one
or a series of related transactions, there is a sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, determined on a
consolidated basis, or (v) the Company enters into any agreement providing for an event set forth in (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above.
“Conversion Ratio” means, at any time, a fraction, of which the numerator is the entire outstanding Principal Amount of this Note
(or such portion thereof that is being redeemed or repurchased), and of which the denominator is the Conversion Price as of the date such ratio
is being determined.
“Conversion Price” shall equal $0.895 (which Conversion Price shall be subject to adjustment as set forth herein).
“Convertible Securities” means any convertible securities, warrants, options or other rights to subscribe for or to purchase or
exchange for, shares of Common Stock.
“Effective Date” means the date on which a Registration Statement covering all the Underlying Shares and other Registrable
Securities (as defined in the Investor Rights Agreement) is declared effective by the SEC.
“Eligible Market” means the Nasdaq Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange or the American Stock Exchange.
“Equity Conditions” means, during the period in question, (i) the Company shall have duly honored all conversions and redemptions
scheduled to occur or occurring by virtue of one or more Conversion Notices of the Holder, if any, (ii) the Company shall have paid all
liquidated damages and other amounts owing to the Holder in respect of this Note, (iii) all of the shares of Common Stock issued or issuable
pursuant to the Notes may be sold by the Holder pursuant to either (a) clause (i) or (ii) of Section (b)(1) of Rule 144 and, with respect to such
clause (i), the Company has been subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act for the then preceding 90
days and has filed all reports required to be filed thereunder during the then preceding 12 months (or such shorter period that the Company
was required to file such reports) or (b) an effective Registration Statement (and the Company believes, in good faith, that such effectiveness
will continue uninterrupted for the foreseeable future), (iv) the Common Stock is trading on an Eligible Market and, if applicable, all of the
shares issuable pursuant to the Notes are listed or quoted for trading on the Principal Market, (v) there is a sufficient number of authorized but
unissued and otherwise unreserved shares of Common Stock for the issuance of all of the shares issuable pursuant to the Notes, (vi) there is
no existing Event of Default or no existing event which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, would constitute an Event of Default,
(vii) the issuance of the shares in question to the Holder would not violate the limitations set forth in Section 3(i) below, (viii) if the Company
has previously publicly announced a pending or proposed Change in Control Transaction, such transaction was consummated prior to such
period, (ix) the Holder is not in possession of any information provided by the Company that constitutes, or may constitute, material nonpublic information,
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(x) there has been no Bankruptcy Event, (xi) the Company is not insolvent, and (xii) the average closing price per share of Common Stock on
the Trading Market for such period shall be greater than $0.50 (as appropriately and equitably adjusted for reverse stock splits and similar
events).
“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“Market Price” shall equal the average of the daily VWAPs over the ten (10) consecutive Trading Days immediately preceding the
date on which the Market Price is being determined.
“MFN Transaction” shall mean a transaction in which the Company issues or sells any securities in a capital raising transaction or
series of related transactions (the “MFN Offering”) which grants to the investor (the “MFN Investor”) the right to receive additional
securities based upon future capital raising transactions of the Company on terms more favorable than those granted to the MFN Investor in
the MFN Offering.
“Payment Date” shall mean April 1st and October 1st of each year, provided that if any such day is not a Trading Day, then such
Payment Date shall mean the next succeeding day which is a Trading Day.
“Per Share Selling Price” shall include the amount actually paid by third parties for each share of Common Stock in a sale or
issuance by the Company, after the deduction of all expenses incurred in connection therewith. In the event a fee is paid by the Company in
connection with such transaction directly or indirectly to any individual or entity, any such fee shall be deducted from the selling price pro rata
to all shares sold in the transaction to arrive at the Per Share Selling Price. A sale of shares of Common Stock shall include the sale or
issuance of Convertible Securities, and in such circumstances the Per Share Selling Price of the Common Stock covered thereby shall also
include the exercise, exchange or conversion price thereof (in addition to the consideration received by the Company upon such sale or
issuance less the fee amount as provided above). In case of any such security issued in a transaction in which the purchase price or the
conversion, exchange or exercise price is directly or indirectly subject to adjustment or reset based on a future date, future trading prices of the
Common Stock, specified or contingent events directly or indirectly related to the business of the Company or the market for the Common
Stock, or otherwise (but excluding standard stock split anti-dilution provisions or weighted-average anti-dilution provisions similar to that set
forth herein, provided that any actual reduction of such price under any such security pursuant to such weighted-average anti-dilution
provision shall be included and cause a adjustment hereunder), the Per Share Selling Price shall be deemed to be the lowest conversion,
exchange, exercise or reset price at which such securities are converted, exchanged, exercised or reset or might have been converted,
exchanged, exercised or reset, or the lowest adjustment, as the case may be, over the life of such securities. If shares are issued for a
consideration other than cash, the Per Share Selling Price shall be the fair value of such consideration as determined in good faith by
independent certified public accountants mutually acceptable to the Company and the Holder. In the event the Company directly or indirectly
effectively reduces the conversion, exercise or exchange price for any Convertible Securities which are currently outstanding, then the Per
Share Selling Price shall equal such effectively reduced conversion, exercise or exchange price.
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“Principal Amount” shall refer to the sum of (i) the original principal amount of this Note, (ii) all accrued but unpaid interest
hereunder, and (iii) any default payments owing under the Agreements but not previously paid or added to the Principal Amount.
“Principal Market” shall mean the Nasdaq Stock Market or such other principal market or exchange on which the Common Stock is
then listed for trading.
“Registration Statement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Investor Rights Agreement.
“Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
“Trading Day” shall mean a day on which there is trading on the Principal Market.
“Underlying Shares” means the shares of Common Stock into which the Notes are convertible (including interest or principal
payments in Common Stock as set forth herein) in accordance with the terms hereof and the Purchase Agreement.
“Variable Rate Transaction” shall mean a transaction in which the Company issues or sells, or agrees to issue or sell (a) any debt or
equity securities that are convertible into, exchangeable or exercisable for, or include the right to receive additional shares of, Common Stock
either (x) at a conversion, exercise or exchange rate or other price that is based upon and/or varies with the trading prices of or quotations for
the Common Stock at any time after the initial issuance of such debt or equity securities, (y) with a fixed conversion, exercise or exchange
price that is subject to being reset at some future date after the initial issuance of such debt or equity security or upon the occurrence of
specified or contingent events directly or indirectly related to the business of the Company or the market for the Common Stock (but excluding
standard stock split anti-dilution provisions), or (z) under a warrant exercisable for a number of shares based upon and/or varying with the
trading prices of or quotations for the Common Stock at any time after the initial issuance of such warrant, or (b) any securities of the
Company pursuant to an “equity line” structure which provides for the sale, from time to time, of securities of the Company which are
registered for sale or resale pursuant to the Securities Act (which for the purpose of this definition shall include a sale of the Company’s
securities “off the shelf” in a registered offering, whether or not such offering is underwritten).
“VWAP” shall mean the daily dollar volume-weighted average sale price for the Common Stock on the Principal Market on any
particular Trading Day during the period beginning at 9:30 a.m., New York City Time (or such other time as the Principal Market publicly
announces is the official open of trading), and ending at 4:00 p.m., New York City Time (or such other time as the Principal Market publicly
announces is the official close of trading), as reported by Bloomberg through its "Volume at Price" functions or, if the foregoing does not
apply, the dollar volume-weighted average price of such security in the over-the-counter market on the electronic bulletin board for such
security during the period beginning at 9:30 a.m., New York City Time (or such other time as the Principal Market publicly announces is the
official open of trading), and ending at 4:00 p.m., New York City Time (or such other time as the Principal Market publicly announces is the
official close of trading), as reported by Bloomberg, or, if no dollar volume-weighted average price is reported for such security by Bloomberg
for such hours, the average of the highest closing bid price and the lowest closing ask price of any of the market
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makers for such security as reported in the "pink sheets" by the National Quotation Bureau, Inc. If the VWAP cannot be calculated for such
security on such date on any of the foregoing bases, the VWAP of such security on such date shall be the fair market value as mutually
determined by the Company and the holders of at least a majority of the aggregate Principal Amount outstanding under the Notes. All such
determinations of VWAP shall to be appropriately and equitably adjusted in accordance with the provisions set forth herein for any stock
dividend, stock split, stock combination or other similar transaction occurring during any period used to determine the Conversion Price or
Market Price (or other period utilizing VWAPs).
The following terms and conditions shall apply to this Note:
Section 1. Payments of Principal and Interest.
(a) Interest Only Payments. Subject to the terms of Section 1(b) below, on each Payment Date and on the Maturity Date,
the Company shall pay to the Holder all interest accrued to date on the entire Principal Amount of this Note (“Interest Amount”), in either
cash or in shares of Common Stock at the Company’s option, in accordance with this Section 1.
(b) Certain Additional Payments by the Company. Any payment by the Company to the Holder hereunder, whether for
principal, interest or otherwise, shall not be subject to any deduction, withholding or offset for any reason whatsoever except to the extent
required by law, and the Company represents that to its best knowledge no deduction, withholding or offset is so required for any tax or any
other reason. Notwithstanding any term or provision of this Note to the contrary, if it shall be determined that any payment by the Company
to or for the benefit of the Holder (whether for principal, interest or otherwise and whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable,
actual or deemed, pursuant to the terms of this Note or otherwise) (a “Payment”) would be or is subject to any deduction, withholding or
offset due to any duty or tax (such duty or tax, together with any interest and/or penalties related thereto, hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “Payment Tax”), then the Company shall, in addition to all sums otherwise payable hereunder, pay to the Holder an additional payment (a
“Gross-Up Payment”) in an amount such that after all such Payment Taxes (whether by deduction, withholding, offset or payment) (including
any interest or penalties with respect to such taxes), including without limitation any Payment Taxes (and any interest and penalties imposed
with respect thereto) imposed upon any Gross-Up Payment, Holder actually receives an amount of Gross-Up Payment equal to the Payment
Tax imposed upon the Payment (i.e., the Holder receives a net amount equal to the Payment).
(i) Cash or Common Stock. Subject to the terms hereof, the Company shall either (i) pay the Interest
Amount in full in cash on each Payment Date or (ii) issue shares of Common Stock in satisfaction of such Interest Amount in
accordance with the terms hereof, but not both, at the Company’s option. Prior to each Payment Date the Company shall deliver to all
the holders of Notes a written irrevocable notice electing to pay such Interest Amount in cash or Common Stock on such Payment
Date. Such notice shall be delivered at least ten (10) Trading Days prior to the applicable Payment Date but no more than twenty (20)
days prior to such Payment Date. If such notice is not delivered within the prescribed period set forth in the preceding sentence, then
the Interest Amount shall be paid in cash. If the Company elects to pay any Interest Amount in cash on an Payment Date, then on such
date the Company shall pay to the Holder an
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amount equal to the Interest Amount due in satisfaction of such obligation. If the Company elects to pay such Interest Amount in
shares of Common Stock, the number of such shares to be issued for such Payment Date shall be the number determined by dividing
(x) the Interest Amount due, by (y) 90% of the Market Price determined as of the applicable Payment Date. Such shares shall be
issued and delivered within three (3) Trading Days following such Payment Date and shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully
paid, non-assessable and free and clear of all encumbrances, restrictions and legends. If any Holder does not receive the requisite
number of shares of Common Stock in the form required above within such three Trading Day period, the Holder shall have the option
of either (a) requiring the Company to issue and deliver all or a portion of such shares or (b) canceling such election to pay in Common
Stock (in whole or in part), in which case the Company shall immediately pay in cash the Interest Amount due hereunder or such
portion as the Holder specifies is to be paid in cash instead of being converted. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 1, all
holders of Notes must be treated equally with respect to such payment of Interest Amounts. Any payment of the Interest Amount
hereunder in shares of Common Stock pursuant to the terms hereof shall constitute and be deemed a conversion of such portion of the
Principal Amount of this Note for all purposes under this Note (except that such conversion shall be at the rate set forth above and
except as otherwise provided herein).
(ii) Limitations to Payment in Common Stock. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the
Company shall be prohibited from exercising its right to pay any Interest Amount hereunder in shares of Common Stock (and must
deliver cash in respect thereof) on the applicable Payment Date (1) if at any time within ten (10) Trading Days prior to the Payment
Date any of the Equity Conditions fails to be satisfied or an Event of Default hereunder exists or occurs, unless otherwise waived in
writing by the Holder in whole or in part at the Holder’s option, and (2) to the extent, and only to the extent, that such issuance of
shares of Common Stock would result in the Holder hereof exceeding the limitations contained in Section 3(i) below.
(c) Redemption. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the Holder may elect, in its sole discretion, to have up to 75%
of the original principal amount of this Note repaid on the first anniversary of the Closing (“Redemption Date”) by delivering written notice to
the Company at least 30 days prior to such Redemption Date (provided that Holder may revoke such notice at any time prior to five days
before the Redemption Date). If the Holder makes such election, then on the Redemption Date the Company shall pay the Holder such
principal amount elected to be redeemed together with any and all accrued but unpaid interest thereon.
(d) Subscription Collection. The Company shall use its best efforts to collect in full the $2,075,460 in stock subscription
receivable indicated on the Company’s consolidated March 31, 2011 balance sheet on or before December 31, 2011. If the Company fails to
collect at least 80% of such stock subscription receivable on or before March 31, 2012, then notwithstanding anything contained herein the
interest rate hereunder shall be automatically increased to the Default Rate, provided that if the Company subsequently collects at least 80% of
such stock subscription receivable, then provided there is no Event of Default hereunder the interest rate hereunder shall be reset to 8.25% per
annum as of the first day of the first full calendar quarter commencing after such date on which the Company so collects in excess of 80%.
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Section 2. Senior Debt. So long as any Principal Amount of Notes is outstanding, the Company and its subsidiaries shall not
directly or indirectly, without the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the outstanding Principal Amount of the Notes then
outstanding, except as to indebtedness outstanding as of the date of this Note in accordance with the terms of such indebtedness in effect as of
the date of the Note, incur or permit to exist additional indebtedness which is senior to the Notes, or incur, assume or permit to exist any lien,
mortgage, security interest or encumbrance (other than statutory liens imposed by law incurred in the ordinary course of business for sums not
yet delinquent or being contested in good faith, if such reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall be required by GAAP shall have
been made in respect thereof) on any of its assets, except for capital leases, financing for equipment and purchase money security
interests. However, Holder acknowledges that the Company intends to enter into a loan agreement with a bank in connection with the
acquisition of a UK business whereby the loan in the amount of £1.3 million is secured by the assets NetSol Technologies Europe, Ltd. and
guaranteed by the Company. This loan is specifically excluded from this Section 2.
Section 3. Conversion.
(a) Conversion Right. Subject to the terms hereof and restrictions and limitations contained herein, the Holder shall have the
right, at such Holder's option, at any time and from time to time, to convert the outstanding Principal Amount under this Note in whole or in
part by delivering to the Company a fully executed notice of conversion in the form of conversion notice attached hereto as Exhibit A (the
“Conversion Notice”), which may be transmitted by facsimile. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, this Note and the
outstanding Principal Amount hereunder shall not be convertible into Common Stock to the extent that such conversion would result in the
Holder hereof exceeding the limitations contained in, or otherwise violating the provisions of, Section 3(i) below.
(b) Common Stock Issuance upon Conversion.
(i) Conversion Date Procedures. Upon conversion of this Note pursuant to Section 3(a) above, the outstanding
Principal Amount hereunder shall be converted into such number of fully paid, validly issued and non-assessable shares of Common Stock,
free of any liens, claims and encumbrances, as is determined by dividing the outstanding Principal Amount being converted by the then
applicable Conversion Price. The date of any Conversion Notice hereunder and any Payment Date shall be referred to herein as the
“Conversion Date”. If a conversion under this Note cannot be effected in full for any reason, or if the Holder is converting less than all of
the outstanding Principal Amount hereunder pursuant to a Conversion Notice, the Company shall promptly deliver to the Holder (but no later
than five Trading Days after the Conversion Date) a Note for such outstanding Principal Amount as has not been converted if this Note has
been surrendered to the Company for partial conversion. The Holder shall not be required to physically surrender this Note to the Company
upon any conversion or hereunder unless the full outstanding Principal Amount represented by this Note is being converted or repaid. The
Holder and the Company shall maintain records showing the outstanding Principal Amount so converted and repaid and the dates of such
conversions or repayments or shall use such other method, reasonably satisfactory to the Holder and the Company, so as not to require
physical surrender of this Note upon each such conversion or repayment.
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(ii) Stock Certificates or DWAC. The Company will deliver to the Holder not later than three (3) Trading Days
after the Conversion Date, a certificate or certificates (which shall be free of restrictive legends and trading restrictions if a Registration
Statement has been declared effective covering such shares or such shares may be resold pursuant to Rule 144), representing the number of
shares of Common Stock being acquired upon the conversion of this Note. In lieu of delivering physical certificates representing the shares of
Common Stock issuable upon conversion of this Note, provided the Company's transfer agent is participating in the Depository Trust
Company (“DTC”) Fast Automated Securities Transfer (“FAST”) program, upon request of the Holder, the Company shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause its transfer agent to electronically transmit such shares issuable upon conversion to the Holder (or its designee), by
crediting the account of the Holder’s (or such designee’s) prime broker with DTC through its Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission system
(provided that the same time periods herein as for stock certificates shall apply). If in the case of any conversion hereunder, such certificate or
certificates are not delivered to or as directed by the Holder by the third Trading Day after the Conversion Date, the Holder shall be entitled by
written notice to the Company at any time on or before its receipt of such certificate or certificates thereafter, to rescind such conversion, in
which event the Company shall immediately return this Note tendered for conversion. If the Company fails to deliver to the Holder such
certificate or certificates (or shares through DTC) pursuant to this Section 3(b) (free of any restrictions on transfer or legends, if such shares
have been registered) in accordance herewith, prior to the sixth Trading Day after the Conversion Date, the Company shall pay to the Holder,
in cash, an amount equal to 1% of the Principal Amount per month.
(c) Conversion Price Adjustments.
(i) Stock Dividends, Splits and Combinations. If the Company or any of its subsidiaries, at any time while the
Notes are outstanding (A) shall pay a stock dividend or otherwise make a distribution or distributions on any equity securities (including
instruments or securities convertible into or exchangeable for such equity securities) in shares of Common Stock, (B) subdivide outstanding
Common Stock into a larger number of shares, or (C) combine outstanding Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, then each
Affected Conversion Price (as defined below) shall be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of shares of
Common Stock outstanding before such event and the denominator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding
after such event. Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 3(c)(i) shall become effective immediately after the record date for the
determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or distribution and shall become effective immediately after the effective date in
the case of a subdivision or combination.
As used herein, the Affected Conversion Prices (each an “Affected Conversion Price”) shall refer to: (i) the Conversion
Price; and (ii) each reported VWAP occurring on any Trading Day included in the period used for determining the Market Price or
Conversion Price, as the case may be, which Trading Day occurred before the record date in the case of events referred to in clause (A) of this
subparagraph 3(c)(i) and before the effective date in the case of the events referred to in clauses (B) and (C) of this subparagraph 3(c)(i).
(ii) Distributions. If the Company or any of its subsidiaries, at any time while the Notes are outstanding, shall
distribute to all holders of Common Stock evidences
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of its indebtedness or assets or cash or rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase any security of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(excluding those referred to in Section 3(c)(i) above), then concurrently with such distributions to holders of Common Stock in each such case
the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying such Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to the record date fixed for
determination of stockholders entitled to receive such distribution by a fraction of which the denominator shall be the VWAP determined as of
the record date mentioned above, and of which the numerator shall be such VWAP on such record date less the then fair market value at such
record date of the portion of such assets, rights or evidence of indebtedness so distributed applicable to 1 outstanding share of the Common
Stock as determined in good faith by the Company and a majority-in-interest of Holders of Notes. In either case the adjustments shall be
described in a statement delivered to the Holder describing the portion of assets, rights or evidences of indebtedness so distributed or such
subscription rights applicable to 1 share of Common Stock. Such adjustment shall be made whenever any such distribution is made and shall
become effective immediately after the record date mentioned above. If the Company and Holders of Notes are unable to agree upon the
determination of the fair market value of such assets, rights or evidence of indebtedness so distributed, then the Company shall promptly
submit (via email or facsimile) such disputed determination or calculation to a reputable investment bank or valuation company which shall be
independent of all parties and selected jointly by the Company and a majority-in-interest of Holders of Notes.
(iii) Common Stock Issuances. In the event that the Company or any of its subsidiaries (A) issues or sells any
Common Stock or Convertible Securities, or (B) directly or indirectly effectively reduces the conversion, exercise or exchange price for any
Convertible Securities which are currently outstanding (other than pursuant to terms existing on the date hereof), at or to an effective Per Share
Selling Price which is less than the greater of (I) the closing sale price per share of the Common Stock on the principal market on which the
Common Stock is traded the Trading Day next preceding such issue or sale or, in the case of issuances to holders of its Common Stock, the
date fixed for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such warrants, rights, or options (“Fair Market Price”), or (II) the
Conversion Price, then in each such case the Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to such issue or sale or record date, as applicable,
shall be automatically reduced effective concurrently with such issue or sale to an amount determined by multiplying the Conversion Price then
in effect by a fraction, (x) the numerator of which shall be the sum of (1) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately
prior to such issue or sale, plus (2) the number of shares of Common Stock which the aggregate consideration received by the Company for
such additional shares would purchase at such Fair Market Price or Conversion Price, as the case may be, and (y) the denominator of which
shall be the number of shares of Common Stock of the Company outstanding immediately after such issue or sale.
The foregoing provision shall not apply to any issuances or sales of Common Stock or Convertible Securities (i) pursuant to any
Convertible Securities currently outstanding on the date hereof in accordance with the terms of such Convertible Securities in effect on the date
hereof, or (ii) to any officer, director or employee of the Company pursuant to a bona fide option or equity incentive plan duly adopted by the
Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders. The Company shall give to the each Holder of Notes written notice of any such sale of
Common Stock within 24 hours of the closing of any such sale and shall within such 24 hour period issue a press release announcing such
sale if such sale is a material event for, or otherwise material to, the Company.
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For the purposes of the foregoing adjustments, in the case of the issuance of any Convertible Securities, the maximum number of
shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise, exchange or conversion of such Convertible Securities shall be deemed to be outstanding.
For purposes of this Section 3(c)(iii), if an event occurs that triggers more than one of the above adjustment provisions, then only one
adjustment shall be made and the calculation method which yields the greatest downward adjustment in the Conversion Price shall be used.
(iv) Rounding of Adjustments. All calculations under this Section 3 or Section 1 shall be made to the nearest 4
decimal places or the nearest 1/100th of a share, as the case may be.
(v) Notice of Adjustments. Whenever any Affected Conversion Price is adjusted pursuant to Section 3(c)(i), (ii) or
(iii) above, the Company shall promptly deliver to each holder of the Notes, a notice setting forth the Affected Conversion Price after such
adjustment and setting forth a brief statement of the facts requiring such adjustment, provided that any failure to so provide such notice shall
not affect the automatic adjustment hereunder.
(vi) Change in Control Transactions. In case of any Change in Control Transaction, the Holder shall have the
right thereafter to, at its option, (A) convert this Note, in whole or in part, at the lower of the Conversion Price and the then applicable Market
Price into the shares of stock and other securities, cash and/or property receivable upon or deemed to be held by holders of Common Stock
following such Change in Control Transaction, and the Holder shall be entitled upon such event to receive such amount of securities, cash or
property as the shares of the Common Stock of the Company into which this Note could have been converted immediately prior to such
Change in Control Transaction would have been entitled if such conversion were permitted, subject to such further applicable adjustments set
forth in this Section 3 or (B) require the Company or its successor to redeem this Note, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the
greater of (i) 125% of the outstanding Principal Amount being redeemed and (ii) the product of (x) the average of the Fair Market Price for the
five (5) Trading Days immediately preceding the Holder's election to have its Notes redeemed and (y) the Conversion Ratio. The terms of any
such Change in Control Transaction shall include such terms so as to continue to give to the Holders the right to receive the amount of
securities, cash and/or property upon any conversion or redemption following such Change in Control Transaction to which a holder of the
number of shares of Common Stock deliverable upon such conversion would have been entitled in such Change in Control Transaction, and
interest payable hereunder shall be in cash or such new securities and/or property, at the Holder’s option. This provision shall similarly apply
to successive reclassifications, consolidations, mergers, sales, transfers or share exchanges.
(vii) Notice of Certain Events. If:
A.

the Company shall declare a dividend (or any other distribution) on its Common Stock; or

B.

the Company shall declare a special nonrecurring cash dividend on or a redemption of its
Common Stock; or
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C.

the Company shall authorize the granting to all holders of the Common Stock rights or warrants
to subscribe for or purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any rights; or

D.

the approval of any stockholders of the Company shall be required in connection with any
reclassification of the Common Stock of the Company, any consolidation or merger to which
the Company is a party, any sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company, of any compulsory share of exchange whereby the Common Stock is converted into
other securities, cash or property; or

E.

the Company shall authorize the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up
of the affairs of the Company;

then the Company shall cause to be filed at each office or agency maintained for the purpose of conversion of this Note, and shall cause to be
mailed to the Holder at its last address as it shall appear upon the books of the Company, on or prior to the date notice to the Company's
stockholders generally is given, a notice stating (x) the date on which a record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution,
redemption, rights or warrants, or if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of Common Stock of record to be entitled to
such dividend, distributions, redemption, rights or warrants are to be determined or (y) the date on which such reclassification, consolidation,
merger, sale, transfer or share exchange is expected to become effective or close, and the date as of which it is expected that holders of
Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of Common Stock for securities, cash or other property deliverable upon
such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer or share exchange.
(d) Reservation and Issuance of Underlying Securities. The Company covenants that it will at all times reserve and keep
available out of its authorized and unissued Common Stock solely for the purpose of issuance upon conversion of this Note (including
repayments in stock), free from preemptive rights or any other actual contingent purchase rights of persons other than the holders of the Notes,
not less than such number of shares of Common Stock as shall (subject to any additional requirements of the Company as to reservation of
such shares set forth in the Purchase Agreement) be issuable (taking into account the adjustments under this Section 3 but without regard to
any ownership limitations contained herein) upon the conversion of this Note hereunder in Common Stock (including repayments in
stock). The Company covenants that all shares of Common Stock that shall be so issuable shall, upon issue, be duly authorized, validly
issued, fully paid, nonassessable and freely tradeable.
(e) No Fractions. Upon a conversion hereunder the Company shall not be required to issue stock certificates representing
fractions of shares of Common Stock, but may if otherwise permitted, make a cash payment in respect of any final fraction of a share based on
the closing price of a share of Common Stock at such time. If the Company elects not, or is unable, to make such a cash payment, the Holder
shall be entitled to receive, in lieu of the final fraction of a share, one whole share of Common Stock.
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(f) Charges, Taxes and Expenses. Issuance of certificates for shares of Common Stock upon the conversion of this Note
(including repayment in stock) shall be made without charge to the holder hereof for any issue or transfer tax or other incidental expense in
respect of the issuance of such certificate, all of which taxes and expenses shall be paid by the Company, and such certificates shall be issued
in the name of the Holder or in such name or names as may be directed by the Holder; provided, however, that in the event certificates for
shares of Common Stock are to be issued in a name other than the name of the Holder, this Note when surrendered for conversion shall be
accompanied by an assignment form; and provided further, that the Company shall not be required to pay any tax or taxes which may be
payable in respect of any such transfer.
(g) Cancellation. After all of the Principal Amount (including accrued but unpaid interest and default payments at any time
owed on this Note) have been paid in full or converted into Common Stock, this Note shall automatically be deemed canceled and the Holder
shall promptly surrender the Note to the Company at the Company’s principal executive offices.
(h) Notices Procedures. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries to be provided by the Holder hereunder,
including, without limitation, any Conversion Notice, shall be in writing and delivered personally, by confirmed facsimile, or by a nationally
recognized overnight courier service to the Company at the facsimile telephone number or address of the principal place of business of the
Company as set forth in the Purchase Agreement. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries to be provided by the Company
hereunder shall be in writing and delivered personally, by facsimile, or by a nationally recognized overnight courier service addressed to the
Holder at the facsimile telephone number or address of the Holder appearing on the books of the Company, or if no such facsimile telephone
number or address appears, at the principal place of business of the Holder. Any notice or other communication or deliveries hereunder shall
be deemed delivered (i) upon receipt, when delivered personally, (ii) when sent by facsimile, upon receipt if received on a Business Day prior
to 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time), or on the first Business Day following such receipt if received on a Business Day after 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time)
or (iii) upon receipt, when deposited with a nationally recognized overnight courier service.
(i) Conversion Limitation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the number of shares of Common
Stock that may be acquired by the Holder upon conversion pursuant to the terms hereof shall not exceed a number that, when added to the total
number of shares of Common Stock deemed beneficially owned by such Holder (other than by virtue of the ownership of securities or rights
to acquire securities (including the Notes) that have limitations on the Holder’s right to convert, exercise or purchase similar to the limitation
set forth herein), together with all shares of Common Stock deemed beneficially owned at such time (other than by virtue of the ownership of
securities or rights to acquire securities that have limitations on the right to convert, exercise or purchase similar to the limitation set forth
herein) by the holder’s “affiliates” at such time (as defined in Rule 144 of the Act) (“Aggregation Parties”) that would be aggregated for
purposes of determining whether a group under Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended, exists, would exceed 9.9%
of the total issued and outstanding shares of the Common Stock (the “Restricted Ownership Percentage”). Each holder shall have the right
(w) at any time and from time to time to reduce its Restricted Ownership Percentage immediately upon notice to the Company and (x) (subject
to waiver) at
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any time and from time to time, to increase its Restricted Ownership Percentage immediately in the event of the announcement as pending or
planned, of a Change in Control Transaction.
(j) Overall Limit on Common Stock Issuable. Notwithstanding anything herein or in the other Notes to the contrary, if the
Company has not obtained Shareholder Approval (as defined below), then the Company may not issue a number of shares of Common Stock
in excess of the amount of shares of Common Stock which may be issued (the “Issuable Maximum”) without causing the Company to
breach its obligations under the rules or regulations of the Nasdaq Stock Market (including without limitation Section 5635(d) of the
NASDAQ Stock Market Rules). Each Holder of Notes shall be entitled to a portion of the Issuable Maximum equal to the quotient obtained
by dividing (x) the aggregate principal amount of the Notes issued and sold to such Holder by (y) the aggregate principal amount of all Notes
issued and sold by the Company. If any Holder shall no longer hold any Notes, then such Holder’s remaining portion of the Issuable
Maximum, if any, shall be reallocated pro-rata among the other Holders. “Shareholder Approval” means approval by the shareholders of the
Company, in accordance with the applicable rules and regulations of the Nasdaq Stock Market (including without limitation Section 5635(e) of
the NASDAQ Stock Market Rules) and Nevada corporate law, of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement and the Notes (as
amended hereby), including without limitation the issuance of all of the Conversion Shares under the Notes in excess of the Issuable
Maximum. To the extent any portion of the Principal Amount of Notes is not convertible due to the Issuable Maximum, such portion shall
bear interest at the Default Rate.
Section 4. Defaults and Remedies.
(a) Events of Default. An “Event of Default” is: (i) a default in payment of any amount due hereunder which default
continues for more than 5 business days after the due date thereof; (ii) a default in the timely issuance of Underlying Shares upon and in
accordance with terms hereof, which default continues for five Business Days after the Company has received written notice informing the
Company that it has failed to issue shares or deliver stock certificates within the fifth day following the Conversion Date; (iii) failure by the
Company for fifteen (15) days after written notice has been received by the Company to comply with any material provision of any of the
Notes, the Purchase Agreement or the Investor Rights Agreement (including without limitation the failure to issue the requisite number of
shares of Common Stock upon conversion hereof and the failure to redeem Notes upon the Holder’s request following a Change in Control
Transaction pursuant to Section 3(c)(vi); (iv) a material breach by the Company of its representations or warranties in the Purchase Agreement
or Investor Rights Agreement; (v) if at any time the Company is not subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act or has failed to file all reports required to be filed thereunder during the then preceding 12 months; (vi) if at any time the
Common Stock shall not be listed or quoted for trading on a the New York Stock Exchange, Alternext, the NASDAQ Stock Market or the
Over-The-Counter Bulletin Board; (vii) any default after any cure period under, or acceleration prior to maturity of, any mortgage, indenture or
instrument under which there may be issued or by which there may be secured or evidenced any indebtedness for money borrowed by the
Company for in excess of $25,000 or for money borrowed the repayment of which is guaranteed by the Company for in excess of $25,000,
whether such indebtedness or guarantee now exists or shall be created hereafter; or (viii) if the Company is subject to any Bankruptcy Event.
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(b) Remedies. If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing with respect to any of the Notes, the Holder may declare all
of the then outstanding Principal Amount of this Note and all other Notes held by the Holder, including any interest due thereon, to be due and
payable immediately, except that in the case of an Event of Default arising from events described in clauses (vii) and (viii) of Section 4(a), this
Note shall become due and payable without further action or notice. In the event of such acceleration, the amount due and owing to the Holder
shall be the greater of (1) 125% of the outstanding Principal Amount of the Notes held by the Holder (plus all accrued and unpaid interest, if
any) and (2) the product of (A) the highest closing price for the five (5) Trading days immediately preceding the Holder’s acceleration and (B)
the Conversion Ratio. In either case the Company shall pay interest on such amount in cash at the Default Rate to the Holder if such amount is
not paid within 7 days of Holder’s request. The remedies under this Note shall be cumulative.
Section 5. General.
(a) Payment of Expenses. The Company agrees to pay all reasonable charges and expenses, including attorneys' fees and
expenses, which may be incurred by the Holder in successfully enforcing this Note and/or collecting any amount due under this Note.
(b) Savings Clause. In case any provision of this Note is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be excessive in scope
or otherwise invalid or unenforceable, such provision shall be adjusted rather than voided, if possible, so that it is enforceable to the maximum
extent possible, and the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Note will not in any way be affected or impaired
thereby. In no event shall the amount of interest paid hereunder exceed the maximum rate of interest on the unpaid principal balance hereof
allowable by applicable law. If any sum is collected in excess of the applicable maximum rate, the excess collected shall be applied to reduce
the principal debt. If the interest actually collected hereunder is still in excess of the applicable maximum rate, the interest rate shall be reduced
so as not to exceed the maximum allowable under law.
(c) Amendment. Neither this Note nor any term hereof may be amended, waived, discharged or terminated other than by a
written instrument signed by the Company and the Holder.
(d) Assignment, Etc. The Holder may assign or transfer this Note to any transferee only with the prior written consent of
the Company, which may not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, provided that (i) the Holder may assign or transfer this Note to any of
such Holder's affiliates without the consent of the Company and (ii) upon any Event of Default, the Holder may assign or transfer this Note
without the consent of the Company. The Holder shall notify the Company of any such assignment or transfer promptly. This Note shall be
binding upon the Company and its successors and shall inure to the benefit of the Holder and its successors and permitted assigns.
(e) No Waiver. No failure on the part of the Holder to exercise, and no delay in exercising any right, remedy or power
hereunder, shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise by the Holder of any right, remedy or power hereunder
preclude any other or future exercise of any other right, remedy or power. Each and every right, remedy or power
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hereby granted to the Holder or allowed it by law or other agreement shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any other, and may be exercised
by the Holder from time to time.
(f) Governing Law; Jurisdiction.
(i) Governing Law. THIS NOTE WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO ANY CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS THEREOF
THAT WOULD OTHERWISE REQUIRE THE APPLICATION OF THE LAW OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTION.
(ii) Jurisdiction. The Company irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of any State or Federal Court
sitting in the State of New York, County of New York, or San Jose, California, over any suit, action, or proceeding arising out of or relating
to this Note. The Company irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the
laying of the venue of any such suit, action, or proceeding brought in such a court and any claim that suit, action, or proceeding has been
brought in an inconvenient forum.
The Company agrees that the service of process upon it mailed by certified or registered mail (and service so
made shall be deemed complete three days after the same has been posted as aforesaid) or by personal service shall be deemed in every respect
effective service of process upon it in any such suit or proceeding. Nothing herein shall affect Holder's right to serve process in any other
manner permitted by law. The Company agrees that a final non-appealable judgement in any such suit or proceeding shall be conclusive and
may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on such judgment or in any other lawful manner.
(III) NO JURY TRIAL. THE COMPANY HERETO KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ANY
AND ALL RIGHTS IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY LITIGATION BASED ON, OR ARISING
OUT OF, UNDER, OR IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS NOTE.
(g) Replacement Notes. This Note may be exchanged by Holder at any time and from time to time for a Note or Notes with
different denominations representing an equal aggregate outstanding Principal Amount, as reasonably requested by Holder, upon surrendering
the same. No service charge will be made for such registration or exchange. In the event that Holder notifies the Company that this Note has
been lost, stolen or destroyed, a replacement Note identical in all respects to the original Note (except for registration number and Principal
Amount, if different than that shown on the original Note), shall be issued to the Holder, provided that the Holder executes and delivers to the
Company an agreement reasonably satisfactory to the Company to indemnify the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with the
Note.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Note to be duly executed on the day and in the year first above written.

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ Najeeb Ghauri
Name: Najeeb Ghauri
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Attest:

Sign: /s/ Patti L.W. McGlasson
Print Name: Patti L.W. McGlasson
17

EXHIBIT A
FORM OF CONVERSION NOTICE
(To be executed by the Holder
in order to convert a Note)
Re:

Note (this “Note”) issued by NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. to ___________________ on or about September 13,
2011 in the original principal amount of $___________.

The undersigned hereby elects to convert the aggregate outstanding Principal Amount (as defined in the Note) indicated below of this Note
into shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “Common Stock”), of NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. (the “Company”)
according to the conditions hereof, as of the date written below. If shares are to be issued in the name of a person other than undersigned, the
undersigned will pay all transfer taxes payable with respect thereto and is delivering herewith such certificates and opinions as reasonably
requested by the Company in accordance therewith. No fee will be charged to the holder for any conversion, except for such transfer taxes, if
any.
Conversion information:
Date to Effect Conversion

_________________________
_________________________
Aggregate Principal Amount of Note Being Converted

_________________________
Number of Shares of Common Stock to be Issued

_________________________
Applicable Conversion Price

_________________________
Signature

_________________________
Name

_________________________
Address

NEITHER THESE SECURITIES NOR THE SECURITIES INTO WHICH THESE SECURITIES ARE CONVERTIBLE
HAVE BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION IN RELIANCE UPON AN
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES
ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE
REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION
FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES
ACT.
THIS NOTE DOES NOT REQUIRE PHYSICAL SURRENDER OF THE NOTE IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL
REDEMPTION OR CONVERSION. AS A RESULT, FOLLOWING ANY REDEMPTION OR CONVERSION OF ANY
PORTION OF THIS NOTE, THE OUTSTANDING PRINCIPAL AMOUNT REPRESENTED BY THIS NOTE MAY BE LESS
THAN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT AND ACCRUED INTEREST SET FORTH BELOW.

8.25% CONVERTIBLE NOTE
OF
NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Issuance Date: September 13, 2011

Original Principal Amount: $3,600,000
New York, New York

This Note (“Note”) is one of a duly authorized issue of Notes of NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a corporation duly
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada (the “Company”), designated as the Company's 8.25% Convertible Notes due
on September 13, 2013 (the “Maturity Date”) in an aggregate principal amount (when taken together with the original principal amounts of
all other Notes) which does not exceed Four Million U.S. Dollars (U.S. $4,000,000) (the “Notes”).
For Value Received, the Company hereby promises to pay to the order of THE TAIL WIND FUND LTD. or its registered assigns
or successors-in-interest (“Holder”) the principal sum of Three Million Six Hundred Thousand Dollars (U.S. $3,600,000), together with all
accrued but unpaid interest thereon, if any, on the Maturity Date, to the extent such principal amount and interest has not been repaid or
converted into the Company's Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “Common Stock”), in accordance with the terms
hereof. Interest on the unpaid principal balance hereof shall accrue at the rate of 8.25% per annum from the date of original issuance hereof
(the “Issuance Date”) until the same becomes due and payable on the Maturity Date, or such earlier date upon acceleration or by conversion
or redemption in accordance with the terms hereof or of the other Agreements. Interest on this Note shall accrue daily commencing on the
Issuance Date and shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year, 30-day months and actual days elapsed and shall be payable in
accordance with Section 1 hereof. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, this Note shall bear interest on the due and unpaid Principal
Amount from and after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default pursuant to Section 4(a) at the rate (the “Default
Rate”) equal to the lower of eighteen (18%) per annum or the highest rate permitted by law. Unless otherwise agreed or required by

applicable law, payments will be applied first to any unpaid collection costs, then to unpaid interest and fees and any remaining amount to
principal.
All payments of principal and interest on this Note shall be made in lawful money of the United States of America by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to such account as the Holder may from time to time designate by written notice in accordance with the provisions
of this Note or by Company check. This Note may not be prepaid in whole or in part except as otherwise provided herein. Whenever any
amount expressed to be due by the terms of this Note is due on any day which is not a Business Day (as defined below), the same shall
instead be due on the next succeeding day which is a Business Day.
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth in the Purchase Agreement dated on or
about the Issuance Date pursuant to which the Notes were originally issued (the “Purchase Agreement”). For purposes hereof the following
terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them below:
“Bankruptcy Event” means any of the following events: (a) the Company or any subsidiary commences a case or other proceeding
under any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment of debt, relief of debtors, dissolution, insolvency or liquidation or similar law
of any jurisdiction relating to the Company or any subsidiary thereof; (b) there is commenced against the Company or any subsidiary any such
case or proceeding that is not dismissed within 60 days after commencement; (c) the Company or any subsidiary is adjudicated insolvent or
bankrupt or any order of relief or other order approving any such case or proceeding is entered; (d) the Company or any subsidiary suffers
any appointment of any custodian or the like for it or any substantial part of its property that is not discharged or stayed within 60 days; (e) the
Company or any subsidiary makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (f) the Company or any subsidiary fails to pay, or states
that it is unable to pay or is unable to pay, its debts generally as they become due; (g) the Company or any subsidiary calls a meeting of its
creditors with a view to arranging a composition, adjustment or restructuring of its debts; or (h) the Company or any subsidiary, by any act or
failure to act, expressly indicates its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any of the foregoing or takes any corporate or other action for
the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing.
“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which commercial banks in the City of New York
are authorized or required by law or executive order to remain closed.
“Change in Control Transaction” will be deemed to exist if (i) there occurs any consolidation, merger or other business
combination of the Company with or into any other corporation or other entity or person (whether or not the Company is the surviving
corporation), or any other corporate reorganization or transaction or series of related transactions in which in any of such events the voting
stockholders of the Company prior to such event cease to own 50% or more of the voting power, or corresponding voting equity interests, of
the surviving corporation after such event (including without limitation any “going private” transaction under Rule 13e-3 promulgated
pursuant to the Exchange Act or tender offer by the Company under Rule 13e-4 promulgated pursuant to the Exchange Act for 20% or more
of the Company's Common Stock), (ii) any person (as defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act), together with its affiliates and associates
(as such terms are defined in Rule 405 under the Act), beneficially
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owns or is deemed to beneficially own (as described in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act without regard to the 60-day exercise period) in
excess of 35% of the Company's voting power, (iii) there is a replacement of more than one-half of the members of the Company’s Board of
Directors which is not approved by those individuals who are members of the Company's Board of Directors on the date thereof, (iv) in one
or a series of related transactions, there is a sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, determined on a
consolidated basis, or (v) the Company enters into any agreement providing for an event set forth in (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above.
“Conversion Ratio” means, at any time, a fraction, of which the numerator is the entire outstanding Principal Amount of this Note
(or such portion thereof that is being redeemed or repurchased), and of which the denominator is the Conversion Price as of the date such ratio
is being determined.
“Conversion Price” shall equal $0.895 (which Conversion Price shall be subject to adjustment as set forth herein).
“Convertible Securities” means any convertible securities, warrants, options or other rights to subscribe for or to purchase or
exchange for, shares of Common Stock.
“Effective Date” means the date on which a Registration Statement covering all the Underlying Shares and other Registrable
Securities (as defined in the Investor Rights Agreement) is declared effective by the SEC.
“Eligible Market” means the Nasdaq Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange or the American Stock Exchange.
“Equity Conditions” means, during the period in question, (i) the Company shall have duly honored all conversions and redemptions
scheduled to occur or occurring by virtue of one or more Conversion Notices of the Holder, if any, (ii) the Company shall have paid all
liquidated damages and other amounts owing to the Holder in respect of this Note, (iii) all of the shares of Common Stock issued or issuable
pursuant to the Notes may be sold by the Holder pursuant to either (a) clause (i) or (ii) of Section (b)(1) of Rule 144 and, with respect to such
clause (i), the Company has been subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act for the then preceding 90
days and has filed all reports required to be filed thereunder during the then preceding 12 months (or such shorter period that the Company
was required to file such reports) or (b) an effective Registration Statement (and the Company believes, in good faith, that such effectiveness
will continue uninterrupted for the foreseeable future), (iv) the Common Stock is trading on an Eligible Market and, if applicable, all of the
shares issuable pursuant to the Notes are listed or quoted for trading on the Principal Market, (v) there is a sufficient number of authorized but
unissued and otherwise unreserved shares of Common Stock for the issuance of all of the shares issuable pursuant to the Notes, (vi) there is
no existing Event of Default or no existing event which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, would constitute an Event of Default,
(vii) the issuance of the shares in question to the Holder would not violate the limitations set forth in Section 3(i) below, (viii) if the Company
has previously publicly announced a pending or proposed Change in Control Transaction, such transaction was consummated prior to such
period, (ix) the Holder is not in possession of any information provided by the Company that constitutes, or may constitute, material nonpublic information,
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(x) there has been no Bankruptcy Event, (xi) the Company is not insolvent, and (xii) the average closing price per share of Common Stock on
the Trading Market for such period shall be greater than $0.50 (as appropriately and equitably adjusted for reverse stock splits and similar
events).
“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“Market Price” shall equal the average of the daily VWAPs over the ten (10) consecutive Trading Days immediately preceding the
date on which the Market Price is being determined.
“MFN Transaction” shall mean a transaction in which the Company issues or sells any securities in a capital raising transaction or
series of related transactions (the “MFN Offering”) which grants to the investor (the “MFN Investor”) the right to receive additional
securities based upon future capital raising transactions of the Company on terms more favorable than those granted to the MFN Investor in
the MFN Offering.
“Payment Date” shall mean April 1st and October 1st of each year, provided that if any such day is not a Trading Day, then such
Payment Date shall mean the next succeeding day which is a Trading Day.
“Per Share Selling Price” shall include the amount actually paid by third parties for each share of Common Stock in a sale or
issuance by the Company, after the deduction of all expenses incurred in connection therewith. In the event a fee is paid by the Company in
connection with such transaction directly or indirectly to any individual or entity, any such fee shall be deducted from the selling price pro rata
to all shares sold in the transaction to arrive at the Per Share Selling Price. A sale of shares of Common Stock shall include the sale or
issuance of Convertible Securities, and in such circumstances the Per Share Selling Price of the Common Stock covered thereby shall also
include the exercise, exchange or conversion price thereof (in addition to the consideration received by the Company upon such sale or
issuance less the fee amount as provided above). In case of any such security issued in a transaction in which the purchase price or the
conversion, exchange or exercise price is directly or indirectly subject to adjustment or reset based on a future date, future trading prices of the
Common Stock, specified or contingent events directly or indirectly related to the business of the Company or the market for the Common
Stock, or otherwise (but excluding standard stock split anti-dilution provisions or weighted-average anti-dilution provisions similar to that set
forth herein, provided that any actual reduction of such price under any such security pursuant to such weighted-average anti-dilution
provision shall be included and cause a adjustment hereunder), the Per Share Selling Price shall be deemed to be the lowest conversion,
exchange, exercise or reset price at which such securities are converted, exchanged, exercised or reset or might have been converted,
exchanged, exercised or reset, or the lowest adjustment, as the case may be, over the life of such securities. If shares are issued for a
consideration other than cash, the Per Share Selling Price shall be the fair value of such consideration as determined in good faith by
independent certified public accountants mutually acceptable to the Company and the Holder. In the event the Company directly or indirectly
effectively reduces the conversion, exercise or exchange price for any Convertible Securities which are currently outstanding, then the Per
Share Selling Price shall equal such effectively reduced conversion, exercise or exchange price.
4

“Principal Amount” shall refer to the sum of (i) the original principal amount of this Note, (ii) all accrued but unpaid interest
hereunder, and (iii) any default payments owing under the Agreements but not previously paid or added to the Principal Amount.
“Principal Market” shall mean the Nasdaq Stock Market or such other principal market or exchange on which the Common Stock is
then listed for trading.
“Registration Statement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Investor Rights Agreement.
“Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
“Trading Day” shall mean a day on which there is trading on the Principal Market.
“Underlying Shares” means the shares of Common Stock into which the Notes are convertible (including interest or principal
payments in Common Stock as set forth herein) in accordance with the terms hereof and the Purchase Agreement.
“Variable Rate Transaction” shall mean a transaction in which the Company issues or sells, or agrees to issue or sell (a) any debt or
equity securities that are convertible into, exchangeable or exercisable for, or include the right to receive additional shares of, Common Stock
either (x) at a conversion, exercise or exchange rate or other price that is based upon and/or varies with the trading prices of or quotations for
the Common Stock at any time after the initial issuance of such debt or equity securities, (y) with a fixed conversion, exercise or exchange
price that is subject to being reset at some future date after the initial issuance of such debt or equity security or upon the occurrence of
specified or contingent events directly or indirectly related to the business of the Company or the market for the Common Stock (but excluding
standard stock split anti-dilution provisions), or (z) under a warrant exercisable for a number of shares based upon and/or varying with the
trading prices of or quotations for the Common Stock at any time after the initial issuance of such warrant, or (b) any securities of the
Company pursuant to an “equity line” structure which provides for the sale, from time to time, of securities of the Company which are
registered for sale or resale pursuant to the Securities Act (which for the purpose of this definition shall include a sale of the Company’s
securities “off the shelf” in a registered offering, whether or not such offering is underwritten).
“VWAP” shall mean the daily dollar volume-weighted average sale price for the Common Stock on the Principal Market on any
particular Trading Day during the period beginning at 9:30 a.m., New York City Time (or such other time as the Principal Market publicly
announces is the official open of trading), and ending at 4:00 p.m., New York City Time (or such other time as the Principal Market publicly
announces is the official close of trading), as reported by Bloomberg through its "Volume at Price" functions or, if the foregoing does not
apply, the dollar volume-weighted average price of such security in the over-the-counter market on the electronic bulletin board for such
security during the period beginning at 9:30 a.m., New York City Time (or such other time as the Principal Market publicly announces is the
official open of trading), and ending at 4:00 p.m., New York City Time (or such other time as the Principal Market publicly announces is the
official close of trading), as reported by Bloomberg, or, if no dollar volume-weighted average price is reported for such security by Bloomberg
for such hours, the average of the highest closing bid price and the lowest closing ask price of any of the market
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makers for such security as reported in the "pink sheets" by the National Quotation Bureau, Inc. If the VWAP cannot be calculated for such
security on such date on any of the foregoing bases, the VWAP of such security on such date shall be the fair market value as mutually
determined by the Company and the holders of at least a majority of the aggregate Principal Amount outstanding under the Notes. All such
determinations of VWAP shall to be appropriately and equitably adjusted in accordance with the provisions set forth herein for any stock
dividend, stock split, stock combination or other similar transaction occurring during any period used to determine the Conversion Price or
Market Price (or other period utilizing VWAPs).
The following terms and conditions shall apply to this Note:
Section 1. Payments of Principal and Interest.
(a) Interest Only Payments. Subject to the terms of Section 1(b) below, on each Payment Date and on the Maturity Date,
the Company shall pay to the Holder all interest accrued to date on the entire Principal Amount of this Note (“Interest Amount”), in either
cash or in shares of Common Stock at the Company’s option, in accordance with this Section 1.
(b) Certain Additional Payments by the Company. Any payment by the Company to the Holder hereunder, whether for
principal, interest or otherwise, shall not be subject to any deduction, withholding or offset for any reason whatsoever except to the extent
required by law, and the Company represents that to its best knowledge no deduction, withholding or offset is so required for any tax or any
other reason. Notwithstanding any term or provision of this Note to the contrary, if it shall be determined that any payment by the Company
to or for the benefit of the Holder (whether for principal, interest or otherwise and whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable,
actual or deemed, pursuant to the terms of this Note or otherwise) (a “Payment”) would be or is subject to any deduction, withholding or
offset due to any duty or tax (such duty or tax, together with any interest and/or penalties related thereto, hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “Payment Tax”), then the Company shall, in addition to all sums otherwise payable hereunder, pay to the Holder an additional payment (a
“Gross-Up Payment”) in an amount such that after all such Payment Taxes (whether by deduction, withholding, offset or payment) (including
any interest or penalties with respect to such taxes), including without limitation any Payment Taxes (and any interest and penalties imposed
with respect thereto) imposed upon any Gross-Up Payment, Holder actually receives an amount of Gross-Up Payment equal to the Payment
Tax imposed upon the Payment (i.e., the Holder receives a net amount equal to the Payment).
(i) Cash or Common Stock. Subject to the terms hereof, the Company shall either (i) pay the Interest
Amount in full in cash on each Payment Date or (ii) issue shares of Common Stock in satisfaction of such Interest Amount in
accordance with the terms hereof, but not both, at the Company’s option. Prior to each Payment Date the Company shall deliver to all
the holders of Notes a written irrevocable notice electing to pay such Interest Amount in cash or Common Stock on such Payment
Date. Such notice shall be delivered at least ten (10) Trading Days prior to the applicable Payment Date but no more than twenty (20)
days prior to such Payment Date. If such notice is not delivered within the prescribed period set forth in the preceding sentence, then
the Interest Amount shall be paid in cash. If the Company elects to pay any Interest Amount in cash on an Payment Date, then on such
date the Company shall pay to the Holder an
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amount equal to the Interest Amount due in satisfaction of such obligation. If the Company elects to pay such Interest Amount in
shares of Common Stock, the number of such shares to be issued for such Payment Date shall be the number determined by dividing
(x) the Interest Amount due, by (y) 90% of the Market Price determined as of the applicable Payment Date. Such shares shall be
issued and delivered within three (3) Trading Days following such Payment Date and shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully
paid, non-assessable and free and clear of all encumbrances, restrictions and legends. If any Holder does not receive the requisite
number of shares of Common Stock in the form required above within such three Trading Day period, the Holder shall have the option
of either (a) requiring the Company to issue and deliver all or a portion of such shares or (b) canceling such election to pay in Common
Stock (in whole or in part), in which case the Company shall immediately pay in cash the Interest Amount due hereunder or such
portion as the Holder specifies is to be paid in cash instead of being converted. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 1, all
holders of Notes must be treated equally with respect to such payment of Interest Amounts. Any payment of the Interest Amount
hereunder in shares of Common Stock pursuant to the terms hereof shall constitute and be deemed a conversion of such portion of the
Principal Amount of this Note for all purposes under this Note (except that such conversion shall be at the rate set forth above and
except as otherwise provided herein).
(ii) Limitations to Payment in Common Stock. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the
Company shall be prohibited from exercising its right to pay any Interest Amount hereunder in shares of Common Stock (and must
deliver cash in respect thereof) on the applicable Payment Date (1) if at any time within ten (10) Trading Days prior to the Payment
Date any of the Equity Conditions fails to be satisfied or an Event of Default hereunder exists or occurs, unless otherwise waived in
writing by the Holder in whole or in part at the Holder’s option, and (2) to the extent, and only to the extent, that such issuance of
shares of Common Stock would result in the Holder hereof exceeding the limitations contained in Section 3(i) below.
(c) Redemption. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the Holder may elect, in its sole discretion, to have up to 75%
of the original principal amount of this Note repaid on the first anniversary of the Closing (“Redemption Date”) by delivering written notice to
the Company at least 30 days prior to such Redemption Date (provided that Holder may revoke such notice at any time prior to five days
before the Redemption Date). If the Holder makes such election, then on the Redemption Date the Company shall pay the Holder such
principal amount elected to be redeemed together with any and all accrued but unpaid interest thereon.
(d) Subscription Collection. The Company shall use its best efforts to collect in full the $2,075,460 in stock subscription
receivable indicated on the Company’s consolidated March 31, 2011 balance sheet on or before December 31, 2011. If the Company fails to
collect at least 80% of such stock subscription receivable on or before March 31, 2012, then notwithstanding anything contained herein the
interest rate hereunder shall be automatically increased to the Default Rate, provided that if the Company subsequently collects at least 80% of
such stock subscription receivable, then provided there is no Event of Default hereunder the interest rate hereunder shall be reset to 8.25% per
annum as of the first day of the first full calendar quarter commencing after such date on which the Company so collects in excess of 80%.
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Section 2. Senior Debt. So long as any Principal Amount of Notes is outstanding, the Company and its subsidiaries shall not
directly or indirectly, without the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the outstanding Principal Amount of the Notes then
outstanding, except as to indebtedness outstanding as of the date of this Note in accordance with the terms of such indebtedness in effect as of
the date of the Note, incur or permit to exist additional indebtedness which is senior to the Notes, or incur, assume or permit to exist any lien,
mortgage, security interest or encumbrance (other than statutory liens imposed by law incurred in the ordinary course of business for sums not
yet delinquent or being contested in good faith, if such reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall be required by GAAP shall have
been made in respect thereof) on any of its assets, except for capital leases, financing for equipment and purchase money security
interests. However, Holder acknowledges that the Company intends to enter into a loan agreement with a bank in connection with the
acquisition of a UK business whereby the loan in the amount of £1.3 million is secured by the assets NetSol Technologies Europe, Ltd. and
guaranteed by the Company. This loan is specifically excluded from this Section 2.
Section 3. Conversion.
(a) Conversion Right. Subject to the terms hereof and restrictions and limitations contained herein, the Holder shall have the
right, at such Holder's option, at any time and from time to time, to convert the outstanding Principal Amount under this Note in whole or in
part by delivering to the Company a fully executed notice of conversion in the form of conversion notice attached hereto as Exhibit A (the
“Conversion Notice”), which may be transmitted by facsimile. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, this Note and the
outstanding Principal Amount hereunder shall not be convertible into Common Stock to the extent that such conversion would result in the
Holder hereof exceeding the limitations contained in, or otherwise violating the provisions of, Section 3(i) below.
(b) Common Stock Issuance upon Conversion.
(i) Conversion Date Procedures. Upon conversion of this Note pursuant to Section 3(a) above, the outstanding
Principal Amount hereunder shall be converted into such number of fully paid, validly issued and non-assessable shares of Common Stock,
free of any liens, claims and encumbrances, as is determined by dividing the outstanding Principal Amount being converted by the then
applicable Conversion Price. The date of any Conversion Notice hereunder and any Payment Date shall be referred to herein as the
“Conversion Date”. If a conversion under this Note cannot be effected in full for any reason, or if the Holder is converting less than all of
the outstanding Principal Amount hereunder pursuant to a Conversion Notice, the Company shall promptly deliver to the Holder (but no later
than five Trading Days after the Conversion Date) a Note for such outstanding Principal Amount as has not been converted if this Note has
been surrendered to the Company for partial conversion. The Holder shall not be required to physically surrender this Note to the Company
upon any conversion or hereunder unless the full outstanding Principal Amount represented by this Note is being converted or repaid. The
Holder and the Company shall maintain records showing the outstanding Principal Amount so converted and repaid and the dates of such
conversions or repayments or shall use such other method, reasonably satisfactory to the Holder and the Company, so as not to require
physical surrender of this Note upon each such conversion or repayment.
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(ii) Stock Certificates or DWAC. The Company will deliver to the Holder not later than three (3) Trading Days
after the Conversion Date, a certificate or certificates (which shall be free of restrictive legends and trading restrictions if a Registration
Statement has been declared effective covering such shares or such shares may be resold pursuant to Rule 144), representing the number of
shares of Common Stock being acquired upon the conversion of this Note. In lieu of delivering physical certificates representing the shares of
Common Stock issuable upon conversion of this Note, provided the Company's transfer agent is participating in the Depository Trust
Company (“DTC”) Fast Automated Securities Transfer (“FAST”) program, upon request of the Holder, the Company shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause its transfer agent to electronically transmit such shares issuable upon conversion to the Holder (or its designee), by
crediting the account of the Holder’s (or such designee’s) prime broker with DTC through its Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission system
(provided that the same time periods herein as for stock certificates shall apply). If in the case of any conversion hereunder, such certificate or
certificates are not delivered to or as directed by the Holder by the third Trading Day after the Conversion Date, the Holder shall be entitled by
written notice to the Company at any time on or before its receipt of such certificate or certificates thereafter, to rescind such conversion, in
which event the Company shall immediately return this Note tendered for conversion. If the Company fails to deliver to the Holder such
certificate or certificates (or shares through DTC) pursuant to this Section 3(b) (free of any restrictions on transfer or legends, if such shares
have been registered) in accordance herewith, prior to the sixth Trading Day after the Conversion Date, the Company shall pay to the Holder,
in cash, an amount equal to 1% of the Principal Amount per month.
(c) Conversion Price Adjustments.
(i) Stock Dividends, Splits and Combinations. If the Company or any of its subsidiaries, at any time while the
Notes are outstanding (A) shall pay a stock dividend or otherwise make a distribution or distributions on any equity securities (including
instruments or securities convertible into or exchangeable for such equity securities) in shares of Common Stock, (B) subdivide outstanding
Common Stock into a larger number of shares, or (C) combine outstanding Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, then each
Affected Conversion Price (as defined below) shall be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of shares of
Common Stock outstanding before such event and the denominator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding
after such event. Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 3(c)(i) shall become effective immediately after the record date for the
determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or distribution and shall become effective immediately after the effective date in
the case of a subdivision or combination.
As used herein, the Affected Conversion Prices (each an “Affected Conversion Price”) shall refer to: (i) the Conversion
Price; and (ii) each reported VWAP occurring on any Trading Day included in the period used for determining the Market Price or
Conversion Price, as the case may be, which Trading Day occurred before the record date in the case of events referred to in clause (A) of this
subparagraph 3(c)(i) and before the effective date in the case of the events referred to in clauses (B) and (C) of this subparagraph 3(c)(i).
(ii) Distributions. If the Company or any of its subsidiaries, at any time while the Notes are outstanding, shall
distribute to all holders of Common Stock evidences
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of its indebtedness or assets or cash or rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase any security of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(excluding those referred to in Section 3(c)(i) above), then concurrently with such distributions to holders of Common Stock in each such case
the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying such Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to the record date fixed for
determination of stockholders entitled to receive such distribution by a fraction of which the denominator shall be the VWAP determined as of
the record date mentioned above, and of which the numerator shall be such VWAP on such record date less the then fair market value at such
record date of the portion of such assets, rights or evidence of indebtedness so distributed applicable to 1 outstanding share of the Common
Stock as determined in good faith by the Company and a majority-in-interest of Holders of Notes. In either case the adjustments shall be
described in a statement delivered to the Holder describing the portion of assets, rights or evidences of indebtedness so distributed or such
subscription rights applicable to 1 share of Common Stock. Such adjustment shall be made whenever any such distribution is made and shall
become effective immediately after the record date mentioned above. If the Company and Holders of Notes are unable to agree upon the
determination of the fair market value of such assets, rights or evidence of indebtedness so distributed, then the Company shall promptly
submit (via email or facsimile) such disputed determination or calculation to a reputable investment bank or valuation company which shall be
independent of all parties and selected jointly by the Company and a majority-in-interest of Holders of Notes.
(iii) Common Stock Issuances. In the event that the Company or any of its subsidiaries (A) issues or sells any
Common Stock or Convertible Securities, or (B) directly or indirectly effectively reduces the conversion, exercise or exchange price for any
Convertible Securities which are currently outstanding (other than pursuant to terms existing on the date hereof), at or to an effective Per Share
Selling Price which is less than the greater of (I) the closing sale price per share of the Common Stock on the principal market on which the
Common Stock is traded the Trading Day next preceding such issue or sale or, in the case of issuances to holders of its Common Stock, the
date fixed for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such warrants, rights, or options (“Fair Market Price”), or (II) the
Conversion Price, then in each such case the Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to such issue or sale or record date, as applicable,
shall be automatically reduced effective concurrently with such issue or sale to an amount determined by multiplying the Conversion Price then
in effect by a fraction, (x) the numerator of which shall be the sum of (1) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately
prior to such issue or sale, plus (2) the number of shares of Common Stock which the aggregate consideration received by the Company for
such additional shares would purchase at such Fair Market Price or Conversion Price, as the case may be, and (y) the denominator of which
shall be the number of shares of Common Stock of the Company outstanding immediately after such issue or sale.
The foregoing provision shall not apply to any issuances or sales of Common Stock or Convertible Securities (i) pursuant to any
Convertible Securities currently outstanding on the date hereof in accordance with the terms of such Convertible Securities in effect on the date
hereof, or (ii) to any officer, director or employee of the Company pursuant to a bona fide option or equity incentive plan duly adopted by the
Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders. The Company shall give to the each Holder of Notes written notice of any such sale of
Common Stock within 24 hours of the closing of any such sale and shall within such 24 hour period issue a press release announcing such
sale if such sale is a material event for, or otherwise material to, the Company.
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For the purposes of the foregoing adjustments, in the case of the issuance of any Convertible Securities, the maximum number of
shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise, exchange or conversion of such Convertible Securities shall be deemed to be outstanding.
For purposes of this Section 3(c)(iii), if an event occurs that triggers more than one of the above adjustment provisions, then only one
adjustment shall be made and the calculation method which yields the greatest downward adjustment in the Conversion Price shall be used.
(iv) Rounding of Adjustments. All calculations under this Section 3 or Section 1 shall be made to the nearest 4
decimal places or the nearest 1/100th of a share, as the case may be.
(v) Notice of Adjustments. Whenever any Affected Conversion Price is adjusted pursuant to Section 3(c)(i), (ii) or
(iii) above, the Company shall promptly deliver to each holder of the Notes, a notice setting forth the Affected Conversion Price after such
adjustment and setting forth a brief statement of the facts requiring such adjustment, provided that any failure to so provide such notice shall
not affect the automatic adjustment hereunder.
(vi) Change in Control Transactions. In case of any Change in Control Transaction, the Holder shall have the
right thereafter to, at its option, (A) convert this Note, in whole or in part, at the lower of the Conversion Price and the then applicable Market
Price into the shares of stock and other securities, cash and/or property receivable upon or deemed to be held by holders of Common Stock
following such Change in Control Transaction, and the Holder shall be entitled upon such event to receive such amount of securities, cash or
property as the shares of the Common Stock of the Company into which this Note could have been converted immediately prior to such
Change in Control Transaction would have been entitled if such conversion were permitted, subject to such further applicable adjustments set
forth in this Section 3 or (B) require the Company or its successor to redeem this Note, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the
greater of (i) 125% of the outstanding Principal Amount being redeemed and (ii) the product of (x) the average of the Fair Market Price for the
five (5) Trading Days immediately preceding the Holder's election to have its Notes redeemed and (y) the Conversion Ratio. The terms of any
such Change in Control Transaction shall include such terms so as to continue to give to the Holders the right to receive the amount of
securities, cash and/or property upon any conversion or redemption following such Change in Control Transaction to which a holder of the
number of shares of Common Stock deliverable upon such conversion would have been entitled in such Change in Control Transaction, and
interest payable hereunder shall be in cash or such new securities and/or property, at the Holder’s option. This provision shall similarly apply
to successive reclassifications, consolidations, mergers, sales, transfers or share exchanges.
(vii) Notice of Certain Events. If:
A.

the Company shall declare a dividend (or any other distribution) on its Common Stock; or

B.

the Company shall declare a special nonrecurring cash dividend on or a redemption of its
Common Stock; or
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C.

the Company shall authorize the granting to all holders of the Common Stock rights or warrants
to subscribe for or purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any rights; or

D.

the approval of any stockholders of the Company shall be required in connection with any
reclassification of the Common Stock of the Company, any consolidation or merger to which
the Company is a party, any sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company, of any compulsory share of exchange whereby the Common Stock is converted into
other securities, cash or property; or

E.

the Company shall authorize the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up
of the affairs of the Company;

then the Company shall cause to be filed at each office or agency maintained for the purpose of conversion of this Note, and shall cause to be
mailed to the Holder at its last address as it shall appear upon the books of the Company, on or prior to the date notice to the Company's
stockholders generally is given, a notice stating (x) the date on which a record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution,
redemption, rights or warrants, or if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of Common Stock of record to be entitled to
such dividend, distributions, redemption, rights or warrants are to be determined or (y) the date on which such reclassification, consolidation,
merger, sale, transfer or share exchange is expected to become effective or close, and the date as of which it is expected that holders of
Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of Common Stock for securities, cash or other property deliverable upon
such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer or share exchange.
(d) Reservation and Issuance of Underlying Securities. The Company covenants that it will at all times reserve and keep
available out of its authorized and unissued Common Stock solely for the purpose of issuance upon conversion of this Note (including
repayments in stock), free from preemptive rights or any other actual contingent purchase rights of persons other than the holders of the Notes,
not less than such number of shares of Common Stock as shall (subject to any additional requirements of the Company as to reservation of
such shares set forth in the Purchase Agreement) be issuable (taking into account the adjustments under this Section 3 but without regard to
any ownership limitations contained herein) upon the conversion of this Note hereunder in Common Stock (including repayments in
stock). The Company covenants that all shares of Common Stock that shall be so issuable shall, upon issue, be duly authorized, validly
issued, fully paid, nonassessable and freely tradeable.
(e) No Fractions. Upon a conversion hereunder the Company shall not be required to issue stock certificates representing
fractions of shares of Common Stock, but may if otherwise permitted, make a cash payment in respect of any final fraction of a share based on
the closing price of a share of Common Stock at such time. If the Company elects not, or is unable, to make such a cash payment, the Holder
shall be entitled to receive, in lieu of the final fraction of a share, one whole share of Common Stock.
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(f) Charges, Taxes and Expenses. Issuance of certificates for shares of Common Stock upon the conversion of this Note
(including repayment in stock) shall be made without charge to the holder hereof for any issue or transfer tax or other incidental expense in
respect of the issuance of such certificate, all of which taxes and expenses shall be paid by the Company, and such certificates shall be issued
in the name of the Holder or in such name or names as may be directed by the Holder; provided, however, that in the event certificates for
shares of Common Stock are to be issued in a name other than the name of the Holder, this Note when surrendered for conversion shall be
accompanied by an assignment form; and provided further, that the Company shall not be required to pay any tax or taxes which may be
payable in respect of any such transfer.
(g) Cancellation. After all of the Principal Amount (including accrued but unpaid interest and default payments at any time
owed on this Note) have been paid in full or converted into Common Stock, this Note shall automatically be deemed canceled and the Holder
shall promptly surrender the Note to the Company at the Company’s principal executive offices.
(h) Notices Procedures. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries to be provided by the Holder hereunder,
including, without limitation, any Conversion Notice, shall be in writing and delivered personally, by confirmed facsimile, or by a nationally
recognized overnight courier service to the Company at the facsimile telephone number or address of the principal place of business of the
Company as set forth in the Purchase Agreement. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries to be provided by the Company
hereunder shall be in writing and delivered personally, by facsimile, or by a nationally recognized overnight courier service addressed to the
Holder at the facsimile telephone number or address of the Holder appearing on the books of the Company, or if no such facsimile telephone
number or address appears, at the principal place of business of the Holder. Any notice or other communication or deliveries hereunder shall
be deemed delivered (i) upon receipt, when delivered personally, (ii) when sent by facsimile, upon receipt if received on a Business Day prior
to 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time), or on the first Business Day following such receipt if received on a Business Day after 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time)
or (iii) upon receipt, when deposited with a nationally recognized overnight courier service.
(i) Conversion Limitation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the number of shares of Common
Stock that may be acquired by the Holder upon conversion pursuant to the terms hereof shall not exceed a number that, when added to the total
number of shares of Common Stock deemed beneficially owned by such Holder (other than by virtue of the ownership of securities or rights
to acquire securities (including the Notes) that have limitations on the Holder’s right to convert, exercise or purchase similar to the limitation
set forth herein), together with all shares of Common Stock deemed beneficially owned at such time (other than by virtue of the ownership of
securities or rights to acquire securities that have limitations on the right to convert, exercise or purchase similar to the limitation set forth
herein) by the holder’s “affiliates” at such time (as defined in Rule 144 of the Act) (“Aggregation Parties”) that would be aggregated for
purposes of determining whether a group under Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended, exists, would exceed 9.9%
of the total issued and outstanding shares of the Common Stock (the “Restricted Ownership Percentage”). Each holder shall have the right
(w) at any time and from time to time to reduce its Restricted Ownership Percentage immediately upon notice to the Company and (x) (subject
to waiver) at
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any time and from time to time, to increase its Restricted Ownership Percentage immediately in the event of the announcement as pending or
planned, of a Change in Control Transaction.
(j) Overall Limit on Common Stock Issuable. Notwithstanding anything herein or in the other Notes to the contrary, if the
Company has not obtained Shareholder Approval (as defined below), then the Company may not issue a number of shares of Common Stock
in excess of the amount of shares of Common Stock which may be issued (the “Issuable Maximum”) without causing the Company to
breach its obligations under the rules or regulations of the Nasdaq Stock Market (including without limitation Section 5635(d) of the
NASDAQ Stock Market Rules). Each Holder of Notes shall be entitled to a portion of the Issuable Maximum equal to the quotient obtained
by dividing (x) the aggregate principal amount of the Notes issued and sold to such Holder by (y) the aggregate principal amount of all Notes
issued and sold by the Company. If any Holder shall no longer hold any Notes, then such Holder’s remaining portion of the Issuable
Maximum, if any, shall be reallocated pro-rata among the other Holders. “Shareholder Approval” means approval by the shareholders of the
Company, in accordance with the applicable rules and regulations of the Nasdaq Stock Market (including without limitation Section 5635(e) of
the NASDAQ Stock Market Rules) and Nevada corporate law, of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement and the Notes (as
amended hereby), including without limitation the issuance of all of the Conversion Shares under the Notes in excess of the Issuable
Maximum. To the extent any portion of the Principal Amount of Notes is not convertible due to the Issuable Maximum, such portion shall
bear interest at the Default Rate.
Section 4. Defaults and Remedies.
(a) Events of Default. An “Event of Default” is: (i) a default in payment of any amount due hereunder which default
continues for more than 5 business days after the due date thereof; (ii) a default in the timely issuance of Underlying Shares upon and in
accordance with terms hereof, which default continues for five Business Days after the Company has received written notice informing the
Company that it has failed to issue shares or deliver stock certificates within the fifth day following the Conversion Date; (iii) failure by the
Company for fifteen (15) days after written notice has been received by the Company to comply with any material provision of any of the
Notes, the Purchase Agreement or the Investor Rights Agreement (including without limitation the failure to issue the requisite number of
shares of Common Stock upon conversion hereof and the failure to redeem Notes upon the Holder’s request following a Change in Control
Transaction pursuant to Section 3(c)(vi); (iv) a material breach by the Company of its representations or warranties in the Purchase Agreement
or Investor Rights Agreement; (v) if at any time the Company is not subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act or has failed to file all reports required to be filed thereunder during the then preceding 12 months; (vi) if at any time the
Common Stock shall not be listed or quoted for trading on a the New York Stock Exchange, Alternext, the NASDAQ Stock Market or the
Over-The-Counter Bulletin Board; (vii) any default after any cure period under, or acceleration prior to maturity of, any mortgage, indenture or
instrument under which there may be issued or by which there may be secured or evidenced any indebtedness for money borrowed by the
Company for in excess of $25,000 or for money borrowed the repayment of which is guaranteed by the Company for in excess of $25,000,
whether such indebtedness or guarantee now exists or shall be created hereafter; or (viii) if the Company is subject to any Bankruptcy Event.
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(b) Remedies. If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing with respect to any of the Notes, the Holder may declare all
of the then outstanding Principal Amount of this Note and all other Notes held by the Holder, including any interest due thereon, to be due and
payable immediately, except that in the case of an Event of Default arising from events described in clauses (vii) and (viii) of Section 4(a), this
Note shall become due and payable without further action or notice. In the event of such acceleration, the amount due and owing to the Holder
shall be the greater of (1) 125% of the outstanding Principal Amount of the Notes held by the Holder (plus all accrued and unpaid interest, if
any) and (2) the product of (A) the highest closing price for the five (5) Trading days immediately preceding the Holder’s acceleration and (B)
the Conversion Ratio. In either case the Company shall pay interest on such amount in cash at the Default Rate to the Holder if such amount is
not paid within 7 days of Holder’s request. The remedies under this Note shall be cumulative.
Section 5. General.
(a) Payment of Expenses. The Company agrees to pay all reasonable charges and expenses, including attorneys' fees and
expenses, which may be incurred by the Holder in successfully enforcing this Note and/or collecting any amount due under this Note.
(b) Savings Clause. In case any provision of this Note is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be excessive in scope
or otherwise invalid or unenforceable, such provision shall be adjusted rather than voided, if possible, so that it is enforceable to the maximum
extent possible, and the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Note will not in any way be affected or impaired
thereby. In no event shall the amount of interest paid hereunder exceed the maximum rate of interest on the unpaid principal balance hereof
allowable by applicable law. If any sum is collected in excess of the applicable maximum rate, the excess collected shall be applied to reduce
the principal debt. If the interest actually collected hereunder is still in excess of the applicable maximum rate, the interest rate shall be reduced
so as not to exceed the maximum allowable under law.
(c) Amendment. Neither this Note nor any term hereof may be amended, waived, discharged or terminated other than by a
written instrument signed by the Company and the Holder.
(d) Assignment, Etc. The Holder may assign or transfer this Note to any transferee only with the prior written consent of
the Company, which may not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, provided that (i) the Holder may assign or transfer this Note to any of
such Holder's affiliates without the consent of the Company and (ii) upon any Event of Default, the Holder may assign or transfer this Note
without the consent of the Company. The Holder shall notify the Company of any such assignment or transfer promptly. This Note shall be
binding upon the Company and its successors and shall inure to the benefit of the Holder and its successors and permitted assigns.
(e) No Waiver. No failure on the part of the Holder to exercise, and no delay in exercising any right, remedy or power
hereunder, shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise by the Holder of any right, remedy or power hereunder
preclude any other or future exercise of any other right, remedy or power. Each and every right, remedy or power
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hereby granted to the Holder or allowed it by law or other agreement shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any other, and may be exercised
by the Holder from time to time.
(f) Governing Law; Jurisdiction.
(i) Governing Law. THIS NOTE WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO ANY CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS THEREOF
THAT WOULD OTHERWISE REQUIRE THE APPLICATION OF THE LAW OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTION.
(ii) Jurisdiction. The Company irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of any State or Federal Court
sitting in the State of New York, County of New York, or San Jose, California, over any suit, action, or proceeding arising out of or relating
to this Note. The Company irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the
laying of the venue of any such suit, action, or proceeding brought in such a court and any claim that suit, action, or proceeding has been
brought in an inconvenient forum.
The Company agrees that the service of process upon it mailed by certified or registered mail (and service so
made shall be deemed complete three days after the same has been posted as aforesaid) or by personal service shall be deemed in every respect
effective service of process upon it in any such suit or proceeding. Nothing herein shall affect Holder's right to serve process in any other
manner permitted by law. The Company agrees that a final non-appealable judgement in any such suit or proceeding shall be conclusive and
may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on such judgment or in any other lawful manner.
(III) NO JURY TRIAL. THE COMPANY HERETO KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ANY
AND ALL RIGHTS IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY LITIGATION BASED ON, OR ARISING
OUT OF, UNDER, OR IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS NOTE.
(g) Replacement Notes. This Note may be exchanged by Holder at any time and from time to time for a Note or Notes with
different denominations representing an equal aggregate outstanding Principal Amount, as reasonably requested by Holder, upon surrendering
the same. No service charge will be made for such registration or exchange. In the event that Holder notifies the Company that this Note has
been lost, stolen or destroyed, a replacement Note identical in all respects to the original Note (except for registration number and Principal
Amount, if different than that shown on the original Note), shall be issued to the Holder, provided that the Holder executes and delivers to the
Company an agreement reasonably satisfactory to the Company to indemnify the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with the
Note.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Note to be duly executed on the day and in the year first above written.

NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ Najeeb Ghauri
Name: Najeeb Ghauri
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Attest:

Sign: /s/ Patti L.W. McGlasson
Print Name: Patti L.W. McGlasson
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EXHIBIT A
FORM OF CONVERSION NOTICE
(To be executed by the Holder
in order to convert a Note)
Re:

Note (this “Note”) issued by NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. to ___________________ on or about September 13,
2011 in the original principal amount of $___________.

The undersigned hereby elects to convert the aggregate outstanding Principal Amount (as defined in the Note) indicated below of this Note
into shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “Common Stock”), of NETSOL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. (the “Company”)
according to the conditions hereof, as of the date written below. If shares are to be issued in the name of a person other than undersigned, the
undersigned will pay all transfer taxes payable with respect thereto and is delivering herewith such certificates and opinions as reasonably
requested by the Company in accordance therewith. No fee will be charged to the holder for any conversion, except for such transfer taxes, if
any.
Conversion information:
Date to Effect Conversion

________________________
________________________
Aggregate Principal Amount of Note Being Converted

________________________
Number of Shares of Common Stock to be Issued

________________________
Applicable Conversion Price

________________________
Signature

________________________
Name

________________________
Address

Exhibit 21.1
List of Subsidiaries- NetSol Technologies, Inc.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

NetSol Technologies, Ltd.; Lahore, Pakistan.
NetSol Connect (Pvt) Limited; Karachi, Pakistan.
NetSol Technologies Europe, Ltd; Horsham, England.
NetSol Abraxas, Inc.; Adelaide, Australia.
NTPK (Thailand) Co. Ltd.; Bangkok, Thailand
NetSol Technologies (China); Beijing, China
NetSol-Innovation (Pvt) Limited; Lahore, Pakistan.
NetSol Technologies North America; Emeryville, California.
Vroozi, Inc.; Calabasas, California

Exhibit 31.1
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Najeeb Ghauri, certify that:
(1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 of NetSol Technologies, Inc., ("Registrant").
(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this annual report;
(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
(4) The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedure, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and;
(5) The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of the internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: September 16, 2011
Najeeb Ghauri,

/s/Najeeb Ghauri
Chief Executive Officer
Principal executive officer

Exhibit 31.2
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Boo-Ali Siddiqui, certify that:
(1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 of NetSol Technologies, Inc., ("Registrant").
(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this annual report;
(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
(4) The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedure, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and;
(5) The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of the internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 16, 2011
Boo-Ali Siddiqui
Chief Financial Officer
Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ Boo-Ali Siddiqui

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of NetSol Technologies, Inc. on Form 10-K for the period ending June 30, 2011, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Najeeb Ghauri, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and,
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.
Date: September 16, 2011
/s/ Najeeb Ghauri
-----------------Najeeb Ghauri,
Chief Executive Officer
Principal Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of NetSol Technologies, Inc. on Form 10-K for the period ending June 30, 2011, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Boo-Ali Siddiqui, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and,
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.
Date: September 16, 2011
/s/ Boo-Ali Siddiqui
-----------------Boo-Ali Siddiqui,
Chief Financial Officer
Principal Accounting Officer

